An investigation of the mechanisms underlying the developmental origins of health and disease and their impact on telomeres

Richard Kondwani Maganga B. Sc. (Hons)



This thesis is presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of The University of Western Australia, School of Obstetrics and Gynaecology

2023

THESIS DECLARATION

I, Richard Kondwani Maganga, certify that:

This thesis has been substantially accomplished during enrolment in this degree.

This thesis does not contain material which has been submitted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution.

In the future, no part of this thesis will be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of The University of Western Australia and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

This thesis does not contain any material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

This thesis does not violate or infringe any copyright, trademark, patent, or other rights whatsoever of any person.

The research involving human data reported in this thesis was assessed and approved by The University of Western Australia Human Research Ethics Committee. Approval #: RA/4/1/2100.

The research involving animal data reported in this thesis was assessed and approved by The University of Western Australia Animal Ethics Committee in an inter-institutional agreement with the Toronto Centre for Phenogenomics, Toronto, Canada. Approval #: AUP#0091a-H. The research involving animals reported in this thesis followed The University of Western Australia and Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) standards for the care and use of laboratory animals.

This thesis does not contain work that I have published, nor work under review for publication.



Signature:

Date: 1st February, 2023

ABSTRACT

Telomeres are specialised nucleoprotein complexes that act as a protective "cap" for chromosomal DNA and are found at the ends of linear eukaryotic chromosomes. Telomere length (TL) decreases with age and is linked to a number of age-related disorders and disease risk factors. The metabolic syndrome, a condition with increasing global incidence and symptoms such as obesity and dyslipidaemia, is linked to accelerated telomere shortening. It is proposed that metabolic disease is "programmed" in offspring as an adaptation to unfavourable environments during development, and may be the result of gene-environment interactions. Not only telomeres, but also mitochondria, whose dysfunction is linked to an increased risk of metabolic syndrome, may play a role in this process.

To investigate the effects of unfavourable intrauterine conditions on TL, studies were performed in two dietary pregnancy models using C57BL/6J mice, and in a retrospective human cohort, namely 1335 participants in The Western Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) Study, who were aged 17. Participants in the cohort were followed from 18 weeks' gestation until early adulthood as part of a longitudinal study investigating the early origins of adult disease.

In the first rodent study, pregnant dams were dietary restricted (DR) by being given 30% caloric deficit over 12 gestational days (E5.5 to 17.5); in the second study, dams received a 60% hypercaloric high fat diet (HF group)). In both animal studies, fetal hepatic TL was significantly shortened compared to controls (CON). In DR livers there was a trend towards increased cytoplasmic localisation of shelterin protein TIN2, which is involved in both mitochondria and telomere mechanisms. Reduced TL and increased mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) copies were found in blood cells of DR dams. Linear regression analysis showed that daily weight gain by DR dams could reliably predict maternal and fetal TL. Increased hepatic mtDNA copy number and expression of genes associated with fatty acid uptake and metabolism was observed in HF fetuses.

Peripheral blood mononuclear cell TL analysis in the human cohort study revealed that the individuals with the shortest telomeres at age 17 had mothers who were hypertensive during pregnancy. Longer breastfeeding periods were associated with longer telomeres, which mitigated the effects of hypertension on telomere length. These data highlight the sensitivity of telomeres to intrauterine and postnatal conditions and suggests their importance as signposts of future programming of disease. Moreover, combining TL and mtDNA copy number as measures may yield a more significant indicator of cellular distress and future programming of disease.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
THESIS DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
List of Figures	x
List of Tables	xiii
List of Abbreviations	xiv
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease Hypothesi 1.1.1 General	s1
1.1.2 Catch-up growth 1.1.3 The Thrifty Phenotype Hypothesis and "mismatch "	4 5
1.2 Factors that affect the development of systems involved in DC)HaD.9
1.2.1 Nutrition	
1.2.1.1 Maternal undernutrition	
1.2.1.1.1 Beneficial caloric restriction vs pregnancy caloric restriction	101 101
1.2.1.1.2 Maternal undernutrition and programming	
1.2.1.2 Maternal overnutrition	16
1.2.1.2.1 The influence of maternal body composition	17
1.2.1.2.2 The influence of maternal dietary intake	21
1.2.2 The Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis	24
1.2.2.1 Anatomical organisation of the stress response	24
1.2.2.2 Glucocorticoids and pregnancy	26
1.2.2.3 Glucocorticoids and programming	
1.2.3 Sex differences	32
1.3 Impacted organs: The liver	33
1.3.1 Liver Structure	34
1.3.2 Liver Function	
1.3.3 Liver Development	
1.4 Molecular Mechanisms	
1.4.1 Genetics/Epigenetics	
1.4.1.1 Genome	
1.4.1.2 Epigenome	
1.4.1.2.1 DNA Methylation	
=	

1.4.1.2.2 Histone modifications and other epigenetic mechanisms.	51
1.4.1.2.3 Epigenetics and DOHaD	51
1.4.1.2.4 Transgenerational transmission	55
1.4.2 Telomeres	56
1.4.2.1 Telomere Structure	57
1.4.2.2 Telomere shortening and aging	60
1.4.2.3 Telomere length variability	62
1.4.2.4 Telomeres and senescence markers	63
1.4.2.5 Telomere maintenance	65
1.4.2.5.1 The telomerase enzyme	65
1.4.2.5.2 Detection of telomerase in tissues	67
1.4.2.5.3 Alternate roles for TERT	68
1.4.2.5.4 Alternative lengthening of Telomeres	69
1.4.3 Oxidative Stress	70
1.4.3.1 Mitochondria, ROS and aging	72
1.4.3.2 Mitochondrial biogenesis	73
1.4.3.3 Diet and mitochondrial biogenesis	76
1.4.4 Telomere and Mitochondrial involvement in DOHaD	77
1.5 Summary of the exposures and possible programming mechanism	IS
during critical developmental windows	81
CHAPTER 2 EXPERIMENTAL AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	83
2.1. The Animal model	85
2.2. The West Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) Study	85
CHAPTER 3 EFFECTS OF UNDERNUTRITION ON TELOMERES AND	
MITOCHONDRIA	89
3.1 INTRODUCTION	89
	,07
3.2 METHODS	92
3.2.1 Diet	92
3.2.2 Animals and experimental treatment	92
3.2.3 Tissue collection	96
3.2.3.1 Dams	96
3.2.3.2 Offspring	97
Collection	97
Sexing	98
5.2.4 NUCIEIC ACIO ISOIATION	.100
3.2.4.1 I otal KINA purification	102
5.2.4.2 Genomic DNA purification	102
3.2.4.3 INUCIEIC ACIA QUANTIFICATION	102
5.2.5 MKINA relative quantification	.103

3.2.5.1 cDNA synthesis	103
3.2.5.2 Primer design and real-time quantitative PCR	103
3.2.6 Mitochondrial DNA Copy Number Quantitation	108
3.2.7 Telomere length measurement	108
(a) Oligomers	109
(b) Procedure	110
3.2.8 Sectioning and staining	113
3.2.8.1 Immunohistochemistry	113
3.2.8.2 Analysis	116
3.2.9 Reactive Oxygen Species Detection	116
3.2.9.1 DNA oxidation	116
Reagent setup	117
Staining procedure	117
Image acquisition and analysis	118
3.2.9.2 Protein oxidation	119
3.2.9.3 Lipid oxidation	122
3.2.10 Localisation of shelterin protein TIN2	125
3.2.10.1 Immunofluorescence protocol	125
3.2.10.2 Imaging acquisition and analysis	126
3.2.11 Statistical Methods	128
3.3 RESULTS	129
3.3.1 Phenotypic assessment of animals during pregnancy	129
3.3.1.1 Fetal measures	129
3.3.1.2 Dam body weights	131
3.3.2 Telomere Length characterisation	133
3.3.2.1 Maternal telomere assessment	133
3.3.2.2 Fetal telomere assessment	135
3.3.3 Analysis of telomere/telomerase-related genes and cellular	
proliferation	140
3.3.4 Mitochondrial DNA and associated genes	142
3.3.5 Analysis of shelterin protein TIN2	144
3.3.6 Hepatic oxidative stress in DR Fetuses	147
3.4 DISCUSSION	149
CHAPTER 4 FEFECTS OF OVERNILITRITION ON TELOMERES AND	
MITOCHONDRIA	164
	104
4.1 INTRODUCTION	164
4.2 METHODS	166
4.2.1 Animals	166
4.2.1.1 Ethics, Animal care and treatment	166
4.2.1.2 Pregnancy	166

4.2.1.3 Tissue collection, molecular and cell biology16	58
4.2.2 Western Blot Analysis16	58
4.2.3 Assay for inflammatory marker Interleukin-617	72
4.3 RESULTS17	73
4.3.1 Phenotypic assessment of animals17	73
4.3.1.1 Fetal measures17	73
4.3.1.2 Dam body weights17	75
4.3.2 Telomere Length characterisation17	77
4.3.2.1 Maternal telomere assessment17	77
4.3.2.2 Fetal telomere assessment17	79
4.3.3 Effects of a maternal HF diet on telomere and senescence-related	
genes in the fetus18	33
4.3.4 Analysis of fetal hepatic oxidative stress and inflammation18	35
4.3.5 Analysis of fetal hepatic mitochondria18	37
4.3.6 Analysis of shelterin protein TIN219	90
4.4 DISCUSSION19	93
CHAPTER 5 EFFECTS OF EARLY LIFE EXPOSURES ON TELOMERE	
LENGTH IN LATE ADOLESCENCE)6
5.1 INTRODUCTION	J6
5.2 METHODS)8
5.2.1 Participants20)8
5.2.2 Sample collection)9
5.2.3 Measures)9
5.2.4 DNA isolation21	10
5.2.5 Telomere length measurements21	13
5.2.4.1 qPCR to determine TL measurements in adolescents	14
5.2.4.2 Calculation of relative telomere length	15
5.2.6 Statistical Methods21	15
5.3 RESULTS	18
5.4 DISCUSSION	27
CHAPTER 6 FINAL DISCUSSION24 CHAPTER 7 REFERENCES25	40 52

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by an Australian Government Research Training Program (RTP) Scholarship.

Technical assistance was kindly provided by Dr Kristin Connor who instructed me and guided me with mouse tissue collections, and Elzbieta Matysiak, for her help in optimisation and analysis of animal sexing PCRs as described in the Methods sections.

I would like to thank my supervisors, Professor Craig Pennell for bringing me onboard the project, Professor Stephen Lye for your guiding hand while I was in Toronto, Canada and Professor Jeffrey Keelan for your support and guidance in the drafting of my thesis.

Thanks Dad and Mum, for your encouragement.

Last but not least, a big thank you to my wife, Victoria, and my baby boy Joaquín, for the hours you gave me to sit and wrack my brain and endlessly problem solve. Thank you for your support and love throughout this phase.

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Glucocorticoid regulation in the HPA axis
Figure 1.2. Anatomy of the human and mouse liver
Figure 1.3. Comparison of developmental stages of human and mouse embryos,
including periods of liver development40
Figure 1.4. Summary of liver development45
Figure 1.5. Telomere structure and associated proteins
Figure 1.6. Telomere shortening62
Figure 1.7 Markers of senescence65
Figure 1.8. Summary of mitochondrial biogenesis75
Figure 1.9 Summary of the critical windows of development and initiating
mechanisms that underlie disease programming82
Figure 2.1. The Western Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) Study
participants
Figure 3.1. Experimental design for the diet study95
Figure 3.2. Example plots of (A) Sample melt curve. (B)Sample standard curve,
(C) Standard amplification curve107
Figure 3.3. Calculation of absolute quantities of standards for standard curves
Figure 3.4. Sample (S) and Control (C) arrangement in the 96-well plate for
protein analysis121

Figure 3.5. Comparison of intrauterine growth and blood glucose
concentrations between CON (n=12) and DR fetuses (n=10)130
Figure 3.6 Maternal body weight gain during pregnancy in CON (n=7)
<i>compared to DR (n=7).</i> 132
Figure 3.7. Comparison of dam TL between CON (n=7) and DR (n=7) groups.134
Figure 3.8. Fetal telomere lengths
Figure 3.9. Spearman correlations of maternal and fetal outcomes138
Figure 3.10. mTert and c-myc gene expression and Ki67 analysis in fetal livers.
Figure 3.11. Maternal and Fetal mitochondrial DNA copy numbers
Figure 3.12 Immunofluorescence images showing fetal liver stained for Tin2 .
<i>n</i> =3) and DR (<i>n</i> =3). Blue = DAPI, Red = TIN2145
Figure 3.13. Quantification of nuclear/cytoplasmic ratio of TIN2 fluorescence
intensity in CON and DR livers146
Figure 3.14. ROS detection in mouse fetal hepatocytes
Figure 4.1 Experimental design for the HF diet study167
Figure 4.2 Comparisons of fetal phenotype assessments174
Figure 4.3 Maternal body weight gain during pregnancy176
Figure 4.4 Maternal telomere lengths178
Figure 4.5 Fetal telomere lengths

Figure 4.6 Correlations of maternal telomere lengths and maternal phenotype
Figure 4.7 Gene expression of (A) mTert, (B) c-myc, (C), (D) Ki67
immunohistochemistry staining (E) Ki67 analysis and (F) p21 gene expression.
Figure 4.8 ROS and inflammation detection in mouse fetal hepatocytes186
Figure 4.9 mtDNA content, biogenesis and lipid metabolism genes and protein.
Figure 4.10 Immunofluorescence images showing localisation of fetal liver
stained for TIN2 in CON and HF. Blue = DAPI, Red = TIN2191
Figure 4.11. Quantification of nuclear/cytoplasmic ratio of TIN2 fluorescence
intensity in CON and HF livers192
Figure 5.1. Representative image of isolated DNA on a 1% agarose gel213
Figure 5.2. Adolescent study population for telomere analysis - West
Australian Pregnancy (Raine) Cohort217
Figure 5.3 Mixed-effects quantile analysis of BMI versus age for Log TL
quantiles from birth to 17 years in the Raine Study226

List of Tables

Table 3.1 PCR primers for sexing PCR 99
Table 3.2 PCR primers for gene expression analysis 106
Table 3.3 PCR primers for mtDNA quantification 108
Table 3.4. Oligomers used for aTL PCR109
Table 4.1 PCR primers for mRNA quantification 168
Table 5.1 Primers used for telomere length analysis.
Table 5.2 Cohort parental, family, early life and adolescent characteristics220
Table 5.3 Multivariate modelling of correlations between telomere length and
early life and adolescent characteristics221
Table 5.4 BMI multivariate regression correlations with early life and
adolescent characteristics223
Table 5.5 Waist to hip ratio correlations with early life and adolescent factors

List of Abbreviations

11β-HSD1	11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1
11β-HSD2	11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2
36B4	acidic ribosomal phosphoprotein P0
AA	arachidonic acid
ACTH	adrenocorticotropic hormone
AFP	alpha-fetoprotein
AGM	aorta-gonad-mesonephros
ALT	alternative lengthening of telomeres
aTL	absolute telomere length
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
B6	C57BL/6J
BMI	body mass index
BMP	bone morphogenic protein
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CHD	coronary heart disease
ccf-DNA	circulating cell-free mitochondrial DNA
CNS	central nervous system
CON	control
CpG	cytosine-phosphate-guanine
Cpt1a	carnitine palmitolytransferase 1a
CR	caloric restriction
CRH	corticotropin-releasing hormone
CS	Carnegie stages
DAB	3,3'-diaminobezidine
DHA	docohexanoic acid
DHE	dihydroethidium
DNMT	DNA-methyltransferases

DNPH	2,4 dinitrophenylhydrazine
DOHaD	developmental origins of health and disease
DR	dietary restricted
Е	gestational day
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FATP2	Fatty acid transport protein-2
FFA	free fatty acids
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FISH	fluorescence in situ hybridisation
FTO	obesity gene
GC	glucocorticoid
GR	glucocorticoid receptors
GDM	gestational diabetes mellitus
Н	hours
HBCS	Helsinki Birth Cohort Study
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
HF	high-fat
HP	hydroperoxides
HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
HSC	haematopoietic stem cells
IGFBP-1	insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1
IGF-I	insulin-like growth factor I
IGF-II	insulin-like growth factor II
IGF-IIR	insulin-like growth factor II receptor
IL-6	interleukin-6
IQR	Interquartile range
IRSAD	Index of Relative Socioeconomic Advantage and Disadvantage
IUGR	Intrauterine growth restriction

Kcal	kilocalories
KEMH	King Edward Memorial Hospital
LBW	low birth weight
LC-PUFA	long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids
LDL-C	low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LP	low protein
LPL	lipoprotein lipase
Minutes	min
MR	mineralcorticoid receptors
mtDNA	mitochondrial DNA
mTert	mouse telomerase reverse transcriptase
mt-CytB	mitochondrially encoded cytochrome b
mt-ND1	mitochondrially encoded NADH dehydrogenase 1
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
mTR	mouse telomerase RNA
NAFLD	non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
nDNA	nuclear DNA
NGFIA	nerve growth factor-inducible protein-A
NRF-1	nuclear respiratory factor 1
NRF-2	nuclear respiratory factor 2
O ₂ -	superoxide
ω-3 PUFA	omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids
ω-6 PUFA	omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids
OXPHOS	oxidative phosphorylation
PAR	predictive adaptive response
PBS-T	PBS-tween
PMBC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell

Pgc1-α	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1- alpha
РК	proteinase K
PPAR-γ	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- gamma
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acids
PVDF	polyvinylidene fluoride
PVN	paraventricular nucleus
qPCR	quantitative real-time PCR
ROS	reactive oxygen species
S	seconds
SAM	S-adenosylmethionine
Sdha	succinate dehydrogenase complex, subunit A
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
SDS-PAGE	SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
SOD	superoxide dismutase
SSC	saline sodium citrate
T2D	type-2 diabetes
TBE	Tris-Borate-EDTA
Tbp	TATA-box binding protein
TBS-T	Tris-buffered saline with Tween 20
TERT	telomerase reverse transcriptase
Tfam	Mitochondrial transcription factor A
TG	Triglycerides
TAFs	telomere-associated DDR foci
TIFs	telomere-induced DNA damage foci
TL	telomere length
TR	telomerase RNA

TS	Theiler stages
WHO	World Health Organisation
WHR	Waist-to-hip ratio
WWII	Second World War
Ywhaz	tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase- activation protein, zeta polypeptide

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease Hypothesis

1.1.1 General

Globally, overweight and obesity have reached epidemic proportions, with up to 39% of adults overweight, and over half a billion categorized as obese (1). This poses a major healthcare challenge because the occurrence of overweight and obesity also increases the probability of comorbidities including type 2 diabetes (T2D), hypertension, and hyperlipidaemia (2), which can lead to further disease or even mortality. As the incidence of overweight and obesity increases, so does the co-occurrence of the abovementioned disorders, which are major components of the metabolic syndrome (2). While initially deemed a "Western" condition, metabolic disease is now increasingly prevalent in low and middle income countries of the developing world (3). This trend is driven by several factors, including social and economic transformation, technological advances, and urbanisation (3,4). These factors are found to have a profound effect on food preference resulting in a nutritional transition to Western diets of increasing caloric density with low micronutrient quota, as foods of convenience and sedentariness become more prevalent (4-6).

Policy initiatives to counter these unfavourable health trends have tended to be lifestyle focused with greater investment on modification of behaviour (7,8). These schemes can also be self-limiting due to lifestyle drift, a shift from confronting wider upstream macrosocial health factors, to a downstream focus on just individual health factors, principally in disadvantaged groups (8). Thus, these strategies have proven largely ineffective in undermining the global epidemic of disease.

However, a group of studies in the 1980s led by David Barker and colleagues showing a link between disordered growth and the development of comorbidities associated with metabolic syndrome (9-11) led to a paradigm shift in the understanding of metabolic syndrome pathogenesis. This early work, and studies that have followed since, have been able to more clearly establish a link between metabolic disease and exposure to suboptimal antenatal/early postnatal environments. These studies led to the generation of a hypothesis which states that challenges in prenatal and early postnatal environments are associated with increased risk of developing metabolic disease in adulthood (12). This premise is called the developmental origins of health and disease (DOHaD) hypothesis.

The DOHaD hypothesis was initially proposed by David Barker and colleagues in the 1980s, stating that events *in utero*, and in particular undernutrition, reduced fetal growth and increased the risk of developing heart disease and diabetes in later life (13,14). Prior to the development of this hypothesis, earlier epidemiological work by Forsdahl (15) in 1977 demonstrated a relationship between exposure to suboptimal early life environments and the development of coronary heart disease (CHD) later in life in a middle-aged Norwegian population (15). Forsdahl proposed that due to poverty in early life, and hence poor nutrition as a result, there was an increased susceptibility to CHD in adulthood if living standards improved in later life (15).

Following this work, in the late 1980s David Barker and colleagues in the United Kingdom then observed that specific regions of England and Wales with high infant mortality in the early 1920s, had correspondingly high incidences of CHD between 1968-1978 (9). Consequently, it was concluded that the association of heart disease with neonatal mortality was related to poor nutrition during prenatal and early postnatal life (9). Furthermore, their finding concurred with the earlier work done by Forsdahl.

Barker and colleagues further defined the link between early life adversity and CHD by studying a cohort of men born between 1911 and 1930 in Hertfordshire, England (11). Using comprehensive birth records containing information on birth weight and infant growth, an inverse relationship was observed between weight at birth and risk of mortality from CHD (11). Death rates from CHD were lower in individuals with the highest weights at birth and at age one (11). From this it was hypothesised that the same early environmental influences that impair growth and development were also associated with increased risk of CHD in adulthood (11).

Expanding on this work, it was later demonstrated that CHD was not the only disease outcome associated with impaired fetal growth. Once again using birth

weight as a proxy indicator of early environmental exposure, studies in the Hertfordshire cohort demonstrated that intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) had a similar association with T2D as with CHD (16). This relationship also extended to other disorders hypertension and hyperlipidaemia, which exist as comorbidities associated with the development of the metabolic syndrome (17). Later studies in Hertfordshire and other cohorts reported further associations between IUGR and other conditions including sarcopenia (18), osteoporosis (19), schizophrenia (20) and impaired cognitive ability (21). This relationship between suboptimal early life environments and risk of metabolic disease is also replicated in later cohort studies in other countries (22-25).

1.1.2 Catch-up growth

The early work by Barker formed the basis of the DOHaD hypothesis, which focused principally on intrauterine factors that affected fetal growth and development and predisposed individuals to disease in later life. However, it was later established that an interaction between prenatal and postnatal environments might elevate disease risk (26,27). Epidemiological studies were able to establish that neonates that were small at birth, but experienced the most rapid gain in size (both in weight and height) over the first year of life, or "catch-up growth" were at greatest risk of metabolic disease (28,29). The significance of growth trajectories and size during infancy in later disease is emphasised in epidemiological data from the Helsinki Birth Cohort Study (HBCS). The HBCS comprises two birth cohorts, one born earlier than the other, at the Helsinki University Central Hospital in Helsinki, Finland (30). Available data from the older cohort (born 1924-1933) includes birth characteristics and growth data

between 7 and 15 years of age. The "newer" cohort (born 1934-1944) consists of child growth data from birth until 12 years of age (26,31).

Findings in the "newer" group (born 1934-1944) showed an association between CHD risk and the occurrence of both thinness and IUGR (26). The men at greatest risk of CHD were thin at birth, with the thinness persisting through infancy until a rapid weight gain and BMI increase after 1 year (32). The highest risk was found in those who had experienced rapid weight gain at 2 years old after remaining thin until that age (33).

Compared to the men, the women who eventually developed CHD were short, not thin at birth, and became thin with compensatory height gains in the first year of life, followed by rapid BMI increases in later childhood (34). This suggests a reduced female vulnerability to intrauterine undernutrition and an increased capability for sustaining postnatal growth in suboptimal environments (34). These data from the HBCS show the significance of the early postnatal developmental window, in determining future disease risk. Hypotheses have been put forward to explain how the interaction between pre- and postnatal environments is associated with disease risk and will be discussed below.

1.1.3 The Thrifty Phenotype Hypothesis and "mismatch "

In acknowledgment of the interaction between prenatal and postnatal environments the DOHaD hypothesis was therefore modified and led to the generation of the "thrifty phenotype hypothesis" by Barker and Hales (16,35), derived from the thrifty genotype hypothesis by Neel (36). The thrifty genotype hypothesis suggested that during evolution when food was scarce 'thrifty' genes, or genes associated with economising energy use, were selected which resulted in a "fast insulin trigger". This "trigger" enhanced the ability to store fat which increased susceptibility to diabetes (36). Alternatively, the thrifty phenotype hypothesis (35) suggested that development of the fetus is sensitive to the environment *in utero*. In a suboptimal environment, an adaptive response is instigated, which results in the fetus making adjustments for a resource-deficient future environment, based on the nutritional cues *in utero* (35). As a result the fetus would safeguard the development of specific organs such as the brain at the expense of others, including the pancreas and liver, leading to disease (35).

This notion of intrauterine adaptation in response to suboptimal environments is what was originally referred to as "programming" by Lucas (37). The central concept of programming is that early life events induce permanent or long term changes to organ structure and function during sensitive or critical periods of development (37). It has been proposed by some that the term programming is not suitable and that it be replaced by the term developmental plasticity (38,39), defined as the ability of a genotype to produce different phenotypes in response to environmental conditions (38). The term 'Predictive Adaptive Response' (PAR) hypothesis has been applied in place of the thrifty phenotype hypothesis (40,41), which posits that the fetus uses mechanisms of developmental plasticity to establish a phenotype in postnatal life that it predicts will provide the best chance of survival (40). Therefore a "mismatch" between the predicted environment and the actual postnatal environment may elevate disease risk.

This mismatch phenomenon has been observed in two epidemiological studies of famine, The Dutch Hunger Winter of 1944-45 (42) and the German siege of Leningrad (43). During the Dutch famine period, the population in the West Netherlands region were exposed to a severe reduction in daily rations during the Second World War (WWII) (44). Daily rations of food fell from 1800 kilocalories (kcal) in late 1943 to as low as between 4-800 kcal at the height of the famine in December 1944. The availability of calories finally increased to 2000 kcal in May 1945 when the region was liberated from the Nazis (45). Data obtained from these studies were able to show associations between the period of undernutrition and adverse metabolic outcomes, but also emphasise the significance of timing and critical windows of development.

Specific phenotypes in adulthood appeared to be affected by the timing of the exposure to famine. Overall, children that were still *in utero* during the Dutch famine exhibited lower birth weights and by age 50 were glucose intolerant (46). The severity of glucose intolerance was greater when exposure to the famine

occurred during mid- or late gestation (46). Exposure to famine in early gestation was linked to greater body mass index (BMI) as well as impaired liver function, revealed by elevated fibrinogen and lower concentrations of Factor VII in middle age (47). Furthermore, early gestational exposure was also associated with a proatherogenic lipid profile (48) and increased CHD risk (45). Mental conditions such as schizophrenia were also reported if children were conceived during the famine (49).

This is in contrast to health outcomes resulting from the famine that took place in Leningrad, Russia, during a 900 day siege by the Germans in the WWII between 1941-44 (43). The population in Leningrad endured a period of poor nutrition that lasted 28 months, without any improvement to nutrition throughout the period (50). Despite the presence of LBW in children from both the Dutch and Leningrad famines (45,50), the rates of insulin resistance, dyslipidaemia and CHD were not different across offspring exposed to the Leningrad famine (50).

A comparison of both famines shows that the circumstances around each hunger period were different. The people in Leningrad did not only endure a more prolonged famine (>2 years as opposed to ~6 months), but the living conditions that preceded the Russian famine were also very poor (50,51). Further, while the Dutch post-liberation conditions managed to improve, data indicated that the quicker infant nutritional transition to adequacy in postnatal life elevated disease risk much later (45). Another example of this mismatch effect as a result of PAR includes studies in Indian children who were small at birth but were exposed to abundant nutrition in postnatal life (52). Children were shown to be significantly heavier at 8 years of age, and demonstrated several cardiovascular risk factors including insulin resistance and hypertension in childhood (52). This is believed to occur as a result of the discrepancy between undernourishment in early life and a system of overnutrition in later life.

From an evolutionary standpoint, the induction of specific PARs should be advantageous for offspring, preparing them for life in a postnatal environment. However, as shown in the above studies, there may be a high cost if these predictions prove to be inaccurate (53). These studies not only highlight the importance of delivering a better "matched" early postnatal nutrition to compromised offspring, but also more importantly, signify a potential window for therapeutic intervention.

1.2 Factors that affect the development of systems involved in DOHaD

Suboptimal early environments can trigger changes during periods of developmental plasticity to generate dysfunction and hence disease in later life. There have been extensive studies that have determined the exposures that generate these long-term health outcomes in offspring. Two early life factors that have most widely been investigated are nutrition, which has been briefly introduced, and exposure to glucocorticoids.

1.2.1 Nutrition

As previously established in the above studies, sufficient nutrition throughout gestation is important for fetal development. Over time, studies have expanded from the prenatal to reflect postnatal nutritional effects as well. Thus, the interactions between the fetal adaptations from cues *in utero* and final postnatal nutrition can impact disease risk (48). The prenatal period encapsulates maternal nutrition during both periconceptional and gestational periods.

1.2.1.1 Maternal undernutrition

1.2.1.1.1 Beneficial caloric restriction vs pregnancy caloric restriction

Restricting caloric intake while maintaining optimal nutrition has long been linked to increased longevity and slowed ageing phenotypes (54). As a result, it is possible to reduce energy intake without becoming malnourished (55). In fact, caloric restriction (CR) has been associated with improvements in both humans and animals regarding insulin resistance, oxidative damage (56) as well reduced morbidity (57). However, these findings are confined to adult organisms. When applied to the fetus, maternal caloric restriction constitutes a nutritional insult in that it imposes a deficit of specific nutrients or calories required for the development of offspring (58).

Caloric restriction has been linked to the deactivation of the nutrient-sensing mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling, which is also a factor in aging, in both adult and fetal cases. (59,60). In the case of adult CR without malnutrition, the removal of nutrients inhibits insulin signalling which, in turn

represses mTOR, decelerating aging (60). Additionally demonstrated to repress mTOR is pregnancy CR. However, this stimulates increased insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) expression and phosphorylation, which reduces the bioavailability of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) (59). The primary distinction between the two is that, while mTOR acts on IGF-1 in pregnancy CR, it responds to IGF-1 signalling and insulin responsive substrates in non-malnutritive CR (59,60). mTOR plays a significant role in nutrient sensing, which has significant effects in both environments, even though other signalling pathways may be involved.

1.2.1.1.2 Maternal undernutrition and programming

Throughout the course of pregnancy an altered metabolic environment can have significant consequences for the developing fetus. Some of the earliest epidemiological evidence linking maternal undernutrition to programming of disease can be observed in the previously-discussed studies by Barker in Hertfordshire (9,11,13). While these studies set the stage for the development of the DOHaD hypothesis, they did not directly show the relationship between maternal undernutrition and the development of metabolic syndrome phenotypes in later life. They tended to focus on the use of birth weight as a crude surrogate measure for determining later disease.

Where the relationship between nutrition and disease was better clarified is in studies of adults that were still *in utero* during the Dutch Hunger Winter of 1944-45 (42). Studies of the Dutch cohort provided a unique opportunity to study a

direct link between restricted maternal nutrition and the implications for offspring health in the long term. However, the physiological mechanisms that are involved in the programming of later health outcomes still remain undefined. Therefore, the strongest evidence of a causative link between undernutrition and disease risk has largely been derived from animal models. Indeed, findings have shown that inadequate nutrition in both humans and animals compromises growth of both fetus and placenta (61,62).

Approaches for the study of nutrient restriction in animal models have included global restriction of maternal dietary intake and restriction of specific macro- and micronutrients (63). What is evident, however, is that poor maternal dietary intake is not the single limiting factor contributing to fetal undernutrition. Maternal and fetal nutrition are not identical. Other factors including reduced maternal stores, body composition and physiology, as well as constrained uteroplacental function are factors that minimise nutrient transfer to the fetus (63-65).

The programming effects of global restriction of maternal dietary intake are of particular interest in this thesis. Studies of global restriction of maternal dietary intake have been undertaken using both rodent models and sheep. The effects of decreasing maternal dietary intake by 30% (66), 50% (67-69) and even more severely, 70% (70,71) have been studied in rodent models. Maternal dietary restricted offspring tend to have low birth weights (66-68). In both mice and rats,

exposure of dams to 50% dietary restriction in the final week of gestation perturbs pancreatic development resulting in a reduced β -cell mass, which contributes to impaired insulin secretion and glucose intolerance in adulthood (67,68). Adult hypertension (66,71) and obesity (72) have also been observed in some models. While these outcomes are not present in all, catch-up growth is still present in some (66,72).

As with the human studies described above, duration and timing of nutrient exposure is a significant factor. While in rats, 50% dietary restriction in late gestation leads to impaired insulin secretion (67,68), there is no effect on the action or secretion of insulin in adulthood when the exposure occurs during the initial two thirds of gestation (69). Similarly in sheep, a 50% restriction in the first 30 days of gestation (term ≈147 days) alters cardiovascular function in young adulthood without changing birth weight (73), whereas the same dietary restriction in late gestation leads to a glucose intolerance phenotype (74).

Similar disease outcomes have also been present when there was a deficiency of specific nutrients during gestation. In rats, protein restriction has been shown to reduce nephron number in the developing kidney, which may contribute to the development of hypertension in adulthood (75,76). Hypertensive phenotypes have also been observed when there is a deficiency in the micronutrients iron and zinc during gestation (77,78).

Animal studies also show that global dietary restriction plays a significant role in the development of metabolic disease through programming of the brain. Notably, appetite and energy expenditure mechanisms are significantly affected in calorie-restricted offspring as a result of a significant decrease in concentration of an adipocyte-derived peptide hormone called leptin (79,80). Two isoforms of leptin exist, with the long isoforms highly expressed in the hypothalamus and the short isoforms in the tissue periphery (81,82). Across various species, leptin plays a prominent role in satiety by promoting energy expenditure and reducing intake of food, thus stabilising adiposity (83). While caloric restriction suppresses offspring leptin (79,80), adult plasma leptin levels are high in obese individuals, and this is also accompanied by leptin resistance (84).

An observed consequence of this is behavioural modification; adult offspring of severely dietary restricted (DR) rat dams displayed changes in feeding habits, such as hyperphagia (over-eating), augmented by a hypercaloric post-weaning diet (70), and a tendency toward sedentariness (85). Changes in cognition have also been noted. Offspring of DR dams have a reduced learning capacity (86). One other significant programming target that involves the brain, which is impacted by maternal dietary restriction during pregnancy, is the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, which is discussed in more detail below (2.2.2).

Epidemiological studies of the mismatch between pre- and postnatal life are supported by experimental work in animals. In a model of maternal undernutrition using sheep, a normal feeding regimen was introduced in postnatal life. Sheep demonstrated altered growth patterns with less weight gain in the first 31 days of gestation but greater postnatal growth rates prior to weaning (87). The mismatch in nutrition led to cardiovascular dysfunction and altered renal function in adulthood (87). Using a system of maternal gestational malnutrition in rat dams with low protein (LP) diets, followed by a period of overfeeding, resulted in offspring with IUGR that exhibited rapid catch-up growth (88,89). Further, in adulthood, rodents showed various symptoms associated with metabolic disease including hyperinsulinemia, glucose intolerance, insulin resistance (88), as well as hypertension and renal dysfunction (89).

Although it be might expected that matching the inadequate diets of the intrauterine environment to the postnatal environment might produce a positive outcome, studies in rats have shown otherwise. Exposing rat dams to LP diets throughout gestation and lactation periods resulted in offspring with increased lipid accumulation in the liver pre-weaning, and compromised hepatic structure and function in adulthood, all precursors to disease (90,91). Given the example of the Leningrad siege where no disease symptoms were apparent in offspring in adulthood despite pre- and postnatal nutritional adversity (43), these findings may suggest that there are other interacting variables which contribute to the

final phenotype. Thus, there are limitations to the animal model, and a better understanding of the interaction between environments might provide a significant window for future interventions.

1.2.1.2 Maternal overnutrition

Although there is strong evidence that nutritional insufficiency during gestation can program susceptibility towards metabolic disease, it has been proposed that overnutrition *in utero* can also contribute to the development of obesity and its related disorders (92,93). Interest in fetal overnutrition began following the development of a hypothesis by Jørgen Pedersen in the 1950s, which suggested that in diabetic pregnancies, maternal hyperglycaemia caused excess glucose transfer to the fetus (94). Consequently, the fetal hyperglycaemia that develops elevates fetal insulin production and secretion which promotes fetal overgrowth leading to adverse outcomes in later life (94).

Norbert Freinkel later modified Pedersen's hypothesis, retaining the principle of increased blood glucose, and broadening it to include maternal plasma free fatty acids (FFAs) and amino acids as other nutrients that could bring about similar outcomes when in excess (92). This is known as the fuel-mediated teratogenesis concept which postulates that in diabetic pregnancies, the fetus is exposed to excess "mixed fuels" *in utero* which may lead to, in addition to higher birth weights, congenital malformations and greater risk of developing T2D and obesity (92). More recently, it has been proposed that fetal overnutrition also occurs in obese non-diabetic pregnancies, resulting in long-term changes, including alterations to appetite, neuroendocrine function and metabolism (93).

This collection of understanding is now referred to as the developmental overnutrition hypothesis.

1.2.1.2.1 The influence of maternal body composition

The worldwide prevalence of obesity in adulthood has almost doubled over the past three decades (95), and of particular concern is the parallel global rise in the rates of overweight/obesity in pregnant women and in children (96). In the United States alone, a third of women are obese, with two thirds maintaining an overweight status (97). It was previously hypothesised that exposure to maternal diabetes during pregnancy might adversely affect intrauterine conditions leading to an intergenerational "vicious cycle" of obesity and T2D (98). More recently, it has been proposed that this intergenerational effect is more likely due to exposure to maternal obesity whilst *in utero* (99).

Maternal obesity has been linked to fetal growth abnormalities. A particularly concerning trend is the presence of macrosomia (birth weight >4,000g) rather than IUGR, following exposure to both maternal diabetes and obesity during gestation, which in turn, also puts offspring at risk of metabolic disease (100,101). This was initially illustrated by studies of the Pima Indians in Arizona, a cohort where women had pre-existent diabetes and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) (101). Exposure to diabetic and GDM pregnancies resulted in large-for-gestational-age offspring, which also tended to be heavier in childhood after the age of 5 (102). Data from this cohort and other later studies of diabetic

pregnancies served to expand the outcomes of the overnutrition hypothesis to include fetal obesity/adiposity (103-105), a significant risk factor for childhood obesity and impaired metabolism (106).

Similar to diabetic pregnancies, higher fetal adiposity is also independently associated with maternal obesity, as determined by BMI (107). It has been determined that women with BMIs above 40 are at a high risk of passing on their obesity to their offspring (108). Studies have shown a dose-dependent link between maternal obesity and macrosomia (109). Despite the fact that obesity in pregnancy is strongly associated with GDM (110), fetal exposure to solely maternal obesity can double the risk of developing metabolic syndrome (107). Indeed, results from various studies suggest that fetal overgrowth has an even stronger association with maternal pre-pregnancy BMI, and maternal plasma triglycerides (TG) than with GDM (111-113). This trend in growth can occur in non-hyperglycaemic mothers (114), suggesting that fuels other than glucose may be involved in the processes governing fetal overgrowth.

It was previously hypothesised by Szabo that pregnancy obesity, excessive weight gain and diabetes caused increased adiposity in neonates as a result of increased placental transfer of maternal FFA to the fetus (115). Subsequent studies support this notion, denoting a positive association between both higher birth weights and neonatal adiposity with not only maternal FFA, but also TG in non-hyperglycaemic GDM pregnancies (101,111). Furthermore, children born to
obese mothers have been shown to develop insulin resistance phenotypes (116). Evidence suggests that maternal lipid metabolism in obese mothers is altered and this may contribute to fetal overnutrition by maternal lipids (117).

Over the course of pregnancy, maternal metabolism and endocrine function is altered to accommodate the nutritional needs of the developing fetus. Analogous to changes in protein and carbohydrate metabolism, there are two phases of lipid metabolism in pregnancy (118). The first phase is anabolic and lasts through the first two trimesters of gestation. The anabolic phase is marked by an increase in maternal insulin sensitivity, which in conjunction with elevated estrogen and progesterone, promotes lipogenesis and suppresses lipolysis, accumulating deposits of long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFA) in adipose tissue (118-120). In addition to enhanced lipogenesis, maternal body fat also accumulates as a result of hyperphagia (118) and increased activity of the enzyme lipoprotein lipase (LPL) in adipose tissue which hydrolyses circulating TG for tissue uptake (121).

The second phase is catabolic and occurs in the final third (late second into the third trimester) of pregnancy (118). This phase is characterised by enhanced lipolysis and mobilisation of fats (119). As the maternal metabolic state transitions from anabolic to catabolic there is an accompanying increase in maternal insulin resistance and a suppression of LPL activity (118). This increased lipolytic activity in the presence of maternal insulin resistance elevates

the concentration of circulating FFA and glycerol (118). The elevated maternal lipids are now available for transfer to the fetus, and are thought contribute to the fetal fat deposition that occurs towards the end of pregnancy (111). The availability of fatty acids, particularly LC-PUFAs is essential for the developing nervous system (122).

This process of lipid metabolism has been shown to differ between obese and non-obese women in pregnancy. The amount of fat that accumulates in early pregnancy is greater in lean women than in obese women, likely due to greater insulin sensitivity in the former (117). Further, indications from previous work by Catalano *et al.* (123) demonstrated that the pattern of lipogenesis and lipolysis during pregnancy differs between lean and obese women. Lean women demonstrated greater pre-pregnancy lipogenesis, which was also maintained in early pregnancy, and increased lipolysis in later pregnancy (123). In obese women however, while lipogenesis occurs pre-conception, in early pregnancy it occurs to a lesser degree than in lean women, and the transition from anabolic to catabolic state occurs much earlier (123). Notably, higher circulating levels of circulating lipids are present in obese pregnancies (111-113,124) and this may indeed affect lipid transfer to the fetus. However, more work is still required to determine the mechanisms through which this may occur.

1.2.1.2.2 The influence of maternal dietary intake

Compared to fetal undernutrition, there is still a dearth of information regarding the contribution of maternal diet to fetal overnutrition in humans. Hyperglycaemic diets during pregnancy have been associated with increased fetal adiposity and higher birth weights (125), which can be compounded by maternal overweight and obesity (126). **The interest in this thesis is specifically on the effects of a high fat (HF) diet exposure.** Through the use of animal models, the effects of maternal feeding of HF and diet-induced maternal obesity during gestation have been examined, in addition to programming outcomes of such exposures.

In animals, diets high in fat have been used extensively to model obesity, and other metabolic risk factors particularly with rodents. Evidence from animal studies has paralleled many of the findings observed in epidemiological studies of maternal overnutrition. Exposure to a HF diet during gestation has been shown to have significant effects on adult offspring. Male offspring of pregnant rats fed a HF diet during gestation have higher body weights and glucose intolerance (127). If maternal HF feeding is extended from gestation into the lactation period, rat offspring demonstrate cardiovascular dysfunction, altered liver lipid metabolism, hypertension, elevated leptin levels, and impaired pancreatic β -cell development causing hyperglycaemia (128-132). While these studies have demonstrated the long-term programming effects in adult offspring pre-

weaning. One such study reported higher levels of circulating triglycerides in neonatal offspring following exposure to a HF diet during gestation (133).

Similar to DR animal studies, HF diets have also been shown to play a role in programming of offspring behaviour. Elevated anxiety has been demonstrated in offspring of both rats (134) and non-human primates (135) in response to prenatal HF exposure. Excessive intake of food by the mother during either preor postnatal periods has been shown to program postnatal fetal appetite (136-138). Postpubertal offspring of HF-fed rat dams displayed changes in food preference and feeding habits, including hyperphagia and an increased preference for fat (136). This has been attributed to HF-induced increased proliferation of neurons in hypothalamus that secrete peptides responsible for control of food intake and body weight (136). Similar to dietary restriction, HF exposure has also been shown to influence the HPA axis; to be discussed below (Section 2.2.2).

Several animal studies suggest that maternal HF diets during pregnancy might induce metabolic syndrome-type phenotypes in offspring. In spite of this, the phenotypic outcomes in offspring may be dependent on the type of fatty acids they are exposed to. A large number of animal studies have employed the use of saturated fats (63), which are associated with many of the adverse outcomes described above. In contrast, unsaturated fatty acids are associated with positive cardiovascular health (139). In rats a deficiency in omega (ω)-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in the perinatal period elevated blood pressure in later life (140). The most abundant fatty acids in the brain and the retina are arachidonic acid (AA), which is an ω -6, and docohexanoic acid (DHA) which is an ω -3 PUFA (139). In humans a prenatal deficiency of the ω -3 DHA is associated with impaired retinal function and learning ability (122). The ω -6 acid AA is believed to play significant role in promoting growth in early life and is a critical component of membrane lipids including phospholipids in cells (141).

In addition, exposure to PUFAs has been suggested to counter the effects of suboptimal prenatal environments. In a postnatal environment, human milk provides a source of PUFAs (139). A longer duration of breastfeeding is associated with protection against the development of overweight and obesity both in adults (142,143) and children (144,145). In rats, postnatal feeding with ω -3 fatty acids has been shown to counter programmed hyperleptinemia and hypertension in offspring exposed to excessive glucocorticoid exposure *in utero* (146).

In concert with these nutritional effects, over the last ten years interest has grown in the role of the microbiome. This has brought to light a new hypothesis based on the microflora makeup of the gut (147), which postulates that early life exposures alter the development of the human gut microbial makeup. Not only is microbiome of the mother associated with maternal metabolism but it can also be vertically transmitted to offspring which means it may pose significant changes in microbiota of the neonate (148,149). While not the focus of this thesis and well-reviewed (148,149), in the future, it may prove significant in examining log-term alterations to microbiota that are inherited in offspring of undernourished and hypercaloric pregnancies.

1.2.2 The Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis

Upon exposure to stressors, an array of responses, collectively called the stress response, is activated in order to maintain the homeostatic state of the cell (150,151). This homeostatic response may involve the combined action of nervous, endocrine and immune systems, triggering responses at the molecular, cellular, physiological and behavioural levels (150,151). This response to stress is managed through activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and activation of the sympathetic nervous system (152). The activation of the HPA axis results in a more sustained stress response through the release of corticosteroids, steroid hormones secreted by the adrenal glands and are the end point of the axis (152). The adrenal corticosteroids are comprised of two types: GCs and mineralocorticoids.

1.2.2.1 Anatomical organisation of the stress response

The HPA axis is comprised of elements that are located in both the central nervous system (CNS) and in peripheral tissue (153). The CNS component comprises the hypothalamus containing neurons of the paraventricular nucleus (PVN), and the anterior lobe of the pituitary gland, which lies below. The peripheral tissue component is the adrenal gland (153). Through a coordinated

series of actions hormonal signals are released from these structures to mediate the stress response.

Under the influence of stress, circadian rhythm or other stimuli, the hypothalamic PVN synthesises and secretes corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which is the main regulator of the HPA axis, (and another hormone called vasopressin) (154). Once CRH is secreted it stimulates the corticotrope cells of the anterior pituitary gland to release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) into the bloodstream, targeting the cortex of the adrenal gland. ACTH then stimulates the adrenal cortex to synthesise and secrete GCs (Figure 1.5) (155,156). In humans the principal GC is cortisol, whereas in rodents it is corticosterone. GCs traverse the blood-brain barrier to the brain where they bind to two distinct receptors through which they exert their effects, mineralcorticoid (MR) and glucocorticoid receptors (GR) (157,158). MR are activated by low basal levels of cortisol under normal physiological conditions, whereas during stress, higher cortisol levels activate the GR (157). GR mediate the activity of GCs in the cell (159). Once bound to a corticosteroid, activated GR dimerise and translocate into the nucleus from the cytoplasm where they induce or repress target gene transcription, and behave as ligand-dependent transcription factors (160).

Activity of the HPA axis can be inhibited by negative feedback from elevated levels of circulating GCs (156) (Figure 1.1). Increased levels of GCs can also affect one other structure in the brain, the hippocampus, which is abundant in both MR

and GR and plays a significant role in the GC negative feedback response (Figure 1.1) (161). In the absence of stimuli, the hippocampus normally prevents HPA axis activation by blocking the activity of CRH-containing cells. However, periods of protracted stress or cortisol exposure can be damaging to the hippocampus, diminishing hippocampal neurogenesis and reducing hippocampal volume (162,163), which may impede its ability to adequately regulate the HPA axis.



Figure 1.1 Glucocorticoid regulation in the HPA axis.

Adapted from Vedder 2008 (164). Under the influence of stress, corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) produced by the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN) stimulates the anterior pituitary gland to synthesise and secrete ACTH, which, in turn stimulates glucocorticoid release from the adrenal gland

1.2.2.2 Glucocorticoids and pregnancy

GCs play an important role in embryogenesis (165) and are crucial for the growth

and maturation of various fetal tissues including the lung, liver, kidneys, and gut

(166). Throughout the course of pregnancy the maternal HPA axis undergoes significant changes as levels of cortisol gradually increase, and normal basal responses to GCs are tempered (167).

In late gestation, mammalian fetal GCs experience a final surge for organ maturation in preparation for neonatal life (168). Both in humans and mice this late-stage increase comes about as the result of two sources. The first source is fetal and arises from glucocorticoid synthesis (*de novo*) by the fetal adrenal gland (169,170). This increase in *de novo* glucocorticoid synthesis is also accompanied by a rise in fetal production of GR near term, which plays a significant role in the preparation of the liver for carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in early postnatal life (171,172). The second source is the maternal plasma (173,174).

Despite these increases, over the course of a normal pregnancy, fetal glucocorticoid concentration is maintained at lower levels than the mother (175). Given the significantly higher concentrations of active GCs in maternal circulation, it is therefore necessary to manage fetal exposure so that it is not in excess. This role is carried out by the placenta, which, in addition to its role in nutrient exchange, acts as a glucocorticoid barrier between maternal and fetal circulations (176). Notably, the bioavailability of GCs is regulated by two isoforms, 1 and 2, of the enzyme 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11β-HSD), which interconverts the active cortisol (in humans)/corticosterone (in rodents) and their inactive forms, cortisone/11-dehydrocorticosterone (177).

The 11 β -HSD2 isoform is present in the placenta, and catalyses the inactivation of maternal GCs, thus reducing fetal exposure (178,179). This provides a barrier for the exclusion of up to 90% of active maternal GCs from the fetus (180). However, in late gestation, 11 β -HSD2 levels decrease to allow more maternal cortisol/corticosterone to be available to the fetus. Acting in concert with 11 β -HSD2 is a second protective placental transporter called P-glycoprotein, which mediates the removal of GCs (181). Unlike 11 β -HSD2 whose expression increases steadily throughout gestation, dropping near term (173,174), P-glycoprotein elevates mid-gestation and steadily decreases as pregnancy progresses (182).

As a result of these effects, synthetic pharmacological GCs have been used to treat women at risk of preterm birth to promote precocious lung maturation and, less frequently, congenital adrenal hyperplasia to improve neonatal viability (183,184). The therapeutic effectiveness of synthetic GCs is due to the inability of 11 β -HSD2 to efficiently metabolise them and therefore they are able cross the maternal-fetal barrier (185,186). In spite of the benefits of such treatments, studies have indicated that several acute and chronic effects occur in situations when the fetus is exposed to higher levels of GCs.

1.2.2.3 Glucocorticoids and programming

Fetal overexposure to GCs can result when synthetic steroids are administered to mothers as discussed above (183,187,188), during high maternal stress (189,190)., or when corticosteroids cannot be properly metabolised (191,192). A notable consequence of increased glucocorticoid presence is impaired growth, which has already been identified as a significant indicator of adversity *in utero*, and is linked to development of metabolic disease (9,11,13). IUGR has been observed both in humans (187,188) and animals (193,194) following antenatal glucocorticoid treatments. Notably, lower birth weights in humans have also been accompanied by elevated umbilical cord CRH and cortisol when prenatal corticosteroids were given (195,196). When clinically equivalent doses of betamethasone were given to pregnant ewes, femur lengths, as well as brain, liver and kidney sizes are reduced (197).

Similarly, intrauterine growth is impaired when endogenous maternal GCs are elevated by factors such as maternal disease stress (195), hypoxia (198,199) and malnutrition (200-202). The ability to metabolise GCs ties into the effectiveness of 11 β -HSD2 in managing the maternal-fetal barrier in the placenta. Under normal circumstances 11 β -HSD2 levels increase throughout pregnancy, but decrease closer to term (173,174). However, in humans, some growth-restricted fetuses have been observed with drastically reduced expression of placental 11 β -HSD2 (191,192). In rare instances, there are individuals that possess a deleterious mutation that causes an 11 β -HSD2 deficiency, who also report severe growth deficits at birth (203). Of the listed factors that elevate endogenous GCs, the effects of nutrition are of particular interest to this thesis. Maternal protein or global dietary restriction in rats (202), mice (204) and sheep (200,205,206) suppress 11β -HSD2 in late gestation. Using a mouse model Knight and colleagues in our research group previously imposed a 30% maternal dietary restriction on two strains of laboratory mice: the A/J strain and the C57BL/6J (B6) strain from E6.5 to E17.5 (201). They observed fetal growth restriction in conjunction with larger placentae, indicating placental inefficiency, as well as elevated maternal plasma corticosterone in the dietary restricted group, suggesting increased GC passage into the fetal compartment (207).

The later life consequences of HPA axis programming in humans and animals are well documented. Elevated GCs have a demonstrated risk of hyperglycaemia (193,208) and hypertension (208-210) when they are exogenously administered. Once again dysfunctional metabolism is linked to stimuli such as nutrition which also increase early life endogenous GCs. Using this mouse model, previous data were able to demonstrate adult metabolic syndrome phenotypes including hyperlipidaemia and glucose intolerance in response to undernourishment during gestation (211). The development of these phenotypes coincided with elevated endogenous maternal corticosterone and suppressed 11β-HSD2 in the placenta at E17.5 (201).

In addition to metabolic disease outcomes, in excess, GCs have been linked to profound programming effects in the neuroendocrine system (194,212). The perinatal period is a critical window for brain development. In sheep, fetal exposure to synthetic GCs resulted in hyperactivation and hyper-responsiveness of the fetal HPA axis leading to elevated ACTH and cortisol in early life (213,214). In humans this inappropriate pattern of HPA axis hyper-stimulation is also shown across infancy and into adolescence following maternal prenatal psychological stress (215-217).

The long-term implications for mental disorders are substantial in offspring that might have been exposed to maternal stress. Schizophrenia in adults has been linked to undernutrition, as reported in offspring of the Dutch Hunger Winter (218), as well as overnutrition following maternal obesity (219,220). Further, maternal obesity (221,222) as well as anxiety/depression (223) are also identified as risk factors for the development of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Failure of the placental glucocorticoid barrier is also associated with behavioural programming. In rats, experimentally blocking the activity of placental 11 β -HSD2 programs anxiety behaviour in adult offspring (212).

HPA axis effects on offspring are not limited to exposure to adverse intrauterine environments. Studies have also shown that maternal behaviour in early postnatal life has implications for the offspring HPA axis in adulthood. Rat pups that were exposed to more frequent licking/grooming-arched back nursing in their first postnatal week had greater hippocampal GR expression and increased sensitivity to the GC negative feedback, suggesting a less exaggerated response to stress (224,225). Taken together, these data suggest that early life stress, and the fundamental alterations in HPA axis function that occur, can have long-term consequences for disease. An understanding of the molecular mechanisms involved in mediating these outcomes may help clarify understanding of disease progression and its underlying pathophysiological processes.

1.2.3 Sex differences

Indeed, while the abovementioned factors, nutrition and glucocorticoids, have significance for programming, offspring sex also appears to both dictate response to both factors, as well as future severity and incidence of disease phenotypes. Various studies employing the use of animal models such as rats (226-228), mice (211,229,230) and sheep (231,232) have demonstrated sexually dimorphic responses to early life stressors. This is not limited to models but is also clearly shown in humans (26,233,234).

The reasons for this remain unclear. However, one often explored hypothesis is differences in male and female growth rates *in utero* (235). Speed of growth may in fact be a significant factor when it comes to assessing the effect of an insult during a specific developmental time point. *In vitro* evidence in mice shows that male cultured preimplantation embryos grow at a higher rate than females (236). Moreover, in humans, intrauterine post-morphogenesis growth is also shown to be more rapid in males, accounting for the generally higher birth weight (237). This developmental difference in males across various species may suggest why they are more sensitive to insufficient nutrition *in utero* (66,202,232), and why female fetuses may have a greater susceptibility to overnutrition (131).

32

Not limited to nutrition, sex-specific responses are influenced by timing of glucocorticoid exposure. Female offspring of rat dams with elevated stress in the final week of gestation demonstrated higher ACTH and corticosterone when restrained, whereas there was no observed effect in males (189). When triggered by undernutrition, elevated endogenous glucocorticoids not only program a hypertensive phenotype in both male and female sheep offspring, but substantially increased resting cortisol in the first year of life (238).

The highlighted sex differences in the literature associated with DOHaD emphasise the importance of examining males and females separately. The effects dependent on sex are wide-ranging and will require a significant amount of research, before determining stimuli and mechanisms for specific health outcomes.

1.3 Impacted organs: The liver

As initially discussed, exposure to a less than adequate early life environment may impact the development of several tissues and organs involved in insulinmediated regulation of metabolism, such as the liver (35). Consequently, the effects of perturbations in the development of the liver have been linked to the development of metabolic disease (239). Given the relevance of this particular organ to the studies conducted in this thesis, a comparative outline of the structure and development of human and mouse livers is detailed below.

1.3.1 Liver Structure

The liver is the single largest interior organ of the body and performs many of the same functions in humans as in mice (240). In spite of this, species-specific differences in liver gross structure, relative size and position are present between humans and mice. While the organ develops similarly, variations also exist within the various stages of liver development.

The human liver constitutes roughly 2.5% of total body weight (152). It is located in the superior right-hand quadrant below the diaphragm in the cranial abdomen, and comprises four discernible lobes (Figure 1.2A, B): the left, right, caudate and quadrate. The right lobe is the largest lobe (241). The liver is suspended above the gall bladder and an extensive blood vessel network by a series of prominent ligaments (241).

Similarly, the mouse liver (Figure 1.2C, D) is also located below the diaphragm in the cranial abdomen (240). However, unlike humans, the mouse liver is spread across the entire space inferior to the diaphragm, occupying a third of the anterior abdominal cavity (242) and making up 5% of total body weight (240). The liver in the mouse also possesses four lobes: left, right, caudate, and a fourth distinct lobe, which is the largest, called the medial lobe (Figure 1.2C, D) (240). The medial lobe is partitioned into left and right portions by a deep cleft through which the gall bladder protrudes (242) (Figure 1.2D). Unlike in humans, the ligaments that suspend the mouse liver are less distinct (240).





(A), (B) The human liver comprises four discernible lobes: right (R), left (L), caudate (C) and quadrate (Q) and is suspended above the gall bladder (GB) by prominent ligaments (lig i, ii, and iii). (C), (D) The mouse liver also has four lobes: right (R), left (L), medial (M) and caudate (C). Suspensory ligaments in the human liver are not present in the mouse liver. In the mouse liver, the GB does not fully lie below the liver, but protrudes through the middle of the medial lobe. Figures modified from Treuting (240).

Human and mouse livers possess various cell types which are organised very similarly between species. These include parenchymal cells called hepatocytes, and bile duct epithelia (cholangiocytes), non-parenchymal sinusoidal cells consisting of endothelial cells and hepatic macrophages called Kupffer cells, and non-parenchymal peri-sinusoidal fat storing cells called stellate (Ito) cells and hepatic natural killer cells called pit cells (242-244). The remainder of the liver is comprised of an extracellular compartment that includes sinusoids which are lined by the non-parenchymal cells, the perisinusoidal space called the space of

Disse and bile canaliculi (241,244). Hepatocytes comprise 60% (52% in mice) of the adult liver cell number (243,245). Hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells comprise 20% (18% in mice) of total liver cells, while stellate cells, which represent 5% to 8% of total cells (8% in mice). The remaining endothelial cells make up the remaining cell number (12-15% in humans or 22% in mice) (243,245).

As in humans, the architecture of the murine liver is optimised for function due to the presence of a portal triad, comprised of branches of the hepatic artery, portal vein and hepatic ducts (245,246). The hepatic portal vein provides 40% of the liver's oxygen for metabolism and 70% of total liver blood supply, and the hepatic artery supplies 60% of the liver's oxygen and the remaining 30% of the liver's blood (246). This hepatic design helps to facilitate the exchange of materials between the blood and therefore allows the liver to more easily carry out its many functions in the body (246).

1.3.2 Liver Function

The liver has several important functions including synthesis of plasma/serum proteins (including clotting factors and transport proteins such as albumin and transferrin), and removal and degradation of compounds such as serum proteins, erythrocytes, microbes and toxic endogenous compounds (247). However, one of the most important functions of the liver is its role in nutrient metabolism (152). The liver metabolises both carbohydrates and fats, and maintains a dynamic equilibrium of catabolism and anabolism (246). The regulation of this equilibrium is dependent upon signalling from hormones secreted by organs such as the

neighbouring pancreas, adrenal glands, thyroid and adipose tissue, as well as input from the nervous system (247,248).

It is important that an adequate level of circulating glucose is maintained for the central nervous system, which uses glucose as its main metabolic fuel (246,248). When blood glucose levels are very high, the liver converts glucose into glycogen, fatty acids or amino acids for storage (152). However, when blood glucose concentrations are low, glucose can be produced by degradation of the glycogen depots in the liver or muscle cells (247).

During the course of digestion, fats are broken down to fatty acids and glycerol (247). In order to store the metabolised fats, the fatty acids and glycerol then undergo an esterification reaction to form TG (247). These triglycerides are stored in the hepatocytes cytosol as lipid droplets and used to help maintain the energy balance of the cells and hence the whole organism (243). Fatty acids are typically derived from phospholipids or TG and are stored either in the liver or in other sites such as adipose tissue (243). They may be used as a component of the cell membrane, or as a fuel source following beta- (β –) oxidation (249), to yield the highest adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production of any metabolic fuel (243). Due to the essential role the liver plays in maintaining homeostasis, it is important that the liver develops properly. The process of liver development is described below.

1.3.3 Liver Development

The process of intrauterine development is very similar between humans and mice. In humans this period of development is divided into three stages: preimplantation, embryonic, and fetal (250). The embryonic stage is the major period of organogenesis (organ formation) (251). The length of time an organism spends *in utero* and thus, within a given developmental stage, differs between species. The duration of normal human gestation is roughly 38 weeks, whereas in mice it is between 19-20 days (252). Furthermore, the timing of birth is set very differently between these species.

The human embryonic period covers the first 8 weeks (~60 days) of development, during which organogenesis occurs (251). At the end of the 8-week period, the conceptus is no longer called an embryo and the term "fetus" is applied. This new fetal period lasts from week 9 to birth, during which the fetus remains *in utero*, allowing organ maturation and body growth to occur (251). However, in mice, once organs are fully formed, the mouse is born almost straight away (253). Because the mouse has a much shorter gestation period, the term embryo is applied throughout all developmental stages post fertilisation until birth (254). Therefore the progression of mouse development *in utero* is indicated by the number of days post conception (255). The timing of the first day of pregnancy is determined by the discovery of a copulatory plug and is designated embryonic day (or E) 1 or 0.5 (255). For the purpose of this thesis E0.5 will be used to denote embryonic day 1, and E18.5 for final gestational day 19.

Stages of development in the human embryo are characterised using criteria established by the Carnegie Institution of Washington, and are called Carnegie stages (256). Carnegie stages comprise a total of 23 steps and only cover the embryonic phase of development (Figure 1.3). Once the fetal phase begins, Carnegie staging no longer applies (256). Carnegie stages were originally determined exclusively by examining the development of external characteristics (256). However, staging criteria has expanded to include age in days (postfertilisation), internal morphology and embryonic (crown to heel) length (257,258). Conversely stages of embryo development in the mouse are characterised using Theiler stages (TS) (Figure 1.3), which are comprised of 26 prenatal (22 embryonic followed by 4 fetal) and 2 postnatal periods covering the first 20 days post conception (259,260). However, in order to compare changes in appearance that occur during the embryonic period across different species only Carnegie staging is used (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3. Comparison of developmental stages of human and mouse embryos, including periods of liver development.

Carnegie stages (CS) of human development are indicated in blue. The equivalent Theiler stages (TS) of mouse development are represented in red. Gestational timeline is expressed using days post conception (Dpc) in humans and gestational day (E) in mice. Period of liver development is highlighted as between CS 11-23 in humans and TS 12-26 in mice. (Adapted from Xue *et al.* (253) and Theiler (260)).

Many similarities exist in the mechanisms that govern liver development in humans and mice. In both species liver development commences during embryogenesis and proceeds as a multi-stage process, which is regulated by various genes and pathways (251,261). Embryonic development of the human liver begins in the third to fourth week of gestation, corresponding to Carnegie stage (CS) 11, which is equivalent to E8.5 or Theiler stage (TS) 13 in the mouse (252,262). Following fertilisation and eventual blastula formation, the blastula reorganises into the gastrula with three germ layers ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm, the latter from which the liver derives (263).

During this period the endodermal epithelia lie in close proximity to mesenchymal cells in the septum transversum of the developing heart (246). The cardiac mesoderm and developing cardiac organ then release two classes of proteins, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and bone morphogenic protein (BMP), which stimulate the underlying endoderm to commit to differentiate into primitive hepatocyte precursors such as hepatoblasts, Type I hepatocytes, and prehepatocytes (264,265). Further FGF and BMP secretion stimulates the formation of a hepatic diverticulum at CS 11/TS 13 ((246,252). This diverticulum, which consists of primitive hepatocytes, then grows out from posterior foregut of the endodermal epithelium (246,252).

These primitive hepatocytes also begin to aggregate into small cords (262). This process of "fate-mapping" and outgrowth of cells is marked by increased

hepatoblast expression of albumin (Alb) (264). By the end of the first month of gestation in humans (CS 12) there is an increase in the expression of Alb and other hepatocellular proteins alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), and transferrin indicating the ability of the primitive cells to synthesise and secrete proteins (246). In mice, once liver primordial outgrowth is initiated, AFP expression is increased by E8.5 (TS 11-12) and decreases over the course of the pregnancy, with a corresponding increase in albumin expression within 2 days of AFP (254,265).

At CS 13/TS 16, the cords of cells at the liver diverticulum begin to proliferate to significantly increase hepatic cellular mass (262). As development enters CS 14/TS 17, the hepatic glands enlarge and become more vascular (262). While organogenesis proceeds at CS 12/TS15 in the endodermal layer, the visceral mesodermal layer begins to evolve into a unique axial structure consisting of the dorsal aorta, genital ridges and mesonephron (266). This structure is called the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region (251,267). By the end of CS 14/TS 17, the AGM is fully formed and begins to produce stem cells which have the ability to differentiate into the various cell and tissue types in the blood (268). This production of cells and tissue components of the blood is known as haematopoiesis (247).

These hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) invade the fetal liver from the AGM region through the established circulation and initiate liver hematopoietic function. As a result, the HSCs colonize the liver and are able to expand their

mass and diversify their lineage (262). As the liver matures and becomes more metabolically active, the HSCs then relocate to the bone marrow or spleen, which then assume the primary haematopoietic role at the end of TS 21 (262).

Continuous proliferation of epithelia occurs in CS 18/TS 21. The bile ducts also reorganise, establishing continuity between the liver and the gut, but only in humans (262). Notably, this remodelling happens in mice only in the postnatal period (254). Between CS 18-23/TS 21-26 biliary ductules develop and organise near the connective tissue portal. By CS 23/TS 26 (57 days in humans/E 17.5 in mice), more than 90% of the hepatic structures present in the adult liver are now present in the embryo (256).

Once the liver is formed during the embryonic phase, the organ continues to further enlarge in the fetal phase. In humans, initially liver growth occurs as a result of hepatocyte proliferation (246). However, as the second trimester begins, mitosis is regulated by growth factors insulin-like growth factor I and II (IGF-I/II) (269,270). By the third trimester, mitosis decreases and hepatic organ mass increases due to enlargement of individual hepatocytes (271). When the human fetus is born, there is on-going mitosis to increase liver organ size since the neonatal liver only contains 20% of the hepatocytes present in the adult liver. This growth persists until the end of the second decade of life (271). At birth, hepatocytes are specialised so that they now have a dual-surface functionality (272). One surface, which is sinusoidal, is responsible for nutrient and oxygen

absorption from the hepatic portal vein. The other surface, which is canalicular, transports bile and metabolic end products (272). The liver is now able to carry out various metabolic functions including glycolysis, gluconeogenesis, detoxification and hydrolysis of cholesterol esters (272).

Alternatively, once mice are born, liver organ size is augmented by significant increases in hepatocyte proliferation (273), with a more than 3-fold increase in liver mass by postnatal day 9 (274). By four weeks of age, there is a marked decrease in proliferation as the liver-to-body weight ratio approaches adult levels (275). At this point the liver histological architecture resembles that of 3-monthold mice (276). The developmental stages of the liver are summarised in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4. Summary of liver development.

1) Hepatic cells arise from foregut endodermal cells in response to Bone morphogenic protein (BMP) and Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signals from cardiac mesenchyme and septum transversum. 2) Maturation of the liver primordium is accompanied by increased expression of Albumin (Alb) and alpha-fetoprotein (AFP). 3) In late embryo phase the aorta-gonadal-mesohephros (AGM) develops and AGM HSCs begin to invade the liver converting the liver into a haematipoietic organ. 4) As the liver matures and metabolic activity increases leading up to HSCs relocate to the bone marrow or spleen reducing liver haematopeitic function. 5) Hepatocytes continue to proliferate at birth and into neonatal life. 6) Hepatocytes further mature postnatally as cell proliferation terminated. All events in boxes with **Purple** text (fate mapping, is haematopoiesis, proliferation) occur at equivalent time points in humans and mice. Events that are boxes with Orange text (cell growth) are unique to humans at those specific time points i.e. birth and at the end of the neonatal phase. Proteins expressed IGF-I/II (Insulin-like growth factor I/II) Adapted from Kinoshita and Miyajima (264).

1.4 Molecular Mechanisms

Overall, the underlying molecular mechanisms of DOHaD still remain unclear. The abundance of data, from both epidemiology and animals, suggests that developmental and early life environments can affect specific genotypes generating phenotypic outcomes for susceptibility to metabolic disease. While tracking of the molecular mechanisms from compromised early life to the disease pathogenesis is incomplete, possible mechanisms have been proposed involving genetic and epigenetic processes.

1.4.1 Genetics/Epigenetics

1.4.1.1 Genome

It has been clearly demonstrated that ante- and postnatal environments contribute to metabolic dysfunction. However, differences in disease prevalence rates between individuals suggest that genotype also defines health outcomes in later life (277). Furthermore, it has been proposed that the aberrations that lead to these conditions may derive from interactions between an individual's genes and the environment (278-280). A significant body of work implicates single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), variations in the DNA sequence of a gene that occur when a single nucleotide is changed (281), as being key determinants of risk (282).

Several SNPs associated with metabolic disease have been identified. Examples of such polymorphisms include those that occur in the multi-isoform gene peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- gamma (PPAR- γ) (283). PPAR- γ is a

hormone receptor in the nucleus that regulates target gene expression by mediating the effects of ligands, and plays a crucial role in metabolism (283). The PPAR-γ variant where the amino acid alanine is replaced with proline at codon 12 (or Pro12Ala) has previously been linked to the development of type-2 diabetes (284). Alternatively, the Pro12Pro genotype has stronger links to DOHaD, demonstrating associations with small birth size and insulin resistance in later life, as well hypertension and dyslipidaemia (285-287).

Other SNPs associated with metabolic syndrome phenotypes include those identified in the glucocorticoid receptor gene (288-290). Given the critical role of GR in HPA axis regulation, it is also of note that polymorphisms have been linked to programming of psychological stress disorders (291,292). Furthermore, notably, data from the Helsinki Birth Cohort identified the potential for haplotypes of GR to modify associations between birth length and metabolic and stress axis dysfunction in adulthood (293).

The identification of polymorphisms may not only be useful for evaluating candidate genes for developmental programming of disease, but also assessing potential effects of interventions. The potential benefits of longer periods of breastfeeding were shown by Briollais and colleagues in carriers of a high-risk allele on the obesity gene (FTO) associated with higher BMI in adolescents of the Western Australian Pregnancy (Raine) Cohort (294). Breastfeeding was able to counter the effects of the allele, particularly in girls (294). Follow-up studies using British Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) cohort

revealed that at least 5 months of exclusive breastfeeding acted adversely against the FTO risk allele and was linked to a lower BMI (295). Taken together, these data suggest a highly complex interaction between genes and environment that contributes to disease outcomes, and is in agreement with the principles of the developmental plasticity hypothesis. However, genotypic alterations are not the only outcomes of exposure to suboptimal early life.

1.4.1.2 Epigenome

Gene-environment interactions can lead to a grouping of several mechanisms that alter gene expression and chromatin structure without making changes to the overall DNA nucleotide sequence (296). This collection of mechanisms is heritable and are called epigenetic modifications or marks (296). They can be inherited through mitosis between cell generations or via meiosis between generations of a species. Epigenetic modifications include DNA methylations, histone modifications, and the imprinting of non-coding RNAs (297-302).

1.4.1.2.1 DNA Methylation

The best characterised of all epigenetic modifications is DNA methylation. Methylation of mammalian DNA occurs when a methyl group is added to the 5' position of a cytosine ring structure at a site where a cytosine nucleotide occurs next to a guanine nucleotide, creating a cytosine-phosphate-guanine (or CpG) dinucleotide sequence (299). CpG structures are not evenly distributed, occurring once every 80 dinucleotides throughout most of the genome (303). About 2% of the genomic structure comprises sections containing a greater density of CpG dinucleotides called CpG islands (303,304).

Methyl group transfer to cytosine during methylation is catalysed by a specialised group of enzymes called DNA-methyltransferases (DNMTs), of which there are 3 classes DNMT1, DNMT3a and DNMT3b (305,306). DNA methylation plays a significant role in normal embryogenesis and all 3 DNMTs are all essential during the developmental process (307). Notably, methylation patterns are determined during embryogenesis and into early postnatal life (308,309). Once the variations in cellular methylation patterns are established, they are accurately maintained by DNMTs so that they can be inherited by subsequent generations of daughter cells (308,309). The methyl groups that are added to cytosine are derived from methionine, a non-polar amino acid which is used to synthesise the universal methyl donor S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) (310). SAM is the principal source of methyl groups for DNMT mammalian methylation reactions (310,311).

Differences in DNA methylation patterns can lead to genome wide effects or, more locally, affect specific genes. Whole genome alterations to DNA methylation patterns have been linked to diseases such as cancer (312). The most clearly defined effect of methylation is on a smaller scale, in the modulation of gene promoter regions associated with active transcription (313). CpG islands generally contain promoters whose activity is linked to their unmethylated state

49

(304,313). Once these islands are methylated their associated genes can be transcriptionally repressed (314). This transcriptional silencing is present in genes on the inactive X-chromosome in normal females (315), and in instances of an epigenetic phenomenon known as genomic imprinting (316).

Genomic imprinting occurs when two alleles at a specific locus are present, but only one is expressed, while the other remains in an inactive state, based on parental origin, without DNA sequence alterations (316,317). This process involves methylation of specific alleles in the CpG islands (318). Given the diploid genetic constitution of mammals, both maternal and paternal copies of a gene are necessary and have the ability to be active within a cell (319,320). However, imprinting limits the expression of the inherited gene to one of the parent's chromosomes. Therefore, the genes derived from one parent "override" the expression of the genes derived from the other in a "parent-of-origin" dependent fashion (38,320). This results in the expression of specific alleles from each parent where both genomes are equally represented, resulting in optimal fetal growth and development (321).

A good example of the contribution of genomic imprinting to balanced fetal growth is with the genes IGF-II/Igf-II) and IGF-II receptor (IGF-IIR/Igf-IIr), in both humans and mice, which exhibit distinct methylation patterns depending on which parent they originated from (319,322). IGF-II is paternally expressed and plays a significant role as a potent growth factor, and in regulating fetal

nutrient supply in the placenta (323,324). IGF-IIR in contrast is a maternally expressed gene and is responsible for degrading placental IGF-II (325). Thus, the placenta is exposed to two contrasting selective pressures; "pro fetus" which ensures nutrient transfer so that developing offspring are able to survive to pass on the genome, and "pro mother" which preserves maternal resources so that they are not depleted to the point of maternal deterioration during either pregnancy or lactation (326). This balance of maternal and paternal gene expression is important for optimal fetal development.

1.4.1.2.2 Histone modifications and other epigenetic mechanisms

The other most commonly discussed epigenetic marks are histone posttranslational modifications, which alter the structure of chromatin. Structurally, histones are made up of amino-(N)-terminal tails, which extend outwards to contact the nucleosomes that lie adjacent (327). There are various ways by which histones are modified including acetylation, phosphorylation, methylation and sumoylation, which all affect transcription (297,300-302). Other mechanisms that have emerged more recently and have been shown to play roles in epigenetic processes are non-coding RNAs, which have been well reviewed (298,328).

1.4.1.2.3 Epigenetics and DOHaD

Epigenetics has received considerable attention and has emerged as a possible molecular mechanism for explaining the DOHaD paradigm. Several pathological

51

conditions have been linked to the dysregulation of epigenetic processes, such as early stage atherogenesis associated with CHD, and in T2D (329,330). While the epigenetic modifications described above are recognised as playing an important role in pathogenesis of disease, presently the specifics of their involvement in programming are still not fully understood. Moreover, despite their identification, the challenge of contextualising the gene signalling and regulatory paths related to such changes to the epigenome still remains. This especially remains a problem in human studies and therefore animal studies have mainly been conducted in this area.

Several studies have examined the effect of early nutrition, both pre- and postnatal, which has been shown to affect offspring susceptibility to disease in later life (13,14,37). Moreover, various data have established a link between specific nutritional components in maternal diet and the development of these disorders (331). It is evident that changes in DNA methylation occur in response to less-than-optimal environments *in utero*. The influence of diet on methylation is shown through a process called one-carbon metabolism, which increases the bioavailability of SAM, the principal methyl group donor (332,333). The one-carbon metabolism process relies on micronutrients such as B vitamins folic acid, B2, B6 and B12, as well as glycine and serine, in order to generate methionine (332,333).

Wolff *et al.* (334) conducted the initial study that demonstrated that these micronutrients in maternal diet could modulate both gene expression and methylation, using the *agouti* viable yellow mouse (A^{vy}). The A^{vy} mice express the *agouti* gene as a result of a viral intracisternal A particle which generates a yellow coat and transcriptional silence in offspring during myelination, but an *agouti* coat and gene expression if unmyelinated (334). By exaggerating the concentrations of folic acid, B12, zinc, methionine, betaine and choline in maternal diet Wolff and colleagues were able to observe significant methylation changes in the intracisternal A particle (334).

Building on the success of Wolff *et al.* (334), a later study was able to link Vitamin B and methionine concentrations to developmental programming of disease (335). Decreasing sheep periconceptional B12, folate and methionine within the normal physiological range led to extensive alterations to DNA methylation pertinent to health outcomes in adults (335). These changes in methylation status of the CpG sites were associated with the development of insulin resistance, increased adiposity and elevated blood pressure in adult offspring, principally manifest in the males (335). Hence, the effects of epigenetic changes on gene expression may elevate risk of disease in later life (336).

Diet-induced epigenetic alterations are also affected by deficiencies in macronutrients. In rats, maternal protein deficiency alters methylation patterns of specific metabolic disease-related hepatic genes, PPAR- α and GR, in offspring.

Notably these effects can be reversed via folic acid supplementation (337). Further, in another rat model, brains of offspring from uterine artery-ligated rat dams show decreased methylation along with decreased Dnmt1, as well as increased histone acetylation, which accompanies their IUGR phenotype (338).

As previously discussed, (Section 2.2.2), postnatal life also predicts improved stress axis responses in adult offspring, as shown in rats who were exposed to more frequent licking/grooming-arched back nursing in the first week of life (224,225). These effects on offspring HPA axis have been linked to epigenetic modifications of the exon1 promoter of the GR gene (339). Several transcription factors interact with the GR promoter, notably nerve growth factor-inducible protein-A (NGFI-A), which is expressed in the brain and is a potent transactivator (340,341). The exon 17 NGFI-A binding site of the GR promoter is hypomethylated in offspring who were nurtured more and increasingly binds to NGFI-A (339). This coincides with increased hippocampal GR expression and thus enhanced HPA feedback regulation in the better-nurtured offspring (339). However, in spite of the ability of low licking/grooming-arched back nursing to program certain adverse stress responses via epigenetic modification, this programming may be reversed via methionine supplementation (342).

In humans, the relationship between epigenetic dysregulation and the development of disease is highlighted through findings in cohort studies. Such findings include data on offspring from the Dutch Hunger Winter, who
demonstrated a hypomethylation of the IGF-II gene in adulthood (343,344). Interestingly, IGF-II hypomethylation has also been observed in children of obese parents, particularly where the fathers were obese (345). Complementing these and findings from animal studies, neonates who were exposed to high B12 during pregnancy had reduced methylation of IGF binding protein-3 levels (346). In addition, the placentae of IUGR infants have been shown to have significantly altered methylation patterns in numerous loci (347). This outcome may be attributed to maternal and paternal imprinted genes in the placenta, given their proposed role in regulation of fetal nutrition and growth (323-325).

1.4.1.2.4 Transgenerational transmission

Data from animals and epidemiology have also proposed that transgenerational transmission of epigenetic changes can occur. In guinea pigs, maternal prenatal exposure to synthetic GCs produced an altered DNA methylation pattern in offspring, which persisted into adulthood. This altered methylation pattern was also passed on to the next generation (348).

In humans, it has been suggested that inherited epigenetic changes that promote vulnerability to diabetes are influenced by previous parents' and grandparents' nutrition (349,350). The influence of inherited epigenetic changes has also been suggested in offspring from the Dutch Hunger Winter. Female offspring that were born to undernourished mothers during pregnancy had lower birth weights and increased risk for insulin resistance (42). In addition, the daughters

of those females also had low birth weights (42). Taken together these data strongly suggest a significant impact of early life stressors to influence several generations.

A more detailed discussion of genetic/epigenetic involvement in the programming of disease lies beyond the scope of this thesis, but has been well reviewed (351,352). The focus of the work presented in this thesis is the molecular mechanisms associated with ageing and senescence, and the potential for their involvement in programming of metabolic disease.

1.4.2 Telomeres

Cellular aging or "senescence" is a stress response that results in a cell's permanent withdrawal from the cell cycle, and changes cellular morphology and function resulting in impaired homeostasis (353). It is important to note that the occurrence of cell cycle arrest alone is not senescence. Senescence occurs when during cell cycle arrest, cells are continually stimulated to grow and increase their mass (354). This clash between blocked cell cycle progression and pro-growth stimulation leads cells to incorrectly enter S-phase and thus lose their proliferative potential (354).

This definition of cellular senescence was initially adopted as a result of early studies by Hayflick, which outlined that the number of divisions that normal non-transformed cells undergo *in vitro* is finite (355). This limitation on the number of cell divisions is called the Hayflick limit. Senescence can be initiated by a variety of stimuli. One such stimulus is DNA damage or loss at the ends of

the chromosomes from specialised structures called telomeres. It is suggested that a potential mechanism involving telomeres may link adverse early life exposures to the development of age-related disease.

Telomeres were originally defined as regions of DNA located on the ends of linear chromosomes which are required for replication and stability of those chromosomes (356). This functional definition of telomeres was originally put forward by Blackburn and Szostak in 1984 (356). However, as the molecular structure of telomeres has been further elucidated, this definition has since been revised. Telomeres are presently defined as specialised nucleoprotein complexes located at the ends of linear eukaryotic chromosomes that maintain their stability and integrity (357). In addition to revisions to their definition, the term "cap" is now applied to describe a protective function of telomeres. Telomeres provide a protective "cap" for chromosomal DNA by preventing the ends from fusing together (recombination), and in so doing; help to maintain genome stability (358). This ability to cap chromosomes is facilitated by telomere-associated proteins (359); discussed below.

1.4.2.1 Telomere Structure

Telomeres are made up of tandemly repeated nucleotide sequences. The telomeric repeats have been identified as (TTAGGG)n in vertebrates (360). Telomeric DNA is comprised of G-rich chromosomal DNA double-strands oriented 5' to 3' towards chromosome ends so that each G-rich strand possesses

an overhang at the 3' end (361) (Figure 1.5). The G-strand overhang is present because of what is known as the "end replication problem" (362). The "problem" arises due the lagging strand that is created during semi-conservative DNA replication(363). Short RNA primers are synthesised by the enzyme RNA primase, and DNA polymerase extends them further to create Okazaki fragments. After the original RNA primers are removed, it becomes a challenge to synthesise the lagging strand sequence that complements the chromosome ends and this creates an overhang. Once DNA replication is complete, telomeres are synthesised by either the leading strand or the lagging strand, and overhangs are generated on either end of the DNA, depending on which strand was used (364).

Structurally the telomere is a duplex loop, which is created by the telomere looping back on itself (365). This loop invades an interior segment of the duplex telomere DNA to form a structure called a telomere or t-loop (365) (Figure 1.5). The presence of the t-loop is believed to protect the DNA from damage, and in particular from double stranded breaks (DSBs) in the structure, thus inhibiting aging (366,367). DSBs are repaired using two main pathways: homologous recombination, which requires a DNA template to accurately repair the break (368), and non-homologous end joining (NHEJ), which repairs the broken strands, and disregards homology altogether, thereby causing deletions and insertions which can lead to tumour cell formation (369). The presence of the tloop structure is believed to stop recombination via the latter pathway (366). A portion of the telomere architecture includes specialised telomere-repeat binding proteins which also help to protect the chromosomal ends (370) (Figure 1.5). This collection of proteins was named shelterin by de Lange (359). Shelterin is composed of six subunits (Figure 1.5) and includes telomeric repeat binding factor 1 and 2 (TRF1, TRF2), the transcriptional repressor/activator protein Rap1, TRF1-interacting protein 2 (TIN2), protection of telomeres 1 (POT1 or Pot1 in rodents) and TIN2-organising protein TPP1 (359). The presence of shelterin, and specifically the activity of TRF2, is crucial for the formation of the t-loop (371,372). TIN2 has a significant role in telomere stabilisation, acting as a linchpin molecule for the maintenance of shelterin complex molecules TRF1, TRF2, and TPP1 (373,374).





Telomere DNA is doubled stranded chromosomal DNA comprised of a G-rich strand oriented 5' to 3' and a C-rich strand which is the lagging strand. The duplex telomere loop is generated by the telomere looping back on itself and invading an interior segment to form a structure called a telomere or t-loop. Telomere repeats associate with shelterin, which consists of telomere proteins telomeric repeat-binding factor 1 (TRF1) and TRF2, TRF2-interacting factor repressor/activator protein 1 (RAP1), TRF1-interacting nuclear protein 2 (TIN2); protection of telomeres 1 (POT1), and POT1- and TIN2-interacting protein (TPP1). (Adapted from O'Sullivan and Karlsleder (375)).

1.4.2.2 Telomere shortening and aging

While several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the process of aging, including hypomethylation of DNA (376,377), the telomere length hypothesis has emerged as a significant frontrunner. During DNA replication in S-phase, the progressive loss of telomeric repeats results in telomere "shortening" both *in vitro* (378) and *in vivo* (379). When telomeres are severely shortened, the DNA damage response (DDR) is activated, which results in cell cycle arrest and likely forces the cells into senescence, a major factor in disease pathogenesis (380,381) (Figure

1.6). Both telomere-associated DDR foci (TAFs) and telomere-induced DNA damage foci (TIFs), which act as senescence markers, can form when the DDR is activated at telomeres (381,382). While senescence can lead to programmed cell death by apoptosis in situations such as embryonic development (383), the former does not always precede the latter. During particular processes or stress responses, senescence and apoptosis pathways are both active, and which one actually occurs first depends on the type of cell and level of stress (384). The significant impact of short telomeres on cell replication and viability led to the hypothesis that the presence of critically short telomeres is the main event that triggers cell senescence (378). However, regardless of telomere length, senescence can be characterised by an increase in the number of TIFs and the persistence of TAFs (385,386). Telomere length (TL) has emerged as a widely used biomarker of aging (387). Measurement of TIFs and TAFs, which is more specific than telomere length, may provide additional information that tracks the severity of the ageing phenotype (385,386).



Figure 1.6. Telomere shortening.

Telomeres shorten with every cell division. As telomere repeats are lost, the cells can go into replicative senescence.

1.4.2.3 Telomere length variability

Telomere length (TL) varies between mammals, but is also heterogeneous between individual tissues (388-390). Human TL is between 10-14 kilobases (kb) (391), whereas in laboratory mice (Mus musculus) such as C57Bl/6J strains, TL is hyper-variable and lies between 30 and at least 150 kb (392). However, in other wild-derived strains of mice such as Mus caroli and Mus spretus, TL ranges from 20-30 kb and 5-20 kb respectively (393).

TL decreases with increasing age of organisms. Age-related decreases in TL have been observed in different human tissues, including the liver (394) and lymphocytes (395). The rate of human telomere shortening is estimated at approximately 75 base pairs per population doubling of cells (379). Similarly, aging mice have also displayed telomere shortening in the brain and spleen (389). Despite having longer telomeres, the rate at which mouse telomeres shorten is 100 times faster than in humans (396). Due to significantly longer TL the shortening of telomeres in mice does not serve the same role showing the replicative age of the cells (397), and therefore can present challenges for assessing longevity.

1.4.2.4 Telomeres and senescence markers

Senescence is regulated via two separate but interconnected pathways that are sensitive to pro-senescence signalling. One pathway is the p53 senescence pathway and the second involves another major tumour suppressor called pRB (Figure 1.7) (398). It has been demonstrated that telomere shortening may signal senescence in the cell by up-regulating p53 activity (399). This is due to the ability of p53 to sense the loss of telomeric DNA on chromosome ends (400). This sensing takes place indirectly as telomere loss triggers several DNA damage response factors, including γ H2AX and 53BP1 (382), which in turn contribute to p53 activation. The p53 interacts with a specialised family of protein kinases called cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) which regulate cell cycle progression (400). The loss of proliferative potential experienced by senescent cells is associated with elevated expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CDKIs) as well as p53 and pRB (398).

Two classes of CDKIs have been identified in senescent mammalian cells which are products of two loci, INK4 and the CDK inhibitory protein/kinase inhibitor proteins (CIP/KIP) (401,402). From INK4, the CDKIs commonly expressed during cellular senescence are p16 (also called p16INK4a, or cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2a (CDKN2a)) and ARF (403). The CDKI expressed from CIP/KIP is p21 (also called P21CIP1 or CDKN1a) (404).

The p53-p21 pathway functions by inhibiting ARF and Mdm2 which in turn stabilises p53 allowing the CDKI p21 to be induced, leading to growth arrest and senescence (Figure 1.7) (398). In the latter pRB-p16 pathway, pro-senescence signals induce p16 expression directly, suppressing CDK activity. This suppression of CDKs blocks the inactivation of pRB by phosphorylation, allowing pRB to then induce senescence (Figure 1.7) (398). There is also an interaction between both pathways in that p53-induced p21 can suppress CDK activity (Figure 1.7). In so doing pRB is then activated and the senescence pathway proceeds. Thus, the elevated expression of both CDKIs and the tumour suppressors makes them prominent markers of cellular and tissue senescence.



Figure 1.7 Markers of senescence.

Stress signals trigger pro-senescent mechanisms by engaging p53 or the p16 tumour suppressor pathways. Once activated, p53 then upregulates the CDKI p21 which stops the inactivation of pRB, bringing about cellular senescence. Alternatively if the CDKI p16 is activated, proliferation is halted by inhibiting E2F activity. E2F can also limit cell proliferation by suppressing ARF. Adapted from Campisi (398).

1.4.2.5 Telomere maintenance

1.4.2.5.1 The telomerase enzyme

Telomeres are maintained by the enzyme telomerase, a specialised DNA polymerase that synthesises telomeric repeats onto the ends of chromosomes (405). Telomerase is a ribonucleoprotein enzyme complex that is comprised of a reverse transcriptase catalytic subunit (TERT) and an 11-nucleotide spanning region of long noncoding RNA called TR or TERC which acts as a template for the synthesis of telomere repeats (406-408). A third subunit is also present called telomerase associated protein 1 (TP1 or TEP1) (409). However, TEP1 does not play a role in telomerase activity or maintenance of telomeres (410), and

experiments *in vitro* have shown that TERT and TR alone are sufficient for enzyme catalytic activity be initialised (411,412).

In humans the subunits are referred to as hTERT and hTR, whereas in mice the subunits are *mTERT* and *mTR* (413,414). TERT protein and nucleotide sequences, as well as TR RNA sequences, are relatively conserved between humans and mice, in addition to function (413). Despite similarities in structure and function human telomerase has a higher rate of activity and processivity than the mouse (397). Although telomerase activity and increased TERT expression are shown to be correlated in studies (415,416), the two are not always synonymous (417). TR expression may remain unchanged despite changes in telomerase activity (418,419). TERT can be a rate-limiting factor for telomerase activity in a variety of tissues(48) and cancers (420) where it is widely expressed. However, in tissues such as the brain, TERT expression postpartum is not the same as telomerase activity (414,421,422).. After birth, brain telomerase activity decreases while TERT is retained and performs non-canonical functions unrelated to telomere maintenance (414,421,422). This will be discussed below.

Evidence has shown that telomerase works by preferentially elongating the shortest telomeres (423,424). More than the concentration of telomerase, the shortest telomeres are the chief determinants of cell and tissue viability (396,425). This has been demonstrated in mice where the shortest telomeres are the first to be elongated in the offspring from a cross of long and short telomere mice (423).

Furthermore, the recruitment of telomerase to the telomeres is a slightly different arrangement in humans and mice. Elongation of telomeres in humans is initiated when telomerase subunits hTERT and hTR are trafficked to foci within the nuclei called Cajal bodies, where telomerase is assembled and then activated before being dispatched to the telomeres (426). Mouse telomerase subunits are trafficked to other foci in the nucleus and the process does not involve the Cajal bodies (427). However, once the cell enters S-phase and DNA replication is ongoing, telomerase localises to the telomeres to synthesise new repeat sequences (426,427). Telomerase is recruited for telomere extension by the shelterin protein TIN2, which has been identified as a negative TL regulator through its interaction with TPP1 (428,429).

1.4.2.5.2 Detection of telomerase in tissues

Telomerase activity has been largely associated with immortalised cells and various cancers (430). However, under normal physiological conditions, human telomerase activity is detectable in proliferative cell types such as stem cells, lymphocytes, germline cells, but not in most somatic tissues (421,431). Mouse telomerase activity, on the other hand, can be identified in several somatic tissues including the liver, testes, spleen, thymus and lymph nodes (389,432).

During gestation, telomerase activity has been identified in both human and mouse embryonic tissues (421,432,433). The enzyme's activity is progressively down-regulated soon after birth (414,421). An example of a tissue where this occurs is the brain in the mouse where telomerase activity can be detected in the developing mouse cerebral cortex at E15, but activity gradually decreases by postnatal day 16 (432) and is maintained at low levels in the brain up to late fetal development (433). In humans fetal expression of telomerase in the adrenal glands, lungs, skin and liver is lost by 2 months of age in neonatal life (421).

Despite the absence of telomerase activity in postnatal life, the expression of the subunit TERT is continually found in several tissues. Telomerase activity cannot be inferred directly from TERT because RNA template TR and reverse transcriptase TERT must be assembled in the holoenzyme structure before telomerase activity can be initiated for telomere elongation (417,430). However, it has been noted that in mice *mTert* is continually expressed in tissues that are both telomerase positive (testis and liver) and negative (brain) in adulthood (433). Conversely in humans the expression of hTERT without full activity of the telomerase enzyme is shown in cancer cells (434). TERT also serves a number of functions unrelated to telomere maintenance, so telomerase activity cannot be inferred directly from TERT.

1.4.2.5.3 Alternate roles for TERT

Several lines of evidence have indicated alternative roles for TERT that are independent of its role in telomere maintenance. Alternative roles for telomerase are attributed to activity of only the catalytic TERT subunit in both mice and humans. One of the more significant non-telomeric roles attributed to telomerase is its role in promoting cell survival. In mice, elevated *mTert* expression has been shown to counteract neuron ischemia in the brain (435). In humans, increased hTERT expression, without full activity of the telomerase enzyme, has been shown to counteract p53-induced apoptosis in cancer cells, inhibit caspase activation via the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway, and to increase resistance to apoptosis following exposure to genotoxicity (436-438).

Another identified role of telomerase is in the management of oxidative stress. Telomere DNA is particularly vulnerable to damage from oxidative stress. This hypersensitivity to oxidative damage has recently been named TelOxidation (439). Although telomere DDR can expedite telomere shortening in response to oxidative stress, shortening is not always the result (440).

1.4.2.5.4 Alternative lengthening of Telomeres

An alternative method of telomere elongation, which is independent of telomerase, has been observed principally in tumour cells, cell lines, oocytes and pre-implantation embryos (441-443). This alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) is also characterised by extreme heterogeneity of TL (444), high rates of telomere exchange (445), and the presence of ALT-associated promyelocytic leukaemia bodies (446). The replication of telomere DNA by ALT is mediated through a homologous recombination mechanism (447). Only 15% of tumours

have been shown to use this method for telomere maintenance, whilst the remaining 85% use still telomerase (444). More recently, it has been suggested that ALT plays a significant post-fertilisation role in embryos prior to implantation by promoting telomere lengthening until just before the blastocyst stage, at which point telomerase would continue to maintain telomeres (442). The mechanistic basis for using ALT over telomerase for the maintenance of telomeres in these instances is still yet to be determined.

1.4.3 Oxidative Stress

It is well documented that early life stressors such as impaired nutrition, exposure to GCs and catch-up growth following LBW can program metabolic disease (448). The exact mechanism by which this occurs is unknown. One hypothesis is that oxidative stress is involved in the mechanism of cellular events that links poor early life exposures and increases risks of the metabolic and degenerative disorders (449). Hence, understanding the role of oxidative stress in health may provide an alternative therapeutic target for treatment or overall prevention of these disorders.

Oxidative stress occurs when there is an overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and an inability of the cell to effectively detoxify them, resulting in damage to tissue, thereby altering metabolic homeostasis (450). ROS are generated primarily by mitochondria, specialised organelles, which play a significant role in metabolism, de novo compound biosynthesis and energy production in the cell. ROS are produced as metabolic by-products of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), or as a result of interactions with xenobiotic compounds (451,452). Examples of ROS include superoxide (O_2^-), hydroxyl (OH-) and peroxynitrite (ONOO^{•-}) (453).

During periods of cellular stress, ROS levels increase dramatically and potentially cause alterations in cellular structure and function. To counter increasing concentrations of ROS, cells possess a defence system comprised of antioxidant enzymes (454). The primary antioxidant enzymes that are essential in aerobic cells include superoxide dismutase (SOD) catalase and glutathione peroxidase (455). SOD catalyses the conversion of O_2 - anions to hydrogen peroxide which is further converted to water and oxygen by catalase and glutathione peroxidase, (455).

The effects of ROS can be either physiological or pathophysiological in cells. Under normal conditions relatively low concentrations of ROS are produced which play a significant role in cellular signalling, acting as second messengers in signal transduction pathways (456). However, in excess, ROS are damaging to macromolecules in the cell including DNA, proteins, and lipids (450). The continued oxidative damage to cellular macromolecules is believed to be a significant factor in tissue functional decline associated with aging (457) and aging-related disorders such as diabetes, obesity and Parkinson's disease (458-460). The accumulation of ROS-induced damage and the role of such damage in the development of aging and aging related disorders forms the basis of another hypothesis called the free radical theory of aging originally proposed by Harman (461). Due to their role in ROS production during aerobic respiration, the hypothesis was then expanded to include mitochondria, which were found to be especially vulnerable to ROS (462). Excess ROS has an adverse impact on mitochondria directly causing them to release high levels of ROS into the cytoplasm, and in a knock-on effect, trigger the release of ROS from other mitochondria, which further damage cellular components (463). Thus, mitochondria play a significant role in ROS-mediated aging mechanisms.

1.4.3.1 Mitochondria, ROS and aging

A number of metabolic conditions such as metabolic syndrome and obesity have been shown to accelerate aging and have been associated with telomere shortening (464). Further, as these conditions can be programmed during fetal development (13,26), it has been postulated that exposure to adverse conditions *in utero* may also induce premature aging in humans (465). In addition to the increased prevalence of cellular ROS, the aging process is also characterised by a progressive decline in tissue function (466).

While TL has been highlighted extensively as a marker of aging (467,468), an alternative hypothesis has been proposed, which suggests a substantial role for mitochondria. The mitochondrial aging hypothesis posits that dysfunctional mitochondrial respiratory complexes accumulate with age, causing a decline in

ATP synthesis, and therefore deterioration in the bioenergetic capability of cells (469,470). This decline in bioenergetic capacity may be accompanied by increasing oxidative stress and oxidative damage (471). Elevated ROS are especially damaging to mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), which encodes subunits of OXPHOS complexes, which are required for respiration and ATP synthesis (472). Damage to mtDNA induces alterations such as single and double strand breaks, point mutations, and large deletions of mtDNA which can result in the loss of more than half of the mitochondrial genome (473,474). Importantly, the incidence of mtDNA deletions correlates with lower respiratory activity, and has been observed in rat and primate livers (475,476) as well as human skeletal and cardiac muscle (477,478). Furthermore, mtDNA mutations are associated with the generation of various degenerative phenotypes including myopathies, neuropathies, diabetes, in addition to premature aging and compromised lifespan (479,480).

1.4.3.2 Mitochondrial biogenesis

It is believed that a greater number of mitochondria or increased mitochondrial mass confers greater protection to the cell against metabolic failure and cell death (481). Thus, mitochondrial biogenesis, the growth and division of pre-existing mitochondria, is critical for cellular defence (482). The process of mitochondrial biogenesis is stimulated by environmental factors such as physical activity, caloric intake, cell division and oxidative stress (482). A significant factor involved in mtDNA replication and maintenance is mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM or Mtfa), a high-mobility group protein characterised initially

for its role in mitochondrial transcription (483). Tfam is actively involved in maintaining the mitochondrial genome by transcribing and replicating mtDNA (482) and is associated with sensing and repairing damaged mtDNA by ROS (484).

Tfam is a significant component in a mitochondrial biogenesis signalling cascade, and lies downstream of main regulator peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator 1 α (PGC-1 α), and two nuclear transcription factors: nuclear respiratory factor 1 (NRF1) and 2 (NRF2) (482). In response to environmental stimuli, PGC-1 α activates the nuclear transcription factors NRF1 or NRF2, causing Tfam to be transcribed and then translocate to the mitochondria where mtDNA replication occurs (Figure 1.8) (482). Once replication and transcription are complete the mitochondria may then divide synchronously with cell division (485). Following the formation of new daughter cells, mitochondria can then fuse with other dysfunctional mitochondria in order to reduce toxic stress effects (486). This mitochondrial biogenesis process is important for the maintenance of functional mitochondria, but also ensures that mitochondria are passed on to new cells once mitosis has occurred.



Figure 1.8. Summary of mitochondrial biogenesis.

PGC-1 α activates nuclear transcription factors Nuclear respiratory factor 1 and 2 (NRF1/NRF2) leading to transcription of nuclear- encoded proteins and mitochondrial transcription factor Tfam. Tfam activates transcription and replication of the mitochondrial genome. Nuclear-encoded proteins are imported into mitochondria through the outer- (TOM) or inner (TIM) membrane transport machinery. Nuclear- and mitochondria-encoded subunits of the respiratory chain are then assembled, before the mitochondrion undergoes fission and then fusion with other mitochondria. Adapted from Ventura-Clapier *et al.* (482).

Impaired mitochondrial biogenesis has been implicated in degenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's where hippocampal PGC-1 α , NRF1, NRF2 and TFAM are all downregulated in conjunction with reduced mtDNA copy number (487). Conversely, increased TFAM expression has been associated with a reduction in mtDNA content in aging (488). It has been suggested that the inverse relationship between TFAM and mtDNA may be attributed to enhanced TFAM expression or to a slower degradation of TFAM (489).

1.4.3.3 Diet and mitochondrial biogenesis

Diet appears to play a significant role in the regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis. Recent data has shown that extended periods of high fat feeding in rodents results in elevated PGC-1 α and TFAM, increases mtDNA in skeletal muscle (490), inducing rapid changes in mitochondrial morphology (491). While it would be expected that prolonged HF diet feeding might create an environment that impairs metabolism by suppressing the PGC-1 α -Tfam pathway, it has been proposed that the observed increase in PGC-1 α expression might be an adaptation to enhance tissue oxidative capacity (490). The increase in mtDNA, and thus mitochondrial content, may be an adaptation of the tissue to increasing amounts of free fatty acids (492). Increased mitochondrial biogenesis may be a possible mechanism to prevent impairment of mitochondrial function, as a result of either increasing oxidative stress or the accumulation of toxic lipids (lipotoxicity) (493).

Interestingly, PGC-1 α and TFAM can also be upregulated by caloric restriction (489). Caloric restriction without malnutrition prevents the onset of aging by increasing the expression of genes involved in mitochondrial metabolism, improving insulin sensitivity and increasing levels of circulating adiponectin, a key hormone that regulates glucose concentrations and fatty acid oxidation (494-496). This complementary increase in PGC-1 α expression is also accompanied by increases in nutrient-sensitive regulators such as mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) (497). These effects reveal that diet has the ability to metabolically program mitochondria and thus alter their metabolic state. The impact of diet on

mitochondria during early prenatal development has not been fully investigated. Because of the sensitivity of mitochondria to the external environment and their contribution to aging and aging-related disease, new efforts aim to expand the developmental origins hypothesis to include a role for mitochondria in the development of metabolic disease (498).

1.4.4 Telomere and Mitochondrial involvement in DOHaD

As described previously, there is an established association between exposure to suboptimal prenatal conditions and adverse long-term health outcomes. More recently, evidence has come to light, highlighting a role for telomeres in mechanisms linking stress *in utero* and disease risk (499). However, evidence of telomere involvement is still limited. Epidemiological studies have shown links between shorter telomeres and higher risk of disorders such as hypertension, cardiovascular disease, T2D, obesity, as well as mortality (500-503). Shorter telomeres in adults and children have been associated with risk factors for metabolic disease (501,504,505). Upon examination of animal models, mice born with drastically short telomeres have later life impaired insulin secretion and glucose intolerance (506).

Studies have also begun to link TL with activity of the HPA axis. Chronic life stress as well as prenatal exposure to stress is linked to telomere shortening and reduced telomerase activity, and an inverse relationship between cortisol/corticosterone and TL and telomerase activity has been demonstrated (507-509). The role of cortisol in telomere shortening is further supported by *in*

77

vitro studies in which T lymphocytes treated with synthetic cortisol displayed significantly reduced telomerase activity (510). Further, in mice, reduced telomerase expression in the hippocampus has been linked to depression-related behaviour (511). These data highlight the potential detrimental effects of high levels of cortisol on TL, adding to a growing body of literature on the relationship between excessive stress and disease (448).

The relationship between TL and nutrition is still not fully realised. Despite the identification of specific diets such as vegetarian, Mediterranean, calorie-reduced, omega-3, vitamin or polyphenol-high systems as being telomere-preserving (512-517), studies also point to diet not having a clear effect (518). While the links continue to be further strengthened, there is indeed still a dearth of information with respect to direct effects of early life nutrition. Studies in rats have demonstrated that maternal undernutrition, in particular protein restriction, is associated with telomere shortening in tissues of the aorta and in pancreatic islets in later life (519,520). Protein restriction also shortens kidney telomeres in rats following postnatal catch-up growth (521,522).

However, data that reflects the effects of global dietary restriction and maternal HF diet exposure on telomeres during gestation is still scant. Many of the abovementioned studies have focused on postnatal outcomes of adverse early life exposures. Thus, no studies have examined the mechanistic effects of these two dietary interventions on telomeres and telomerase dynamics during fetal life. Furthermore, there are no studies that have assessed the relationship between early life adversity, growth trajectories, and indices of metabolic disease and TL in humans, particularly in adolescents, before onset of disease.

Mechanisms have been revealed involving mitochondria crosstalk, by which dysfunctional telomeres may contribute to impaired metabolism (523,524). This has been complemented by data demonstrating telomere shortening, significantly lower mtDNA and elevated reactive oxygen species in T2D patients (525-527). Previous studies have confirmed a telomere-independent effect in which TIN2 is found in mitochondria and regulates mitochondrial function, ATP synthesis, and oxygen consumption. (528). These findings highlight a common mechanism and possible interaction between telomeres and mitochondria in the pathogenesis of disease. Given that mitochondria play a significant role in meeting the energy demands of the cell in energy metabolism (529), it remains unsurprising that obesity-related pathologies may be associated with dysfunctional mitochondria; mechanisms associated with telomere shortening and accelerated aging.

The potential role of mitochondria in the programming of disease has been studied using animal models. Low protein, global food restriction, uterine artery ligation, and HF diets have all been shown to program impaired insulin secretion and mitochondrial dysfunction in islet cells of adult rats (132,530-532). Undernutrition increases the number of mtDNA mutations and lowers

79

mitochondrial activity in β -cells of the pancreas in rats, which is associated with diabetes pathogenesis (532). In humans, lower mtDNA content has been observed in both growth-restricted and macrosomic neonates (533).

As with telomeres, a link has also been made between mitochondrial dysfunction and HPA axis function. However, information on this is still sparse. In rats, prenatal exposure to the glucocorticoid DEX during gestation is associated with suppression of fetal mitochondrial function and increased susceptibility to oxidative stress in neurons (534). Furthermore, specific mitochondrial genome polymorphisms have been identified which are associated with insulin resistance and diabetes (535). In humans, epigenetic modifications have been shown to affect mitochondrial function. Methylation of the gene mitochondrial NADH dehydrogenase 6 (MT-ND6) correlates with the degree of fatty acid deposition (steatosis) in the livers of patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (536).

However, as with telomeres, while these studies in mitochondria have demonstrated links between mitochondrial dysfunction and disease in later postnatal life, no studies have clarified the effects of undernutrition and overnutrition on mitochondria during fetal life. Further still, **no studies have looked at the effects of exposure of such drastic dietary interventions on the functional interaction between telomeres and mitochondria in early life, which is a significant focus of this thesis.**

1.4 Summary of the exposures and possible programming mechanisms during critical developmental windows

The above-discussed studies have indicated the importance of early life exposures to developmental outcomes. In addition to the type and severity of early life exposure, one other factor involved in programming of metabolic outcomes is the timing of exposure. As explained above, the adverse exposure may occur in a vulnerable or critical window of development, and affect specific tissues, increasing susceptibility to disease in later life. Presented below is a diagrammatic summary of various critical windows of development and the various exposures and proposed mechanisms associated with disease outcomes (Figure 1.9).



Figure 1.9 Summary of the critical windows of development and initiating mechanisms that underlie disease programming

(adapted from Hallows et al. (465) and McMillen & Robinson (12)).

CHAPTER 2

EXPERIMENTAL AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

The aim of the studies in this thesis was to compare the effects of intrauterine undernutrition and nutritional excess on fetal telomeres, and to determine whether child telomere length may indicate future disease risk in advance of a full metabolic syndrome phenotype. In light of the various findings in the literature, it has become clear that the genome plays a significant role in the programming of disease. TL has been investigated in several studies in the context of psychological stress, metabolic disease and mortality. However, the relationship between TL and telomerase activity in DOHaD requires further clarification.

Links between shorter telomeres, obesity and metabolic syndrome-related variables have been shown in humans (537). Conversely, the relationship between TL, metabolic disease risk, and growth trajectory in humans has not been fully investigated. The work in this thesis presents a unique opportunity to concurrently investigate the mechanisms of DOHaD and their impact on telomeres in both animals and humans.

While undernutrition has been associated with shorter telomeres, and has formed the basis of the DOHaD hypothesis, there is still comparatively very little known about the effects of high-fat feeding during gestation. Moreover, there is still a paucity of information concerning the effects of HF diets on TLs in fetal life and this also warrants investigation.

Therefore, the overall aim of this thesis was to test two hypotheses:

- 1. An adverse environment in early life (antenatal, postnatal or a combination of both) compromises telomere length before the onset of metabolic disease. Using our previously established murine model of undernutrition (211) and a hypercaloric high-fat diet, this thesis examined the impact of both extreme dietary interventions on TL and telomerase dynamics in mice with a specific focus on late fetal life. This thesis also evaluated the association of human TL in late adolescence with intrauterine and postnatal exposures.
- 2. An adverse environment in early life compromises metabolism in offspring via a telomere-associated mechanism. Using the same murine models above, this thesis examined the effects of diet on mitochondrial function; since recent work has suggested a mechanistic link between telomere shortening and mitochondrial dysfunction which compromises metabolism (523). Also, this thesis also investigated links between TL and current metabolic status in the adolescents in a human cohort.

Three studies were carried out, with the first two focussed on the animal model, and the latter on a prospectively recruited human cohort, namely the Raine cohort.

2.1. The Animal model

In order to more directly study the impact of early life nutrition on geneenvironment interactions, our research group have used the C57Bl/6J (B6) mouse. Our lab previously established a murine model of programming by undernutrition, with two strains C57BL/6J (B6) and A/J99 (A/J) (201,211). Both strains differ physiologically as well as in their responses to changes in their environment. Distinct strain differences are present between A/J and B6 mice in response to a 30% reduction in total antenatal caloric intake. Fetal body weights were lower in the calorie-restricted groups than *ad libitum*-fed mice in both strains. The low-birth-weight pups from both strains exhibited rapid catch-up growth. However, the impact of dietary restriction was more pronounced in B6 offspring, which exhibited a more severe metabolic phenotype in adulthood. Given the susceptibility of the B6 mouse to metabolic syndrome phenotypes (538), this thesis has further investigated whether having this increased sensitivity may also affect outcomes in telomeres and mitochondria.

2.2. The West Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) Study

The last decade has seen an increase in the use of human cohorts to study geneenvironment interactions. In order to expand the study of DOHaD to humans the work presented in this thesis utilised a prospective cohort, the Western Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) study.

The Western Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) Study is one of the largest global prospective cohorts examining pregnancy, and the period of development from childhood, adolescence through to adulthood. Whilst there are many other cohort studies, the Raine Study is one of the few where information is present on both the mother during and after pregnancy as well as child development. The Raine Study commenced in Perth, Western Australia, in May 1989 at the maternity hospital King Edward Memorial Hospital (KEMH). Via the Telethon Institute for Child Health Research, the Raine study has tracked the offspring of 2,868 live births by 2,804 women from a recruitment pool of 2900 pregnancies. In total, 96% of the initial population sample was retained since the study's inception.

The origins of the Raine study stem from a randomised controlled trial assessing whether intensive ultrasound imaging and Doppler flow studies would improve perinatal outcomes (539,540). Pregnant women were recruited at gestational ages 16 to 20 weeks in the maternity hospital King Edward Memorial Hospital (KEMH). Eligibility criteria for the study were dependent on the following: English proficiency in mothers was high enough to understand the implications of participating in the study. Mothers were also expected to give birth at KEMH and show a willingness to reside in Western Australia for the coming years to allow for follow-up studies with children (539).

Women were randomly allocated to either an intensive ultrasound or regular ultrasound group. The intensive group underwent ultrasounds and a Doppler studies at 18, 24, 28, 34 and 38 weeks, whereas the regular group attended appointments at 18 weeks and additional scans only performed at a doctor's request (540). At 34 weeks women then provided information by questionnaire on what they were exposed to between weeks 18 and 34 (540). A detailed obstetric history of the pregnancy and labour was made at birth and also included neonatal information (326). A questionnaire was then used to record clinical information as well as dysmorphology and neurological function in the neonate. Three days postpartum, mothers completed a questionnaire on initial feeding practice and postnatal temperament. This initial study showed no evidence that intensive ultrasounds and Doppler flow studies improved outcomes for either mothers, fetuses or neonates (540). Thus, it was not necessary to increase the number of scans. However, it was noted that the number of growth-restricted fetuses was higher in the groups that had been exposed to repeated ultrasounds (540).

Both groups of women from this work and their children were retained for the duration of the Raine study in order to assess outcomes in later life. After birth progressive follow-ups occurred at the ages of 1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 10, 14, and 17, the age of interest in this thesis (Figure 2.1). Later follow-ups that have occurred have been at ages 18, 20 most recently 23, using a combination of questionnaire and clinical examination.



Figure 2.1. The Western Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) Study participants.

Age of participants corresponds to year of follow-up, from birth up to the followup at 17 years old. Terms: "Deferred" refers to those who remained a part of the cohort but did not participate in the current follow-up. "Lost" refers to those whose location was unknown at each follow-up. "Withdrawn" refers to those who completely withdrew from the cohort. "Died" refers to instances when the children in the study were deceased.

CHAPTER 3

EFFECTS OF UNDERNUTRITION ON TELOMERES AND MITOCHONDRIA

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Previous studies have verified the importance of nutrition during critical periods of growth, particularly as it pertains to developmental programming of disease (39). Undernutrition during gestation leads to impaired intrauterine growth and low birth weight, and has long-term effects on offspring health, altering stress axis function, and increasing the risk of metabolic disorders (11,13,218). Despite the proven long-term metabolic outcomes of inadequate nutrition, these effects may not manifest until later in life.

Indeed, conditions in the postnatal environment may be able to modify the programming effects of prenatal stress, either favourably or by exacerbating the subsequent health outcomes that lead to these adverse effects (9,11,26,27). Although some studies have reinforced a link between undernourished pregnancy and obesity and its related pathologies, the mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of disease are still not fully established. Numerous clinical and animal studies report on these long-term postnatal outcomes, with relatively few studies focussed on prepartum outcomes. **This study was designed to focus on the fetal outcomes, particularly telomere length (TL), following exposure to maternal undernutrition.**

Evidence suggests that telomeres may be a common thread in the mechanisms linking early life stress to disease in later life (499). Telomere shortening is associated with aging in both humans (394,395) and mice (389). As outlined in my review of the literature, human telomeres are between 10-14 kilobases (kb) in length (391), whereas in laboratory mice (*Mus musculus*) such as C57Bl/6J strains, TL is hyper-variable and lies between 30 and at least 150 kb (392). However, in other wild-derived strains of mice such as *Mus caroli* and *Mus spretus*, TL ranges from 20-30 kb and 5-20 kb, respectively (393). However, there is no definitive mouse model for DOHaD study of long-term fetal programming.

The reason for examining the impact of telomeres might be twofold: Firstly, studies show that TL is heritable (541-543). Secondly, these studies imply that there is a plasticity to telomere length that is imposed by conditions *in utero* (544). It is likely, therefore, that telomere dynamics are affected by similar parental health and intrauterine factors associated with disease outcomes. Epidemiological studies show an association between shorter telomeres and higher risk of disorders such as hypertension, cardiovascular disease, T2D, obesity, and stroke (500-503,545). While these associations have established a strong relationship between telomeres and metabolic syndrome, they are not proof of causality.

The strongest evidence linking telomere length to developmental programming of disease comes from animal models, with adult rodents displaying shorter
telomeres following intrauterine protein-restriction in addition to compromised metabolism if born with a significant telomere deficit (506,521,522).

Research has linked oxidative stress to the disease-programming effects of maternal malnutrition. (546). High levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been implicated in the pathogenesis of disease (547,548). Furthermore, prenatal stress has also been shown to damage mitochondria, specifically mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) due to excessive ROS presence in cells (549). It has previously been shown in human studies that exposure to prenatal stress shortens offspring telomeres, and this is observed in adulthood (499). Moreover, this has also been demonstrated post-weaning in animal studies. However, a significant issue that is yet to be addressed is whether, under the influence of prenatal undernutrition, a) TLs are modified in both mothers and fetuses; b) there is a global change in TL in across all tissues; and c) how the relationship between telomeres and mitochondria might be affected during fetal life.

It was previously demonstrated that exposure of C57B1/6J mice to global nutrient restriction from E6.5 to E17.5 resulted in metabolic syndrome-like phenotypes in offspring, accompanied by greater fat mass and glucose intolerance in adulthood (201,211). In order to elucidate the mechanisms linking these detrimental longterm effects of exposure to prenatal undernutrition, and given the previous evidence from our well-characterised mouse model of undernutrition, it was hypothesised that maternal undernutrition will adversely affect telomeres and thus reduce telomere length, suggesting a mechanism by which cellular stress leads to metabolic dysfunction.

3.2 METHODS

3.2.1 Diet

The diet used in this study was a purified control chow diet (Dustless Precision Pellets® (diet # S0173; Bio-Serv, Frenchtown, New Jersey), which was given with sterile water. These standard Dustless Precision Pellets® are a grain-based formula comprising of one-gram pellets. According to the manufacturer's specifications, the nutritional content of Dustless Precision Pellets® was 21.1% protein, 4% fat, 55% carbohydrate, 4% fibre, 6.7% ash with less than 10% moisture. The weight of a single grain pellet was 1 gram. In order to achieve the desired weight for the restriction study, pellets were trimmed in size, and a milligram balance was used to achieve the desired weight. Pellets were kept whole. If the sample fragmented, a new pellet was used to ensure only whole shaved pellets were introduced.

3.2.2 Animals and experimental treatment

All animal procedures were performed by me, with the assistance of Dr Kristin Connor, at the Lunenfeld-Tanenbaum Research Institute within the Toronto Centre for Phenogenomics (TCP) animal facility, in Toronto, Canada. All protocols concerning animal care and treatment were approved by the Lunenfeld-Tanenbaum Research Institute Animal Care Committee in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council for Animal Care. Further approval to complete animal work in Canada was obtained from the Animal Ethics Committee of The University of Western Australia.

5-week-old nulliparous female C57BL/6J (B6) inbred mice were acquired from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine). The mice were kept under 12-hour light, 12-hour dark conditions in clear sterile polysulfone microisolator cages containing woodchip bedding. From date of arrival the animals were fed sterile Dustless Precision Pellets® *ad libitum* with sterile water. Female weights were recorded weekly in the pre-pregnancy period to ensure health and wellbeing. Once the females reached 10 weeks of age, they were mated with an experienced male of the same strain. Prior to mating, the estrus cycle of the females was determined through visual observation by assessing the degree of swelling, moistness, and pinkness of the vaginal opening (550). This was also done by the gentle insertion of a probe. During proestrus and into estrus, the epithelial lining of the vagina thickens. The outer layer of the epithelium becomes cornified and sloughs off into the lumen. Once removed, shed cells could be observed on the probe. This combination of assessments was used to determine the readiness of the females to mate.

Females were placed with mature males in the late afternoon (between 2.30-3 pm) and left overnight. Following overnight mating, females were examined early the next morning (by 9.30 am) for the presence of a vaginal spermatozoa plug. In the absence of a plug, if the female still appeared to be in estrus, she was left with the

male for an extra day. The morning on which the plug was present was designated gestational day (E) 0.5. Once a vaginal plug was observed, females were housed individually in fresh cages for the remainder of the experiment.

In this study *ad libitum* feeding was achieved by administering 10 dustless pellets to each cage trough, corresponding to a total of 10 g of food per dam each day. This facilitated the weighing of the food on each day of gestation. Baseline values were obtained using body weights and food intakes from ad libitum feeding to determine the weight of food to feed the pregnant DR dams so that a 30% caloric restriction was applied throughout. This entailed averaging the weights of food consumed by the females on the control diet (CON). The average daily intake of food was calculated from E0.5 to E17.5 CON females and then used to calculate total calories consumed each gestational day using the kilocalorie value of the diet. 30% of the kcal value was taken for each day and the value converted back to a weight in grams. The weights obtained from these calculations were used for all DR dams until E17.5, after which *ad libitum* feeding was applied.

Dams were weighed daily from mating until postmortem at E18.5. Mated females were randomised to two groups (Figure 3.1): 1) control females were placed on a diet of Dustless Pellets *ad libitum* throughout pregnancy (CON, n=7); 2) females calorically restricted by 30% of CON food between E5.5 to 17.5, after which dams were fed *ad libitum* (DR, n=7).





Dietary restricted females were placed on the same diet as controls. At E5.5 a 30% reduction in caloric intake was imposed until E17.5, when they were returned to normal ad libitum feeding for 24 hrs.

For the CON group the food was weighed daily from E0.5 to E18.5 every morning. The cage bedding was also checked for large pieces of food and these were incorporated into the recorded amount. Once the food was weighed, the balance of what had been consumed was then added to bring the total weight of food in the trough back to 10g. This was done for the duration of the pregnancy. Every 3 days the food was completely refreshed with 10 new pellets, and mouse cages were changed and replenished with new bedding.

3.2.3 Tissue collection

3.2.3.1 Dams

At E18.5, dams were sacrificed in a non-fasting state as fasting would have adverse implications for the fetuses. All dissections were performed between the hours of 9.00 and 11.00 am. Dam weight was recorded prior to isoflurane anaesthesia, and cervical dislocation. Dams were decapitated immediately after cervical dislocation. Trunk blood was collected in microcuvette tubes coated with lithium-heparin (Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany). Uterine horns were rapidly removed, bisected longitudinally along the abdomen, and placed in a dish with saline on ice to keep moist for removal of the pups and placentae. A section of the mid portion of the maternal small intestine was collected and frozen for later analyses.

Maternal bone marrow was collected from the femurs and tibiae. Femur and tibia bones were cut at the hip joint and placed in ice cold CMF solution (Ca2+ and Mg2+-free HBSS, 10 mM HEPES-bicarbonate, and 2% volume/volume (v/v) FBS, pH 7.2) immediately following dissection. For the femur, the bone was held in place in a 10 cm dish using forceps, with the knee portion angled downwards. Scissors were placed just above the knee joint. Keeping forceps and scissors close together to prevent shattering of bone, the knee joint was cut off. For the tibia, the knee joint was rested with the knee portion facing downwards on a tissue and the knee joint was cut off. For the distal end of the tibia, the end of the portion of bone containing red marrow was identified. Scissors were used to cut the bone just below the end of the marrow region. In order to collect bone marrow, a 23 $\frac{3}{4}$ - gauge needle was filled with CMF solution and inserted into the knee joint end of both bones. The bone marrow was the flushed into a 6-well culture plate. CMF solution was passed through until the colour of the bone changed from dark red to white, signifying the complete flushing of bone marrow. The bone was then discarded. Marrow was taken up into a syringe and then expelled 3 times to disperse it and was then divided into aliquots. The marrow was quickly centrifuged in 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes at 3000 rpm for 30 s at room temperature. The supernatant was discarded, and the marrow aliquoted and quickly frozen at -80 °C.

3.2.3.2 Offspring

Collection

All pups and placentae were removed from their amniotic sacs and weighed. As part of the protocol, 2 males and 2 females from each litter were selected, with a specific bias for pups in the middle away from uterine horns. Earlier studies showed that fetal weight in mice could be affected by position in the uterine horn (551,552). This uterine position effect has demonstrated that the heaviest fetuses are on the ends closest to either the ovaries or cervix as a result of exposure to a difference in blood flow and nutrient quota which can be lower in the mid horn (551,552). While such restrictions in flow and food are already present, collecting from the mid-horn allows for a more thorough study and reduces the variation that might be observed in the cervical or ovarian positions. Pups were killed by decapitation and trunk blood was collected in lithium-heparin-coated microcuvette tubes (Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany). Fetal blood glucose was measured using a One Touch Basic Glucometer (LifeScan Canada Ltd, Burnaby, B.C.).

From 1 male and 1 female, the liver, kidneys and small intestine were removed and tissue samples were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C. For the second male and female, the livers and kidneys were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin (EMD chemicals, Gibbstown, NJ) overnight at 4 °C with gentle rocking on a nutating mixer (VWR International, West Chester, PA, US), followed by 3 washes with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at room temperature for 10 min, and dehydration in 70% ethanol. Fixed tissues were stored in 70% ethanol at 4 °C for up to 1 week. The tissues were then processed and wax embedded at the Centre for Modeling Human Disease Pathology Core. All blood samples were centrifuged at 2,500 x g for 10 min at room temperature to obtain plasma. Both the remaining red blood cell pellet and plasma were stored at -80 °C for further use.

Sexing

Initially, sex was estimated visually from noting fetal anogenital distance. Tails were also collected to confirm the sex of the fetuses by PCR genotyping and agarose gel electrophoresis by identifying amplicons of X and Y chromosomes using the REDExtract-N-Amp Tissue PCR kit (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ontario). All DNA isolation and sexing by PCR was performed with the help of laboratory technical staff. The methodology followed procedures outlined by the Clapcote and Roder PCR protocol, using a combination of PCR and agarose gel electrophoresis (553). All primers used throughout this study were synthesised by Eurofins MWG Operon (Eurofins MWG Operon, Huntsville, Alabama). The sequences for the primers used in this kit are in Table 3.1.

Gene	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Amplicon size (bp)
Jarid1	Fwd 5'-GCACAGGACCTCAGGGACCCAG-3'	
Jarid1D	Rev 5'-CAGAGGCATTCATCGATGAGG-3	331
Jarid1C	Rev 5'-TGAGTTGGTACGACGAAGCTGCAG-3	302

Table 3.1 PCR primers for sexing PCR

Extraction and Tissue Preparation solution from REDExtract-N-Amp Tissue PCR kit were pre-mixed in a ratio of 4:1 (20 μ l to 5 μ l per tail). Between 0.5 to 1 cm of collected mouse tail was placed into Extraction/Tissue Preparation mixture and incubated at room temperature for 10 min. The samples were then transferred to a heating block where they were further incubated for 5 min at 95 °C. 20 μ l of Neutralization solution B was then added to the digested tissue, which was then vortexed.

Following the extraction, the DNA was amplified via PCR using an Eppendorf thermal cycler (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany. The Jarid primers where mixed together in nuclease-free water to achieve a final primer concentration of 25 μ M. For each sample, the PCR mixture comprised of 10 μ l REDExtract-N-Amp PCR Reaction Mix, 0.3 μ l of primers, 7.2 μ l of water, and 2.5 μ l of the tissue extract DNA for a 20 μ l total reaction volume. In the thermal cycler, the mixture was initially incubated at 94°C for 3 min for initial denaturation, followed by 45 cycles of 94 °C for 15 s, 65 °C for 45 s and 42 °C for 30 s. Once the cycles completed the DNA underwent a further 10 min extension at 72 °C. The amplified PCR product was then analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis stained with *SYBR® Safe* DNA Gel stain (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada). Two bands on the gel represented the males, whereas a single band indicated females.

3.2.4 Nucleic acid isolation

Genomic DNA and RNA were jointly isolated using the Qiagen Allprep® DNA/RNA Micro Kit (Qiagen Canada, Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) according to manufacturer's protocol. However, the methods of disruption and homogenisation differed between blood and the remaining tissues. Once homogenised, the remaining steps were the same for all tissues.

Frozen blood cell pellets were gently thawed on ice. A $23^{\frac{3}{4}}$ -gauge needle on a syringe was then used to disrupt the cells. The cell pellet was taken up and then expelled from the syringe 25 times to thoroughly break up the cells. 10-15 µl of cell mixture was taken up and placed in 350 µl of RLT plus buffer containing β-mercaptoethanol and vortexed vigorously for 20-30 s.

In contrast, for the remainder of the tissues 15 mg of liver, kidneys and small intestine were homogenised in 350 μ l of RLT plus buffer containing β -mercaptoethanol using the Qiagen Tissuelyser II (Qiagen Canada, Qiagen Inc.,

Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). Tissue disruption was carried out for 3 min at high speed (30 Hz) at room temperature in 2 ml microcentrifuge tubes, each containing a stainless-steel bead. Tissue disruption was only completed once to prevent shearing of DNA. The resulting homogenate was then transferred to Allprep® DNA spin columns (Qiagen Canada, Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) and centrifuged for 30 s at 8000 x g. The flowthrough was then put aside, and the DNA columns were placed in new spin baskets and stored at 4 °C for later isolation steps.

3.2.4.1 Total RNA purification

Flow through from the DNA spin columns was used for RNA purification. 350 μ l of 70% ethanol (50% ethanol for liver samples) was added to the flowthrough and pipet-mixed. The flowthrough was added to RNEasy MinElute spin columns and centrifuged for 15 s at 8000 x g. Flowthrough from the spin basket was then discarded. The RNEasy MinElute spin column (Qiagen Canada, Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) was sequentially washed with 700 μ l of Buffer RW1 (700) and 500 μ l of Buffer RPE. Each wash was followed by centrifugation for 15 s at 8000 x g and a discarding of the flowthrough. 500 μ l of 80% ethanol was added directly to the spin column followed by centrifugation for 2 min at 8000 x g. The spin basket was replaced with a new one and the column centrifuged at full speed to remove any remaining ethanol. The column was then transferred to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube. 16 μ l of RNAse-free water was then added to the centre of the spin column membrane followed by 10 min incubation

at room temperature. The column and tube were centrifuged for 1 minute at full speed to elute the RNA.

3.2.4.2 Genomic DNA purification

The DNA spin column was removed from 4 °C washed with 500 μ l of Buffer AW1 and centrifuged for 15 s at 8000 x g. 500 μ l of Buffer AW2 was then added and the column centrifuged for 2 min at full speed. The column was then transferred to a 1.5 microcentrifuge tube. 50 μ l of warm Buffer EB (pre-warmed to 70 °C) was added to the spin column; the column was then incubated for 10 min at room temperature and centrifuged for 1 minute at 8000 x g to elute the DNA.

3.2.4.3 Nucleic acid quantification

All DNA and RNA were quantified using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Inc. Wilmington, DE, USA). The spectrophotometer was blanked against EB buffer for DNA samples and RNase-free water for RNA. 2μ l of sample was used when quantifying nucleic acids. All RNA used in cDNA synthesis had A260/A280 and A260/A230 ratios of 1.80 or above. The A260/A230 ratio is particularly relevant for RNA in that low A260/A230 ratios are indicative of contamination by residual guanidine and other organic contaminants. RNA samples were stored at -80 °C.

Only DNA with 260/280 nm and 260/230 nm ratios of 1.8 were used for analyses (554). DNA integrity was further confirmed by loading on a 1% (w/v) agarose

gel. Samples were stained with SYBR® Safe DNA Gel stain (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) and imaged using Image Lab software GelRed (Biotium, Hayward, CA 94545). Only single-band, non-fragmented DNA was used for subsequent downstream analysis. Genomic DNA samples were stored at 4 °C for short-term storage, and transferred to -80 °C for longer-term storage.

3.2.5 mRNA relative quantification

3.2.5.1 cDNA synthesis

RNA was kept on ice throughout the making of the reaction mix. All RNA was normalised to 10 ng/µl in RNAse free water. Single-stranded cDNA was synthesised using the iScript Reverse transcription Supermix reaction system (Bio-Rad Canada, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). A reaction mastermix was made containing a mixture of 4 µl of 5x iScript RT Supermix and 6 µl of RNasefree water per reaction. 10 µl of total RNA from each sample was seeded into the reaction for a total RNA concentration of 100 ng in a 20 µl reaction volume (final concentration 5 ng/µl). The reaction mix was then transferred to an Eppendorf thermal cycler (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany) and incubated for 5 min at 25°C for priming, 30 min at 42°C for reverse transcription and 5 min to inactivate the enzyme. The resultant cDNA was stored at -20 °C.

3.2.5.2 Primer design and real-time quantitative PCR

Primers were either designed using the NCBI Primer-BLAST software or adopted from the literature. Primer sequence specificity was tested using the UCSC *in* *silico* PCR from https://genome.ucsc.edu/index.html, which is able to use primer pairs to search the entire genome in both humans and mice. Primer sequences are listed in Table 3.2.

Primers were validated by quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) using serial dilutions of stock cDNA of between 1:3 and 1:10 in RNase-free water. Standards were generated from 3-fold serial dilutions of pooled cDNA from reverse-transcribed liver samples in RNase-free water (3¹ to 3⁶-fold dilutions). A standard curve was run for each qPCR plate to estimate the amplification efficiency of the PCR reaction. qPCR of standards and samples was performed using the Bio-Rad CFX 384 system (Bio-Rad Canada, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). All qPCR reactions were performed in triplicate in a 5 µl reaction volume for all samples. Each PCR reaction contained 1x LuminoCt® SYBR® Green qPCR ReadyMixTM, 300 nM of forward and reverse primers, and RNase-free water. Concentration of primers and reagents used are summarised in Table 3.2. Cycling conditions were: 95 °C for 20 s, followed by 35 cycles of 95 °C for 5 s and 60°C for 20 s. For all primers a melt curve from 65 °C to 95 °C showed a single PCR product (Figure 3.2).

All genes of interest were normalised to the geometric mean of three reference genes succinate dehydrogenase complex, subunit A (SDHA), TATA-box binding protein (TBP), and tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenaseactivation protein, zeta polypeptide (YWHAZ). Stability of the reference genes was checked by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to confirm minimal variation across diet groups. Relative expression values were calculated and adjusted for PCR reaction efficiencies using Pfaffl's relative ratio, which is built into the Bio-Rad CFX software.

The relative expression calculation by Pfaffl (555,556) takes into account the amplification efficiencies of the reaction for both gene of interest and reference genes. In order to determine reaction efficiency every run with samples had a standard curve. Reaction efficiency was calculated by the following equation (555):

$\begin{aligned} Ratio &= (\underline{E_{target}})^{\land \Delta Cq_{\prime}} \underbrace{_{target}}_{(control - sample)} \\ & (\underline{E_{reference}})^{\land \Delta Cq_{\prime}} \underbrace{_{ref}}_{(control - sample)} \end{aligned}$

E_{target} is the efficiency of the target gene. E_{ref} is the efficiency of the reference gene. Given that multiple reference genes were used for each PCR cycle, a geometric mean was used to calculate a normalisation factor for both control and treatment groups. Δ Cq, target (control - sample) is the difference between the Cq (or C_T) value of a chosen control against which every sample is normalised, and the test sample being analysed for the target gene. The Δ Cq, reference (control - sample) is the same principle, substituting the values for the gene of interest for the geometric mean of the reference genes.

Table 3.2 PCR	primers for	gene expression	analysis
	Primero ror	Serie enpression	unu 1 y 0 1 0

	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Amplico	Accession
		n	Number/referenc
		Size (bp)	e
mTert	Fwd 5'-TGGGTCTCCCCTGTACCAAA-3'	68	NM_009354.1
	Rev 5'-GCCTGTAACTAGCGGACACAGA-3		
c-myc	Fwd 5'-GTTGGAAACCCCGCAGACAG-3'	83	NM_001177352.1
	Rev 5'-CGGAGTCGTAGTCGAGGTCA-3'		
Sdha	Fwd 5'-CTTGAATGAGGCTGACTGTG-3'	87	RT Primer DB
	Rev 5'-ATCACATAAGCTGGTCCTGT-3'		
Tbp	Fwd 5'-CGGACAACTGCGTTGATTTTC-3'	115	NM_013684
	Rev 5'-AGCCCAACTTCTGCACAACTC-3'		
Ywhaz	Fwd 5'-GCAACGATGTACTGTCTCTTTTGG-	149	NM_011740
	3'		
	Rev 5'-GTCCACAATTCCTTTCTTGTCATC-3'		





A single melt peak across all samples indicated amplification of the same product. The standard curves are generated from the threshold cycle (Ct) values of serially diluted pool of cDNA, plotted on a Log₁₀ graph for the quantitation of relative expression. The standard amplification curve shows where the measurement of fluorescence intensity is above background, as indicated by the horizontal line.

3.2.6 Mitochondrial DNA Copy Number Quantitation

The assay for quantitation of mitochondrial (mtDNA) and nuclear DNA (nDNA) was based on qPCR of genomic DNA (557). This was performed on maternal and fetal DNA. The nDNA was detected using primers for β 1-globin, and for the detection of mtDNA primers for mitochondrially encoded NADH dehydrogenase 1 (mt-ND1) and mitochondrially encoded cytochrome b (mt-CytB) were chosen (Table 3.3). qPCR was carried out as described in Section 3.2.3.2. The amount of mtDNA was expressed as a ratio of mtDNA/nDNA.

Table 3.3 PCR primers for mtDNA quantification

`	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Amplicon Size (bp)	Reference
mt-ND1	Fwd 5'-AATCGCCATAGCCTTCCTAACAT-3'	115	(558)
	Rev 5'-GGCGTCTGCAAATGGTTGTAA-3'		
mt-CytB	Fwd 5'-GCTTTCCACTTCATCTTACCATTTA-3	90	(559)
	Rev 5'-TGTTGGGTTGTTTGATCCTG-3		
β1-globin	Fwd 5'-GCACCTGACTGATGCTGAGAA-3	64	(523)
	Rev 5'-TTCATCGGCGTTCACCTTTCC-3		

3.2.7 Telomere length measurement

Absolute telomere length (aTL) was measured in extracted DNA from maternal and fetal tissues by qPCR assay as described by O'Callaghan and Fenech (560). This is a modification of the qPCR protocol devised by Cawthon (561), which generates a relative expression TL value. The relative TL is a ratiometric value calculated by normalising a telomere repeat copy number to a single copy gene (T/S ratio) in experimental samples as compared with a reference DNA sample (562). The aTL O'Callaghan quantification method utilises oligomer standards of known size, which are used to generate aTL values.

(a) Oligomers

Telomere primer sequences were obtained from Cawthon (562) (Table 3.4). The reference gene used was murine acidic ribosomal phosphoprotein P0 (*36b4*). All Telomere and *36b4* standard sequences were confirmed using *in silico* PCR (https://genome.ucsc.edu/cgi-bin/hgPcr) on whole genome mounts. Primers were validated before use in telomere qPCR.

Туре	Name	Sequence (5'→3')	Amplicon Size (bp)	Accession number/ reference
Primers	Tel	Fwd 5'-CGGTTTGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTT	76	(562)
		GGGTTIGGGTTIGGGTT-3		
		Rev 5'-GGCTTGCCTTACCCTTACCCTT		
		ACCCTTACCCTTACCCT-3'		
	36b4	Fwd 5'-ACTGGTCTAGGACCCGAGAAG-3'	78	(560)
		Rev 5'-TCAATGGTGCCTCTGGAGATT-3'		
				_
Stds	Tel	TTAGGGTTAGGGTTAGGGTTAGGGTTA	84	(562)
		GGGTTAGGGTTAGGGTTAGGGTTAGGG		
		TTAGGGTTAGGGTTAGGGTTAGGG		
	36b4	ACTGGTCTAGGACCCGAGAAGACCTCC	77	NM_007475
		TTCTTCCAGGCTTTGGGCATCACCACGA		
		AAATCTCCAGAGGCACCATTGA		

Table 3.4. Oligomers used for aTL PCR

(b) Procedure

Quantified genomic DNA was normalised to 10 ng/µl in sample normalisation tubes using nuclease-free water. A PCR master mix solution was prepared for a total reaction volume of 5 µl. Each master mix solution contained 1x LuminoCt® SYBR® Green qPCR ReadyMix[™] (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ontario), 0.6 µM of both forward and reverse primers, and sterile water. Cycling conditions were: 95 °C for 10 min, followed by 30 cycles of 95 °C for 10 s, 56°C for 15 s and 72 °C for 5 s.

The JANUS automated liquid handling workstation (Perkin Elmer, Massachusetts, USA) was used to aliquot DNA template and master mix into 384 well PCR reaction plates. qPCR was performed in a Bio-Rad CFX 384 cycler. All reactions were carried out in triplicate with a non-template control and a reference DNA sample included in each run.

A standard curve was generated by performing qPCR on serial dilutions of Telomere and 36B4 standards (diluted 10⁻¹ to10⁻⁸). The standard curves were used to measure the amount of telomeric sequence per sample in kb and the diploid genome copies of 36B4 in each sample. The amount of oligomer in the most concentrated standards for both Telomere and 36B4 was calculated using the method by O'Callaghan and Fenech (560) (Figure 3.3). Standard curve and sample values were determined using Bio-Rad CFX Manager Version 2.1

software from the starting quantity values determined from the standard curve quantities of telomere and 36B4. Absolute values were calculated by dividing the telomere kb per reaction value by diploid genome copy number to give a total telomeric length in kb per diploid genome.



Figure 3.3. Calculation of absolute quantities of standards for standard curves (adapted from O'Callaghan (560))

3.2.8 Sectioning and staining

Paraffin wax-embedded blocks of whole fetal liver were sectioned at 5 µm thickness using a Leica RM 2255 microtome (Leica Microsystems Inc., Buffalo Grove, IL, USA).

3.2.8.1 Immunohistochemistry

To assess the level of cellular proliferation within fetal livers, paraffin-embedded sections of whole fetal liver were stained with primary antibodies for KI67 (mouse monoclonal; Leica Novocastra, Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK)) Sections were deparaffinised in xylene (for 10 min once, 5 min two times) and rehydrated in a descending ethanol series (three changes of 100% ethanol, 5 min each, followed by one change of 95, 90, 80, 70% and 50% ethanol, 5 min each). Sections were then washed twice in double distilled water (ddH₂O) for 5 min. To quench endogenous peroxidase activity, the sections were incubated in a solution of 0.3% (KI67 in 100% methanol) v/v hydrogen peroxide for 30 min at room temperature.

Antigen unmasking and retrieval were then performed using a microwave oven with ten power level settings. Antigen unmasking was performed by heating sections in 1X Dako antigen unmasking solution in ddH₂O (Dako, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) for 5 min on full power. This was repeated at 5 min intervals for a total of 25 min, and then followed by cooling on ice for 10 min. Antigen retrieval was then performed by immersing the sections in 0.01 M sodium citrate buffer (citric acid and sodium citrate, pH 6.0) and heating for 5 min and then 3 min at power level 6, with ice cooling for 10 min at the end of each heating period. Sections were then washed twice for 5 min in 1X PBS and then blocked with Dako protein blocking solution (1-2 drops per section; (Dako, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) for 1 hour (h) at room temperature in a humidified chamber. The concentration of primary antibody used for KI67 was 1:200. Antibodies were diluted in Dako antibody diluent (Dako, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) overnight in a humidified chamber at 4 °C.

Following overnight incubation with the primary antibody, sections were washed for 5 min in 1X PBS-tween (PBS-T) (0.1% v/v), followed by two more 10 min PBS-T washes and a single wash in regular 1X PBS for 5 min. Sections were then incubated with a secondary biotinylated anti-rabbit IgG (1:200; company, location; diluted in Dako antibody diluent solution) for 1 h at room temperature in a humidified chamber. Following incubation with secondary antibody, sections were washed for 5 min in 1X PBS-T, followed by two more 10 min PBS-T washes and a single wash in regular 1X PBS for 5 min. 1-2 drops of Dako solution (Dako, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) or Invitrogen streptavidin-HRP (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) were added to the sections and then incubated for 1 h at room temperature in a humidified chamber. Sections were then washed once in 1X PBS-T followed by a single wash in 1X PBS.

The chromogen 3,3'-diaminobezidine (DAB) was used to visualise the antibodyantigen reactions, via the production of a brown precipitate on the antigen site. The DAB peroxidase substrate kit (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) was used and DAB was prepared with 2.5 ml of ddH₂O, with kit components: 1 drop of reaction buffer, 1 drop of H₂O₂ and 2 drops of DAB substrate. 100 μ l of the DAB reaction mix was applied to each liver section and incubated for 30 s (optimal DAB reaction time was determined from optimisation experiments). Immersing the slides in tap water terminated the reaction. Sections were then counterstained with haematoxylin (Gills I, 1:2 dilution, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ontario) for 3 min and rinsed with tap water for 1 min. Sections were dehydrated through graded alcohols (one change each of 70, 80, 90, 95% ethanol for 5 min, and three changes of 100% for 5 min), cleared in xylene (three changes, 5 min each) and coverslipped using Micromount mounting medium (Surgipath Medical Industries, Richmond, IL, USA).

Fetal liver sections were used as negative controls in each assay to ensure specificity of antibody staining. Negative controls were performed by incubating Dako anti-mouse IgG1 negative control (for Ki67; Leica Novocastra, Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK) or omitting the primary antibody and only adding the antibody diluent (for caspase-3). Sections were viewed under the Leica DM IL LED light microscope (Leica Microsystems Inc., Buffalo Grove, IL, USA) and photos were captured at 40 x magnification, using QImaging MicroPublisher 5.0 RTV digital camera utilizing QCapture software (Olympus, Center Valley, PA, USA). Sections were also examined using an Olympus BX60 Light Microscope (Olympus Corporation, Lake Success, NY, USA)

3.2.8.2 Analysis

The percentage of Ki67 positively stained cells was scored in a blinded manner. A piece of white tape was placed over the slide label to de-identify the animals. The stained slides were placed in a random order and assigned a number, which was written on the white tape. A note was made of which numbers corresponded to which dietary group in a notebook. The notebook was then kept separate while analysis of Ki67 positive cells was made. During labelling of photos captured, only the assigned number on the slide was used to identify the tissue. The number of positive cells in 20 separate captured fields was counted against the total number of cells in each field. The brown peroxidase staining or the blue counterstain identified positive cells. The total number of brown cells in each field was expressed as a percentage of the total number of cells in each field. Once Ki67 percentages were calculated for each slide, the notebook was then used to identify the animals corresponding to the assigned number on the slide.

3.2.9 Reactive Oxygen Species Detection

3.2.9.1 DNA oxidation

Dihydroethidium (DHE) was used to evaluate levels of oxidative stress within DNA of fetal liver. This measure was based on a method previously published by Nin and colleagues who used DHE staining to evaluate superoxide-induced oxidative damage in fixed lung tissue (563). DHE is an indicator of intracellular superoxide production (564). It intercalates with cellular DNA and once oxidised is converted from DHE to ethidium (565). In its reduced form DHE fluoresces blue, whereas in its oxidised form it stains the nucleus bright red following DNA intercalation. The fluorescence intensity is indicative of the degree of oxidation.

Reagent setup

DHE powder (Millipore Ltd. Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) was reconstituted to a 50 mM stock solution using dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd). Stock solutions were prepared fresh and used for a single batch of experiments. Reconstituted DHE was then diluted to a final working concentration of 5 mM in 1 X PBS. For this assay, both stock and working solutions were maintained under dark conditions.

Staining procedure

Liver sections were dewaxed in xylene and rehydrated in descending alcohol series as described above (3.2.5.1). Following this, 75 µl of DHE working solution (5 mM) was added to each tissue section. Sections were incubated for 90 min at 37 °C in a dark humidified chamber. Negative controls were performed for the whole run by omitting the DHE and incubating sections with 1 X PBS solution only. The sections were washed three times in 1 X PBS, mounted with Vectashield mounting medium (Vector, Burlingame, CA, USA) and visualised by spinning-disc confocal microscopy.

Image acquisition and analysis

DHE staining was visualised using a Leica 6000 DMI B microscope (Leica, Bensheim, Germany), and images were captured and analysed with Volocity software (Improvision, Lexington, MA). Images were captured with a 20x objective lens with modifications using the following protocol.

The section was placed on the stage and tissue was brought into focus with a 5x objective using normal light so as to avoid bleaching the DHE with the red fluorescent laser. Samples were vertically scanned from the bottom coverslip with a total depth of 20-100 μ m and a pinhole diameter of 40-70 μ m. The sequential images were collected at a step depth of 0.3-2.0 μ m. The size of the tissue was estimated first at 5 x and then captured at 20 x magnification. The unstained slide was used to remove excess background to give a cleaner image, before deconvolution was performed in Volocity.

Volocity software was used in analysis mode to measure the intensity of the staining. The intensity was determined by counting the number of threedimensional volumetric pixels (or voxel count). It was necessary to define a brightness threshold for analysis of the region of interest, which indicated superoxide presence, across all slides. All the captured images from the experimental groups were examined and the lasso tool in the software was used to select each the regions of intensity. Within the Volocity software the classifier tool was then used to further define cut off points for intensity for all the nuclei to be counted. The selection lines in the classifier tool were used to define the zone for analysis. The image was checked to ensure that there was no significant loss. This process was repeated for all slides before determining an average minimum threshold that was suitable between experimental groups.

The voxels were quantified by setting an intensity minimum threshold of 20%. All voxels that had brightness lower than the threshold were assumed to be background. Once the analysis area had been selected, the data was then exported and the mean of the voxel count was taken and expressed as a percentage of voxels compared to the CON group.

3.2.9.2 Protein oxidation

The oxidation of protein in the liver was assessed by a protein carbonyl colorimetric assay. 20 mg of liver tissue was sonicated three times in 150 μ l of cold 1 x PBS in 10 second bursts. All sample protein was diluted to a final concentration of 1 mg/ml. 60 μ l of each sample was then pipetted into a new 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube and labelled "S" because it contained the sample to be analysed. A repeat of the sample transfer was performed with a second 1.5 ml tube which was then labelled "C" because it contained the control sample mixture.

240 ml of 10 mM 2,4 Dinitrophenylhydrazine (DNPH) (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ontario) in 2.5 M hydrochloric acid (HCl) was then added to the S tube which

contained the sample to analysed, and concurrently only 240 μ l of 2.5 M HCl was added to the C tube. Both S and C tubes for each sample solutions were then vortexed vigorously for 10 s and then covered and allowed to incubate in the dark for 15 min at room temperature, with vortexing at 5-minute intervals. Following this 300 μ l of 50% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid (TCA) was added to each tube and the tube vortexed. The sample mixture was then placed at -20 °C for 30 min and then centrifuged at 9000 x g at 4 °C for 15 min. The supernatant was carefully removed and the remaining protein pellet was used for the remainder of the assay.

In order to remove excess DNPH, the pellet in the S tube was then washed three times in a cold solution of ethanol and ethyl acetate mixed in a 1:1 ratio and the added to the pellet. The C tube was processed in tandem. Following the addition of ethanol: the ethyl acetate mixture in the tube was then centrifuged at 9000 x g at 4 °C for 2 min and the supernatant removed for each round of washing. Once the pellets were washed, they were dissolved in 500 μ l of 6 M guanidine-HCl solution and thoroughly mixed by vortexing. The tubes were then centrifuged one more time at 9,000 x g at 4 °C for 15 min to remove any undissolved debris.

220 μ l of supernatant in tube S was then transferred to each of the first two wells of a 96-well plate. For the same sample 220 μ l of supernatant was transferred from tube C to the row below. This was repeated for subsequent samples so that they were arranged in the plate as shown below (Figure 3.4).

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
A	S1	S1	S5	S5	S 9	S9	S13	S13	S17	S17	S21	S21
В	C1	C1	C5	C5	С9	С9	C13	C13	C17	C17	C21	C21
C	S2	S2	S6	S6	S10	S10	S14	S14	S18	S18	S22	S22
D	C2	C2	C6	C6	C10	C10	C14	C14	C18	C18	C22	C22
E	S3	S 3	S7	S7	S11	S11	S15	S15	S19	S19	S23	S23
F	C3	C3	C7	C7	C11	C11	C15	C15	C19	C19	C23	C23
G	S4	S4	S8	S8	S12	S12	S16	S16	S20	S20	S24	S24
н	C4	C4	C8	C8	C12	C12	C16	C16	C20	C20	C24	C24

Figure 3.4. Sample (S) and Control (C) arrangement in the 96-well plate for protein analysis.

The absorbance of the sample S and the control C in the plate was then read at a wavelength of 370 nm using a BioTek uQuant Microplate Spectrophotometer (BioTek instruments; Winooski, VT, USA) and KC Junior software version 1.31.2 (Biotek instruments; Winooski, VT, USA). The average absorbance of each sample S and control C was calculated in Microsoft Excel. To obtain a Corrected Absorbance value, the average absorbance of C was subtracted from average absorbance of S:

Corrected absorbance at 370 nm =	Average Sx - Average Cx,
	where x = matched sample number

Therefore, to calculate the protein carbonyl concentration, the following equation was used:

Protein carbonyl concentration (nmol/ml)

= Corrected absorbance/extinction coefficient of DNPH at 370 nm (22,000 M-1cm-1) * 1 x 106

3.2.9.3 Lipid oxidation

During periods of oxidative injury, lipids can also be oxidised via the process of lipid peroxidation (566). Lipid peroxidation leads to the development of compounds called hydroperoxides (HP), derivatives of unsaturated and saturated lipids which are generated by free radicals such hydroxyl, lipid oxyl or peroxyl radicals, superoxide, and peroxynitrite (566,567). Lipid oxidation in the liver was assessed using the colorimetric Lipid Hydroperoxide Assay Kit from Cayman Chemicals (Ann Arbor, Michigan).

HP were extracted from fetal liver tissue using a customised chloroform: methanol protocol. Prior to hydroperoxide extraction, it was necessary to remove oxygen from both chloroform and methanol using nitrogen gas. A system was devised that consisted of a nitrogen gas tank with a regulator, which was then connected to an Erlenmeyer flask containing either chloroform or methanol by Tygon tubing. The nitrogen gas was bubbled through both chloroform and methanol for 1 h before sealing the flask, which was only reopened just prior to use. During the lipid extraction steps, the deoxygenated chloroform flasks remained immersed in a Styrofoam box full of ice to keep them cold. Just prior to the beginning of the extraction, 100 mg Extract R from the kit was added to the methanol and vortexed vigorously for 2 min. 20 mg of frozen liver tissue was sonicated three times in 500 μ l of ice-cold PBS in 10 second bursts. The 500 μ l homogenate was then transferred to a pre-labelled glass test tube followed by 500 μ l of Extract R saturated methanol. The test tube was then sealed and vortexed. 1 ml of chloroform was then added followed by another period of vortexing. The mixture was then transferred to a centrifuge at 1,500 x g at 4°C. The bottom layer was then collected and transferred to a fresh test tube.

Deoxygenated chloroform and methanol were mixed together in a 2:1 ratio. The kit chromogen was prepared by mixing together, in a ratio of 1:1, FTS Reagent 1 and FTS Reagent 2, followed by vortexing. 500 μ l of chloroform extract was then transferred to a new glass tube, followed by 450 of the chloroform/methanol mixture, and 50 μ l of the chromogen. The mixture was once again vortexed and the tube capped and left to incubate at room temperature for 5 min.

An 8-point standard curve was made using concentrated HP standards ranging from 0-5 nmol (0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 3, 4, and 5). 0, 10, 20, 30, 40, 60, 80, 100 μ l of each standard was added to a glass tube, followed by a corresponding volume of chloroform/methanol mixture, to make up 950 μ l, which was then vortexed. The Chromogen was then added as well and the tube was vortexed. Duplicates of 300 μ l of each standard were then added to the first two columns of the glass 96-well plate from the kit. 300 μ l of the extracted samples was then also added to the remaining wells in duplicate. Absorbance readings were taken at 500 nm using a BioTek uQuant spectrophotometer for microplates (Biotek Instruments; Winooski, VT, USA) and KC Junior software version 1.31.2 (Biotek Instruments; Winooski, VT, USA).

In Microsoft Excel, the absorbance readings were then re-plotted as a corrected absorbance. Subtracting the absorbance reading of the first standard from itself to obtain a zero value, and then also subtracting the readings of the remaining standards from the first one did this. The values were then re-plotted and a linear equation was obtained.

The final calculation of the HP content involved two steps. The first step used the linear equation of the adjusted standard curve of the corrected absorbance values to get the HP value in the sample tube (HPST). This was calculated using the following equation: **HPST (nmol) =** (sample absorbance - y-intercept)/slope

Finally, in order to determine the concentration of HP (in μ M) in the original sample, the following calculation was used:

Hydroperoxide concentration in sample (μM) = HPST/VE x 1 ml/SV,

where VE (ml) is the volume of extract used for the assay and SV (ml) is the volume of original sample used in the extraction.

3.2.10 Localisation of shelterin protein TIN2

Immunofluorescence with primary antibodies (rabbit polyclonal; Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) was used to localise shelterin protein TIN 2.

3.2.10.1 Immunofluorescence protocol

Sections were deparaffinised in xylene (twice, 10 min) and washed in 100% ethanol (twice, 5 min each).

Sections were then washed twice for 5 min in 1X PBS and then blocked with Dako protein blocking solution, 1-2 drops per section (Dako, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) for 1 h at room temperature in a humidified chamber. Protein blocking solution was removed by washing three times in 1 x PBS (5 min each) before primary antibodies or PBS (for the unstained slide) were added. TIN2 was used at a 1:100 dilution in a solution of Dako antibody diluent mixed with 1x PBS in a 50:50 ratio by volume. The primary antibody was incubated for 1 h at 37 °C. The slides were then removed and washed with 1 x PBS (three times, 5 min each) before Alexa Fluor® 594 Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) secondary antibody (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) was added. Similar to the primary antibodies, the secondary antibody added to sections with TIN2 was diluted in a solution of 50% Dako antibody diluent: 50% 1x PBS, at a dilution of 1:200. Once again, the sections were incubated at 37 °C for 1 h before being washed three times with 1 x PBS (5 min each) at room temperature. Slides were then mounted and coverslipped with Prolong Gold containing DAPI

(Invitrogen–Molecular Probes). The edges of the slide were then sealed with nail polish and the slides stored in the dark at -20^oC until imaging later.

3.2.10.2 Imaging acquisition and analysis

All slides were visualised using a spinning disc confocal microscope, the Leica DMI 6000 (Leica Microsystems Inc., Buffalo Grove, IL, USA) with an inverted motorised stage. Fluorescence images were captured with a mounted Hamamatsu C9100-13 EM CCD camera (Hamamatsu Photonics, Japan) with a HCX Plan Apochromat 40 x oil objective (numerical aperture 0.60), at room temperature. For the duration of image acquisition, slides were kept covered in a dark box until ready to use. Before being placed on the microscope stage, slides were gently cleaned with 70% ethanol to remove any artifacts or dust with lint free Kimwipes. A drop of immersion oil (type DF, Cargille Laboratories, Cedar Grove, NJ) was placed on the slide on the area covered by the tissue. The objective was then lowered into the oil.

Images of all probes (Alexa Fluor® 594 and DAPI) were simultaneously captured using the same illumination conditions for all slides. An automated capture of a 3-dimensional z-stack of the tissue was once again performed using Volocity software. Prior to capture, limits were set so that image acquisition started from an area of darkness above to an area of darkness below where the tissue is out of focus on either end. This limit was set initially by bringing the tissue to a central z focal point to establish a clear depth of focus, which was then set. Once this was completed, a manual scan in the z-axis direction was made to fix the initial and
final acquisition points. It was necessary to do this for every slide due to the variations in the slide glass and tissue thickness.

Capture of the z-stack was performed in 200 nm steps at 40 x magnification. An unstained negative control slide, as described above, was also captured, and used as a reference for subtraction of background noise to give a cleaner image. Once this was done the z-stack was then deconvolved using the Volocity software. The resulting images were then false-coloured.

In relation to its function in telomere maintenance, as well as its posttranslational modification and involvement in mitochondrial metabolism, TIN2 can have both a nuclear and cytoplasmic localisation (528). The ratio of nuclear fluorescence to cytosolic fluorescence was used as a measure of nucleocytoplasmic distribution to ascertain whether TIN2 was more concentrated in the nucleus or cytoplasm in response to maternal dietary restriction.

TIN2 localisation was determined using ImageJ software with the Intensity Ratio Nuclei Cytoplasm Tool (RRID:SCR_018573). Four representative images of each animal (n=3 for each dietary group) were analysed. Two input channels, one for cytoplasm and the other for nuclei, were assessed. First, an 8-bit image type was created from the image containing the cytoplasmic channel (Alexa Fluor[®] 594) for analysis. The image was corrected using the background correction function, leaving zero values in blue and areas that needed to be analysed in grey. In order to segment the nuclei, the image containing the nuclear channel (DAPI) is also converted to 8-bit format. Once background correction and segmentation were complete, the intensity ratio for a single image was measured generating %nuclear and %cytoplasmic values which are corrected to give an intensity %N/%C ratio. Lower values (< 1) were indicative of higher cytoplasmic concentration of TIN2 whereas higher values (> 1) indicated showed that TIN2 was more nuclear.

3.2.11 Statistical Methods

Prior to analysis, all data were assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Data are represented as mean ± standard deviation. If data were parametric, a student's T-test was used to investigate for statistical differences between CON and DR groups where P≤0.05 indicated significance. Otherwise, a nonparametric Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to estimate significance differences between the two groups.

Correlations were used to determine the relationship between maternal factors on telomere lengths. If data were normal, Pearson correlation was used; Spearman correlation was used if non-normal. A linear regression model was fitted for daily gestational weight gain data in order to identify the earliest day on which daily weight gain could predict final telomere length at E18.5. The response variable in the model was TL, and the predictor was daily weight gain. On the first day that the slope estimates significantly differed from the baseline value at E0.5, the daily weight gain value could be used to predict TL. The correlation coefficient and r² coefficient of determination were used to test the linear regression equation's ability to predict outcomes accurately. Statistical analysis was performed using RStudio version 2022.02.3 Build 492 (RStudio Inc., Boston, MA). Male and female fetal analyses were combined due to the small sample size and subsequent analyses showing no sex differences.

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 Phenotypic assessment of animals during pregnancy

3.3.1.1 Fetal measures

Statistical analysis for fetuses compared each diet group's average pup weight, placenta weight, fetal:placental ratio (FPR, a proxy for placental efficiency), and fetal blood glucose concentration. When DR fetuses were compared to CON offspring, their body weights were lower (-35%) as expected (P=0.00014; Fig 4.5A). Fetuses from dams exposed to DR also had smaller placentae (-16%) (P=0.00013; Fig 4.5B). In the calorically-challenged DR group, the mean FPR, was lower (-29%) (P=0.008; Fig 4.5C) consistent with placental inefficiency. Though it was not statistically significant, there was a trend towards higher (+42%) fetal blood glucose levels in the DR group (P=0.058). Notably, there was a sizable variation in the DR group glucose concentrations. Nested analysis did not reveal any sex effects on either body (P=0.658) or placental weight (P=0.474).

This was also the case in fetal blood glucose (P=0.3096) and FPR (P=0.853) analyses.



Figure 3.5. Comparison of intrauterine growth and blood glucose concentrations between CON (n=12) and DR fetuses (n=10).

(A) Fetal weight in CON and DR fetuses. (B) Placenta weight in CON and DR fetuses (C) Fetal: placenta ratio (FPR) in CON and DR fetuses (D). Fetal blood glucose in CON and DR fetuses. ** P< 0.01 ***P<0.001 NS Not significant. Data are represented as dot plots, displaying mean (represented by black central dot) and standard deviation (black lines radiating from central black dot). Males and females jointly analysed due to low n values and lack of observable sex differences.

3.3.1.2 Dam body weights

The DR dams overall were smaller, with lower body weights than CON. DR mean body weights were 8% lower ($20.27\pm0.4g$) than the CON group ($22.22\pm0.5g$) when the copulatory plug was identified at E0.5 (P = 0.014, Figure 3.6A). The DR and CON groups maintained the same weight difference at the start of the feeding regimen at E5.5. By the time pregnancy reached E18.5, the DR and CON mean weights were 27.5% higher than the DR group (P=0.001; Figure 3.6A).

After the diet was administered at E5.5, DR dams had difficulty gaining weight, experiencing significant weight loss between E6.5 and E11.5, half of the 12-day diet period, and only beginning to gain weight between E15.5 and E18.5. In contrast, in CON, E10.5 was the first day that dam daily weight gain (DWG) became significant. At the time of culling at E18.5, the DR DWG was only 4.81±0.2g (P=0.001; Figure 3.6B), which was 65% less than that of the CON mice. While the daily kilocalories consumed retained the 30% reduction from E5.5, no difference in total calories consumed or total calories per gram of body weight was observed (Figure 3.6 C,D).



Figure 3.6 Maternal body weight gain during pregnancy in CON (n=7) compared to DR (n=7).

(A) Body weight gain. (B) Daily body weight gain relative to E0.5. (C) Daily kilocalories consumed. (D) Daily kilocalories consumed per gram of animal weight. Results are presented as means \pm standard deviation. DWG became significant between dietary groups from E8.5. Red =CON (n=7). Blue = DR (n=7). Significance is at P ≤ 0.05.

3.3.2 Telomere Length characterisation

3.3.2.1 Maternal telomere assessment

In dams, dietary restriction had the greatest effect on telomeres in whole-blood cells. Mean telomere lengths in DR dams were 62% shorter than in CON, a difference of 168 kilobases/diploid genome (P=0.0099; Figure 3.7A). Bone marrow TL was also significantly shorter in DR (P<0.05; Figure 3.7B), a source of haematopoietic stem cells for blood cell replenishment (568). Diet, on the other hand, had no significant effect on TL in the maternal gut (P=0.712; Figure 3.7C)



Figure 3.7. Comparison of dam TL between CON (n=7) and DR (n=7) groups. Maternal blood (A), Bone Marrow (B), and Gut (C) absolute telomere lengths (kb/diploid genome). * $P \le 0.05$, ** P < 0.01, NS = not significant

3.3.2.2 Fetal telomere assessment

Telomeres were shorter in DR livers than CON livers in offspring (P=0.043, Figure 3.8A). There were no significant effects of DR on telomeres in the gut (P=0.334, Figure 3.8B) or kidney (P=0.272, Figure 3.8C). In contrast to the dams, telomeres in DR fetal blood cells did not shorten, but rather were 21% longer (P=0.009; Figure 3.8D). DR had no significant effect on either cord (P=0.362, Figure 3.8E) or placenta (P=0.165, Figure 3.8F) telomeres.





Comparison of fetal TL (kb/diploid genome) between CON (n=12) and DR (n=10) groups Liver (A), Kidney (B), Gut (C) peripheral blood (D), Cord(D), and placenta absolute telomere lengths (kb/diploid genome). * $P \le 0.05$, ** P < 0.01, NS = not significant. Males and females jointly analysed due to low n values and lack of observable sex differences.

Influence of maternal factors on telomere length

Bone marrow is the primary haematopoietic organ in adult mammals (568) and a hallmark of bone marrow aging is impaired haematopoietic stem cell (HSC) DNA (569). A correlation was conducted to assess the relationship between bone marrow and blood TL. There was a positive correlation observed between bone marrow and maternal whole-blood telomere length (Figure 3.9A), suggesting that dietary restriction may be detrimental to both maternal blood and its progenitor cells.

Studies have shown that that there is a direct association between maternal weight gain and fetal birthweight (570-572). Therefore, maternal weight gain is an established predictor of fetal weight. In this study, total maternal weight gained correlated with fetal weight at E18.5 (Figure 3.9B). It was hypothesised that maternal weight gain would similarly correlate with telomere length. In dams maternal blood TL increased as the total gain in maternal body weight increased (Figure 3.9C). On the other hand, in fetuses there was an inverse association between total weight gain and fetal blood TL (Figure 3.9D).





Telomere length (TL) in maternal bone marrow compared with maternal blood (A); Maternal total weight gain compared with fetal weight (B); Maternal total weight gain compared with maternal blood TL (C); Maternal total weight gain compared with fetal blood TL (D). *R* represents Spearman's Rho, with p-value indicating significance where (P<0.05). For fetuses CON n=12 and DR n=10 with males and females combined, whereas in dams n=7 for both CON and DR.

In light of these data, it was then hypothesised that the trajectory of telomere length at E18.5 might be predicted by daily weight gained by dams (DWG). Linear regression was used to analyse maternal and fetal blood TL against DWG. The earliest day DWG could predict maternal blood TL was E13.5 (P=0.044). The equation garnered from this linear regression was: 124.30 + 21.97x (where x = DWG at day 13.5). DWG could predict fetal blood TL from E10.5 (P=0.0452) generating the equation: 176.89 - 8.45x (where x = DWG at day 10.5).

Correlation coefficients for predicted and actual TL were used to verify linear equation accuracy. The linear correlation coefficients for maternal blood and fetal blood were 0.615 and 0.377, respectively, indicating a positive relationship. For maternal blood TL, the r² coefficient of determination was 0.378, and for fetal blood TL it was 0.142.

3.3.3 Analysis of telomere/telomerase-related genes and cellular proliferation The telomerase enzyme, which consists of the TERT and TR core subunits, adds repeat sequences to telomeres, stabilising TL and preventing attrition (405,406). In order to evaluate telomerase activity in offspring liver tissue, a telomerase repeat amplification protocol (TRAP) assay was attempted. The TRAP assay, however, was unable to be optimised and, as a result, direct measurement of enzymatic activity was not possible. However, increased mouse Tert (*mTert*) expression has been linked to telomerase activity in mouse embryonic stems cells prior to differentiation, and *c-myc* is known to play a role in TERT promotion (573). Furthermore, the mouse liver is known to exhibit significant hepatocyte proliferation prior to birth at E18.5, which lasts until postnatal day 9, in order to increase liver size under normal physiological conditions. (273).

It was hypothesised that, given telomere shortening in DR livers, dietary restriction would repress *mTert* expression (related to the role of telomerase in lengthening of telomeres) as well as *c-myc* expression, and decrease the ratio of proliferative cells in the liver by E18.5. To evaluate whether there was an association between expression of *mTert* and *c-myc* expression and whether it corresponded to reduced proliferation, *mTert* and *c-myc* gene expression was assessed in conjunction with Ki67 staining (a proliferation marker). DR increased *mTert* mRNA levels (P=0.01; Figure 3.10A) but there was no effect of DR on *c-myc* (P=0.855; Figure 3.10B). Upon analysing Ki67 in CON and DR livers (Figure 3.10 C,D) There was also no significant change in proliferation as determined by Ki67 staining (P=0.837; Figure 3.10E).



С

D





Figure 3.10. *mTert* and *c-myc* gene expression and Ki67 analysis in fetal livers. Comparison of CON (n=14) and DR (n=10) *mTert* mRNA (A) and *c-myc* mRNA levels (B); (C), (D) Ki67 staining of CON (n=8) and DR (n=8) sections; (E) Percentage of Ki67-positive cells. Males and females were analysed jointly.

3.3.4 Mitochondrial DNA and associated genes

The development of metabolic disease has been linked to perturbed liver development (239). Aging-related processes and senescence are not only associated with telomere length, but also cellular mitochondrial alterations. Because telomere and mitochondrial function overlap, as do their roles in age-related pathologies, mitochondrial copy number, a proxy for mitochondrial function, was also assessed in cells whose telomeres were most adversely affected by DR, namely cells in maternal blood and fetal hepatic cells. Mitochondria are a major source of reactive oxygen species as primary producers of superoxide (O2^{•-}), one of the leading causes of oxidative damage in cells associated with various aging related conditions (453,574). In addition to damaging cellular structures, elevated ROS can damage mtDNA (472) resulting in significant mitochondrial genome deletions (473,474). It was hypothesised that maternal dietary restriction would cause a loss of mitochondrial DNA in maternal blood and fetal liver in response to stress from undernutrition.

Two mtDNA genes, mt-ND1 and mt-CytB were the focus of the assessment of mtDNA copies, as seen in Figure 3.10. When mt-ND1 was analysed in dam blood, the DR group had a higher copy number (P=0.035; Figure 3.11A). Furthermore, maternal mt-CytB demonstrated an identical response in the DR group (P=0.03; Fig. 3.11). However, there was no discernible difference between the CON and DR fetal hepatic mtDNA copy numbers as neither mt-ND1 (P=0.156; Fig. 3.11C) nor mt-CytB (P=0.122; Fig. 3.11B) were significantly different.



Figure 3.11. Maternal and Fetal mitochondrial DNA copy numbers A comparison of maternal mtDNA copy numbers is shown in (A) mt-ND1 and (B) mt-CytB. Fetal hepatic mtDNA was assessed, with mt-ND1 in (C) and mt-CytB in (D). * P \leq 0.05. For dams, n= 7 for CON and DR. For fetuses n = 14 (males and females combined) for CON, n=10 (males and females combined) for DR.

3.3.5 Analysis of shelterin protein TIN2

The shortening of telomeres and dysfunctional mitochondria are two key mechanisms related to genome instability. An earlier study by Chen and colleagues (528) illuminated a role for the shelterin protein TIN2, in the regulation of mitochondrial function and thus metabolism. TIN2 has a significant role in telomere stabilisation, acting as a linchpin molecule for the stabilisation of shelterin complex molecules TRF1, TRF2, and TPP1(373,374). However, it has also been demonstrated that TIN2 colocalises with mitochondria and inhibits ATP synthesis and oxygen consumption, resulting in hypoxic conditions and subsequently ROS (528). On the other hand, TIN2 silencing enhanced mitochondrial ATP synthesis and glucose metabolism while reducing ROS levels (528). Given that TIN2 has been shown to play dual roles in metabolism and telomere maintenance, it is therefore relevant to examine the effects of prenatal undernutrition on this protein.

It was hypothesised that DR fetuses, which had shorter hepatic telomeres, would also have increased cytoplasmic TIN2 in response to intrauterine stress from undernutrition. To see if there was a difference in TIN2 localisation in the cytosol under the stress brought on by the DR diet, immunofluorescence staining of TIN2 was performed (Figure 3.12). The intensity of nuclear and cytoplasmic localisation was compared (N/NC ratio). There was a trend towards significance (P = 0.06; Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.12 Immunofluorescence images showing fetal liver stained for Tin2 . n=3) and DR (n=3). Blue = DAPI, Red = TIN2.



Figure 3.13. Quantification of nuclear/cytoplasmic ratio of TIN2 fluorescence intensity in CON and DR livers. CON n = 3, DR n = 3. NS = Not significant

3.3.6 Hepatic oxidative stress in DR Fetuses

A body of research has linked increased TERT to increased oxidative stress. TERT can be upregulated and nucleocytoplasmic transport occur to bind with mitochondria and protect mtDNA from ROS-induced damage (575,576). Despite the fact that O2^{•-} can be converted to secondary ROS such as hydrogen peroxide, it can still damage macromolecules such as lipids and DNA (450). However, damaged or dysfunctional mitochondria can produce large amounts of superoxide, which can contribute to oxidative stress. To confirm the presence of hepatic oxidative stress, three methods were used: dihydroethidium (DHE) staining for DNA, hydroperoxide analysis for lipids, and carbonyl analysis for oxidation of proteins.

The DHE analysis (Figure 3.14A,B) was intended to serve as a proxy for superoxide oxidation of nuclear DNA in the fetal liver. This analysis was based on Nin and colleagues' methodology (563), which generated data showing a significant difference in DHE staining between groups (P=0.035; Figure 3.14C). However, it has since been established that the approach is inaccurate and inappropriate for determining DNA oxidative damage in fixed cells. This will be reviewed in greater depth in the Discussion section. The livers of DR mice had similar levels of lipid peroxidation (P=0.993; Figure 3.14D) and protein carbonylation (P=0.842; Figure 3.14E) to those of the CON group, indicating that these levels are consistent with physiologically normal levels.



Figure 3.14. ROS detection in mouse fetal hepatocytes.

Dihydroethidium (DHE) staining of (A) Control (n=8); (B) DR (n=8) (C) Comparison of superoxide detection using DHE between dietary groups in mouse fetal hepatocytes. (D) Lipid hydroperoxide detection (E) Protein Carbonylation. CON (n=14), DR (n=10) * P \leq 0.05. NS = Not significant. Males and females were analysed jointly.

3.4 DISCUSSION

The hypothesis for this study was that undernutrition would have a negative impact on telomeres, and that this result could illuminate a mechanism through which cellular stress contributes to metabolic dysfunction programming. The principal findings of this study concur with this. As indicated by the literature and outcomes of this investigation, dietary restriction disrupts the normal course of development. There are effects on mother and offspring alike. Early childhood nutritional insufficiency, as previously discussed, can have a considerable negative impact on organ development, impairing growth and leading to disease. The susceptibility of telomeres to poor nutrition has been described (577), though minimally examined in fetuses. It was observed that prenatal global dietary restriction selectively shortened telomeres in maternal blood cells and in the fetal liver. DR dams also had increased mitochondrial copy number with no effect observed on mtDNA in the fetal liver.

The initial objective of the study was to characterise TLs in dams and pups to see if there were any direct effects of poor nutrition that could be observed during fetal development on telomeres and whether they were tissue-specific. A restricted diet, I hypothesised, would shorten the dams' telomeres. This study showed that caloric restriction could decrease telomere length in maternal wholeblood cells and bone marrow but not gut, suggesting tissue-specific TL heterogeneity as indicated in previous studies (388-390). Although they were only on the diet for 12 days, the mean TLs of dam wholeblood cells in DR were drastically reduced. The DR dams lost up to 6% of their body weight from baseline between E6.5 and E11.5, half of the total time spent on the diet, before starting to gain weight. It is well-established that imprinted genes expressed by the placenta are responsible for the allocation of resources for fetal growth (323,324). Imprinted pro mother and pro fetus genes exert selective pressures on maternal resources to balance the nutritional needs of the fetus against those of the mother in order to prevent maternal deterioration (326). As shown in sheep (578) and guinea pigs (579), an imbalance in imprinted genes caused by poor diets can trigger a response that favours fetal growth. As a result, nutritional resources for maternal upkeep may be strained.

The activation of a starvation response that affects the cells in maternal blood could be one explanation for such a significant reduction in TL(580). The challenges that DR dams experienced in gaining weight suggests difficulty attaining a positive energy balance, as a result of prolonged reduction in energy consumed against usage. Previous research has suggested that starvation can reduce mouse peripheral blood cellularity in a process that involves the stress hormones of the HPA axis (580). Subsequent work has shown increased cortisol/corticosterone levels in relation to telomere shortening (507-509), which may account for the drastic TL shortening. Telomere length can also vary depending on the cell types examined in blood (581-584). Given that mouse blood not only contains a mixture of white but also nucleated red blood cells (585), the TL measurements may not be indicative of a specific cell type.

The telomere shortening observed in bone marrow compliments TL in the blood and is expected. The correlation between bone marrow and blood TLs suggests that dietary restriction may be detrimental to both maternal blood and its progenitor cells. The cellularity of mouse bone marrow is higher than that of other species, including humans (586). However, the frequency of murine nucleated HSCs is only 0.01% (568). While the abundance of cells in mouse bone marrow normally does not decrease with age, clinical research has linked shorter telomeres to a reduced HSC reservoir (584). It is possible that the stress imposed by DR may have exhausted the HSC population during gestation which may explain this outcome. However, this cannot be confirmed without quantifying HSC populations at different time points throughout pregnancy, such as E0.5 (copulatory plug), E5.5, or tracking DR mice through the initial weight loss from E6.5-E11.5 and the beginnings of weight gain towards E18.5. This needs to be taken into account.

In clinical studies telomere shortening has been linked to aging and degenerative diseases in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) (587). PBMCs were not isolated in this experiment. However, DNA from the total pool of nucleated cells in whole blood was used. Due to sample volume constraints, purifying PBMCs from the rest of the sample proved to be a challenge. These volume restrictions also made it difficult to conduct further mRNA analyses of maternal blood. Attempts to extract mRNA from the remaining whole-blood sample yielded RNA that was not suitable for analysis.

Unlike in the dams, in fetal whole blood TL was longer. It is important to note that fetal haematopoiesis occurs in various locations; initially the yolk sac and liver in mid gestation, and the bone marrow in late gestation (588). This mixed pool of erythroid cells may have introduced variations in TL, with some cells possessing longer telomeres than others. Since the assay used cannot distinguish between TL in individual cells, it would require further examination to determine the populations of cells whose telomeres are best preserved despite dietary restriction.

In addition to having shorter hepatic telomeres, TIN2 in the livers of DR offspring trended towards an increase in cytoplasmic localisation. Further research is necessary to determine how this likely change in TIN2 localisation affects function in fetal livers. While it is involved in the telomerase recruitment process, TIN2 alone is not sufficient for control of telomere length and requires TPP1 (428). Thus, it might be necessary to also examine function of TPP1 in relation to telomerase activity. Investigating changes to TIN2 processivity in mitochondria would also colleagues demonstrated be required. As Chen and nucleocytoplasmic localisation and alteration in metabolism in response to changes in TIN2 expression (528), further studies would need to include measures of mitochondrial ATP synthesis. Despite the fact that mitochondrial copy number can change and, in this case, served as a proxy for mitochondrial function, a more thorough investigation of the respiratory complex function and dysregulation in conjunction with TIN2 may more clearly demonstrate the effects

of cytosolic TIN2, if any. Given that it has been demonstrated to be a maladaptive response to enhance metabolic function in cells in age-related pathologies (589), it is possible that the inclusion of analyses of mitochondrial mass would also lend some strength to the study.

No significant change in placental TL was observed in this study. Data from normal pregnancies suggest that while the placenta does indeed age towards term, the mechanisms of senescence are telomere-independent (590). Significant telomere shortening has been reported in placentae of intrauterine growthrestricted (IUGR) pregnancies (591,592). However, it is worth noting that these instances of placental telomere shortening in IUGR pregnancies have largely been reported in humans. The fact that TL in mouse placentae in this study remains unchanged may also highlight the differences in telomere and telomerase dynamics between humans and mice. The absence of telomere shortening in the fetal umbilical cords and placentae may be attributed to generally higher levels of telomerase retained by proliferating cells (593).

There was also no difference in kidney or gut TL. The kidney is one of the body's fastest "ageing" organs (594) and has been linked to the development of hypertension later in life (595). The finding that fetal kidney telomeres were not different between the DR and CON models contrasts with protein-restricted models of undernutrition, which show shorter kidney telomeres in rats after postnatal catch-up growth (521,522). TL was not investigated postnatally in this

study. In line with the DOHaD hypothesis regarding timing, the lack of change in fetal kidney TL may indicate that a "second hit" postnatal event is required before a kidney response can be detected.

Similarly, this may be the case in fetal gut TLs. There has been limited research into gut telomeres in mice. Fairly recent work by Chakravarti and colleagues (596) has demonstrated that shorter mouse telomeres can induce gut inflammation via a mechanism involving transcription factor YAP1. Pregnancy induces normal physiological responses that contribute to shorter telomeres such as increased oxidative stress and inflammation (597). Additional stresses may likely shift the physiological balance in a direction that exacerbates telomere damage. It is still not clear whether telomere length is the initiator or the target of oxidative stress and inflammation. Furthermore, the inflammatory response targets may be tissue and organ specific, demonstrating an organ-sparing effect (598), preserving the gut epithelia at the expense of the liver in this case.

Amongst all fetal tissues assayed, telomere shortening was only observed in the DR livers, despite increased *mTert* mRNA levels. Telomerase activity in mouse embryonic stem cells has been linked to increased *mTert* gene expression (573). While this is true, telomerase activity cannot be inferred directly from gene expression because both *mTert* and the RNA template *mTR* must be present (417) and interact within the enzyme structure (427). The fact that DR fetuses had shorter hepatic TL and higher *mTert* levels than CON fetuses may suggest that *mTert* assayed is not working in tandem with telomere elongation mechanisms.

The ability to correlate *mTert* mRNA data with a direct telomerase measure, such as a TRAP assay, would have clarified these analyses. In the absence of data from a TRAP assay or other telomerase activity assays, elucidating the function of increased *mTert* becomes challenging.

In humans, TERT is regulated by alternative splicing of the gene, which can transcribe more than 20 isoforms associated with cellular proliferation but not enzyme activity (599). The *mTert* gene alternative splicing process differs from that of the human TERT gene and can result in isoforms that are either telomerase inactive or associated with low telomerase activity (600,601), with some thought to be involved in tissue-specific telomere lengthening (602). Changes in *mTert* mRNA levels may be related to the generation of different isoforms, which may play roles that are independent of telomere maintenance. This cannot be confirmed in this study, given that the *mTert* PCR primers used do not completely cover the region where alternative splicing occurs. An alternative primer design might begin to shed some light on *mTert* function.

The lack of change in Ki67 and *mTert* regulator *c-myc* mRNA levels, may suggest that *mTert* contributes to proliferation maintenance occurs via alternative pathways such as the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin pathway (603). Proliferation maintenance may not involve direct regulation by *c-myc* as has been shown prior (604). However, this requires further exploration to also investigate changes at the protein level. The observed telomere shortening in the absence of inhibition of hepatic cellular proliferation is consistent with the literature, which has

reported that telomere shortening can occur independently of effects on cell division (605,606). One possibility for the elevated *mTert* may be linked to oxidative stress challenges.

Given the known association between increased rates of telomere shortening and elevated ROS (605), I originally attempted to assess the levels of hepatic oxidative stress using DHE staining. While the results appeared to show that the level of nuclear ROS in hepatocytes was higher in DR fetuses than CON, the use of DHE fluorescence to assess oxidative stress in fixed cells was subsequently shown to be flawed. The methodology was based on peer-reviewed work published by Nin and colleagues (563) who demonstrated the use of DHE on formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded sections of lung tissue. Several more recent studies have also used this technique on paraffin-embedded sections (607-611). These studies mention the use of DHE in the detection of oxidative stress.

In the literature, the use of DHE (also called hydroethidine) as a probe is well documented for the detection of superoxide, and its use in numerous *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies is well-reviewed (612,613). However, the important distinction between those studies and this one is the viability of the cells or organs which allows for active DHE uptake and hence detection of superoxide activity *in situ*. The use of DHE as a measure of superoxide oxidation of DNA in this study and aforementioned studies in paraffin-embedded tissues relies on several

assumptions. Firstly, the product 2-hydroxyethidium is only formed due to a superoxide-hydroethidine reaction. Secondly, 2-hydroxyethidium will remain at the locus of it is formation (612), likely the nucleus. Thirdly, 2-hydroxyethidium is preserved throughout the fixation process.

From my examination of the literature these assumptions appear to be inaccurate when applied to this work. Firstly, hydroethidine conversion to 2hydroxyethidium, the fluorescent product analysed in DHE staining, is not solely produced by superoxide, but can also be made by reacting with other molecules such as with Nox proteins (614). It is not confirmed in this study, or the others listed, whether Nox proteins are upregulated in the treatment groups; this is a limitation of the study. Secondly, products of hydroethidine oxidation can translocate and not only be found in the nucleus (615), but also mitochondria in the cytosol (616). The staining I have observed is concentrated in the nuclei which may not be a true reflection of 2-hydroxyethidium presence. Lastly, the presence of superoxide ion is short-lived (scavenged by superoxide dismutase), and occurs in aqueous solution (617). During the process of tissue preparation for paraffinembedding, superoxide may have been degraded. Furthermore, the dehydration of tissue during fixation would likely remove traces of superoxide and products of oxidation from the tissue. The use of DHE as a ROS-specific probe was rightly challenged in a previous draft of this thesis. While superoxide-related damage to DNA may indeed be apparent, it has not been confirmed in this study. This analysis may be remedied through the use of 8-Oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-Oxo-dG) staining, a widely accepted measure of oxidative damage to DNA. Lipid peroxidation and protein carbonylation did not change in the fetal DR groups. It is, however, possible that the more extreme effects of oxidation on those macromolecules were present in the dams, not fetuses, given the already highly inflammatory state of pregnancy.

This study also found a link between gestational weight gain and absolute telomere length in response to undernourishment. Gestational weight gain is the sum of several factors, including maternal body composition, and placenta weights and is a positive pregnancy indicator in mice (618,619). From the data in this study, maternal DR presents significant challenges to pregnancy, as evidenced by lower DWG and the accompanying growth-restricted fetus and placental inefficiency. Interestingly, a relationship between maternal weight and TL is only present in maternal and fetal blood.

In dams, the amounts of weight gained between E0.5 and E18.5 correlated with greater blood cell TL; the inverse was observed in fetal blood. There is a paucity of comparable findings in animal studies across the literature. However, Maugeri *et al.* (620) recently reported an association between higher gestational weight

gain and longer telomeres in humans, in maternal leukocytes and amniotic fluid TL. They did not establish mechanisms or implicate diet as a factor.

Body weight is a crude measure for the assessment of pregnancy wellbeing. So, this study also evaluated its effectiveness in forecasting TL at E18.5 by using the DWG as a determinate of eventual TL. E10.5 for fetal and E13.5 for maternal TL were the earliest days DWG was a significant predictor. The relatively small r² value may indicate that the DWG is not the only factor exerting effects on telomeres. The addition of potential confounders to the model may result in stronger associations and improved predictive power. Dam levels of stress could have been assessed as extraneous variables in these analyses by measuring blood cortisol, and including ROS, and inflammation. However, further experiments would be required. If the gestational daily weight gain observed in this case can be extrapolated to a clinical setting, maternal TL measurements may be a useful clinical indicator of fetal well-being.

There was an unexpected increase in mtDNA content in maternal circulating blood cells. While unconfirmed in the analyses, oxidative stress may be a likely mechanism for triggering an increase in mtDNA synthesis to compensate for damaged mitochondria as well as meet metabolic requirements for the removal of excess ROS (621,622).Once again this provides another clinically relevant use for this model for a more in-depth examination of the effects of undernutrition on maternal mitochondria in pregnancy using an easily accessible tissue.

Dietary restriction had not measurable effect on fetal hepatic mtDNA in this study. Given the absence of significant ROS oxidation of protein and lipids, this may suggest that there is protective effect on mitochondria which does not trigger the biogenesis response of cellular distress. Mitochondrial function can be maintained and mitochondrial replication can continue in a limited capacity even if mtDNA copy numbers are low. (623). As previously reported by Larsson *et al.* (624), Tfam protein, which was not examined in the study, may be preferentially upregulated to initiate the process of increasing mtDNA independently of mtDNA transcription and mitochondrial respiratory chain function (624).Similarly, these findings could point to the emergence of other compensatory mechanisms involved in mitochondrial renewal and mass restoration that are not dependent on the PGC-NRF-Tfam pathway. More studies, however, are required to fully comprehend them.

In conclusion, this study has demonstrated that poor intrauterine nutrition prematurely ages fetal and maternal cells. This is evidenced by shorter maternal and fetal telomeres and also with differential effects on mitochondrial number, suggesting that maternal and fetal compartments are affected differently by dietary restriction. Importantly, both telomeres and mitochondria in maternal blood are directly impacted by dietary restriction, providing a clinically relevant model for a more exhaustive study of undernutrition effects on maternal telomeres and mitochondria in pregnancy. And specifically, being able to predict the trajectory of telomere length during a specific timeframe during pregnancy may prove useful to a clinical setting for assessing fetal outcomes. This model further provides evidence of interaction between gene and environment in programming phenotypes.

The limitations of the study must be taken into account when interpreting the results of this work. Within the framework of the Developmental Origins of Health and Development hypothesis, timing, dose, and duration are factors that have varied impacts on outcomes in the maternal and fetal milieu. This study does not examine the exact timing that dietary restriction may have generated these effects in telomeres.

Dietary restriction was implemented between E5.5 and E17.5. While this confines the study to the desired fetal development period, it is possible that the findings would have been enhanced if the effects of early and late gestation nutritional deprivation had been studied separately. Manipulation of the time of restricted food exposure may aid in identifying critical periods that would be ripe for intervention so early in development. However, this was not feasible due to cost considerations. Given that the telomeres of the liver are affected at E18.5, it would be ideal to narrow down the window of vulnerability in order to establish when telomeres are first impacted. The data from linear regression analysis is only predictive and not causative. According to Dutch and Chinese famine research (46,625) disease outcomes in progeny can change depending on when they were exposed to intrauterine nutritional deprivation. In the Dutch study, famine was linked to higher levels of glucose intolerance, particularly in the middle and late stages of pregnancy (46) but obesogenic BMI was highest when exposure happened early in the pregnancy. Furthermore, in both famines, early gestation exposure was linked to poor liver function later in life (46,625).

Several questions arise from these observations: Is it more likely that telomere lengths are altered by periconceptional conditions and start from E5.5 through post-partum, or is this only a mid to late-gestation effect? Further, is there a period of recovery for telomeres in the other fetal tissues? Conversely, in this instance, one could also suggest that there is a "low power-low responsibility" situation. As a result of the modest size of the animal cohort, statistical power to detect these effects across treatment groups in diverse organs may have been insufficient.

The mouse model itself is also in question. Telomere shortening is not a significant cause of senescence in mouse cells due to significantly longer
telomeres and constitutively expressed telomerase (397). This enzyme is expressed in a broader range of tissues and maintained at higher levels throughout life (389,432), and thus does not serve the same role in mice as it does in humans (626). Therefore, any physiological alterations observed in this study may not directly apply clinically. Further compounding this is the fact that this work focuses on fetuses prior to disease onset. These results must be interpreted with caution since many of the physiological effects associated with disease pathogenesis are more commonly seen in adult animals. The persistence of the observed outcomes of dietary restriction effects into adulthood is uncertain from these findings. The critical developmental windows may either produce longterm phenotypic and genotypic outcomes, or they may imbue the sensitive periods with changeable and reversible effects manifested by epigenetic modifications (578). Following up on this work by tracking the maturation of the fetal liver alongside telomeres from birth to maturity could more thoroughly reveal mechanistic effects during developmental windows as well as changes in telomere signalling and postnatal life.

CHAPTER 4

EFFECTS OF OVERNUTRITION ON TELOMERES AND MITOCHONDRIA

4.1 INTRODUCTION

The preceding chapter established that maternal global-calorie deficiency, persisting throughout gestation, resulted in distinct effects on telomeres and mitochondria, accompanied by significant outcomes for fetal and maternal weights. While the exact mechanisms that lead to metabolic disease still require clarification, earlier work has made a strong case for the role of undernutrition in programming of metabolic disease (9,11,13). Previously, malnutrition in the form of protein restriction has been shown to shorten telomeres and impair mitochondrial function in offspring pancreatic islets, suggesting a mechanistic link between inadequate early-life nutrition and the development of metabolic disease (519,520). This finding is in agreement with work in the previous chapter, showing a similar response, but exclusive to the fetal liver. The work presented in this chapter aims to examine the effects of nutritional excess, in the form of a maternal HF diet, throughout pregnancy on telomeres. Further, this study also examines whether, similar to the undernutrition model in the previous chapter, there may also be a corresponding effect on mitochondria that is also detrimental to telomeres.

Several studies of diet-induced obesity using HF feeding have demonstrated that offspring exposure from gestation until weaning results in metabolic disease phenotypes in offspring, including hyperlipidaemia, hypertension and insulin resistance (128-132). Moreover, excessive consumption of nutrients, such as fat, increase risk for cardiovascular disease and other aging-related conditions is suggested to have equally detrimental effects on TL. However, despite attempts in various studies to investigate the effect of consuming large quantities of fat on TL, clinical evidence of this interaction is still sparse.

Epidemiological studies have been able to link high total fat consumption with shorter leukocyte telomeres in the elderly (514,627). Studies in animals have complemented this finding, showing shorter telomeres in both peripheral skin cells as well as circulating leukocytes in HF-fed rats (628,629). Indeed, feeding a high fat-high sucrose diet to telomerase-deficient mice with already drastically shortened telomeres exacerbates insulin resistance and promotes greater inflammation in adipose tissue (630). Furthermore, a HF diet affects mitochondria by reducing copy number during development, providing a potential mechanism for future mitochondrial dysfunction and, eventually, disease (132). Based on these findings, there appears to be a link between HF metabolic diets, disease telomere length. and

Notably, research to date has largely focused on the postnatal outcomes of HF diet, with very limited exploration of effects on offspring whilst still *in utero*. More specifically, the effects of maternal HF diet on offspring telomeres and mitochondria before birth has not been previously investigated. It is hypothesised that maternal overnutrition will adversely affect telomeres and

mitochondria, suggesting a mechanism by which cellular stress leads to metabolic dysfunction. It is proposed that these changes in telomeric and mitochondrial phenotype are apparent *in utero*, long before onset of metabolic disease. Further, the interaction between telomere and mitochondria highlights a possible mechanism by which stress in early life leads to accelerated cellular aging/dysfunction and the development of adverse metabolic phenotypes in later life.

4.2 METHODS

4.2.1 Animals

4.2.1.1 Ethics, Animal care and treatment

As described in Chapter 3, all animal procedures were performed at the Lunenfeld-Tanenbaum Research Institute at the Toronto Centre for Phenogenomics (TCP) animal facility, in Toronto, Canada with requisite approvals.

4.2.1.2 Pregnancy

Nulliparous C57Bl/6J female mice were randomised into two groups, control (CON) (n=7) and high fat (HF) (n=8), and fed two separate diets, which were not isocaloric. The One-gram *Dustless* Precision *Pellets*®, (diet # S0173; Bio-Serv, Frenchtown, New Jersey) were used to feed the CON group *ad libitum*, as described in Chapter 3. The same CON group used in the previous DR study were also used here. Conversely, the HF group consumed Bio-Serv diet #F3282, a HF diet containing 60% of calories from fat (lard), 27% sucrose and 13% from

protein. Compared to the Dustless pellets described, the HF diet contained 20.5% protein, 36% fat, 35.7% carbohydrate, with the remainder comprised of 3.5% ash with a less than 10% moisture content. Upon arrival, 5-week-old virgin females were placed on the HF diet and consumed diet until mating at 10 weeks. The HF diet was then administered *ad libitum* in the same manner as the CON group with 10 grams maintained on a daily basis throughout gestation (Figure 4.1). All feeding conditions in the CON group are as previously described in section 3.2, with 2 pups (1 male, 1 female) taken from each dam.



Figure 4.1 Experimental design of the HF diet study. *Ad lib* represents the *ad libitum* feeding in both experimental groups.

4.2.1.3 Tissue collection, molecular and cell biology

All procedures for collection as well molecular biology and cell staining protocols are the same as described in Chapter 3 (Refer to section 3.2 for detailed methods), with the exception of the methods described from Section 4.2.3 onwards. In addition to analysis of *mTert* and *c-myc* mRNA levels as described in Chapter 3, qPCR was used to examine the gene expression of the senescence marker p21 as well as that of the hepatic fatty acid metabolism genes carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1a (Cpt1a)(631) and fatty acid transport protein 2. (FATP2 or Slc27a2). FATP2 is a fatty acid transporter that is highly expressed in the liver, and is involved in the uptake of long chain fatty acids to the liver which can lead to steatosis (632). The primer sequences are listed in Table 4.1.

`	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Amplicon Size (bp)	Reference
Cpt1a	Fwd 5'- CCAACACGTCAAGGACAGCA-3'	79	NM_013495.2
	Rev 5'-CCCGTCATGGTAGAGCCAGA-3'		
FATP2	Fwd 5'-GAAGTCGCTGACATCGTGGG-3	95	NM_011978.2
	Rev 5'-GCCATCCCAATTCGACCCTC-3		
p21	Fwd 5'-CGCTTCTCACCTCGCTTGTC-3'	78	NM_007669.4
	Rev 5'-GTGACCAAGAACCTGCGACC-3'		

Table 4.1 PCR primers for mRNA quantification

4.2.2 Western Blot Analysis

A total of 20 mg of frozen fetal liver tissue from each of the dietary groups (CON, HF) was weighed. The tissue was then disrupted using the Qiagen Tissuelyser II (Qiagen Canada, Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) in 250 μ l of chilled protein lysis buffer, containing 80mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 2% (v/v) sodium

dodecyl sulphate (SDS), 10% (v/v) glycerol and water, supplemented with 100 μ M sodium orthovanadate (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ontario) and protease inhibitor cocktail tablets (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). The homogenate was then placed on ice, transferred to fresh 2 ml microcentrifuge tubes and sonicated three times for 10-second bursts to further disrupt the tissue. Between each round of sonication, samples incubated on ice for 20 s. The sonicated samples were then centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 30 min at 4°C and the supernatant transferred to fresh tubes. Storage of extracted protein solution was at -80°C for later use.

The concentration of protein in lysates was measured by Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, USA), using a colorimetric 96-well microtiter plate assay with slight modifications. An 8-point standard curve was made using concentrated bovine serum albumin (BSA) standards ranging from 0-10 mg/ml (0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10). In duplicate, 3 µl of each BSA standard was added to the first two columns of a 96-well plate. Duplicates of 3 µl of each of the extracted protein samples were added to the remaining wells. A mixture of BCA Reagent A and Reagent B was created (50:1, Reagent A: B) to make the working reagent. Each well received 200 µl of working reagent. The plate was then covered and placed on a shaker for 30 s, and then incubated at 37 °C for 30 min. Once the plate was cooled, absorbance readings were taken at 562 nm using a BioTek uQuant spectrophotometer for microplates (Biotek Instruments; Winooski, VT, USA) and KC Junior software version 1.31.2 (Biotek Instruments; Winooski, VT, USA). Protein concentrations were calculated in Microsoft Excel.

75 μ g of each protein sample was suspended in NuPAGE 4X LDS sample buffer (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) containing 10% v/v β mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ontario) and boiled at 95°C for 10 min. The boiled protein was then resolved by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) at 100V for 2 h using a 12% gel. The protein on the gel was then transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (Bio-Rad Canada, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) using an 8-minute-high molecular weight protocol on the Trans-Blot Turbo Transfer System (Bio-Rad Canada, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) with Trans-Blot Turbo Midi Transfer Packs (Bio-Rad Canada, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada).

The PVDF membranes were rinsed for 10 min with 1 x Tris-buffered saline with Tween 20 (1 x TBS-T) on a shaker, and incubated for 1 h at room temperature in blocking solution consisting of 5% (w/v) skim milk powder in TBS-T. The membranes were then probed with FATP2 (SLc27A2) antibody (rabbit polyclonal; 1:500, Thermo Scientific Pierce, Rockford, Illinois, USA) overnight at 4°C in the dark, with gentle shaking. PVDF membranes were then washed in 1 x TBS-T (three changes, 10 min each), with gentle shaking, and incubated with biotinylated affinity purified goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:2000; Vector, Burlingame,

CA) for 1 h at room temperature. The protein loaded on the membrane was normalised by actin as described below.

Once the membranes were imaged, they were then washed in 1 x TBS-T (three changes, 10 min each), with gentle shaking. Membranes were then blocked in 5% (w/v) skim milk powder in TBS-T for 30 min at room temperature, before addition of primary actin antibody (goat polyclonal; 1:1000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) for 1 h at room temperature. This was followed by washing in 1 x TBS-T (three changes, 10 min each) as before and the addition of a secondary donkey anti-goat IgG-HRP antibody (1:2000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). The blots for FATP2 and actin proteins were then visualised using SuperSignal West Femto Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Rockford, IL, USA).

Quantitation of the chemiluminescent signals was performed using the VersaDoc 5000 MP molecular imaging system with Quantity One software version 4.6.7 (Bio-Rad Canada, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) by densitometry. To account for differences in exposure time between membranes, a corrected intensity value for each band was used. This was obtained by taking the sum of the intensities of all bands on the blot. The intensity of each band was then divided by the obtained sum total and expressed as a percentage. This was done for both FATP2 and actin bands. Using the corrected percentage values, the data were then expressed as a ratio of FATP2 to actin relative optical density.

4.2.3 Assay for inflammatory marker Interleukin-6

Studies have shown that exposure to HF diets during gestation increases inflammation. Fetal liver interleukin-6 (IL-6) concentration was determined using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). The liver lysate used for this analysis was isolated and quantified as described in Section 4.2.2. The lysate was assayed in duplicate for IL-6 levels using the eBioscience mouse IL-6 Ready-SET-Go kit (eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA).

Each well of the 96-well ELISA plate provided in the kit was coated with 100 μ l of Capture Antibody, and the plate sealed and left to incubate overnight at 4 °C. The wells were then aspirated and washed three times with 300 μ l of Wash Buffer (1xPBS containing 0.05% Tween-20). The Assay Diluent provided in the kit was diluted 1:4 in deionised water and then 200 μ l was added to each well and left at room temperature for 1 h to block the wells. Wells were then washed once with Wash Buffer. An 8-point standard curve was then made from 2-fold serial dilutions of the IL-6 standards provided in the kit. 100 μ l of each standard on the curve was added to the first two columns of the 96 well-plate. 100 μ l of the sample containing 800 μ g of total protein was added to the remaining wells in duplicate. The plate was then sealed and incubated at room temperature for 2 h.

The standards and samples were then aspirated and the plate washed with Wash Buffer (300 μ l, five times). 100 μ l of Detection Antibody from the kit, diluted 1:250 in Assay Diluent, was then added to the plate and incubated for 1 h at room

temperature followed by aspiration and plate wash with Wash buffer (300 μ l, five times). Following this, 100 μ l of Avidin-HRP, also diluted 1:250 in Assay Diluent, was added and the plate sealed and incubated for 30 min at room temperature followed by a further wash as before (300 μ l wash buffer, 5 times). The wells were then soaked in Wash Buffer to further wash the wells (5 times, 2 min each), before 100 μ l of Substrate Solution was added to each well. The plate was left to incubate for 15 min. Thereafter, 50 μ l of 2N sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄) was added to each well and used as a Stop Solution for the reaction. The plate was then read at a wavelength of 450 nm using a BioTek uQuant Microplate Spectrophotometer (Biotek instruments; Winooski, VT, USA) and KC Junior software version 1.31.2 (Biotek Instruments; Winooski, VT, USA). The obtained wavelength values were then used to determine the concentration of IL-6 in the samples in a Microsoft Excel datasheet.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Phenotypic assessment of animals

4.3.1.1 Fetal measures

At E18.5, fetal and placental weights were not affected by maternal HF-feeding. In addition, examination of FPR also did not show diet differences close to term for either group (Figure 4.2). There were no sex effects on either body (P=0.603; Figure 4.2A) or placental weight (P=0.607; Figure 4.2B). This was also the case in fetal blood glucose (P=0.279; Figure 4.2C) and FPR (P=0.833; Figure 4.2D) analyses.





Comparison of intrauterine growth and blood glucose concentrations between CON (n=12) and HF (n=14) fetuses. Male and female fetal analyses were combined due to the small sample size and subsequent analyses showing no sex differences. Fetal body weight (A) and placental weight (B) with Fetus: Placenta weight ratio (C) and (D) Fetal blood glucose concentration at E18.5 where significance is at $P \le 0.05$. Data are represented as a dot plot displaying mean (represented by black central dot) and standard deviation (black vertical lines radiating from the centre).

4.3.1.2 Dam body weights

Exposure to a 60% HF diet did not significantly affect final E18.5 body weight in dams, compared to the CON group (Figure 4.3A). While mean dam body weight values tended to be higher in the HF groups, they were not significantly different from CON and remained on par for the duration of the pregnancy (Figure 4.3A). E9.5 was the first day that weight gain for CON was significant from baseline, whereas E13.5 was the first day that body weight became significant for HF. Similarly, daily weight gain was not significantly different between the two groups (Figure 4.3B).

No difference in the groups was noted in the amount of energy consumed per day (Figure 4.3C). However, significant variation was observed with some HF dams demonstrating hyperphagia whilst other animals consumed similar amounts of energy to the CON group. Likewise, energy consumed per body weight was not different between the groups (Figure 4.3D).





(A) Body weight gain. (B) Daily body weight gains relative to E0.5. (C) Daily kilocalories consumed. (D) Daily kilocalories consumed per gram of animal weight. Results are presented as means ± standard deviation. DWG became significant between dietary groups from E8.5. Red =CON (n=7). Green = HF (n=8). Significance is at $P \le 0.05$.

4.3.2 Telomere Length characterisation

As in the studies in the preceding chapter, maternal and fetal TLs were analysed between the CON and HF-fed groups by qPCR method as described in Chapter 3.

4.3.2.1 Maternal telomere assessment

It was hypothesised that a HF diet would adversely affect telomeres in dams due to excessive nutrient intake. In order to assess the impact of HF diet during gestation on maternal telomeres, TLs in maternal whole blood were examined (Figure 4.4). Maternal TL length was not affected in any of the assayed tissues, blood (P=0.2118, Figure 4.4A), bone marrow (P=0.2094, Figure 4.4B) and gut (P=0.9424, Figure 4.4C).



Figure 4.4 Maternal telomere lengths.

Maternal TL (absolute telomere lengths (kb/diploid genome) was not different in blood (A), bone marrow (B) and gut (C) at E18.5 CON (n=7), HF (n=8). NS = not significant where significance is at $P \le 0.05$

4.3.2.2 Fetal telomere assessment

It was hypothesised HF feeding would shorten fetal telomeres which may contribute the development of disease in later life. Indeed, TL was shorter in livers of HF dam offspring (P=0.01, Figure 4.5A) and, surprisingly longer in the gut (P=0.024, Figure 4.5B). There was no statistically significant difference in TL in fetal kidneys (P=0.15, Figure 4.5C) or blood (P=0.802, Figure 4.5D). Furthermore, no differences were observed in the placenta (P=0.103, Figure 4.5E) or umbilical cord TLs (P=0.09, Figure 4.5F).





TL (absolute telomere lengths (kb/diploid genome).in liver (A), kidney (B), gut (C), blood (D), placenta (E), cord (F) at E18.5. * P \leq 0.05. NS = not significant CON (n=14), HF (n=14). Male and female fetal analyses were combined due to the small sample size and subsequent analyses showing no sex differences.

Maternal gut TL correlated with maternal blood TL and maternal body weight

A correlation was conducted to assess whether there was any relationship between the maternal TLs and maternal or fetal TLs or growth parameters. A positive correlation was observed between maternal body weight at E18.5 and maternal gut telomere length (Figure 4.6A). Maternal gut TL also strongly correlated with maternal blood TL (Figure 4.6B). In both cases the correlation was driven by HF telomere length values.



Figure 4.6 Correlations of maternal telomere lengths and maternal phenotype (A) Pearson correlation of maternal gut TL and maternal body weight at E18.5. *R* represents correlation coefficient. (B) Pearson correlation of maternal gut TL and maternal body weight at E18.5.*R* represents Spearman's Rho. P-value indicates significance where (P≤0.05). CON n=7, HF n=8 for dams

4.3.3 Effects of a maternal HF diet on telomere and senescence-related genes in the fetus

Once again, due to the fact that a TRAP assay could not be optimised, mRNA levels of the telomerase-associated gene *mTert* were analysed (Figure 4.7A). Offspring of dams that were fed the HF diet demonstrated greater hepatic expression of *mTert* (P=0.003). To assess whether there was a relationship between mTert and its known *mTert* transcription factor c-myc, gene expression of both was compared. The difference in expression of *c-myc* was not significant in the liver between dietary groups (P=0.542; Figure 4.7B). Given the elevated *mTert*, proliferation was also assessed with Ki67 staining. Ki67 maintained a high percentage of actively proliferating cells (Figure 4.7 C, D), and there was no difference in overall percentage of stained cells between CON and HF groups (Figure 4.7 E).

Senescence gene p21 has been demonstrated to suppress TERT expression and repress the mRNA levels of numerous cell cycle and mitosis genes, thereby inhibiting cell cycle progression (633,634). When present, p21 can establish or accelerate the onset of cellular senescence (633). Given the elevated *mTert* mRNA levels, and the maintenance of cellular proliferation despite shorter telomeres, it was predicted that p21, which is transcriptionally regulated (635), would have lower mRNA levels in the HF group. Interestingly, *p21* gene expression increased (P=0.043; Figure 4.7F).



Figure 4.7 Gene expression of (A) *mTert*, (B) *c-myc*, (C), (D) Ki67 immunohistochemistry staining (E) Ki67 analysis and (F) *p*21 gene expression.

* $P \le 0.05$, ** P < 0.01, NS = not significant. CON (n=14), HF (n=16). Data are represented as an error plot with mean and standard deviation. Male and female fetal analyses were combined.

4.3.4 Analysis of fetal hepatic oxidative stress and inflammation

It was hypothesised that the high-fat diet would increase oxidative stress and inflammation in fetal livers, accompanying shorter telomeres observed. As in Chapter 3, DHE staining was used to investigate whether there was an increase in oxidative damage to DNA which may be a contributing factor to cellular physiological stress. However, as described in Chapter 3, inaccuracies in this method were apparent in its use in fixed cells. Despite providing significant evidence of nuclear oxidation by superoxide, all DHE staining results have not been included in these analyses and have been removed. In examining macromolecular oxidation, HF feeding did not increase lipid hydroperoxide formation (P=0.083, Figure 4.8A), but it did trend towards a reduction in protein carbonyls (-34%) (P=0.051; Figure 4.8B). In order to assess inflammation, IL-6 protein ELISA was carried out. According to these findings, there is no statistically significant intracellular ROS damage to lipids in the fetal liver from maternal high-fat feeding during gestation. And there is also no increase in inflammation, as measured by IL-6, in this instance (P=0.508; Figure 4.8C).







Figure 4.8 ROS and inflammation detection in mouse fetal hepatocytes. (A) Lipid hydroperoxide detection, (B) Protein Carbonylation. (C) IL-6 ELISA. * $P \le 0.05$, NS = not significant. CON (n = 12), HF (n= 14) with males and females combined.

4.3.5 Analysis of fetal hepatic mitochondria

Given the shortening of telomeres, it was hypothesised that the HF group would decrease mitochondrial DNA copy number in cells as a precursor to metabolic dysfunction. Surprisingly, the mt-CytB qPCR assay revealed a significant increase in mitochondrial DNA content in livers of HF-fed offspring (P=0.0282; Figure 4.9A), as did the mtND1 qPCR assay, which also trended towards significance (P=0.0526; Figure 4.9B). This inferred mitochondrial biogenesis. To confirm this, the expression of the mtDNA transcription genes *Pgc-1a*, *Tfam* and *Nrf1*/2 was investigated. The increase in mtDNA was accompanied by increases in *Pgc-1a* (P=0.01; Figure 4.9C) and *Tfam* mRNA (P=0.024; Figure 4.9D). *Nrf1* (P=0.251; Figure 4.9E) and *Nrf2* (P=0.944; Figure 4.9E) showed no change in gene expression.

Studies have reported that HF-fed mice have higher *Cpt1a* enzyme activity in their livers (636). As a result of increased *Cpt1a* activity, which is regulated by *Pgc-1a*, this adaptation to a high fat diet increases fatty acid oxidation (631). It was hypothesised that the increased mitochondrial DNA would coincide with an increase in *Cpt1a* mRNA suggesting an increase in the use of fatty acids, mitochondria's preferred fuel, in metabolism. Therefore, *Cpt1a* gene expression was assayed. The increased mtDNA copy number was indeed accompanied by increases in *Cpt1a* (P=0.009; Figure 4.9G) mRNA levels.

To further assess whether HF fetal livers might be adapting to fat exposure *in utero*, *Fatp2* mRNA and protein were assessed. It was hypothesised that an increase in FATP2 might be observed, suggesting increased uptake of fatty acids as a means of fetal adaptation to maternal HF diet during gestation. There was an increase in the *Fatp2* mRNA levels (P=0.031; Figure 4.9H). However, the difference in FATP2 levels between CON and HF mice was not replicated in the Western blot protein analysis (Figure 4.9I).



Figure 4.9 mtDNA content, biogenesis and lipid metabolism genes and protein.

Fetal mt-ND1(A) and mt-CytB (B), gene expression of mitochondrial biogenesis genes *Pgc-1* α (C) and *Tfam* (D), lipid metabolism genes *Nrf-1* (E), *Nrf-2* (F). (G) Maternal mtDNA content. FATP2 mRNA and protein (H), (I). * P ≤ 0.05, ** P< 0.01. CON (n = 12), HF (n= 14) with males and females combined.

4.3.6 Analysis of shelterin protein TIN2

The telomere protein TIN2 is critical to the shelterin complex's overall integrity. The presence of TIN2 in the nucleus has long been associated with improved telomere function (637,638). The loss of TIN2 from telomeres in mice results in the loss of TPP1 and POT1 subunits and the induction of telomere-adverse phenotypes such as fusions and activation of ATM kinase signalling cascades (639). It was hypothesised that shortening of telomeres in response to HF feeding may also result in a concurrent reduction of TIN2 in the nucleus. Hepatic cells were stained for TIN2 (Figure 4.10). TIN2 localisation in the HF cytoplasm and nuclei were comparable to the CON group (P=0.376; Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.10 Immunofluorescence images showing localisation of fetal liver stained for TIN2 in CON and HF. Blue = DAPI, Red = TIN2

DAPI



Figure 4.11. Quantification of nuclear/cytoplasmic ratio of TIN2 fluorescence intensity in CON and HF livers. CON n = 3, HF n= 3. NS = not significant.

4.4 DISCUSSION

In this study, HF feeding during pregnancy expedited offspring aging in a tissuespecific manner, with effects seen only in the liver. Furthermore, these findings suggest a mitochondrial adaptation in the fetal liver that promotes fatty acid metabolism. While the HF diet does not appear to be not functionally detrimental to the liver during this stage of development, it may program adverse phenotypic outcomes later in life.

The findings in this study do not directly point to oxidative stress as a significant mechanism through which HF diet might program metabolic disease in later life. Higher superoxide and lipid hydroperoxide concentrations in the HF group were anticipated, given the high-fat diet exposure *in utero*. Direct measurements of superoxide presence in nuclei, however, were not possible in this study. As a result, confirming superoxide/ROS production in relation to DNA damage becomes challenging. In light of the fact that the levels of lipid hydroperoxides and IL-6 were not increased in HF livers and that there was a tendency for a decrease in protein carbonylation, these data do not support the hypotheses and instead suggest the involvement of alternative mechanisms. Studies suggest that dysregulation of the hepatic immune response (640) and epigenetic modifications to the fetal genome (641,642) are likely mechanisms relating to the programming of metabolic disease. Future research may need to investigate how

these variables affect fetal telomeres and whether studies in older animals can shed more light on how the obesity phenotype develops.

During pregnancy, maternal body composition is linked to fetal growth restriction (643) as well as overgrowth (107). Rodent studies in offspring born to dams fed high fat and high fat-high carbohydrate diets like the one used in this study have also shown the former (644-647) and latter (648,649) outcomes. Since the fetuses in this study were neither macrosomic nor growth-restricted, the effect of the diet may have been minimal and not severe enough to result in significant negative outcomes related to DOHaD.

Despite the higher caloric content of the diet, it was interesting to observe that HF dams gained almost identical amounts of weight as the CON dams, and fetus body weights were not significantly higher in the HF group at E18.5. It is possible that the mice adjusted their intake and activity to compensate for the hypercaloric HF diet. One prominent alteration in rodents exposed to high-fat diets is change in feeding behaviour, as well as decreased activity. (650,651). Prior research has demonstrated that even a brief exposure to a high-fat diet can alter eating habits and increase visceral adipose tissue deposits, even in the absence of significant weight gain (652). It is unclear how much dams may have adjusted their intake since analysis of feeding periods was not considered in this study. A further limitation is the lack of measurements of ambulatory activity and total energy

expenditure between the CON and HF dams. Even though the HF diet had significantly more fat per unit of energy, it is possible that both groups' energy expenditure was comparable. It may be necessary to conduct additional studies on energy consumption and intake, in addition to macronutrient and micronutrient analyses of specific HF diet components, to determine why the weights of the fetus and the dams did not significantly increase.

This impact of high-fat feeding might also be due to concentration, timing, and length of exposure. In earlier studies, pregnant rats fed HF diets with concentrations of 20 and 30% had offspring with higher birthweights(653). In contrast to controls, the effect was lessened when given a diet higher in fat (40%), and the birthweights were normal (653). These findings indicate that HF feeding had a plateauing effect on body weight. A similar plateau effect might also be present in response to the 60% HF diet, which ultimately resulted in the absence of macrosomia or obesogenic effects at E18.5. However, a study of the effects of the same diet with lower fat concentrations would be required.

In contrast, Sferruzzi-Perri *et al.* (654) previously demonstrated a high fat-high carbohydrate effect on offspring growth *in utero*. When exposed to the obesogenic diet, fetal body weights were reduced at E15.5; however, by the time they reached term, their weights had returned to normal compared to controls (654). Their data raises the possibility in this study that the greatest effect of HF exposure *in utero*

may not be seen near term, but rather earlier in gestation. Future studies may need to accommodate analyses at various gestational timepoints and may also need to consider various fat intakes in order to pinpoint specific developmental windows when the HF diet has the greatest impact on growth.

While maternal weight gain is an acceptable indicator of the obesity phenotype, it is limited in that it does not take adiposity or total body composition into account. A secondary measure, such as the Lee obesity index (655), or a magnetic resonance scan to determine total body composition would have lent more precision to the measures (656). These alternative measures produce assessment criteria that are comparable to BMI (655,657) and visceral adipose tissue deposits in humans (658), associated with insulin resistance and metabolic disease. The absence of either of these measures limits the ability to accurately assess the whether the HF diet promoted adiposity and obesity in dams, and to confirm whether maternal body composition may have contributed to the fetal phenotype.

The HF-fed dams produced offspring with shorter hepatic telomeres and increased mtDNA content ratios. However, there was no direct evidence implicating increased oxidative stress levels or inflammation in telomere shortening. While these data may suggest that increased p21 gene expression is evidence of the activation of a senescence pathway, and thus premature aging of the liver organ as a result of HF diet exposure, this may only be a partial explanation.

It is very likely that a DNA damage response (DDR) activates p21 in response to telomere damage (659). However, proliferation, as estimated by Ki67 staining, remains uninterrupted in the HF groups. Higher gene expression of *mTert* contrasted with shorter telomeres and was not linked to the expression of regulator c-myc; this may indicate a role for *mTert* that is not directly related to telomere maintenance. As previously reported, *mTert* may play an important role in proliferation regulation (660,661), which may be the case here. Studies using overexpressed TERT have found that it has a positive effect on mitochondria, including maintaining mitochondrial integrity (662), as well as improvements in overall function and inhibition of ROS-induced autophagic (663,664) and apoptotic (575,576) cell death. This would require further investigation to elucidate the cell pathways which are inhibited and which aspect of mitochondrial respiratory chain might be affected. The proposed positive effects on hepatic cellular physiology in HF fetuses may not only apply to increased expression of *mTert*, but also p21.

Previous research indicates that silencing p21 in mice reduces rather than increases hepatocyte proliferation, implying that p21 is required for DNAdamaged cell proliferation (665). It was also discovered that the dual roles of p21 were determined by the intensity of p21 upregulation, which was determined by the degree of liver injury in mice (665). The increase in p21 mRNA levels observed in this study could be due to liver cells recovering from a previous insult, such as hypoxia. More research into fetal hepatocyte DNA damage earlier in pregnancy, however, may be required. This could explain why the TL was shorter, as it could reveal the gestational age at which the most significant DNA damage occurred, allowing for potential therapeutic intervention. Furthermore, incorporating data from a TRAP assay could help to better understand telomerase activity in the tissue.

The fact that the HF group's fetal gut TL was longer is also noteworthy. This could be due to changes in the cellular composition of gut epithelium as a result of the HF diet. Functional maturation of the gastrointestinal tract occurs both before and after birth in rodents, and is influenced by maternal nutrition (666,667). The number of intestinal stem cells and other progenitor cells increases in mice fed an HF diet (668). This was also confirmed in piglets, where a previous study of gestational overnutrition resulted in taller villi and heavier intestines in the small intestine (669). The strong positive correlation between increasing dam gut TL and dam weight at E18.5 could be explained by this change in gut physiology. In the gut, increasing stemness could be a significant contributing factor. According to a study by Maysam and colleagues, the positive correlation between gut TL and blood TL could be explained by increased amounts of leukocytes in mouse blood as a result of extended HF feeding (670). However,
more studies are required to quantify cell type populations in dams, as well as to determine structural changes to villi and increased stem cells, which could account for telomere lengthening in fetuses despite similar body weights.

The expression of several mitochondrial biogenesis genes, including Pgc-1 α , Nrf1, Nrf2, and Tfam, was studied. Notably, Pgc-1 α . and Tfam mRNA levels increased, which regulate mtDNA content. However, there was no change in Nrf1 or Nrf2 gene expression. Nrf1 regulation may occur at the posttranscriptional level. While not detected at the mRNA level, oxidative stress has been shown to increase Nrf2 protein levels, indicating that it is not transcriptionally regulated in response to elevated ROS (671), and thus protein analyses would be required to confirm this.

Previous research has shown that an increase in mtDNA copy number can be a feedback response to excessive ROS (672,673). This feedback response may be engaged as a compensatory mechanism to replace dysfunctional mitochondria (674). Elevated ROS may have been present earlier in gestation to trigger these responses. However, this was not evident from these data at the timepoint of E18.5. It is also possible that the increased transcriptional regulation of Tfam by the HF diet may be due to factors independent of Nrf1/2. Other regulators of Tfam include p53 (675) as well as microRNAs which regulate Tfam levels by

interfering with mRNA translation (676,677). Further studies would be required to assess the effect of HF on p53 protein levels and microRNAs.

Studies have also shown that extended periods of HF feeding in rodents elevates Pgc-1 α and TFAM, which increases mtDNA content (490), as in this study. An increase in Pgc-1 α expression is suggested to be an adaptation to enhance tissue oxidative capacity (490), which may also apply in this instance. The increase in mtDNA, and thus mitochondrial content, may be an adaptation of the tissue to a new respiratory substrate following exposure to large amounts of free FAs (492). Indeed, FAs produce significantly higher levels of hepatic oxidative stress when used as substrates (678). So, it may only be a matter of time before levels of ROS are increased and oxidative stress overwhelms hepatic cells.

Intensification of mitochondrial biogenesis may also be a preventive adaptation against future mitochondrial function impairment caused by oxidative stress and toxic lipid accumulation (493). It has also been reported that significant mtDNA increases can occur during aging and is accompanied by significant alterations in the form of deletions of the mitochondrial genome (674,679). Consequently, while these mtDNA adaptations may be advantageous to offspring at this early age, they may be a preliminary step for an aging-related disease phenotype. Although earlier studies have demonstrated increased mtDNA in older animals in response to a HF diet (492), to date no studies have shown this effect in fetal livers following HF diet exposure during pregnancy. There is a greater tendency to report the postnatal mitochondrial consequences ensuing from HF nutritional excess. For instance, in offspring of female rats fed a HF diet, there was a decline in hepatic mtDNA in young adulthood (132). This decrease was in parallel with impaired glucose detection by pancreatic β -cells, which in turn compromised the release of insulin (132). Other studies concur with this, showing a reduction in a mitochondrial electron transport chain activity and elevated oxidative stress post-weaning, in 15-week-old offspring of HF-fed dams (680). In addition, 8week-old obesogenic diet-fed mice have reduced mtDNA content, Tfam expression, as well as lower ATP release (681).

These later life effects of HF diet on mtDNA run contrary to these observations *in utero*. This discrepancy may indicate that the observed mtDNA increase in this study is temporary. As is evident in the highlighted animal work (132,680) as well as in clinical studies (682,683) the loss of mtDNA and mitochondrial dysfunction is well associated with insulin resistance and impaired lipid metabolism. When mitochondria are exposed to excess fatty acids, they can be markedly polarised, resulting in incomplete metabolism and the generation of large amounts of ROS which in turn results in cellular metabolic dysfunction (684). The outcome of increased mitochondrial biogenesis *in utero* may in fact suggest an adaptation

designed to protect the cell against the effects of FA accumulation. This finding is perhaps further justified upon examining the likely role of Cpt1a.

Greater gene expression of Cpt1a in this study concurs with previous work showing higher Cpt1a enzyme activity in livers of HF-fed mice (636). Increased Cpt1a which is regulated by PGC-1 α , enhances β -oxidation of fatty acids (631). The concurrent increase in fetal PGC-1 α mRNA may suggest a preference for fatty acid metabolism over glucose (631). The purpose of this increase in Cpt1ainduced β -oxidation may be to prevent adipocyte hypertrophy as well as hepatic lipid accumulation, in addition to restricting storage in adipocytes (685). As such, Cpt1a has been shown to lower the concentration of hepatic TG and reduce inflammation as well as oxidative stress (636). This protective role may explain why protein levels of the inflammatory marker IL-6 were not significantly different in the HF group.

The concurrent increase in Cpt1a and FATP2 mRNA levels in this study is also evidence of mitochondrial adaptation to high levels of FFAs. Increased FATP2 mRNA expression is associated with liver steatosis as well as oxidative stress (686). Evidence from mouse studies has shown that hepatic FATP2 is transcriptionally regulated by insulin signalling via insulin receptor substrate (IRS), and if this signalling is perturbed, lipid accumulation may occur (687). This accumulation of fat in the liver is characteristic of the disease non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), which is also noted for greater expression of FATP2 in disease sufferers (688). Therefore, elevated FATP2 mRNA in the HF fetuses suggests an increase in FFA uptake. Notably, maternal high fat feeding during gestation has been shown to prime future NAFLD steatosis in mice (680). These data suggest this might be the case. The discordance observed between mRNA and protein may be due to FATP2 not being fully stabilised at the protein level, despite increased transcription in response to stimuli.

TIN2 nuclear localisation of HF was comparable to CON. The observed telomere shortening in HF was initially thought to be attributed to decreased nuclear TIN2, which stabilises the shelterin complex (373,374). However, direct staining for TIN2-telomere immunostaining would need to be carried out to reveal whether the nuclear localisation observed in these data translates to localisation at telomeres and would be a key component of future analyses. Notably, the degree of localisation to the nucleus does not predict activity. TIN2 in the nucleus may have significant activity even in limited concentration. Chen at al. (528) proposed that TIN2 functions as an alternative regulator of glucose metabolism. Knockdown of TIN2, and hence diminished import into mitochondria, improved ATP synthesis and energy metabolism, but repressed glycolysis (528). However, it is not clear what degree of cytoplasmic TIN2 was localised to mitochondria, whether there were alterations to mitochondrial function. The lack of difference in TIN2 immunofluorescence in the HF group despite shorter telomeres suggests that other mechanisms, such as disruption of binding of other shelterin proteins

or elevated ROS, may be involved in the telomere outcomes. This, however, would necessitate further investigation. The increased expression of genes involved in fatty acid uptake and metabolism may provide insight into how mitochondrial function is affected. If there is a link between TIN2 and mitochondrial metabolic adaptation for high-energy ATP production from fatty acid oxidation, more research is needed to determine TIN2's role. In addition, studies would need to look into whether TIN2 localisation contributes to mitochondrial adaptations to high fat feeding or whether mitochondrial adaptations contribute to changes in TIN2 expression. **These data bring to light** the fact that hepatic TIN2 may be diet-sensitive *in utero* and may play a significant role in programming of metabolic disease, depending on the nature of the maternal diet. This is the first time that this role for TIN2 has been proposed in a model of nutritional excess.

While the main objective of the research was to look at the effects of HF feeding on fetal telomeres and mitochondria, this study might have benefited from extending the timeline to early adulthood. This would aid in determining whether the telomere effects and mitochondrial metabolism adaptations persist and contribute to a metabolic syndrome-like phenotype after HF exposure.

There are similarities in the outcomes of prenatal undernutrition and overnutrition in terms of changes in TL and *mTert*. The greatest differences, however, are in mitochondrial adaptations to the prenatal diet and their potential role in disease programming, which provide alternative therapeutic targets

unique to each diet. According to the findings of this study, there may be protective mechanisms in place in early life to protect against nutritional excess. More research is needed to determine how and when these mechanisms are overwhelmed, resulting in future disease development. These findings suggest that excess prenatal fat exposure may program future metabolic dysfunction.

CHAPTER 5

EFFECTS OF EARLY LIFE EXPOSURES ON TELOMERE LENGTH IN LATE ADOLESCENCE

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Altered intrauterine and postnatal growth is associated with the later development of cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, notably obesity (29). Such impairment of metabolic function is thought to be programmed through adverse periconceptional and early life environments, such as physiological stress or by way of fetal/infant malnutrition (51). In fetuses, programming of metabolic disease may occur as a result of an inadequate maternal diet or overnutrition during gestation (13,689). In infancy, breastfeeding is believed to have beneficial programming effects due to the lower risk of overweight and obesity observed in later life in breastfed individuals (144,690). The presence of breast milk may interact with genetic and other environmental factors to modify development (294).

Whilst the global incidence of obesity in adulthood has almost doubled in the last three decades (95), more concerning is the fact that overweight/obesity in pregnant women and in children is on the rise (96). Estimates suggest up to 40 million children worldwide are overweight/obese (691). Furthermore, childhood obesity, principally during adolescence, is a strong predictor of overweight and obesity in adulthood (692-694). The increasing prevalence of obesity in early life sets children on adverse health trajectories towards comorbidities such as diabetes, hypertension, and hyperlipidaemia (695,696) - the clustering of conditions that comprise the metabolic syndrome (2).

Despite the relatively infrequent occurrences of metabolic syndrome and related pathologies in children or adolescents, some studies have linked childhood obesity to the early onset of diabetic, hypertensive, and hypercholesterolemia phenotypes (697-699). These conditions can lead to long-term morbidity. It is, therefore, critical that any interventions to lower the incidence of obesity and other chronic disorders are targeted to early life. Such interventions would need to be based on a full understanding the mechanisms behind the development of the metabolic syndrome, which have yet to be fully clarified.

As discussed in previous chapters, telomeres are DNA-repeat complexes located on the ends of chromosomes that progressively shorten as a result of repeated cell division (361,700). When telomeres shorten below a critical length, cells enter senescence and programmed cell death mechanisms are initiated (380). Telomere length (TL) is an inherited genetic trait; genotype may account for up to 70% of the variance (541-543). Telomeres naturally shorten with increasing age (361). TL serves as a marker for the replicative history and capacity of cells, and is therefore indicative of cellular biological age (378,701). The rate of telomere shortening accelerates with exposure to oxidative stress and inflammation (702), both of which are also present in obesity (703,704). Furthermore, shorter leukocyte TL has previously been associated with childhood and adolescent obesity (504,505). A link has also been shown between shorter telomeres and exposure to high levels of psychological and social stress (499,705-707) suggesting a relationship between stress-related alterations to telomere structure and the development of age-related disease. Therefore, in addition to aging, TL may be a surrogate for altered metabolism and cellular dysfunction. Indeed, evidence of the past decade has implicated telomeres directly in altered cellular metabolism (523,708). Studies have clearly established a link between suboptimal antenatal/early postnatal environments and the development of metabolic syndrome (39). Moreover, in both adults and children, shorter telomeres have been associated with risk factors for metabolic disease (501,504,505).

It is likely that factors *in utero* and in early postnatal life may influence oxidative stress pathways and hence, telomere length, impacting normal cellular metabolism. Thus, it is hypothesised that early life environments and risk factors associated with the development of metabolic disease are associated with TL and measures of adiposity in late adolescence. These associations may be apparent before the onset of metabolic disease, suggesting a mechanism by which stressors in early life may accelerate cellular aging/dysfunction and the onset of adverse metabolic phenotypes in later life.

5.2 METHODS

5.2.1 Participants

The Western Australia Birth Cohort (Raine) study, as described in Section 2.2 was used as the data source for this research. The children from this on-going longitudinal study in Perth, Western Australia, have been comprehensively

followed up and phenotyped at the ages of 1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 10, 14, 17, 20, 22 and 26 years. (540,709-711).

During the 17th year of cohort review, anthropometric, cardiovascular, and biochemical assessments were conducted. The Raine Executive Committee approved access to participant DNA. The University of Western Australia Human Research Ethics Committee approved ethics and experiments. This study was conducted with institutional ethics approval from King Edward Memorial Hospital, Perth, Western Australia, with written informed consent from all the mothers.

5.2.2 Sample collection

Adolescent venous blood samples were collected with the assistance of phlebotomists and nursing staff at King Edward Memorial Hospital (KEMH), in Subiaco, Perth, Western Australia. Blood was collected into 4 ml Vacutainer® Plus plastic K2-EDTA tubes (BD biosciences) either on site at KEMH or at participants' homes, and then stored at -80°C until later analysis.

5.2.3 Measures

Maternal medical history variables were included in the measures of analyses: maternal pre-pregnancy BMI calculated from measured body weight in kilograms (kg) and height in metres squared (m²), maternal age at birth, maternal pregnancy hypertension (as yes/no) and history of maternal diabetes (as yes/no). Childhood nutritional information was established from records of duration of breastfeeding. The measures examined in this study incorporated two enquiries into the participants' records: firstly, whether the child was breastfeed and when breastfeeding was stopped, and secondly, when other foods or milk types were introduced into the child's diet. This information gave us two measures, duration of breastfeeding and period of exclusive breastfeeding, recorded in months.

Family socioeconomic status (SES) at birth was determined using the Index of Relative Socioeconomic Advantage and Disadvantage (IRSAD) as determined by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. The index assigns Socioeconomic Indexes for Areas scores, which are used to identify and rank areas in terms of relative socioeconomic advantage and disadvantage (712). Higher scores are indicative of greater socioeconomic advantage and a relative lack of disadvantage overall (712). In addition, parents completed a Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS-21) questionnaire, consisting of 3 scales each containing 7 self-report to give a total of 21 assessments for depression, anxiety and stress symptoms (713). This generated a score to determine familial psychological stress at the 17-year followup.

For adolescents, BMI at 17 was calculated similarly to maternal BMI, and waistto-hip ratio was generated from participant waist and hip measurements in cm.

5.2.4 DNA isolation

Genomic DNA was extracted manually from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in whole blood frozen at -80 °C using the Gentra Puregene Blood kit (Qiagen, Chadstone, VIC, Australia) or with the AutoPure LS robotic workstation (Qiagen, Chadstone, VIC, Australia). Both manual and robotic DNA extraction protocols utilise the same Gentra Puregene Blood kit reagents (Qiagen, Chadstone, VIC, Australia) and protocol for DNA isolation. Samples were thawed and warmed to 37 °C in a water bath. The tube of thawed blood was inverted gently 5-6 times to mix. Blood was transferred into a 50 ml tube containing 12 ml of RBC lysis buffer to lyse the erythrocytes. The tube was then inverted gently 3 times to mix. This blood: buffer mix was then incubated for 5 min at room temperature to lyse the erythrocytes. The mixture was then inverted 3 more times and placed in a centrifuge. Samples were centrifuged 2000 x g for 2 min to pellet the white blood cells. The red cell supernatant was poured off and the tube with the remaining cell pellet inverted onto absorbent paper for 10 s to drain. Less than 200 μ l of residual liquid was left in the tube. The tube was vortexed vigorously with the remaining liquid for 10 s.

1.87 ml of Protein Precipitation Solution from the Puregene Blood kit was added to the centre of the sample followed by another 4 ml of Cell Lysis Solution. Samples were then vortexed vigorously for 20 s to completely lyse the white blood cells and to precipitate any proteins. Samples were centrifuged at 2000 x g for 6 min. Precipitated proteins were pelleted and the resulting supernatant contained the DNA was used for subsequent steps.

The supernatant was poured into a new 50 ml tube containing 4 ml of 100% isopropanol. The tube was capped and inverted 50 times to precipitate the DNA, visible as a large white pellet. The tube was centrifuged to at 2000 x g for 3 min

and the supernatant was decanted. The tube was left inverted and then left to drain for 1 minute on clean absorbent paper.

4 ml of 70% ethanol was added to the tube containing the pellet and centrifuged at 2000 x g for 1 min to pellet the DNA. The ethanol was decanted and the tube left to drain for 15 min on absorbent paper. 300 μ L of DNA hydration solution was then added to the tube to rehydrate the DNA pellet. The tube containing the DNA was initially transferred to an incubator to rehydrate at 65 °C for 1 h and then placed at room temperature overnight on a rotating mixer.

The resultant DNA from each sample was assessed for quantity using a BioTek Epoch Microplate Spectrophotometer (Biotek, Winooski, VT). DNA quality was determined from the 260/280 and 260/230 nm ratios calculated by the spectrophotometer. Only 260/280 nm and 260/230 nm ratios of between 1.8-1.95 were used for analysis (554). Moreover, DNA integrity was checked by loading on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel stained with GelRed (Biotium, Hayward, CA 94545) (Figure 5.1). Samples were run with the HyperLadder[™] 100bp molecular weight marker at 80 volts for 1 h, and imaged using the ImageQuant 350 imager (GE Healthcare). Intact genomic DNA was indicated by the presence of a single high molecular weight (MW) band (Figure 5.1). DNA that appeared as a smear was not used for analysis, and the sample was re-extracted.



Figure 5.1. Representative image of isolated DNA on a 1% agarose gel. Single bands indicate intact genomic DNA. Lane M: HyperLadder 100bp marker. Lanes 1-11: High MW DNA bands

5.2.5 Telomere length measurements

PCR primers used for this study are shown in Table 5.1. Telomere (Tel) primer sequences were previously published (562). TATA-box binding protein (TBP) was selected as the reference gene after reaction efficiencies for suitable reference genes were evaluated. TBP primers were designed using NCBI Primer Design and checked by *in silico* PCR (http://genome.ucsc.edu/cgibin/hgPcr?command=start).

Table 5.1 Primers used for telomere length analysis.

Gene	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Source/ Accession number	Amplicon size (kb)
Tel	F 5'-CGGTTTG(TTTGGG)5TT-3'	Cawthon (2002)	~76
	R 5'-GGCTTGCC(TTACCC) ₅ T-3		
TBP	F 5'-CCACAGCTCTTCCACTCACA-3'	NM_003194	138
	R 5'-CTGCGGTACAATCCCAGAAC-3'		

5.2.4.1 qPCR to determine TL measurements in adolescents

All qPCR reactions for adolescent samples were performed at KEMH in Perth, Western Australia. A total of 1385 adolescent samples were analysed. All DNA was normalised to 15 ng/µl concentration using the Qiagility automated liquidhandling system (Qiagen, Chadstone, VIC, Australia). PCR mastermix composition was identical for Tel and TBP. All PCR primers were obtained from Geneworks (Adelaide, Australia). qPCR was performed in a Rotorgene 3000 cycler (Qiagen, Australia) in a 10 µl reaction volume. Each 10 µl PCR reaction contained 2 µl of DNA template. 1 µl of 10x ImmoBuffer, 0.05 µl IMMOLASETM DNA Polymerase, 2 mM MgCl2, 0.2 µl of 10 mM dNTP mix, 0.3 µM of each primer, 0.1 µl of 20x EvaGreen dye and nuclease-free water. All reagents were obtained from Bioline (Alexandria, NSW, Australia), with the exception of EvaGreen dye which was purchased from Biotium (Hayward, CA, USA). PCR cycling conditions were: initial denaturation at 95 °C for 10 min, followed by 28 cycles of at 95 °C for 15 s, at 56°C for 10 s and 72 °C for 5 s.

1:3 serial dilutions of pooled DNA from the Raine cohort were used to create a standard curve to determine the amplification efficiency of each PCR reaction. All reactions were carried out with samples in triplicate with a non-template control and a reference DNA sample. The reference DNA sample was a pooled sample of Raine genomic DNA, diluted in nuclease-free water. The same pooled DNA sample was used alongside unknown samples in every reaction plate, for each of the two (Tel and TBP) genes of interest. All Raine PCR samples were normalised to the reference DNA sample values.

5.2.4.2 Calculation of relative telomere length

Relative telomere length was calculated following qPCR as described by Cawthon (562). This procedure determines a ratio of telomere repeat copy number to a single copy gene (T/S ratio) in experimental samples as compared with a reference sample. In brief, T/S ratios (or Δ Cq) for each sample were calculated by subtracting the mean of the triplicates for TBP quantification cycle (Cq) number from the mean of the triplicates for Tel Cq for each unknown sample. The same calculations were performed to determine Δ Cq of the reference DNA sample:

 ΔCq (sample) = Cq (Tel, sample) – Cq (TBP, sample) ΔCq (reference DNA) = Cq (Tel, reference DNA) – Cq (TBP, reference DNA)

The relative T/S ratio ($\Delta\Delta$ Cq) was determined by subtracting the Δ Cq ratio of the reference DNA sample from Δ Cq of each unknown sample.

 $\Delta\Delta Cq = \Delta Cq$ (sample) - ΔCq (reference DNA)

Finally, the normalized relative T/S ratio was then calculated using $2^{-\Delta\Delta Cq}$.

5.2.6 Statistical Methods

Analyses were conducted on 1385 adolescents from singleton pregnancies, free of congenital anomalies and of European descent (Figure 5.2). TL data were logtransformed to improve distribution of normality. Analyses used backwards elimination in multiple regression models to correlate TL, age 17 body mass index (BMI) and age 17 waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) with prenatal and postnatal factors such as maternal pregnancy hypertension, maternal age at birth, maternal pre-pregnancy BMI, duration of breastfeeding, duration of exclusive breastfeeding, socioeconomic status and psychological stress as described above. Duration of breastfeeding was defined as the period during which any breastfeeding took place, and did not exclude infants that had solid foods or other types of milk as part of their diet (714). Alternatively, duration of exclusive breastfeeding was defined as the breastfeeding period from birth until other milk was introduced into the infant's diet (715).

TLs were divided into quantiles, splitting the data into 5 segments q10, q25, q50, q75, and q90. Mixed-effects quantile regression was then employed to determine longitudinal relationships between BMI from infancy to adolescence, for each TL quantile.

Other covariates that were considered in these analyses included maternal and paternal age in years and BMI at birth, pregnancy health conditions such as preeclampsia (yes/no), and birth measures such as birth weight in grams (g), birth length (cm), head circumference (cm), ponderal index and abdominal circumference (cm). Adolescent physiological measures at the 17-year follow-up such as serum glucose and insulin concentrations (mmol/L) used to generate homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA IR) values in mg/dL, blood triglycerides (mmol/L), total cholesterol (mmol/L), and smoking, blood pressure (mm Hg) and LDL:HDL ratio were also investigated. While included in the initial analyses, these variables were not significant in the modelling. Therefore, data presented herein represents the significant outcomes of multivariate analysis of the risk factors for metabolic syndrome and associated

telomere length. A p-value of less than or equal to 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was performed in statistical software system R (version 3.0.2).



Figure 5.2. Adolescent study population for telomere analysis - West Australian Pregnancy (Raine) Cohort

5.3 **RESULTS**

Cohort characteristics

Data are presented on 1335 cohort participants (Table 5.2). Table 5.2 is composed of parental, pregnancy and child early life characteristics, as well as traits at age 17. The median age of the participants was 17 years with interquartile range (IQR) 16.9-17.1. Paternal and maternal BMI was on average normal for the Australian population (716), with 36% of fathers and 18% of the mothers classified as overweight or obese. At birth, girls were smaller and lighter than boys (P<0.0001). There was no difference in the length of time male and female offspring were breastfed. At age 17 boys and girls had similar BMIs with no difference across WHO-classified groups, falling into healthy (18.5 to < 25), underweight (< 18.5), and overweight and obese categories (BMI \ge 25). Due to sample size limitations, the proportion of participants was largely skewed towards the healthy BMI range at 69%, followed by overweight and obese at 23%, and 9% underweight. As such WHR, a stronger indicator of poor metabolic status and health risk than BMI (717,718), was also largely within the healthy range for both sexes, based on healthy adult values (male WHR ≤ 0.95 , female ≤ 0.88)(719). Global cut offs for adolescent WHR have been difficult to define because the degree of the measure sensitivity and specificity are not only affected by both age but also ethnic group (720,721). Moreover, while WHR percentiles have been used to define obesity in children in different countries, the cut off values are not consistent (722-725). Boys had greater WHR (P<0.001), LDL:HDL cholesterol ratio (P=0.03) and systolic blood pressure (P=0.002) than girls. Adolescent girls

had greater amounts of abdominal subcutaneous fat (P<0.001), serum total cholesterol (P<0.001) and serum triglycerides (P=0.04) than males, and had higher levels of the cardio protective cholesterol HDL-C than boys (P<0.001). Sensitivity analysis was performed to investigate gender differences in TL; sample size constraints limited the analysis and joint analysis of male and female participant TL data was performed.

	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	P-value
	or median	or median	(Boys vs.
	(IQR)	(IQR)	girls)
	Boys	Girls	
Participant Age (y)	17 (16.9, 17.1)	17 (16.9, 17.2)	
n (%)	688 (51.5)	647 (48.5)	
PARENTAL & FAMILY			
Paternal age (y)	30.8 ± 6.7	30.8 ± 6.7	0.68
Maternal age (y)	28.5 ± 5.8	28.5 ± 5.8	0.92
Paternal BMI (kg/m²)	24.3 ± 3.3	24.5 ± 3.4	0.25
Maternal BMI (kg/m²)	22.3 ± 4.3	22.4 ± 4.4	0.93
Maternal pregnancy hypertension	190 (Y), 498	164 (Y), 483	
(Y/N)	(N)	(N)	
Parental history of diabetes (Y/N)	11 (Y), 95 (N)	6 (Y), 90 (N) 1072	0.93
ΙΚΟΑΟ	1077 (998, 1116)	1075 (1007 1111)	
BIRTH & NEONATAL	1110)	(1007,1111)	
Birth weight (g)	3386.2 ± 591.8	3276 .4 +	< 0.001
		574.4	
Birth length (cm)	49.4 ± 2.8	48.7 ± 2.6	< 0.001
Head circumference (cm)	34.9 ± 1.5	34.2 ± 1.5	< 0.001
Ponderal index (g/cm ³)	27.8 ± 2.9	28.2 ± 3.1	0.015
Abdominal circumference (cm)	31.0 ± 2.4	31.0 ± 2.3	0.88
Period of exclusive breastfeeding	4 (2, 7)	4 (1.5, 7)	0.68
(months)			
Duration of breastfeeding (months)	6 (2, 12)	6 (2, 11)	0.56
ADOLESCENCE			
Body Mass Index (BMI, kg/m ²) < 18.5	17.5 ± 0.7	17.6 ± 0.8	0.66
Body Mass Index (BMI, kg/m ²) 18.5 to	21.4 ± 1.7	21.7 ± 1.7	0.07
< 23 Body Mass Index (BMI kg/m²) > 25	297+40	298+43	0 94
Waist-to-hin ratio (WHR)	2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -	27.0 ± 4.0 0 79 + 0 1	<0.24 <0.001
Abdominal skinfold thickness (mm)	14 1 (9 A 22 7)	0.7 2 ± 0.1 23 8	<0.001
Abaominal Skinola unckness (mill)	1 1 .1 (<i>)</i> . 1 ,22.7)	(18.1,30.3)	~0.001
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	3.9 (3.5,443)	4.3 (3.8,4.8)	< 0.001
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	0.92 (0.7,1.3)	0.93 (0.7,1.2)	0.04
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.2 (1.0,1.4)	1.4 (1.2,1.6)	< 0.001
LDL:HDL ratio	1.9 (1.4,2.3)	1.7(1.4,2.3)	0.03
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	124.6 ± 60.2	113.1 ± 51.2	0.002
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	64.3 ± 64.4	63.2 ± 53.9	0.18
HOMA IR (mg/dL)	1.6 (1.0,2.3)	1.6 (1.1,2.3)	0.71
Relative telomere length	1.87 + 1.9	1.93 + 2.2	0.62

Table 5.2 Cohort parental, family, early life and adolescent characteristics

IRSAD[†] Calculated from year 16 follow-up. Index scores ranges from 844 to 1221. Higher scores reflect a relative socioeconomic advantage.

Adolescent TL is associated with early life factors and metabolic syndrome precursors

Multivariate modelling showed that telomere length at age 17 tended to be shorter in adolescents whose mothers had hypertension during pregnancy (P=0.053, Table 5.3) and was significantly shorter in adolescents with greater WHR (P=0.015). Consistent with the known association between aging and TL, as adolescent age increased, TL decreased (P=0.023). Importantly, adolescents, who as infants were breastfed for longer, had significantly longer TL at age 17 (P=0.004). While 12 months was deemed optimal univariate modelling showed that a minimum of 2 months exposure to breastfeeding was sufficient to begin to observe positive effects on TL (P=0.020).

Table 5.3 Multivariate modelling of correlations between telomere length and early life and adolescent characteristics

Variable	β	Std error	p-value
Maternal pregnancy hypertension (Y/N)	-0.115	0.059	0.053
Waist to hip ratio (WHR) at 17 years	-1.032	0.422	0.015
Participant age (years)	-0.251	0.110	0.023
Duration of breastfeeding (non-exclusive) (months)	0.011	0.003	0.004

Adolescent anthropometry is associated with maternal body composition, stress, and early life nutrition

Despite the relatively healthy body composition of this cohort of adolescents, BMI was greater in adolescents whose mothers had been hypertensive during pregnancy (P=0.001, Table 5.4). Interestingly, this was not the case for offspring born to mothers with familial history of diabetes, where a significant association with lower adolescent BMI was observed (P=0.023). IRSAD analyses showed that BMI was also greater in adolescents who came from more disadvantaged socioeconomic backgrounds (P=0.001), and adolescents whose parents reported higher current psychological stress on the Depression anxiety and stress scale (P=0.009). In contrast, higher HDL concentrations at age 17 were associated with lower adolescent BMI (P=8.60e-10). Importantly, early life nutrition modified adolescent BMI, where adolescents who were exclusively breastfed as infants had significantly lower BMI at age 17 (P=0.016), whilst duration of breastfeeding did not impact adolescent BMI. Analysis also showed that female sex was correlated with BMI values (P=9.19e-05) (See Table 5.4).

Variable	β	Std	P-value
		error	
Maternal pregnancy hypertension (Y/N)	1.122	0.340	0.001
Maternal history of diabetes (Y/N)	-0.174	0.076	0.023
IRSAD	-0.019	0.006	0.001
Depression anxiety stress score	0.022	0.008	0.009
Adolescent serum HDL-C	-3.410	0.549	8.60e-10
Exclusive breastfeeding duration (months)	-0.112	0.046	0.015
Duration of breastfeeding (non-	0.036	0.026	0.166
Sex (1=M, 0=F)	-1.271	0.323	9.19e-05

Table 5.4 BMI multivariate regression correlations with early life and adolescent characteristics.

Adolescents with higher WHR were born to mothers who had higher BMI during pregnancy (P=4.1e-07, Table 5.5) or to younger mothers (P=0.035, Table 5.5). In addition, higher WHR was observed in adolescents from disadvantaged socioeconomic backgrounds (P=0.015, Table 5.5), much like those with high BMI. The duration of breastfeeding was not associated with WHR. Independent of the previous models with TL analysis, a different model of linear regression was used to examine associations between WHR and early life and adolescent characteristics. The results of the initial data analysis by correlation revealed several covariates correlated with WHR. The covariates with the strongest correlation were then added to the linear regression model. In this model higher WHR trended with shorter telomeres (P=0.076, Table 5.5). Unlike BMI, analysis also showed that male sex was correlated with increased WHR (P<2e-16, Table 5.5).

Variable	β	Std error	P-value
Maternal pre-pregnancy BMI (kg/m ²)	2.913e-03	5.694e-04	4.1e-07
Maternal age at birth (years)	-9.582e-04	4.535e-04	0.035
IRSAD	-6.645e-05	2.731e-05	0.015
Duration of breastfeeding (month)	6.429e-04	3.643e-04	0.078
Relative Telomere Length	-5.561e-03	3.123e-03	0.076
Sex (1=M, 0=F)	4.606e-02	4.649e-03	<2e-16

Table 5.5 Waist to hip ratio correlations with early life and adolescent factors

TL associations with BMI change from infancy to adolescence

Previously in this cohort, our research group has demonstrated that complex gene-early life environment interactions influence childhood obesity risk by impacting BMI growth trajectories from infancy to adolescence (294). However, the mechanisms underlying these interactions are unknown. Given the link between TL and childhood obesity (504,505) and the findings in the present study, it is therefore hypothesised that growth trajectories, as determined by changes in BMI over time, may be related to differences in TL at age 17. Quantile regression mixed-effects analysis was used to assess the relationship between BMI from infancy through adolescence and TL at 17 years of age. TL data were divided into quantiles based on the distribution of telomere lengths in the study population (q10, q25, q50, q75, q90). Growth trajectories were determined by comparing changes in BMI over time for adolescents in the upper TL quartiles relative to those in lower TL quantiles.

BMI declines from ~1 year of age until ~5 years of age at the time of adiposity rebound, after which BMI increases again into adolescence (294). The association between BMI and TL in the present study changed during infancy and childhood (Figure 5.3). In both boys and girls across early life, BMI increased as TL quantiles decreased. The quantile in which TLs were shortest (q10) was associated with the highest BMI and the quantile in which TLs were longest (q90) was associated with the lowest BMI (Figure 5.3). At the age of one year for each quantile, shorter TL was associated with higher BMI. This relationship reversed from about 2-3 years of age. At the time of adiposity rebound for each quantile, shorter TL was again associated with higher BMI. After age 10 and as the BMI trajectory approached age 15, the lines of the upper (+2 SD) and lower (-2 SD) bounds of TL for each quantile began to diverge. After age 15, in each of the lower four quantiles (q10-q75) there was an association with shorter TL and higher BMI. However, in the highest TL quantile (q90) beginning from about age 10 to age 17, there was an association with shorter TL and lower BMI. These dynamic relationships were observed in both boys and girls.



Figure 5.3 Mixed-effects quantile analysis of BMI versus age for Log TL quantiles from birth to 17 years in the Raine Study.

5.4 DISCUSSION

The results of this study show that early life environments (including gestational hypertension and duration of breastfeeding) and risk factors of the metabolic syndrome (BMI and WHR) associate with TL in a healthy adolescent population prior to onset of disease. Not only do these metabolic risk variables correlate with early life environmental exposures in healthy adolescents, but psychological and social stressors may play a role.

TL was shorter in children born to mothers who were hypertensive during pregnancy. These results suggest that hypertension during pregnancy may adversely affect offspring health and longevity through mechanisms that promote cellular dysfunction, and increasing rates of telomere shortening may reflect this. In adulthood, hypertension has been associated with vascular endothelial cell dysfunction, which is characterised by a pro-inflammatory/pro-thrombic phenotype associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes (726). Exposure to hypertension during pregnancy has been linked with the early development of hypertension in children and increased risk of adult stroke (727-729). It is possible that hypertension during pregnancy may compromise growth and development of organs and tissues in the fetus leading to perturbed metabolism, which may ultimately contribute to a hypertensive phenotype. However, the underlying mechanisms involved in disease pathogenesis are unknown.

Studies in neonates have shown that TL at birth does not differ between preeclampsia/hypertensive and normotensive pregnancies (730,731). Shorter TLs in adolescents of hypertensive pregnancies observed in this study suggests that selective pressures occur postnatally which interact with factors reprogrammed *in utero* in response to adverse conditions such as hypertension. The consequence may then be altered cellular function in the offspring, as indicated by shorter TL. One likely cause of this is exposure to higher levels of oxidative stress in the early postnatal environment.

Oxidative stress is believed to be a key mechanism linking early life adversity to the development of metabolic disease (449). In normal pregnancy at birth the fetus migrates into a hyperoxic environment with greater oxygen tension, which results in increased oxidative stress (732). Infants then endure a prolonged period of increasing oxidative stress which declines to normal adult levels by 6 months, as they adapt to a more oxygen-rich environment (733). To counter the increase in oxidative stress, there is an accompanying increase in plasma antioxidant free radical scavengers for the first 3 months which also declines as oxidative stress levels decrease (733). Yet, in hypertensive pregnancies, the fetus may be exposed to additional intrauterine hypoxemic and oxidative stress conditions (734-736). This in turn may result in a deficient antioxidant defence system and vulnerability to oxidative stress at birth (737).

Animal and human studies have linked prenatal hypoxia to the development of metabolic disease in later life (199). It is well documented that telomeres are sensitive to oxidative stress (605), and *in vitro* hyperoxia-induced oxidative stress shortens telomeres more rapidly and promotes premature cellular senescence (738,739). Consequently, at the start of postnatal life an overabundance of oxidative stress coupled with limited antioxidant defences may have a lasting detrimental effect on TL and cellular physiology. Notably, shorter telomeres in adults and children are associated with risk factors for metabolic disease (501,504,505). It has been demonstrated that exposure to intrauterine hypertension promotes oxidative stress and DNA damage (740). The shorter telomeres observed in this study complement these earlier findings.

In further agreement with this concept, there was an inverse association between TL and age 17 WHR. WHR is a proxy measure for abdominal visceral fat mass, which, in excess, is associated with greater risk of obesity and its comorbidities (741). Furthermore, higher WHR also positively correlates with markers of systemic oxidative stress (742,743). Furthermore, more studies have demonstrated shorter TL in PBMCs and reduced mtDNA associated with increased adiposity in later life (744). This would be an interesting facet to examine in this cohort once metabolic dysfunctions have taken hold. Given that the shortest TLs were observed in offspring who were exposed to pregnancy hypertension and had higher WHR at age 17, it is very likely that enhanced oxidative stress could be a significant mechanism contributing to the development of metabolic disease. An investigation of mtDNA copy number could be informative of future hyperoxidative state.

In concert with other findings (745), these data have shown a positive association between duration of breastfeeding and TL. However, specifically, findings from the Raine cohort demonstrate that exposure to a minimum of 12 months breast milk feeding may be beneficial, again suggesting that the postnatal environment plays a role in modifying prenatal setpoints in a beneficial manner (715,746,747). The positive effects on TL from the second month only serve to highlight the importance of exposure to breastmilk in the first year of life.

Studies have demonstrated that breastfeeding for longer periods is protective against overweight and obesity both in adults (142,143) and children Furthermore, we have previously demonstrated an interaction between single nucleotide polymorphisms in the fat mass and obesity (FTO) gene and the postnatal nutritional environment, where exclusive breastfeeding was protective against increased BMI associated with the risk allele (294). Collectively, these studies of the Raine cohort suggest that a longer period of breastfeeding, whether exclusive or non-exclusive (mixed with other foods), has beneficial outcomes for offspring late into adolescence both at the level of cellular function and somatic growth. Longer duration of breastfeeding may modify the observed associations between TL and pregnancy hypertension or adolescent WHR discussed above. There may be a dose-response protective effect for the duration of breastfeeding against obesity risk, which is in agreement with previous studies (145,748). This longer exposure to breastfeeding may also contribute to protection against against excessive telomere loss in infancy, and prevent cellular dysfunction.

How longer periods of breastfeeding may protect against cellular dysfunction and hence, telomere shortening, may be a result of the antioxidant capacity of breastmilk (749-751). Antioxidants contained in breastmilk are believed to protect neonates against increasing oxidative stress experienced in early postnatal life (733,749,752). The activity of antioxidants is greatest in colostrum (751,753), the first milk the neonate consumes (754) which is produced and stored in the mammary gland in late pregnancy, and is present for up to to four days postpartum (754). As transitional milk replaces colostrum between days 5 to 9, there is a gradual decline in antoxidant activity until the final mature milk replaces it from day 10 (751,753,754). Clinical studies have shown the beneficial effect of breastfeeding over formula in alleviating oxidative stress in compromised pregnancies (750,755,756). However, there appears to be no difference in antioxidant content of breast milk following normal and compromised births (750). This may apply in the present study, where TLs were shorter in children of hypertensive mothers but were longer overall if the children breastfed for longer. These data suggest that while breast milk antioxidants effectively counter oxidative stress, the hypertensive damage to offspring DNA, evidenced by shorter TL, might be minimised but cannot be reversed. Shorter telomeres have been associated with a smaller haematopoietic stem cell pool (584), which may be a result of hypertension. The long-term effects of microchimerism, in which maternal cells are transported into the organs and tissues of the foetus, cannot be discounted. Increased cell trafficking between the mother and fetus is observed in hypertensive conditions such preeclampsia (757). However, in terms of telomeres, more research in this area would be required.

Furthermore, one cannot discount the probable role of leptin in this telomere dynamic. As previously stated, in various species, adipocyte-derived leptin plays a prominent role in promoting energy expenditure and reducing intake of food (83). This hormone is also abundant in breast milk (758,759). It has already been proposed that leptin consumed by breastfeeding not only plays a role in programming of food intake and appetite in infants but also later in life (760,761). Notably, like antioxidants, leptin concentration is also considerably higher in colostrum then in transitional milk (762). There is also evidence that leptin promotes telomerase activity in a dose-dependent manner (763), which may suggest that antioxidants work in concert with leptin to provide a protective effect. However, only cancer cells such as breast cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma cells have shown this modulatory effect of ectopic leptin expression on telomerase (763,764) and it has not yet been highlighted in the early development studies. This effect could be associated with de novo synthesis of telomeres or conferring a protective effect on mitochondria, which in turn, also protects telomeres from ROS damage. Whether continued leptin exposure through longer breastfeeding has a direct impact on telomeres and telomerase is not certain, but warrants further investigation.

The relationship between shorter TL and obesity risk was further demonstrated in the longitudinal modelling of BMI. As previously stated, the quantile in which the telomeres were shortest had the highest BMI (q10), and the quantile in which the telomeres were longest had the lowest BMI (q90). This highlights an inverse relationship between TL and BMI, and complements several studies linking shorter telomeres to higher BMI, and therefore obesity risk (765-767). Also strengthening this association is the fact that offspring that had the highest BMI values as infants, in each of the lower four quantiles (q10-q75), maintained higher BMIs throughout childhood until adolescence. It has been shown that heavier infants are at an increased risk of becoming obese in childhood, adolescence and adulthood (768). Therefore, the highest BMI infants in the lowest quantiles may be at greater risk of developing obesity in the cohort. Since offspring in q90 have a lower BMI, and hence are smaller in size in infancy, they may be more protected against the development of obesity. In addition, the fact that there is an inverse correlation between TL and BMI from childhood through adolescence may indicate that the effects of harmful early life exposures on telomeres persist and that changes to telomeres are maintained over the course of an individual's lifetime as a marker of obesity. If BMI tracks into adulthood for each quantile, adolescent TL may potentially be an indicator of future obesity in our cohort.

The pattern of divergence in q90 not only demonstrates an association between shorter TL and lower BMI, but also a difference in the age at which the divergence occurs compared to the lower four quantiles (q10-q75). This may be because the q90 lower bound comprises of a portion of the cohort that is underweight (BMI<18.5). Despite having BMI values largely in the healthy range, 6% of the cohort were classified as underweight at age 17. Being underweight has been associated with shorter TL in instances of disease and depression (769,770). The divergence of the bounds in q90 begins after the age of 10, as adolescence begins, which may be a critical developmental window, particularly in girls, where altered behaviours towards food, body image, and psychosocial stress, may influence weight trajectories in the peripubertal periods (771-773).

In an attempt to understand which factors may link telomere shortening and the development of metabolic disease, the obesity markers BMI and WHR in adolescents were examined. A positive association was found between age 17 BMI and pregnancy hypertension. This finding is in agreement with previous work showing a positive association between exposure to the hypertensive condition preeclampsia and the BMI in pubertal girls (774). However, what must be noted from the previous study is that this outcome was only apparent in offspring of hypertensive mothers who were obese. While there was no association between maternal obesity, determined by pre-pregnancy BMI, and adolescent BMI, maternal obesity was associated with adolescent WHR. Maternal obesity is a strong predictor of overweight and obesity risk in offspring (775,776), and the association with WHR supports this notion. Given that WHR is a measure of abdominal fatness specifically, this is also in agreement with other findings (777). The link between BMI and hypertension may be explained by exposure to maternal obesity. Maternal obesity is associated with increased risk of several pregnancy complications including GDM and preeclampsia (778) and is the strongest predictor of obesity in children (106). There was a positive correlation between maternal prepregnancy BMI and pregnancy hypertension in the cohort (data not shown). Therefore maternal obesity might be a significant contributing factor to this outcome.
Interestingly, adolescent BMI was inversely associated with family history of maternal diabetes. This may be because mothers had a less severe form of diabetes or were able to manage the disease either through dietary alterations or with pharmacological agents (779,780) which may lead to better to glycemic control. This may be protective in that it could prevent fetal overnutrition by exposure to maternal nutrient excess, and prevent fetal hyperinsulinemia which is associated with future obesity, as described by the fuel-mediated teratogenesis concept (92).

Further analyses of early life factors showed that BMI correlated inversely with exclusive breastfeeding duration. This inverse association compliments a previous study by our research group (294), signifying a protective effect against obesity risk. The interaction between exclusive breastfeeding and the FTO gene variants (294) may provide a likely mechanism by which this occurs. Longer exclusive breastfeeding may also account for the inverse association between BMI and HDL-C, a type of cholesterol that correlates with cardiovascular health (781). The high density lipoproteins in HDL-C have been shown to have a wide range of anti-atherogenic properties, including removing cholesterol from circulation (782) and anti-inflammatory actions (783). This finding is supported by earlier observations made by Parikh *et al.* (784), who also report lower BMI and increasing concentrations of HDL-C in adulthood following breastfeeding in infancy.

The trend towards an association between increased WHR and increased duration of non-exclusive breastfeeding is in agreement with earlier findings within the Raine cohort, which demonstrated increased adolescent obesity risk following non-exclusive breastfeeding (747). Exposure of the infant to complementary feeds during breastfeeding can result in increased food and energy intake, and elevate the risk of childhood obesity (785). Further, while exposure to breast milk may confer some protection against obesity, the protective effect may be much smaller in mixed feeding (786). Therefore, it may be necessary to breastfeed for a longer period when complementary feeds are simultaneously given, to achieve the same degree of beneficial effect as seen with shorter periods of exclusive feeding (787). The World Health Organisation recommends a minimum of 6 months of exclusive breastfeeding for optimal health outcomes (788). The median 6-month duration of non-exclusive breastfeeding in the cohort may not be adequate to fully protect against disease or modified growth trajectories. While, longer non-exclusive breastfeeding can protect against childhood obesity (789) and may be beneficial for telomere maintenance, postnatal exposure to increased energy feeding may increase risk of disease into adulthood.

The study also examined the effects of psychological and social wellbeing on obesity risk and found a positive association between BMI and psychological stress. In addition, higher BMI and WHR correlated with lower socioeconomic status (SES) at 17 years. Lower SES is associated with higher levels of the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis (HPA) stress hormone cortisol (790).

Elevated cortisol is linked to greater accumulation of fat in the abdominal region (791) indicated by higher WHR (792). The accumulation of body fat has been shown to also correlate strongly with BMI in childhood and adolescence (793). Since both WHR and BMI correlate with low SES, potentially this may indicate a role for cortisol in pathogenesis of metabolic disease in the cohort. Although I did not uncover an association between TL and SES or psychological stress (data not shown), studies have shown that psychosocial stress exposure (33-35) is linked to shorter TL and concurrently increases oxidative stress (507). Animal studies have shown that prenatal stress as such can reduce the HPA axis function in response to stressors if they had previously been exposed to prenatal stress (794). Findings in the cohort have demonstrated a reduced response to stress challenges, estimated by increases in cortisol, in adolescents who had been exposed to prenatal stress. In addition, reduced cortisol was also associated with obesity and BMI (unpublished work). It is likely that exposure to hypertension *in utero* may have compromised the HPA axis, elevating cortisol which contributed to telomere shortening, but blunting the postnatal HPA response such that other stressors such as SES or psychosocial stressors might not have as significant an effect. A diminished HPA axis may be indicative of aging (795).

The finding of an inverse association between adolescent WHR and maternal age may be consistent with the positive association between adolescent WHR and SES, as younger maternal age has been linked to indicators of lower SES such as lower education and income, and poorer health in offspring (796,797). Hence, greater maternal age may indicate higher SES, and therefore better health outcomes in children.

Previously it has been reported that TL is longer in females than in males, both in adolescence (29) and in adulthood (798,799). While work does highlight increased susceptibility of male telomeres to early life stress (800), there were no sex differences found in adolescent TL. It is possible that this finding may not reflect the rates of telomere shortening between boys and girls, which differ due to various factors including higher female estrogen levels. Estrogen more easily activates telomerase, the enzyme that synthesises telomeric repeats to maintain telomeres (801), and acts as an antioxidant to protect female TL (802). Also, as this was the first time that TL was measured in the Raine cohort, it was not possible to evaluate the rate of telomere shortening. It was, however, possible to observe that TL was negatively correlated with age, as shown in previous studies (394,395).

In conclusion, this study has identified novel associations between a child's early-life environmental exposures and the length of telomeres in peripheral blood cells at 17 years of age. These data show that adverse early life environments are associated with shorter TL and measures of adiposity in adolescence. Conversely, this study also demonstrates beneficial effects in that longer periods of breastfeeding may be protective against telomere shortening by potentially by helping to counter increasing levels of oxidative stress. Thus, breastfeeding may be a significant contributing factor, reducing prevalence of obesity and metabolic disease risk in adolescence via mechanisms associated with cellular metabolism and aging.

CHAPTER 6

FINAL DISCUSSION

I have observed the effects of both prenatal undernutrition and overnutrition on telomeres in this thesis, as well as the interaction between maternal physiological state and telomere length (TL). Two hypotheses were tested using a complementary approach of early-life studies in both mice and humans. First, it was proposed that unfavourable early-life environments (antenatal, postnatal, or a combination of both) would affect telomere length before metabolic disease manifested itself. Second, it was proposed that a telomere-related mechanism underlies how a suboptimal early environment impairs metabolism in offspring.

Fetal hepatic telomeres did indeed shorten in the case of dietary restriction and high-fat diet exposure during gestation. On the other hand, mouse fetal gut and blood telomeres were spared despite exposure to HF and DR during pregnancy. This is significant because it shows that telomeric DNA damage is linked to both under- and over-resourced intrauterine environments and that there is a heterogeneity attached to the telomeric response. The shelterin protein TIN2 had a trend towards increased localisation to the cytoplasm in the livers of DR offspring, which is an interesting complement to the loss of telomeres. The TIN2 localisation between the cytoplasm and nuclei in the HF livers is comparable to that in the CON group. The direct identification of TIN2 protein whose behaviour varies depending on the prenatal diet consumed makes this finding interesting.

The role of TIN2 in telomere maintenance is to prevent incorrect identification of telomeric DNA damage (639) as well as recruit telomerase for telomere lengthening (428,429). TL can be negatively regulated by TIN2, an important member of the shelterin complex that interacts with TRF1, TRF2, and POT1 (803) and plays a telomerase-independent role in embryonic development (804). Conversely, TIN2 has also been shown mediate telomere length by recruiting telomerase, in a different role from its protective effects on telomeres (805). This provides an interesting contrast for examination in future studies. How this shift in localisation of TIN2 affects its function in fetal livers warrants further investigation.

Not limited to the animal studies, shorter telomeres in peripheral blood cells were linked to previous presence of maternal hypertension in the Raine cohort. The late adolescent Caucasian population studied in the cohort is healthy and on par with populations free of disease in other developed countries. Despite this, telomere shortening was already evident in those whose BMIs were higher despite not falling into overweight or obese categories. Overall, these results support the first hypothesis and demonstrate the significant influence of early environments on highly adaptable telomeres.

Furthermore, the plasticity of telomeres seems largely dependent on developmental window. It may be the case that telomeres in some organs and

tissues are only impacted *in utero*, while the effects on others only present postnatally. These differences in the timing of telomere effects implies that it may be possible to pinpoint interventional timepoints. The Raine Study presents a period that may be ripe for an intervention to occur in humans, the first 12 months of life. Infants who breastfed for longer periods of time (at least 12 months) in early postnatal life had longer telomeres. Additionally, these findings imply that breastfeeding for at least 12 months may mitigate the negative effects of gestational hypertension.

While 12 months was optimal, even an exposure of 2 months to breastfeeding in the first year was beneficial for telomeres in late adolescence. As a result of the known antioxidant properties of breast milk (749-751), this observation may suggest the involvement of ROS regulation in long term telomere maintenance. Breast milk antioxidants are thought to protect neonates against increasing oxidative stress in early postnatal life (733). The likelihood of the importance of this early postnatal window for enhancing metabolic outcomes as well as telomere maintenance in later life is demonstrated by the inverse relationship between BMI and the length of exclusive breastfeeding at age 17.

From these findings it is hypothesised that the mother's various antioxidant-rich milks (749-751) create a biochemical barrier that protects the telomeres in peripheral blood cells. In studies of pigs, prior to weaning, continued suckling

has been shown to improve intestinal function, increase scavenger superoxide dismutase activity, and decrease ROS concentration (806). Mechanistic studies might be needed to support this in the Raine cohort. Furthermore, extending the animal studies to adulthood could shed light on how the suckling period, a crucial window for developmental plasticity, influences the postnatal telomeric response to stress. The challenges in Chapter 3 and 4 regarding Dihydroethidium staining have already been outlined. And further work is necessary to confirm ROS involvement in nuclear DNA damage and hence contribution to the shorter telomeres observed. The absence of oxidative damage to proteins or lipids, however, suggests that ROS may not be present in sufficient quantities to cause irreversible macromolecular tissue damage.

These findings initially appear to suggest that telomeres play a direct role in the emergence of future metabolic disease. Poor prenatal and postnatal environments can increase the risk of many diseases. But not all exposed to such environments develop disease. Studies into the fundamental causes of disease programming have a tendency to focus on specific cell types and organs in relation to their functional impairment. Because proliferation continued as normal and *mTert* mRNA levels increased in both HF and DR fetuses, it appears that cells in fetal livers in this case were not compromised to the point where they were unable to perform their normal developmental functions. Telomerase modulates development-related signalling pathways and promotes proliferation in resting stem cells (807), which may be the case in these studies. However, from

these data, it is still unclear how *mTert* contributes to the preservation of tissue homoeostasis. The increased *mTert* gene expression in fetal livers may be due to telomerase maintenance of telomeres or other functions, such as Wnt signalling linked to the aforementioned proliferation, or associated with increased ROS. To provide an answer to these queries, additional analyses incorporating telomerase activity assays and pathway analysis would be needed. The implications of the telomere shortening for overall cellular functionality are thus brought up by these data.

In this thesis, it is posited that the developmental origins of health and disease may be influenced by interactions between the genome and environment. The genome is not only nuclear, but also encompasses the mitochondrial genome. If combined with an investigation into variations in mitochondrial DNA, TL might be a more significant indicator of future disease. In addition to demonstrating that TIN2 can localise and interact in both the nucleus and cytoplasm (373), Chen and colleagues also shed light on TIN2 function in the regulation of mitochondrial metabolism (528). They demonstrated that silencing TIN2 augmented mitochondrial ATP synthesis and therefore glucose metabolism, and lowered ROS concentration (528). The increase in cytoplasmic TIN2 localisation in DR livers may be associated with inverse outcomes in mitochondria, leading to increasing ROS. However further measures are required to verify this. Alterations in metabolism can occur at both the cellular and organism level due to DNA damage (808). The study of mtDNA copy number and ROS damage to macromolecules was used as a proxy for mitochondrial dysfunction and aberrant metabolism. From the mouse studies, the changes in mtDNA copy number seemed to provide more precise information about the type of insult the fetuses were exposed to, despite the fact that there was a similar decrease in TL for both DR and HF fetuses. In the HF livers, there was an increase in mtDNA present, whereas in the DR group, there was no change. Further to that, there was proof that suggested mitochondria had been modified in HF fetuses to facilitate the uptake and metabolism of fatty acids. The processes responsible for the pathogenesis of metabolic diseases may once again be interrupted if an intervention can be implemented during this critical developmental stage.

Ultimately, the second hypothesis is not fully supported as there are no data directly tying the telomere shortening mechanisms to mitochondrial dysfunction. It was expected that animals with shorter telomeres would also have compromised mitochondria as a result of suboptimal diets (under- and overnutrition) during pregnancy. Previous research has highlighted a potential mechanism for shorter telomeres contributing to mitochondrial dysfunction and the generation of ROS (506,523) and trapping cells in a vicious cycle that advances senescence (809). While it is likely that this may be the case, more in-depth studies are required to verify this. This outcome in fetuses may help to shed light on the telomere-related mechanisms causing these effects in response to various diets.

What is clear is that mitochondria are affected differently depending on the diet in question. On the basis of these results, telomeres appear to signpost, but are not the mechanistic engine driving programming effects.

Also, important to consider are the effects on mothers. While maternal blood and bone marrow telomeres in the DR group were significantly shorter than in the CON group, there was an increase in the number of maternal blood mtDNA copies. The high energy demands following fertilisation and implantation as well as the requirement for ongoing metabolite delivery to the growing fetus (810,811) could be responsible for the rise in DR mtDNA copy number. It stands to reason that increased mitochondrial biogenesis and a more efficient respiratory apparatus would be required to maximise this process. It is also possible that increased maternal mtDNA synthesis may be related to increased oxidative stress in order to replace damaged mitochondria (621,622). However, no measures of oxidative stress in maternal blood were taken, which is a limitation.

One aspect of mtDNA analysis that hasn't been addressed in this thesis is the potential significance of circulating cell-free mitochondrial DNA (ccf-mtDNA), which is present during pregnancy under physiological homeostasis (812). When cellular stress occurs, mtDNA can degrade and mitochondrial autophagic responses can arise, causing a cytosolic release of mtDNA that may eventually enter the blood circulation and contribute to pregnancy pathology (813,814). In

contrast to typical term pregnancies, complications leading to intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR), and placental abruption can increase levels of whole blood mtDNA, according to research by Colleoni and associates (815) and more recently Williams *et al.*(816). In fact, clinical studies have also shown that a rise in ccf-mtDNA is a reliable indicator of pregnancy complications such as preeclampsia, particularly in later gestation (817,818).

It is possible that ccf-mtDNA may be a contributing factor to the measure of increased maternal mtDNA in DR fetuses, given the result from blood was sampled late in gestation in the DR mouse study. The concurrent telomere shortening in dam blood may be the indicator of a pregnancy in distress. As observed in this instance, the combination of telomere length and mtDNA content may potentially provide a predictive marker for future disease. However, additional research would be necessary to confirm the equilibrium of the maternal PGC-NRF-TFAM biogenesis pathway against mitochondrial autophagy and ccf-mtDNA in blood. Furthermore, if this dietary restriction model is used again, sampling of maternal circulatory ccf-mtDNA at different gestational stages could unveil a mechanism for programming of disease in the offspring.

Although an increase in mtDNA might be viewed favourably, any therapeutic action intended to promote mitochondrial biogenesis would need to be used with caution. Not all increases in mitochondrial DNA may be associated with favourable outcomes, as suggested in HF fetuses and DR mothers. It has been shown in earlier studies using mouse models that an increase in mtDNA may result in nucleoid enlargement, which in turn can lead to a defect in the processes of mitochondrial transcription and replication (819). This opens up a new line of enquiry as to whether a comparable maladaptive nucleoid response might accompany the increased mtDNA copy detected in these studies. If so, this research could need to be expanded to look into the existence of deletions in the mitochondrial genome as a result of the different diets. Furthermore, studies on epigenetic modifications related to both telomeres and mitochondria crosstalk may further illuminate this work. The ability to analyse ccf-mtDNA in hypertensive mothers in the Raine cohort could provide a biomarker for not only identifying at-risk pregnancies but also highlighting a mechanistic pathway to metabolic disease in adolescents.

Combining TL and mtDNA may yield a useful indicator of cellular distress and future programming of disease. In the context of pregnancy, maternal weight gain, specifically daily weight gain in mice was shown to be a stronger measure than total weight gained. The DR study found that E10.5 predicted fetal TL and E13.5 predicted maternal TL at the end of pregnancy. These timepoints may be potential windows for intervention. According to the previously described Theiler stages of pregnancy (259,260), this corresponds to 28-3 and 48-50 days in human pregnancy respectively. Interestingly, maternal weight gain only predicts TL in maternal and fetal blood. To determine whether this timing extrapolates to a clinical setting, more research would be necessary. Because these studies would

involve using human subjects, many confounders would need to be taken into consideration, including socioeconomic, psychosocial, and other clinical variables. The DR study revealed that TL can be predicted by the amount of maternal weight gained each day compared to baseline, which is one of this thesis' most intriguing findings. Even though body weight gain is a rough indicator, if it is possible to link the predicted telomere length to impacts on mitochondria, it may prove to be a helpful diagnostic tool in the future.

<u>Future studies</u>

Further research would be required to clarify the mechanisms linking telomeres to programming outcomes based on this body of data. In addition to confirming whether telomerase activity is comparable to *mTert* gene expression, the examination of *mTert* signalling related to mitochondrial function would be a feasible extension of this work. Studies have shown that the trafficking of the TERT protein to mitochondria has a protective effect for cells against oxidative stress, mtDNA damage, senescence and apoptosis (575,576,662). In the brains of older animals, TERT has already been demonstrated to be diet-sensitive, with recovery of mitochondrial function, a decrease in ROS, and an increase in TERT protein being noted in response to rapamycin supplementation in chow (820). Whether this sensitivity extends to *mTert* in HF and DR fetal livers in a similar fashion will require further examination.

Although oxidative stress in macromolecules was not seen in these studies, given the effects on telomere length, it might still be present at lower levels. It would be beneficial to confirm increased ROS using alternative methods. It would then be worthwhile to investigate whether *mTert* localises to mitochondria in a manner similar to how TERT has previously been described to do (576). This research may shed light on *mTert* function in DR and HF fetuses even in the absence of the telomerase holoenzyme.

Following this initial cross-sectional study with TIN2 it would next make sense to study the other proteins in the shelterin complex to see how the differing diets might affect them. Seeing as a metabolic role for TIN2 has been established (528), it would be interesting to observe the effects of both under- and overnutrition on the shelterin complex as a whole.

This work was not able to be carried forward to postnatal time points. However, earlier work in our research group has already demonstrated that undernutrition programs metabolic disorders in this mouse model (201,211). It may be useful to study the shelterin response to interventions such as ω -3 fatty acid supplementation, which is shown to reduce or prevent insulin resistance and improve glucose tolerance in animal studies (821,822). As well as extending the research for both to include telomerase, it would be instructive to determine whether such dietary supplementation would have a postnatal effect on mouse

liver telomeres that was comparable to that observed in the Raine cohort from extended breastfeeding.

Overall, the observations in this thesis lay the groundwork for highlighting possible metabolic alterations that may increase susceptibility to disease in adulthood. Whether nutritional adversity from overnutrition or undernutrition, or exposure to hypertension, the eventual outcomes appear to be largely dependent on the environment in postnatal life. Further research will be required to determine effective therapeutic interventions that can translate from the laboratory into clinical settings.

CHAPTER 7

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 2. Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation*. 2002;106(25):3143-3421.
- 3. Kennedy G, Nantel G, Shetty P. The double burden of malnutrition: case studies from six developing countries. *Rome: Nutrition Planning, Assessment and Evaluation Service, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.* 2006.
- 4. Popkin BM. The nutrition transition in low-income countries: an emerging crisis. *Nutrition reviews*. 1994;52(9):285-298.
- 5. Who J, Consultation FE. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. *World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser*. 2003;916(i-viii).
- 6. Dixon JM, Hinde SJ, Banwell CL. Obesity, convenience and "phood". *British Food Journal*. 2006;108(8):634-645.
- 7. Raphael D. Grasping at straws: a recent history of health promotion in Canada. *Critical Public Health*. 2008;18(4):483-495.
- 8. Whitehead M. Waving or drowning? A view of health equity from Europe. *Australian and New Zealand journal of public health*. 2012;36(6):523.
- 9. Barker DJ, Osmond C. Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales. *Lancet*. 1986;1(8489):1077-1081.
- 10. Barker DJ, Osmond C. Low birth weight and hypertension. *Bmj*. 1988;297(6641):134-135.
- 11. Barker DJ, Winter PD, Osmond C, Margetts B, Simmonds SJ. Weight in infancy and death from ischaemic heart disease. *Lancet*. 1989;2(8663):577-580.
- 12. McMillen IC, Robinson JS. Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: prediction, plasticity, and programming. *Physiol Rev.* 2005;85(2):571-633.
- 13. Barker DJ, Gluckman PD, Godfrey KM, Harding JE, Owens JA, Robinson JS. Fetal nutrition and cardiovascular disease in adult life. *Lancet*. 1993;341(8850):938-941.
- 14. Barker DJ. Fetal origins of coronary heart disease. *Bmj*. 1995;311(6998):171-174.
- 15. Forsdahl A. Are poor living conditions in childhood and adolescence an important risk factor for arteriosclerotic heart disease? *Br J Prev Soc Med*. 1977;31(2):91-95.
- 16. Hales CN, Barker DJ, Clark PM, Cox LJ, Fall C, Osmond C, Winter PD. Fetal and infant growth and impaired glucose tolerance at age 64. *Bmj*. 1991;303(6809):1019-1022.

- 17. Barker DJ, Hales CN, Fall CH, Osmond C, Phipps K, Clark PM. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus, hypertension and hyperlipidaemia (syndrome X): relation to reduced fetal growth. *Diabetologia*. 1993;36(1):62-67.
- 18. Yliharsila H, Kajantie E, Osmond C, Forsen T, Barker DJ, Eriksson JG. Birth size, adult body composition and muscle strength in later life. *International journal of obesity*. 2007;31(9):1392-1399.
- 19. Cooper C, Fall C, Egger P, Hobbs R, Eastell R, Barker D. Growth in infancy and bone mass in later life. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. 1997;56(1):17-21.
- 20. Rifkin L, Lewis S, Jones P, Toone B, Murray R. Low birth weight and schizophrenia. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science*. 1994;165(3):357-362.
- 21. Richards M, Hardy R, Kuh D, Wadsworth ME. Birthweight, postnatal growth and cognitive function in a national UK birth cohort. *International journal of epidemiology*. 2002;31(2):342-348.
- 22. Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Ascherio AL, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in US men. *Circulation*. 1996;94(12):3246-3250.
- 23. Forsen T, Eriksson JG, Tuomilehto J, Teramo K, Osmond C, Barker DJ. Mother's weight in pregnancy and coronary heart disease in a cohort of Finnish men: follow up study. *Bmj*. 1997;315(7112):837-840.
- 24. Frankel S, Elwood P, Sweetnam P, Yarnell J, Smith GD. Birthweight, adult risk factors and incident coronary heart disease: the Caerphilly Study. *Public Health*. 1996;110(3):139-143.
- 25. Stein CE, Fall CH, Kumaran K, Osmond C, Cox V, Barker DJ. Fetal growth and coronary heart disease in south India. *Lancet*. 1996;348(9037):1269-1273.
- 26. Eriksson JG, Forsen T, Tuomilehto J, Winter PD, Osmond C, Barker DJ. Catch-up growth in childhood and death from coronary heart disease: longitudinal study. *Bmj*. 1999;318(7181):427-431.
- 27. Forsen T, Eriksson JG, Tuomilehto J, Osmond C, Barker DJ. Growth in utero and during childhood among women who develop coronary heart disease: longitudinal study. *Bmj*. 1999;319(7222):1403-1407.
- 28. Hokken-Koelega AC, De Ridder MA, Lemmen RJ, Den Hartog H, De Muinck Keizer-Schrama SM, Drop SL. Children born small for gestational age: do they catch up? *Pediatric research*. 1995;38(2):267-271.
- 29. Ong KK. Size at birth, postnatal growth and risk of obesity. *Horm Res.* 2006;65 Suppl 3:65-69.
- 30. Eriksson JG, Forsen TJ. Childhood growth and coronary heart disease in later life. *Annals of medicine*. 2002;34(3):157-161.
- 31. Eriksson JG. Early growth, and coronary heart disease and type 2 diabetes: experiences from the Helsinki Birth Cohort Studies. *International journal of obesity*. 2006;30 Suppl 4:S18-22.
- 32. Eriksson JG, Forsen T, Tuomilehto J, Osmond C, Barker DJ. Early growth and coronary heart disease in later life: longitudinal study. *Bmj*. 2001;322(7292):949-953.

- 33. Barker DJ, Osmond C, Forsen TJ, Kajantie E, Eriksson JG. Trajectories of growth among children who have coronary events as adults. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2005;353(17):1802-1809.
- 34. Forsen T, Osmond C, Eriksson JG, Barker DJ. Growth of girls who later develop coronary heart disease. *Heart*. 2004;90(1):20-24.
- 35. Hales CN, Barker DJ. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. *Diabetologia*. 1992;35(7):595-601.
- 36. Neel JV. Diabetes mellitus: a "thrifty" genotype rendered detrimental by "progress"? *American journal of human genetics*. 1962;14:353-362.
- 37. Lucas A. Programming by early nutrition in man. *Ciba Found Symp.* 1991;156:38-50; discussion 50-35.
- 38. Barker DJ. Developmental origins of adult health and disease. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2004;58(2):114-115.
- 39. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Developmental origins of disease paradigm: a mechanistic and evolutionary perspective. *Pediatric research*. 2004;56(3):311-317.
- 40. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Living with the past: evolution, development, and patterns of disease. *Science*. 2004;305(5691):1733-1736.
- 41. Low FM, Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Chapter 14 Epigenetic and Developmental Basis of Risk of Obesity and Metabolic Disease. In: Ulloa-Aguirre A, Tao Y-X, eds. Cellular Endocrinology in Health and Disease (Second Edition). Boston: Academic Press; 2021:289-313.
- 42. Painter RC, Roseboom TJ, Bleker OP. Prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine and disease in later life: an overview. *Reproductive toxicology*. 2005;20(3):345-352.
- 43. Antonov AN. Children born during the siege of Leningrad in 1942. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 1947;30(3):250-259.
- 44. Ravelli GP, Stein ZA, Susser MW. Obesity in young men after famine exposure in utero and early infancy. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1976;295(7):349-353.
- 45. Roseboom TJ, van der Meulen JH, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Ravelli AC, Schroeder-Tanka JM, van Montfrans GA, Michels RP, Bleker OP. Coronary heart disease after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine, 1944-45. *Heart*. 2000;84(6):595-598.
- 46. Ravelli AC, van der Meulen JH, Michels RP, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Hales CN, Bleker OP. Glucose tolerance in adults after prenatal exposure to famine. *Lancet*. 1998;351(9097):173-177.
- 47. Roseboom TJ, van der Meulen JH, Ravelli AC, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Bleker OP. Plasma fibrinogen and factor VII concentrations in adults after prenatal exposure to famine. *Br J Haematol*. 2000;111(1):112-117.
- 48. Roseboom TJ, van der Meulen JH, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Ravelli AC, Bleker OP. Adult survival after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine 1944--45. *Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology*. 2001;15(3):220-225.
- 49. Susser ES, Lin SP. Schizophrenia after prenatal exposure to the Dutch Hunger Winter of 1944-1945. *Archives of general psychiatry*. 1992;49(12):983-988.

- 50. Stanner SA, Bulmer K, Andres C, Lantseva OE, Borodina V, Poteen VV, Yudkin JS. Does malnutrition in utero determine diabetes and coronary heart disease in adulthood? Results from the Leningrad siege study, a cross sectional study. *Bmj*. 1997;315(7119):1342-1348.
- 51. Ravelli AC, van Der Meulen JH, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Bleker OP. Obesity at the age of 50 y in men and women exposed to famine prenatally. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1999;70(5):811-816.
- 52. Bavdekar A, Yajnik CS, Fall CH, Bapat S, Pandit AN, Deshpande V, Bhave S, Kellingray SD, Joglekar C. Insulin resistance syndrome in 8-year-old Indian children: small at birth, big at 8 years, or both? *Diabetes*. 1999;48(12):2422-2429.
- 53. Rickard IJ, Lummaa V. The predictive adaptive response and metabolic syndrome: challenges for the hypothesis. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM.* 2007;18(3):94-99.
- 54. McCay CM, Crowell MF, Maynard LA. The effect of retarded growth upon the length of life span and upon the ultimate body size. 1935. *Nutrition*. 1989;5(3):155-171; discussion 172.
- 55. Xiang L, He G. Caloric restriction and antiaging effects. *Ann Nutr Metab.* 2011;58(1):42-48.
- 56. Heilbronn LK, de Jonge L, Frisard MI, DeLany JP, Larson-Meyer DE, Rood J, Nguyen T, Martin CK, Volaufova J, Most MM, Greenway FL, Smith SR, Deutsch WA, Williamson DA, Ravussin E, Pennington CT. Effect of 6-month calorie restriction on biomarkers of longevity, metabolic adaptation, and oxidative stress in overweight individuals: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2006;295(13):1539-1548.
- 57. Lane MA, Baer DJ, Tilmont EM, Rumpler WV, Ingram DK, Roth GS, Cutler RG. Energy balance in rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta) subjected to long-term dietary restriction. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 1995;50(5):B295-302.
- 58. Hanson MA, Gluckman PD. Developmental origins of health and disease: new insights. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*. 2008;102(2):90-93.
- 59. Abu Shehab M, Damerill I, Shen T, Rosario FJ, Nijland M, Nathanielsz PW, Kamat A, Jansson T, Gupta MB. Liver mTOR controls IGF-I bioavailability by regulation of protein kinase CK2 and IGFBP-1 phosphorylation in fetal growth restriction. *Endocrinology*. 2014;155(4):1327-1339.
- 60. Blagosklonny MV. Calorie restriction: decelerating mTOR-driven aging from cells to organisms (including humans). *Cell Cycle*. 2010;9(4):683-688.
- 61. Barker DJ, Clark PM. Fetal undernutrition and disease in later life. *Reviews* of reproduction. 1997;2(2):105-112.
- 62. Bell AW, Ehrhardt RA. Regulation of placental nutrient transport and implications for fetal growth. *Nutrition research reviews*. 2002;15(2):211-230.
- 63. Armitage JA, Khan IY, Taylor PD, Nathanielsz PW, Poston L. Developmental programming of the metabolic syndrome by maternal nutritional imbalance: how strong is the evidence from experimental models in mammals? *The Journal of physiology*. 2004;561(Pt 2):355-377.
- 64. Barker DJ. The malnourished baby and infant. *British medical bulletin*. 2001;60:69-88.

- 65. Gluckman PD, Morel PC, Ambler GR, Breier BH, Blair HT, McCutcheon SN. Elevating maternal insulin-like growth factor-I in mice and rats alters the pattern of fetal growth by removing maternal constraint. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 1992;134(1):R1-3.
- 66. Ozaki T, Nishina H, Hanson MA, Poston L. Dietary restriction in pregnant rats causes gender-related hypertension and vascular dysfunction in offspring. *The Journal of physiology*. 2001;530(Pt 1):141-152.
- 67. Garofano A, Czernichow P, Breant B. Effect of ageing on beta-cell mass and function in rats malnourished during the perinatal period. *Diabetologia*. 1999;42(6):711-718.
- 68. Jimenez-Chillaron JC, Hernandez-Valencia M, Reamer C, Fisher S, Joszi A, Hirshman M, Oge A, Walrond S, Przybyla R, Boozer C, Goodyear LJ, Patti ME. Beta-cell secretory dysfunction in the pathogenesis of low birth weight-associated diabetes: a murine model. *Diabetes*. 2005;54(3):702-711.
- 69. Portha B, Kergoat M, Blondel O, Bailbe D. Underfeeding of rat mothers during the first two trimesters of gestation does not alter insulin action and insulin secretion in the progeny. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies*. 1995;133(4):475-482.
- 70. Vickers MH, Breier BH, Cutfield WS, Hofman PL, Gluckman PD. Fetal origins of hyperphagia, obesity, and hypertension and postnatal amplification by hypercaloric nutrition. *American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism*. 2000;279(1):E83-87.
- 71. Woodall SM, Johnston BM, Breier BH, Gluckman PD. Chronic maternal undernutrition in the rat leads to delayed postnatal growth and elevated blood pressure of offspring. *Pediatric research*. 1996;40(3):438-443.
- 72. Jimenez-Chillaron JC, Hernandez-Valencia M, Lightner A, Faucette RR, Reamer C, Przybyla R, Ruest S, Barry K, Otis JP, Patti ME. Reductions in caloric intake and early postnatal growth prevent glucose intolerance and obesity associated with low birthweight. *Diabetologia*. 2006;49(8):1974-1984.
- 73. Gardner DS, Pearce S, Dandrea J, Walker R, Ramsay MM, Stephenson T, Symonds ME. Peri-implantation undernutrition programs blunted angiotensin II evoked baroreflex responses in young adult sheep. *Hypertension*. 2004;43(6):1290-1296.
- 74. Gardner DS, Tingey K, Van Bon BW, Ozanne SE, Wilson V, Dandrea J, Keisler DH, Stephenson T, Symonds ME. Programming of glucose-insulin metabolism in adult sheep after maternal undernutrition. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology.* 2005;289(4):R947-954.
- 75. Woods LL, Ingelfinger JR, Nyengaard JR, Rasch R. Maternal protein restriction suppresses the newborn renin-angiotensin system and programs adult hypertension in rats. *Pediatric research*. 2001;49(4):460-467.
- 76. McMullen S, Gardner DS, Langley-Evans SC. Prenatal programming of angiotensin II type 2 receptor expression in the rat. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2004;91(1):133-140.

- 77. Lisle SJ, Lewis RM, Petry CJ, Ozanne SE, Hales CN, Forhead AJ. Effect of maternal iron restriction during pregnancy on renal morphology in the adult rat offspring. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2003;90(1):33-39.
- 78. Tomat AL, Inserra F, Veiras L, Vallone MC, Balaszczuk AM, Costa MA, Arranz C. Moderate zinc restriction during fetal and postnatal growth of rats: effects on adult arterial blood pressure and kidney. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology*. 2008;295(2):R543-549.
- 79. Schlitt JM, Schulz LC. The source of leptin, but not leptin depletion in response to food restriction, changes during early pregnancy in mice. *Endocrine*. 2012;41(2):227-235.
- 80. Bispham J, Gopalakrishnan GS, Dandrea J, Wilson V, Budge H, Keisler DH, Broughton Pipkin F, Stephenson T, Symonds ME. Maternal endocrine adaptation throughout pregnancy to nutritional manipulation: consequences for maternal plasma leptin and cortisol and the programming of fetal adipose tissue development. *Endocrinology*. 2003;144(8):3575-3585.
- 81. Myers MG, Jr. Leptin receptor signaling and the regulation of mammalian physiology. *Recent progress in hormone research*. 2004;59:287-304.
- 82. Tartaglia LA, Dembski M, Weng X, Deng N, Culpepper J, Devos R, Richards GJ, Campfield LA, Clark FT, Deeds J, Muir C, Sanker S, Moriarty A, Moore KJ, Smutko JS, Mays GG, Wool EA, Monroe CA, Tepper RI. Identification and expression cloning of a leptin receptor, OB-R. *Cell*. 1995;83(7):1263-1271.
- 83. Friedman JM, Halaas JL. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature*. 1998;395(6704):763-770.
- 84. Ahren B, Scheurink AJ. Marked hyperleptinemia after high-fat diet associated with severe glucose intolerance in mice. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies*. 1998;139(4):461-467.
- 85. Vickers MH, Breier BH, McCarthy D, Gluckman PD. Sedentary behavior during postnatal life is determined by the prenatal environment and exacerbated by postnatal hypercaloric nutrition. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology.* 2003;285(1):R271-273.
- 86. Landon J, Davison M, Krageloh CU, Thompson NM, Miles JL, Vickers MH, Fraser M, Breier BH. Global undernutrition during gestation influences learning during adult life. *Learning & behavior*. 2007;35(2):79-86.
- 87. Cleal JK, Poore KR, Boullin JP, Khan O, Chau R, Hambidge O, Torrens C, Newman JP, Poston L, Noakes DE, Hanson MA, Green LR. Mismatched pre- and postnatal nutrition leads to cardiovascular dysfunction and altered renal function in adulthood. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2007;104(22):9529-9533.
- 88. Bieswal F, Ahn MT, Reusens B, Holvoet P, Raes M, Rees WD, Remacle C. The importance of catch-up growth after early malnutrition for the programming of obesity in male rat. *Obesity*. 2006;14(8):1330-1343.

- 89. Boubred F, Daniel L, Buffat C, Feuerstein JM, Tsimaratos M, Oliver C, Dignat-George F, Lelievre-Pegorier M, Simeoni U. Early postnatal overfeeding induces early chronic renal dysfunction in adult male rats. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2009;297(4):F943-951.
- 90. Moretto VL, Ballen MO, Goncalves TS, Kawashita NH, Stoppiglia LF, Veloso RV, Latorraca MQ, Martins MS, Gomes-da-Silva MH. Low-Protein Diet during Lactation and Maternal Metabolism in Rats. *ISRN obstetrics and gynecology*. 2011;2011:876502.
- 91. Podaza E, Echarte E, Chisari A. A Low Maternal Protein Diet During Pregnancy and Lactation Induce Liver Offspring Dysfunction, in the Rat. *Ann Nutr Disord & Ther*. 2015;2(1):1020.
- 92. Freinkel N. Banting Lecture 1980. Of pregnancy and progeny. *Diabetes*. 1980;29(12):1023-1035.
- 93. Whitaker RC, Dietz WH. Role of the prenatal environment in the development of obesity. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 1998;132(5):768-776.
- 94. Pedersen J. Weight and length at birth of infants of diabetic mothers. *Acta endocrinologica*. 1954;16(4):330-342.
- 95. World Health Organization. World health statistics 2012. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 96. World Health Organization. Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 97. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of obesity in the United States, 2009-2010. *NCHS data brief*. 2012(82):1-8.
- 98. Pettitt D, Knowler W. Diabetes and obesity in the Pima Indians: a crossgenerational vicious cycle. *Journal of obesity and weight regulation*. 1988.
- 99. Catalano PM. Obesity and pregnancy--the propagation of a viscous cycle? *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism.* 2003;88(8):3505-3506.
- 100. Dabelea D, Knowler WC, Pettitt DJ. Effect of diabetes in pregnancy on offspring: follow-up research in the Pima Indians. *The Journal of maternal-fetal medicine*. 2000;9(1):83-88.
- 101. Ehrenberg HM, Mercer BM, Catalano PM. The influence of obesity and diabetes on the prevalence of macrosomia. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 2004;191(3):964-968.
- 102. Pettitt DJ, Nelson RG, Saad MF, Bennett PH, Knowler WC. Diabetes and obesity in the offspring of Pima Indian women with diabetes during pregnancy. *Diabetes care*. 1993;16(1):310-314.
- 103. Silverman BL, Metzger BE, Cho NH, Loeb CA. Impaired glucose tolerance in adolescent offspring of diabetic mothers. Relationship to fetal hyperinsulinism. *Diabetes care*. 1995;18(5):611-617.
- 104. Petitt DJ, Bennett PH, Knowler WC, Baird HR, Aleck KA. Gestational diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance during pregnancy. Long-term effects on obesity and glucose tolerance in the offspring. *Diabetes*. 1985;34 Suppl 2:119-122.
- 105. Catalano PM, Thomas A, Huston-Presley L, Amini SB. Increased fetal adiposity: a very sensitive marker of abnormal in utero development. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 2003;189(6):1698-1704.

- 106. Catalano PM, Farrell K, Thomas A, Huston-Presley L, Mencin P, de Mouzon SH, Amini SB. Perinatal risk factors for childhood obesity and metabolic dysregulation. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2009;90(5):1303-1313.
- 107. Boney CM, Verma A, Tucker R, Vohr BR. Metabolic syndrome in childhood: association with birth weight, maternal obesity, and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Pediatrics*. 2005;115(3):e290-296.
- 108. O'Brien CM, Louise J, Deussen A, Grivell R, Dodd JM. The effect of maternal obesity on fetal biometry, body composition, and growth velocity. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* 2020;33(13):2216-2226.
- Chu SY, Kim SY, Lau J, Schmid CH, Dietz PM, Callaghan WM, Curtis KM. Maternal obesity and risk of stillbirth: a metaanalysis. *American journal of* obstetrics and gynecology. 2007;197(3):223-228.
- 110. Torloni MR, Betran AP, Horta BL, Nakamura MU, Atallah AN, Moron AF, Valente O. Prepregnancy BMI and the risk of gestational diabetes: a systematic review of the literature with meta-analysis. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2009;10(2):194-203.
- 111. Schaefer-Graf UM, Graf K, Kulbacka I, Kjos SL, Dudenhausen J, Vetter K, Herrera E. Maternal lipids as strong determinants of fetal environment and growth in pregnancies with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes care*. 2008;31(9):1858-1863.
- 112. Di Cianni G, Miccoli R, Volpe L, Lencioni C, Ghio A, Giovannitti MG, Cuccuru I, Pellegrini G, Chatzianagnostou K, Boldrini A, Del Prato S. Maternal triglyceride levels and newborn weight in pregnant women with normal glucose tolerance. *Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association*. 2005;22(1):21-25.
- 113. Sewell MF, Huston-Presley L, Super DM, Catalano P. Increased neonatal fat mass, not lean body mass, is associated with maternal obesity. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 2006;195(4):1100-1103.
- 114. Moses RG, Luebcke M, Davis WS, Coleman KJ, Tapsell LC, Petocz P, Brand-Miller JC. Effect of a low-glycemic-index diet during pregnancy on obstetric outcomes. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2006;84(4):807-812.
- 115. Szabo AJ, Szabo O. Placental free-fatty-acid transfer and fetal adiposetissue development: an explantation of fetal adiposity in infants of diabetic mothers. *Lancet*. 1974;2(7879):498-499.
- 116. Catalano PM, Presley L, Minium J, Hauguel-de Mouzon S. Fetuses of obese mothers develop insulin resistance in utero. *Diabetes care*. 2009;32(6):1076-1080.
- 117. Ehrenberg HM, Huston-Presley L, Catalano PM. The influence of obesity and gestational diabetes mellitus on accretion and the distribution of adipose tissue in pregnancy. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 2003;189(4):944-948.
- 118. Herrera E. Metabolic adaptations in pregnancy and their implications for the availability of substrates to the fetus. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2000;54 Suppl 1:S47-51.

- 119. Butte NF. Carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in pregnancy: normal compared with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2000;71(5 Suppl):1256S-1261S.
- 120. Herrera E, Amusquivar E, Lopez-Soldado I, Ortega H. Maternal lipid metabolism and placental lipid transfer. *Horm Res.* 2006;65 Suppl 3:59-64.
- 121. Herrera E, Lasuncion MA, Gomez-Coronado D, Aranda P, Lopez-Luna P, Maier I. Role of lipoprotein lipase activity on lipoprotein metabolism and the fate of circulating triglycerides in pregnancy. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 1988;158(6 Pt 2):1575-1583.
- 122. Innis SM. Perinatal biochemistry and physiology of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2003;143(4 Suppl):S1-8.
- 123. Catalano PM, Roman-Drago NM, Amini SB, Sims EA. Longitudinal changes in body composition and energy balance in lean women with normal and abnormal glucose tolerance during pregnancy. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 1998;179(1):156-165.
- 124. Ramsay JE, Ferrell WR, Crawford L, Wallace AM, Greer IA, Sattar N. Maternal obesity is associated with dysregulation of metabolic, vascular, and inflammatory pathways. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2002;87(9):4231-4237.
- 125. Clapp JF, 3rd, Kim H, Burciu B, Schmidt S, Petry K, Lopez B. Continuing regular exercise during pregnancy: effect of exercise volume on fetoplacental growth. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 2002;186(1):142-147.
- 126. Maric-Bilkan C, Symonds M, Ozanne S, Alexander BT. Impact of maternal obesity and diabetes on long-term health of the offspring. *Exp Diabetes Res.* 2011;2011:163438.
- 127. Srinivasan M, Katewa SD, Palaniyappan A, Pandya JD, Patel MS. Maternal high-fat diet consumption results in fetal malprogramming predisposing to the onset of metabolic syndrome-like phenotype in adulthood. *American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism.* 2006;291(4):E792-799.
- 128. Ghebremeskel K, Bitsanis D, Koukkou E, Lowy C, Poston L, Crawford MA. Maternal diet high in fat reduces docosahexaenoic acid in liver lipids of newborn and sucking rat pups. *The British journal of nutrition*. 1999;81(5):395-404.
- 129. Khan IY, Dekou V, Douglas G, Jensen R, Hanson MA, Poston L, Taylor PD. A high-fat diet during rat pregnancy or suckling induces cardiovascular dysfunction in adult offspring. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology.* 2005;288(1):R127-133.
- 130. Cerf ME, Williams K, Nkomo XI, Muller CJ, Du Toit DF, Louw J, Wolfe-Coote SA. Islet cell response in the neonatal rat after exposure to a highfat diet during pregnancy. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology*. 2005;288(5):R1122-1128.
- 131. Khan IY, Taylor PD, Dekou V, Seed PT, Lakasing L, Graham D, Dominiczak AF, Hanson MA, Poston L. Gender-linked hypertension in offspring of lard-fed pregnant rats. *Hypertension*. 2003;41(1):168-175.

- 132. Taylor PD, McConnell J, Khan IY, Holemans K, Lawrence KM, Asare-Anane H, Persaud SJ, Jones PM, Petrie L, Hanson MA, Poston L. Impaired glucose homeostasis and mitochondrial abnormalities in offspring of rats fed a fat-rich diet in pregnancy. *American journal of physiology Regulatory*, *integrative and comparative physiology*. 2005;288(1):R134-139.
- 133. Guo F, Jen KL. High-fat feeding during pregnancy and lactation affects offspring metabolism in rats. *Physiology & behavior*. 1995;57(4):681-686.
- 134. Bilbo SD, Tsang V. Enduring consequences of maternal obesity for brain inflammation and behavior of offspring. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2010;24(6):2104-2115.
- 135. Sullivan EL, Grayson B, Takahashi D, Robertson N, Maier A, Bethea CL, Smith MS, Coleman K, Grove KL. Chronic consumption of a high-fat diet during pregnancy causes perturbations in the serotonergic system and increased anxiety-like behavior in nonhuman primate offspring. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 2010;30(10):3826-3830.
- 136. Chang GQ, Gaysinskaya V, Karatayev O, Leibowitz SF. Maternal high-fat diet and fetal programming: increased proliferation of hypothalamic peptide-producing neurons that increase risk for overeating and obesity. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 2008;28(46):12107-12119.
- 137. Muhlhausler BS, Adam CL, Findlay PA, Duffield JA, McMillen IC. Increased maternal nutrition alters development of the appetiteregulating network in the brain. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2006;20(8):1257-1259.
- 138. Davidowa H, Li Y, Plagemann A. Altered responses to orexigenic (AGRP, MCH) and anorexigenic (alpha-MSH, CART) neuropeptides of paraventricular hypothalamic neurons in early postnatally overfed rats. *The European journal of neuroscience*. 2003;18(3):613-621.
- 139. British Nutrition Foundation. Unsaturated fatty acids : nutritional and physiological significance : the report of the British Nutrition Foundation's task force. London ; New York: Chapman & Hall.
- 140. Weisinger HS, Armitage JA, Sinclair AJ, Vingrys AJ, Burns PL, Weisinger RS. Perinatal omega-3 fatty acid deficiency affects blood pressure later in life. *Nature medicine*. 2001;7(3):258-259.
- 141. Koletzko B, Braun M. Arachidonic acid and early human growth: is there a relation? *Annals of nutrition & metabolism*. 1991;35(3):128-131.
- 142. Rich-Edwards JW, Stampfer MJ, Manson JE, Rosner B, Hu FB, Michels KB, Willett WC. Breastfeeding during infancy and the risk of cardiovascular disease in adulthood. *Epidemiology*. 2004;15(5):550-556.
- 143. Shields L, Mamun AA, O'Callaghan M, Williams GM, Najman JM. Breastfeeding and obesity at 21 years: a cohort study. *Journal of clinical nursing*. 2010;19(11-12):1612-1617.

- 144. von Kries R, Koletzko B, Sauerwald T, von Mutius E, Barnert D, Grunert V, von Voss H. Breast feeding and obesity: cross sectional study. *Bmj*. 1999;319(7203):147-150.
- 145. Gillman MW, Rifas-Shiman SL, Camargo CA, Jr., Berkey CS, Frazier AL, Rockett HR, Field AE, Colditz GA. Risk of overweight among adolescents who were breastfed as infants. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association*. 2001;285(19):2461-2467.
- 146. Wyrwoll CS, Mark PJ, Mori TA, Waddell BJ. Developmental programming of adult hyperinsulinemia, increased proinflammatory cytokine production, and altered skeletal muscle expression of SLC2A4 (GLUT4) and uncoupling protein 3. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 2008;198(3):571-579.
- 147. Shreiner A, Huffnagle GB, Noverr MC. The "Microflora Hypothesis" of allergic disease. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology*. 2008;635:113-134.
- 148. Haas SA, Oi K. The developmental origins of health and disease in international perspective. *Social science & medicine*. 2018;213:123-133.
- 149. Stiemsma LT, Michels KB. The Role of the Microbiome in the Developmental Origins of Health and Disease. *Pediatrics*. 2018;141(4).
- 150. Carrasco GA, Van de Kar LD. Neuroendocrine pharmacology of stress. *European journal of pharmacology*. 2003;463(1-3):235-272.
- 151. Chrousos GP, Gold PW. The concepts of stress and stress system disorders. Overview of physical and behavioral homeostasis. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association*. 1992;267(9):1244-1252.
- 152. Rhoades R, Tanner GA. Medical physiology. 2nd ed. Philadelphia, Pa. ; London: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 153. Rhoades R, Tanner GA. Medical physiology. Philadelphia, Pa. ; London: Philadelphia, Pa. ; London : Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 154. Vale W, Spiess J, Rivier C, Rivier J. Characterization of a 41-residue ovine hypothalamic peptide that stimulates secretion of corticotropin and beta-endorphin. *Science*. 1981;213(4514):1394-1397.
- 155. Jacobson L, Sapolsky R. The role of the hippocampus in feedback regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. *Endocrine reviews*. 1991;12(2):118-134.
- 156. Keller-Wood ME, Dallman MF. Corticosteroid inhibition of ACTH secretion. *Endocrine reviews*. 1984;5(1):1-24.
- 157. Reul JM, de Kloet ER. Two receptor systems for corticosterone in rat brain: microdistribution and differential occupation. *Endocrinology*. 1985;117(6):2505-2511.
- 158. Bamberger CM, Schulte HM, Chrousos GP. Molecular determinants of glucocorticoid receptor function and tissue sensitivity to glucocorticoids. *Endocrine reviews*. 1996;17(3):245-261.
- 159. Funder JW. Glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptors: biology and clinical relevance. *Annual review of medicine*. 1997;48:231-240.
- 160. Li X, Wong J, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. Progesterone and glucocorticoid receptors recruit distinct coactivator complexes and

promote distinct patterns of local chromatin modification. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2003;23(11):3763-3773.

- 161. Patel PD, Lopez JF, Lyons DM, Burke S, Wallace M, Schatzberg AF. Glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA expression in squirrel monkey brain. *Journal of psychiatric research*. 2000;34(6):383-392.
- 162. Sapolsky RM, Krey LC, McEwen BS. Prolonged glucocorticoid exposure reduces hippocampal neuron number: implications for aging. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 1985;5(5):1222-1227.
- 163. Ohl F, Michaelis T, Vollmann-Honsdorf GK, Kirschbaum C, Fuchs E. Effect of chronic psychosocial stress and long-term cortisol treatment on hippocampus-mediated memory and hippocampal volume: a pilot-study in tree shrews. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2000;25(4):357-363.
- 164. Del Rey A, Chrousos GP, Besedovsky HO. The hypothalamus-pituitaryadrenal axis. Amsterdam ; London: Elsevier.
- 165. Kitraki E, Kittas C, Stylianopoulou F. Glucocorticoid receptor gene expression during rat embryogenesis. An in situ hybridization study. *Differentiation; research in biological diversity*. 1997;62(1):21-31.
- 166. Liggins GC. The role of cortisol in preparing the fetus for birth. *Reproduction, fertility, and development*. 1994;6(2):141-150.
- 167. Lindsay JR, Nieman LK. The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in pregnancy: challenges in disease detection and treatment. *Endocrine reviews*. 2005;26(6):775-799.
- 168. Fowden AL, Li J, Forhead AJ. Glucocorticoids and the preparation for life after birth: are there long-term consequences of the life insurance? *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*. 1998;57(1):113-122.
- 169. Michelsohn AM, Anderson DJ. Changes in competence determine the timing of two sequential glucocorticoid effects on sympathoadrenal progenitors. *Neuron*. 1992;8(3):589-604.
- 170. Mastorakos G, Ilias I. Maternal and fetal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axes during pregnancy and postpartum. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 2003;997:136-149.
- 171. Fowden AL, Apatu RS, Silver M. The glucogenic capacity of the fetal pig: developmental regulation by cortisol. *Experimental physiology*. 1995;80(3):457-467.
- 172. Loirdighi N, Menard D, Delvin D, Levy E. Selective effects of hydrocortisone on intestinal lipoprotein and apolipoprotein synthesis in the human fetus. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*. 1997;66(1):65-76.
- 173. Murphy VE, Clifton VL. Alterations in human placental 11betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 and 2 with gestational age and labour. *Placenta*. 2003;24(7):739-744.
- 174. Brown RW, Diaz R, Robson AC, Kotelevtsev YV, Mullins JJ, Kaufman MH, Seckl JR. The ontogeny of 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 and mineralocorticoid receptor gene expression reveal intricate control of glucocorticoid action in development. *Endocrinology*. 1996;137(2):794-797.

- 175. Campbell AL, Murphy BE. The maternal-fetal cortisol gradient during pregnancy and at delivery. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 1977;45(3):435-440.
- 176. Yang K. Placental 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase: barrier to maternal glucocorticoids. *Reviews of reproduction*. 1997;2(3):129-132.
- 177. Edwards CR, Benediktsson R, Lindsay RS, Seckl JR. 11 beta-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases: key enzymes in determining tissuespecific glucocorticoid effects. *Steroids*. 1996;61(4):263-269.
- 178. Blasco MJ, Lopez Bernal A, Turnbull AC. 11 beta-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activity of the human placenta during pregnancy. *Horm Metab Res.* 1986;18(9):638-641.
- 179. Murphy BE, Clark SJ, Donald IR, Pinsky M, Vedady D. Conversion of maternal cortisol to cortisone during placental transfer to the human fetus. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 1974;118(4):538-541.
- 180. Benediktsson R, Calder AA, Edwards CR, Seckl JR. Placental 11 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase: a key regulator of fetal glucocorticoid exposure. *Clinical endocrinology*. 1997;46(2):161-166.
- 181. Kalabis GM, Kostaki A, Andrews MH, Petropoulos S, Gibb W, Matthews SG. Multidrug resistance phosphoglycoprotein (ABCB1) in the mouse placenta: fetal protection. *Biology of reproduction*. 2005;73(4):591-597.
- 182. Sun M, Kingdom J, Baczyk D, Lye SJ, Matthews SG, Gibb W. Expression of the multidrug resistance P-glycoprotein, (ABCB1 glycoprotein) in the human placenta decreases with advancing gestation. *Placenta*. 2006;27(6-7):602-609.
- 183. Miracle X, Di Renzo GC, Stark A, Fanaroff A, Carbonell-Estrany X, Saling E. Guideline for the use of antenatal corticosteroids for fetal maturation. *Journal of perinatal medicine*. 2008;36(3):191-196.
- 184. Mercado AB, Wilson RC, Cheng KC, Wei JQ, New MI. Prenatal treatment and diagnosis of congenital adrenal hyperplasia owing to steroid 21hydroxylase deficiency. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 1995;80(7):2014-2020.
- 185. Diederich S, Eigendorff E, Burkhardt P, Quinkler M, Bumke-Vogt C, Rochel M, Seidelmann D, Esperling P, Oelkers W, Bahr V. 11betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase types 1 and 2: an important pharmacokinetic determinant for the activity of synthetic mineralo- and glucocorticoids. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2002;87(12):5695-5701.
- 186. Rebuffat AG, Tam S, Nawrocki AR, Baker ME, Frey BM, Frey FJ, Odermatt A. The 11-ketosteroid 11-ketodexamethasone is a glucocorticoid receptor agonist. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology*. 2004;214(1-2):27-37.
- 187. Bloom SL, Sheffield JS, McIntire DD, Leveno KJ. Antenatal dexamethasone and decreased birth weight. *Obstetrics and gynecology*. 2001;97(4):485-490.
- 188. French NP, Hagan R, Evans SF, Godfrey M, Newnham JP. Repeated antenatal corticosteroids: size at birth and subsequent development. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 1999;180(1 Pt 1):114-121.
- 189. McCormick CM, Smythe JW, Sharma S, Meaney MJ. Sex-specific effects of prenatal stress on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal responses to stress and

brain glucocorticoid receptor density in adult rats. *Brain research Developmental brain research*. 1995;84(1):55-61.

- 190. Jutapakdeegul N, Afadlal S, Polaboon N, Phansuwan-Pujito P, Govitrapong P. Repeated restraint stress and corticosterone injections during late pregnancy alter GAP-43 expression in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex of rat pups. *International journal of developmental neuroscience : the official journal of the International Society for Developmental Neuroscience*. 2010;28(1):83-90.
- 191. McTernan CL, Draper N, Nicholson H, Chalder SM, Driver P, Hewison M, Kilby MD, Stewart PM. Reduced placental 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 mRNA levels in human pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction: an analysis of possible mechanisms. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2001;86(10):4979-4983.
- 192. Stewart PM, Rogerson FM, Mason JI. Type 2 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase messenger ribonucleic acid and activity in human placenta and fetal membranes: its relationship to birth weight and putative role in fetal adrenal steroidogenesis. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 1995;80(3):885-890.
- 193. Nyirenda MJ, Lindsay RS, Kenyon CJ, Burchell A, Seckl JR. Glucocorticoid exposure in late gestation permanently programs rat hepatic phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase and glucocorticoid receptor expression and causes glucose intolerance in adult offspring. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1998;101(10):2174-2181.
- 194. Shoener JA, Baig R, Page KC. Prenatal exposure to dexamethasone alters hippocampal drive on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity in adult male rats. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology*. 2006;290(5):R1366-1373.
- 195. Goland RS, Jozak S, Warren WB, Conwell IM, Stark RI, Tropper PJ. Elevated levels of umbilical cord plasma corticotropin-releasing hormone in growth-retarded fetuses. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 1993;77(5):1174-1179.
- 196. Dy J, Guan H, Sampath-Kumar R, Richardson BS, Yang K. Placental 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 is reduced in pregnancies complicated with idiopathic intrauterine growth Restriction: evidence that this is associated with an attenuated ratio of cortisone to cortisol in the umbilical artery. *Placenta*. 2008;29(2):193-200.
- 197. Ikegami M, Jobe AH, Newnham J, Polk DH, Willet KE, Sly P. Repetitive prenatal glucocorticoids improve lung function and decrease growth in preterm lambs. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*. 1997;156(1):178-184.
- 198. Alfaidy N, Gupta S, DeMarco C, Caniggia I, Challis JR. Oxygen regulation of placental 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2: physiological and pathological implications. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2002;87(10):4797-4805.
- 199. Giussani DA, Camm EJ, Niu Y, Richter HG, Blanco CE, Gottschalk R, Blake EZ, Horder KA, Thakor AS, Hansell JA, Kane AD, Wooding FB, Cross CM,

Herrera EA. Developmental programming of cardiovascular dysfunction by prenatal hypoxia and oxidative stress. *PloS one*. 2012;7(2):e31017.

- 200. Edwards LJ, Bryce AE, Coulter CL, McMillen IC. Maternal undernutrition throughout pregnancy increases adrenocorticotrophin receptor and steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene expression in the adrenal gland of twin fetal sheep during late gestation. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology*. 2002;196(1-2):1-10.
- 201. Knight BS, Pennell CE, Shah R, Lye SJ. Strain differences in the impact of dietary restriction on fetal growth and pregnancy in mice. *Reprod Sci.* 2007;14(1):81-90.
- 202. Langley-Evans SC, Gardner DS, Jackson AA. Maternal protein restriction influences the programming of the rat hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *The Journal of nutrition*. 1996;126(6):1578-1585.
- 203. Dave-Sharma S, Wilson RC, Harbison MD, Newfield R, Azar MR, Krozowski ZS, Funder JW, Shackleton CH, Bradlow HL, Wei JQ, Hertecant J, Moran A, Neiberger RE, Balfe JW, Fattah A, Daneman D, Akkurt HI, De Santis C, New MI. Examination of genotype and phenotype relationships in 14 patients with apparent mineralocorticoid excess. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 1998;83(7):2244-2254.
- 204. Cottrell EC, Holmes MC, Livingstone DE, Kenyon CJ, Seckl JR. Reconciling the nutritional and glucocorticoid hypotheses of fetal programming. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2012;26(5):1866-1874.
- 205. Whorwood CB, Firth KM, Budge H, Symonds ME. Maternal undernutrition during early to midgestation programs tissue-specific alterations in the expression of the glucocorticoid receptor, 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase isoforms, and type 1 angiotensin ii receptor in neonatal sheep. *Endocrinology*. 2001;142(7):2854-2864.
- 206. Hawkins P, Steyn C, McGarrigle HH, Saito T, Ozaki T, Stratford LL, Noakes DE, Hanson MA. Effect of maternal nutrient restriction in early gestation on development of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in fetal sheep at 0.8-0.9 of gestation. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 1999;163(3):553-561.
- 207. Lesage J, Blondeau B, Grino M, Breant B, Dupouy JP. Maternal undernutrition during late gestation induces fetal overexposure to glucocorticoids and intrauterine growth retardation, and disturbs the hypothalamo-pituitary adrenal axis in the newborn rat. *Endocrinology*. 2001;142(5):1692-1702.
- 208. Lindsay RS, Lindsay RM, Waddell BJ, Seckl JR. Prenatal glucocorticoid exposure leads to offspring hyperglycaemia in the rat: studies with the 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase inhibitor carbenoxolone. *Diabetologia*. 1996;39(11):1299-1305.
- 209. Dodic M, May CN, Wintour EM, Coghlan JP. An early prenatal exposure to excess glucocorticoid leads to hypertensive offspring in sheep. *Clinical science*. 1998;94(2):149-155.
- 210. Dodic M, Peers A, Coghlan JP, May CN, Lumbers E, Yu Z, Wintour EM. Altered cardiovascular haemodynamics and baroreceptor-heart rate reflex

in adult sheep after prenatal exposure to dexamethasone. *Clinical science*. 1999;97(1):103-109.

- 211. Knight BS, Pennell CE, Adamson SL, Lye SJ. The impact of murine strain and sex on postnatal development after maternal dietary restriction during pregnancy. *The Journal of physiology*. 2007;581(Pt 2):873-881.
- 212. Welberg LA, Seckl JR, Holmes MC. Inhibition of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, the foeto-placental barrier to maternal glucocorticoids, permanently programs amygdala GR mRNA expression and anxiety-like behaviour in the offspring. *The European journal of neuroscience*. 2000;12(3):1047-1054.
- 213. Sloboda DM, Moss TJ, Gurrin LC, Newnham JP, Challis JR. The effect of prenatal betamethasone administration on postnatal ovine hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal function. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 2002;172(1):71-81.
- 214. Sloboda DM, Newnham JP, Challis JR. Effects of repeated maternal betamethasone administration on growth and hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal function of the ovine fetus at term. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 2000;165(1):79-91.
- 215. Kaplan LA, Evans L, Monk C. Effects of mothers' prenatal psychiatric status and postnatal caregiving on infant biobehavioral regulation: can prenatal programming be modified? *Early human development*. 2008;84(4):249-256.
- 216. O'Connor TG, Ben-Shlomo Y, Heron J, Golding J, Adams D, Glover V. Prenatal anxiety predicts individual differences in cortisol in preadolescent children. *Biological psychiatry*. 2005;58(3):211-217.
- 217. Van den Bergh BR, Van Calster B, Smits T, Van Huffel S, Lagae L. Antenatal maternal anxiety is related to HPA-axis dysregulation and selfreported depressive symptoms in adolescence: a prospective study on the fetal origins of depressed mood. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology.* 2008;33(3):536-545.
- 218. Brown AS, Os Jv, Driessens C, Hoek HW, Susser ES. Further Evidence of Relation Between Prenatal Famine and Major Affective Disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*. 2000;157(2):190-195.
- 219. Jones PB, Rantakallio P, Hartikainen AL, Isohanni M, Sipila P. Schizophrenia as a long-term outcome of pregnancy, delivery, and perinatal complications: a 28-year follow-up of the 1966 north Finland general population birth cohort. *The American journal of psychiatry*. 1998;155(3):355-364.
- 220. Schaefer CA, Brown AS, Wyatt RJ, Kline J, Begg MD, Bresnahan MA, Susser ES. Maternal prepregnant body mass and risk of schizophrenia in adult offspring. *Schizophrenia bulletin*. 2000;26(2):275-286.
- 221. Buss C, Entringer S, Davis EP, Hobel CJ, Swanson JM, Wadhwa PD, Sandman CA. Impaired executive function mediates the association between maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index and child ADHD symptoms. *PloS one*. 2012;7(6):e37758.
- 222. Chen Q, Sjolander A, Langstrom N, Rodriguez A, Serlachius E, D'Onofrio BM, Lichtenstein P, Larsson H. Maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index

and offspring attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a population-based cohort study using a sibling-comparison design. *International journal of epidemiology*. 2014;43(1):83-90.

- 223. Van den Bergh BR, Marcoen A. High antenatal maternal anxiety is related to ADHD symptoms, externalizing problems, and anxiety in 8- and 9- year-olds. *Child development*. 2004;75(4):1085-1097.
- 224. Liu D, Diorio J, Tannenbaum B, Caldji C, Francis D, Freedman A, Sharma S, Pearson D, Plotsky PM, Meaney MJ. Maternal care, hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors, and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal responses to stress. *Science*. 1997;277(5332):1659-1662.
- 225. Francis D, Diorio J, Liu D, Meaney MJ. Nongenomic transmission across generations of maternal behavior and stress responses in the rat. *Science*. 1999;286(5442):1155-1158.
- 226. Grigore D, Ojeda NB, Alexander BT. Sex differences in the fetal programming of hypertension. *Gender medicine*. 2008;5 Suppl A:S121-132.
- 227. Lee S, Rivier C. Gender differences in the effect of prenatal alcohol exposure on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis response to immune signals. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 1996;21(2):145-155.
- 228. Sugden MC, Holness MJ. Gender-specific programming of insulin secretion and action. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 2002;175(3):757-767.
- 229. Gallou-Kabani C, Gabory A, Tost J, Karimi M, Mayeur S, Lesage J, Boudadi E, Gross MS, Taurelle J, Vige A, Breton C, Reusens B, Remacle C, Vieau D, Ekstrom TJ, Jais JP, Junien C. Sex- and diet-specific changes of imprinted gene expression and DNA methylation in mouse placenta under a high-fat diet. *PloS one*. 2010;5(12):e14398.
- 230. Vickers MH, Clayton ZE, Yap C, Sloboda DM. Maternal fructose intake during pregnancy and lactation alters placental growth and leads to sex-specific changes in fetal and neonatal endocrine function. *Endocrinology*. 2011;152(4):1378-1387.
- 231. Dodic M, Abouantoun T, O'Connor A, Wintour EM, Moritz KM. Programming effects of short prenatal exposure to dexamethasone in sheep. *Hypertension*. 2002;40(5):729-734.
- 232. Gilbert JS, Ford SP, Lang AL, Pahl LR, Drumhiller MC, Babcock SA, Nathanielsz PW, Nijland MJ. Nutrient restriction impairs nephrogenesis in a gender-specific manner in the ovine fetus. *Pediatric research*. 2007;61(1):42-47.
- 233. Hallan S, Euser AM, Irgens LM, Finken MJ, Holmen J, Dekker FW. Effect of intrauterine growth restriction on kidney function at young adult age: the Nord Trondelag Health (HUNT 2) Study. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. 2008;51(1):10-20.
- 234. Ward AM, Moore VM, Steptoe A, Cockington RA, Robinson JS, Phillips DI. Size at birth and cardiovascular responses to psychological stressors: evidence for prenatal programming in women. *Journal of Hypertension*. 2004;22(12):2295-2301.

- 235. Parker AJ, Davies P, Mayho AM, Newton JR. The ultrasound estimation of sex-related variations of intrauterine growth. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 1984;149(6):665-669.
- 236. Valdivia R, Kunieda T, Azuma S, Toyoda Y. PCR sexing and developmental rate differences in preimplantation mouse embryos fertilized and cultured in vitro. *Molecular reproduction and development*. 1993;35(2):121-126.
- 237. Clifton V. Review: sex and the human placenta: mediating differential strategies of fetal growth and survival. *Placenta*. 2010;31:S33-S39.
- 238. Gardner DS, Van Bon BW, Dandrea J, Goddard PJ, May SF, Wilson V, Stephenson T, Symonds ME. Effect of periconceptional undernutrition and gender on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis function in young adult sheep. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 2006;190(2):203-212.
- 239. Hyatt MA, Budge H, Symonds ME. Early developmental influences on hepatic organogenesis. *Organogenesis*. 2008;4(3):170-175.
- 240. Treuting PM, Dintzis SM. Comparative Anatomy and Histology A Mouse and Human Atlas. Burlington: Elsevier Science,; 2011.
- 241. Misdraji J. Embryology, Anatomy, Histology, and Developmental Anomalies of the Liver. In: Sleisenger MH, Feldman M, Friedman LS, Brandt LJ, Llc MDC, eds. Sleisenger & Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver disease. Philadelphia: Philadelphia : Saunders/Elsevier; 2010:1201-1206.
- 242. Hollander CF, van Bezooijen CF, Solleveld HA. Anatomy, function and aging in the mouse liver. *Arch Toxicol Suppl*. 1987;10:244-250.
- 243. Roy-Chowdhury N, Roy-Chowdhury J. Liver Physiology and Energy Metabolism. In: Sleisenger MH, Feldman M, Friedman LS, Brandt LJ, Llc MDC, eds. Sleisenger & Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver disease. Philadelphia: Philadelphia : Saunders/Elsevier; 2010:1207-1226.
- 244. Blouin A, Bolender RP, Weibel ER. Distribution of organelles and membranes between hepatocytes and nonhepatocytes in the rat liver parenchyma. A stereological study. *J Cell Biol*. 1977;72(2):441-455.
- 245. Baratta JL, Ngo A, Lopez B, Kasabwalla N, Longmuir KJ, Robertson RT. Cellular organization of normal mouse liver: a histological, quantitative immunocytochemical, and fine structural analysis. *Histochemistry and cell biology*. 2009;131(6):713-726.
- 246. Kaufman SS. Organogenesis and Histologic Development of the Liver. Vol2. Philadelphia: Philadelphia : Saunders.
- 247. Sherwood L. Human physiology : from cells to systems / Lauralee Sherwood. 2nd ed ed. Minneapolis/St. Paul :: West Pub. Co.
- 248. Wang PY, Caspi L, Lam CK, Chari M, Li X, Light PE, Gutierrez-Juarez R, Ang M, Schwartz GJ, Lam TK. Upper intestinal lipids trigger a gut-brainliver axis to regulate glucose production. *Nature*. 2008;452(7190):1012-1016.
- 249. Schulz H. Beta oxidation of fatty acids. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1991;1081(2):109-120.
- 250. Moore CF, Schneider ML. Prenatal Development. Encyclopedia of Human Development. SAGE Publications, Inc. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.

- 251. Sadler TW, Langman J. Langman's medical embryology. 10th ed. Philadelphia, Pa.: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 252. Otis EM, Brent R. Equivalent ages in mouse and human embryos. *Anat Rec.* 1954;120(1):33-63.
- 253. Xue L, Yi H, Huang Z, Shi YB, Li WX. Global gene expression during the human organogenesis: from transcription profiles to function predictions. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2011;7(7):1068-1076.
- 254. Crawford LW, Foley JF, Elmore SA. Histology atlas of the developing mouse hepatobiliary system with emphasis on embryonic days 9.5-18.5. *Toxicol Pathol.* 2010;38(6):872-906.
- 255. Kaufman MH. The atlas of mouse development. London: Academic.
- 256. O'Rahilly R, Müller F. Developmental stages in human embryos. Washington DC: Carnegie Institution of Washington.
- 257. Hill MA. Early human development. *Clin Obstet Gynecol*. 2007;50(1):2-9.
- 258. O'Rahilly R, Muller F. Developmental stages in human embryos: revised and new measurements. *Cells Tissues Organs*. 2010;192(2):73-84.
- 259. Bard JL, Kaufman MH, Dubreuil C, Brune RM, Burger A, Baldock RA, Davidson DR. An internet-accessible database of mouse developmental anatomy based on a systematic nomenclature. *Mech Dev.* 1998;74(1-2):111-120.
- 260. Theiler K. The house mouse : atlas of embryonic development. New York ; Berlin: New York ; Berlin : Springer-Verlag.
- 261. Zaret KS. Regulatory phases of early liver development: paradigms of organogenesis. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2002;3(7):499-512.
- 262. Godlewski G, Gaubert-Cristol R, Rouy S, Prudhomme M. Liver development in the rat and in man during the embryonic period (Carnegie stages 11-23). *Microsc Res Tech*. 1997;39(4):314-327.
- 263. Gilbert SF. Developmental biology. Sunderland, Mass.: Sunderland, Mass. : Sinauer Associates.
- 264. Kinoshita T, Miyajima A. Cytokine regulation of liver development. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2002;1592(3):303-312.
- 265. Lemaigre FP. Mechanisms of liver development: concepts for understanding liver disorders and design of novel therapies. *Gastroenterology*. 2009;137(1):62-79.
- 266. Medvinsky A, Dzierzak E. Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. *Cell*. 1996;86(6):897-906.
- 267. Kumaravelu P, Hook L, Morrison AM, Ure J, Zhao S, Zuyev S, Ansell J, Medvinsky A. Quantitative developmental anatomy of definitive haematopoietic stem cells/long-term repopulating units (HSC/RUs): role of the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region and the yolk sac in colonisation of the mouse embryonic liver. *Development*. 2002;129(21):4891-4899.
- 268. Tavian M, Hallais MF, Peault B. Emergence of intraembryonic hematopoietic precursors in the pre-liver human embryo. *Development*. 1999;126(4):793-803.
- 269. Han V, D'Ercole AJ, Lund PK. Cellular localization of somatomedin (insulin-like growth factor) messenger RNA in the human fetus. *Science*. 1987;236(4798):193-197.
- 270. HAN VK, Lund PK, LEE DC, D'ERCOLE J. Expression of Somatomedin/Insulin-Like Growth Factor Messenger Ribonucleic Acids in the Human Fetus: Identification, Characterization, and Tissue Distribution*. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 1988;66(2):422-429.
- 271. Widdowson EM, Crabb DE, Milner RDG. Cellular development of some human organs before birth. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*. 1972;47(254):652.
- 272. Beath SV. Hepatic function and physiology in the newborn. *Seminars in neonatology : SN*. 2003;8(5):337-346.
- 273. Kennedy S, Rettinger S, Flye MW, Ponder KP. Experiments in transgenic mice show that hepatocytes are the source for postnatal liver growth and do not stream. *Hepatology*. 1995;22(1):160-168.
- 274. Sasaki K, Sonoda Y. Histometrical and three-dimensional analyses of liver hematopoiesis in the mouse embryo. *Archives of histology and cytology*. 2000;63(2):137-146.
- 275. Behrens A, Sibilia M, David JP, Mohle-Steinlein U, Tronche F, Schutz G, Wagner EF. Impaired postnatal hepatocyte proliferation and liver regeneration in mice lacking c-jun in the liver. *Embo J.* 2002;21(7):1782-1790.
- 276. Apte U, Zeng G, Thompson MD, Muller P, Micsenyi A, Cieply B, Kaestner KH, Monga SP. beta-Catenin is critical for early postnatal liver growth. *American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology*. 2007;292(6):G1578-1585.
- 277. Agurs-Collins T, Bouchard C. Gene-Nutrition and Gene-Physical Activity Interactions in the Etiology of Obesity. *Obesity*. 2008;16(S3):S2-S4.
- 278. Adamo KB, Tesson F. Gene-environment interaction and the metabolic syndrome. *Novartis Foundation symposium*. 2008;293:103-119; discussion 119-127.
- 279. Papoutsakis C, Dedoussis GV. Gene-diet interactions in childhood obesity: paucity of evidence as the epidemic of childhood obesity continues to rise. 2007.
- 280. Sharma V, McNeill JH. The etiology of hypertension in the metabolic syndrome part two: the gene-environment interaction. *Current vascular pharmacology*. 2006;4(4):305-320.
- 281. Schork NJ, Fallin D, Lanchbury JS. Single nucleotide polymorphisms and the future of genetic epidemiology. *Clinical genetics*. 2000;58(4):250-264.
- 282. Goni L, Milagro FI, Cuervo M, Martínez JA. Single-nucleotide polymorphisms and DNA methylation markers associated with central obesity and regulation of body weight. *Nutrition reviews*. 2014;72(11):673-690.
- 283. Auwerx J. PPARgamma, the ultimate thrifty gene. *Diabetologia*. 1999;42(9):1033-1049.

- 284. Kilpelainen TO, Lakka TA, Laaksonen DE, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hamalainen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, Lindi V, Tuomilehto J, Uusitupa M, Laakso M. SNPs in PPARG associate with type 2 diabetes and interact with physical activity. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*. 2008;40(1):25-33.
- 285. Eriksson JG, Lindi V, Uusitupa M, Forsen TJ, Laakso M, Osmond C, Barker DJ. The effects of the Pro12Ala polymorphism of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma2 gene on insulin sensitivity and insulin metabolism interact with size at birth. *Diabetes*. 2002;51(7):2321-2324.
- 286. Yliharsila H, Eriksson JG, Forsen T, Laakso M, Uusitupa M, Osmond C, Barker DJ. Interactions between peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma 2 gene polymorphisms and size at birth on blood pressure and the use of antihypertensive medication. *J Hypertens*. 2004;22(7):1283-1287.
- 287. Eriksson JG, Forsen TJ, Osmond C, Barker DJ. Pathways of infant and childhood growth that lead to type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes care*. 2003;26(11):3006-3010.
- 288. Geelen CC, van Greevenbroek MM, van Rossum EF, Schaper NC, Nijpels G, t Hart LM, Schalkwijk CG, Ferreira I, van der Kallen CJ, Sauerwein HP, Dekker JM, Stehouwer CD, Havekes B. BclI glucocorticoid receptor polymorphism is associated with greater body fatness: the Hoorn and CODAM studies. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2013;98(3):E595-599.
- 289. Roussel R, Reis AF, Dubois-Laforgue D, Bellanne-Chantelot C, Timsit J, Velho G. The N363S polymorphism in the glucocorticoid receptor gene is associated with overweight in subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clinical endocrinology*. 2003;59(2):237-241.
- 290. Yan YX, Dong J, Zhang J, Liu F, Wang W, Zhang L, He Y. Polymorphisms in NR3C1 gene associated with risk of metabolic syndrome in a Chinese population. *Endocrine*. 2014;47(3):740-748.
- 291. Szczepankiewicz A, Leszczyńska-Rodziewicz A, Pawlak J, Rajewska-Rager A, Dmitrzak-Weglarz M, Wilkosc M, Skibinska M, Hauser J. Glucocorticoid receptor polymorphism is associated with major depression and predominance of depression in the course of bipolar disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*. 2011;134(1):138-144.
- 292. Wust S, Van Rossum EF, Federenko IS, Koper JW, Kumsta R, Hellhammer DH. Common polymorphisms in the glucocorticoid receptor gene are associated with adrenocortical responses to psychosocial stress. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2004;89(2):565-573.
- 293. Rautanen A, Eriksson JG, Kere J, Andersson S, Osmond C, Tienari P, Sairanen H, Barker DJ, Phillips DI, Forsen T, Kajantie E. Associations of body size at birth with late-life cortisol concentrations and glucose tolerance are modified by haplotypes of the glucocorticoid receptor gene. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2006;91(11):4544-4551.
- 294. Abarin T, Yan Wu Y, Warrington N, Lye S, Pennell C, Briollais L. The impact of breastfeeding on FTO-related BMI growth trajectories: an

application to the Raine pregnancy cohort study. *International journal of epidemiology*. 2012;41(6):1650-1660.

- 295. Wu YY, Lye S, Briollais L. The role of early life growth development, the FTO gene and exclusive breastfeeding on child BMI trajectories. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2017;46(5):1512-1522.
- 296. Callinan PA, Feinberg AP. The emerging science of epigenomics. *Human molecular genetics*. 2006;15 Spec No 1:R95-101.
- 297. Ng HH, Bird A. Histone deacetylases: silencers for hire. *Trends in biochemical sciences*. 2000;25(3):121-126.
- 298. Royo H, Cavaille J. Non-coding RNAs in imprinted gene clusters. *Biology* of the cell / under the auspices of the European Cell Biology Organization. 2008;100(3):149-166.
- 299. Gruenbaum Y, Stein R, Cedar H, Razin A. Methylation of CpG sequences in eukaryotic DNA. *FEBS letters*. 1981;124(1):67-71.
- 300. Ng SS, Yue WW, Oppermann U, Klose RJ. Dynamic protein methylation in chromatin biology. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS*. 2009;66(3):407-422.
- 301. Oki M, Aihara H, Ito T. Role of histone phosphorylation in chromatin dynamics and its implications in diseases. *Sub-cellular biochemistry*. 2007;41:319-336.
- 302. Shiio Y, Eisenman RN. Histone sumoylation is associated with transcriptional repression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2003;100(23):13225-13230.
- 303. Gardiner-Garden M, Frommer M. CpG islands in vertebrate genomes. *Journal of molecular biology*. 1987;196(2):261-282.
- 304. Bird AP. CpG-rich islands and the function of DNA methylation. *Nature*. 1986;321(6067):209-213.
- 305. Bestor T, Laudano A, Mattaliano R, Ingram V. Cloning and sequencing of a cDNA encoding DNA methyltransferase of mouse cells. The carboxylterminal domain of the mammalian enzymes is related to bacterial restriction methyltransferases. *Journal of molecular biology*. 1988;203(4):971-983.
- 306. Bestor TH. The DNA methyltransferases of mammals. *Human molecular genetics*. 2000;9(16):2395-2402.
- 307. Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. *Cell*. 1999;99(3):247-257.
- 308. Li E, Bestor TH, Jaenisch R. Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. *Cell*. 1992;69(6):915-926.
- 309. Gruenbaum Y, Cedar H, Razin A. Substrate and sequence specificity of a eukaryotic DNA methylase. *Nature*. 1982;295(5850):620-622.
- 310. Mato JM, Alvarez L, Ortiz P, Pajares MA. S-adenosylmethionine synthesis: molecular mechanisms and clinical implications. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*. 1997;73(3):265-280.
- 311. Chiang PK, Gordon RK, Tal J, Zeng GC, Doctor BP, Pardhasaradhi K, McCann PP. S-Adenosylmethionine and methylation. *FASEB journal* :

official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 1996;10(4):471-480.

- Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B. Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. *Nature*. 1983;301(5895):89-92.
- 313. Stein R, Razin A, Cedar H. In vitro methylation of the hamster adenine phosphoribosyltransferase gene inhibits its expression in mouse L cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1982;79(11):3418-3422.
- 314. Goll MG, Bestor TH. Eukaryotic cytosine methyltransferases. *Annual review of biochemistry*. 2005;74:481-514.
- 315. Hellman A, Chess A. Gene body-specific methylation on the active X chromosome. *Science*. 2007;315(5815):1141-1143.
- 316. Jaenisch R. DNA methylation and imprinting: why bother? *Trends in genetics* : *TIG*. 1997;13(8):323-329.
- 317. Reik W, Walter J. Genomic imprinting: parental influence on the genome. *Nature Reviews Genetics*. 2001;2(1):21-32.
- 318. Bartolomei MS, Webber AL, Brunkow ME, Tilghman SM. Epigenetic mechanisms underlying the imprinting of the mouse H19 gene. *Genes & development*. 1993;7(9):1663-1673.
- 319. Li E, Beard C, Jaenisch R. Role for DNA methylation in genomic imprinting. *Nature*. 1993;366(6453):362-365.
- 320. Reik W, Walter J. Genomic imprinting: parental influence on the genome. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2001;2(1):21-32.
- 321. Moore T, Haig D. Genomic imprinting in mammalian development: a parental tug-of-war. *Trends in genetics : TIG.* 1991;7(2):45-49.
- 322. Steenman MJC, Rainier S, Dobry CJ, Grundy P, Horon IL, Feinberg AP. Loss of imprinting of IGF2 is linked to reduced expression and abnormal methylation of H19 in Wilms' tumour. *Nat Genet*. 1994;7(3):433-439.
- 323. DeChiara TM, Robertson EJ, Efstratiadis A. Parental imprinting of the mouse insulin-like growth factor II gene. *Cell*. 1991;64(4):849-859.
- 324. Constancia M, Hemberger M, Hughes J, Dean W, Ferguson-Smith A, Fundele R, Stewart F, Kelsey G, Fowden A, Sibley C, Reik W. Placental-specific IGF-II is a major modulator of placental and fetal growth. *Nature*. 2002;417(6892):945-948.
- 325. Miozzo M, Simoni G. The role of imprinted genes in fetal growth. *Biol Neonate*. 2002;81(4):217-228.
- 326. Burton GJ, Fowden AL. Review: The placenta and developmental programming: balancing fetal nutrient demands with maternal resource allocation. *Placenta*. 2012;33 Suppl:S23-27.
- 327. Luger K, Mader AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ. Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. *Nature*. 1997;389(6648):251-260.
- 328. Whitehead J, Pandey GK, Kanduri C. Regulation of the mammalian epigenome by long noncoding RNAs. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2009;1790(9):936-947.

- 329. Ling C, Del Guerra S, Lupi R, Ronn T, Granhall C, Luthman H, Masiello P, Marchetti P, Groop L, Del Prato S. Epigenetic regulation of PPARGC1A in human type 2 diabetic islets and effect on insulin secretion. *Diabetologia*. 2008;51(4):615-622.
- 330. Ying AK, Hassanain HH, Roos CM, Smiraglia DJ, Issa JJ, Michler RE, Caligiuri M, Plass C, Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ. Methylation of the estrogen receptor-alpha gene promoter is selectively increased in proliferating human aortic smooth muscle cells. *Cardiovascular research*. 2000;46(1):172-179.
- 331. Sinclair KD, Singh R. Modelling the developmental origins of health and disease in the early embryo. *Theriogenology*. 2007;67(1):43-53.
- 332. Van den Veyver IB. Genetic effects of methylation diets. *Annual review of nutrition*. 2002;22:255-282.
- 333. Waterland RA, Jirtle RL. Transposable elements: targets for early nutritional effects on epigenetic gene regulation. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2003;23(15):5293-5300.
- 334. Wolff GL, Kodell RL, Moore SR, Cooney CA. Maternal epigenetics and methyl supplements affect agouti gene expression in Avy/a mice. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 1998;12(11):949-957.
- 335. Sinclair KD, Allegrucci C, Singh R, Gardner DS, Sebastian S, Bispham J, Thurston A, Huntley JF, Rees WD, Maloney CA, Lea RG, Craigon J, McEvoy TG, Young LE. DNA methylation, insulin resistance, and blood pressure in offspring determined by maternal periconceptional B vitamin and methionine status. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2007;104(49):19351-19356.
- 336. Ling C, Groop L. Epigenetics: a molecular link between environmental factors and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2009;58(12):2718-2725.
- 337. Lillycrop KA, Phillips ES, Jackson AA, Hanson MA, Burdge GC. Dietary protein restriction of pregnant rats induces and folic acid supplementation prevents epigenetic modification of hepatic gene expression in the offspring. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2005;135(6):1382-1386.
- 338. Ke X, Lei Q, James SJ, Kelleher SL, Melnyk S, Jernigan S, Yu X, Wang L, Callaway CW, Gill G, Chan GM, Albertine KH, McKnight RA, Lane RH. Uteroplacental insufficiency affects epigenetic determinants of chromatin structure in brains of neonatal and juvenile IUGR rats. *Physiological genomics*. 2006;25(1):16-28.
- 339. Weaver IC, Cervoni N, Champagne FA, D'Alessio AC, Sharma S, Seckl JR, Dymov S, Szyf M, Meaney MJ. Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. *Nature neuroscience*. 2004;7(8):847-854.
- 340. Nobukuni Y, Smith CL, Hager GL, Detera-Wadleigh SD. Characterization of the human glucocorticoid receptor promoter. *Biochemistry*. 1995;34(25):8207-8214.
- 341. McCormick JA, Lyons V, Jacobson MD, Noble J, Diorio J, Nyirenda M, Weaver S, Ester W, Yau JL, Meaney MJ, Seckl JR, Chapman KE. 5'heterogeneity of glucocorticoid receptor messenger RNA is tissue specific:

differential regulation of variant transcripts by early-life events. *Molecular endocrinology*. 2000;14(4):506-517.

- 342. Weaver IC, Champagne FA, Brown SE, Dymov S, Sharma S, Meaney MJ, Szyf M. Reversal of maternal programming of stress responses in adult offspring through methyl supplementation: altering epigenetic marking later in life. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 2005;25(47):11045-11054.
- 343. Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, Putter H, Blauw GJ, Susser ES, Slagboom PE, Lumey LH. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2008;105(44):17046-17049.
- 344. Tobi EW, Slagboom PE, van Dongen J, Kremer D, Stein AD, Putter H, Heijmans BT, Lumey LH. Prenatal famine and genetic variation are independently and additively associated with DNA methylation at regulatory loci within IGF2/H19. *PloS one*. 2012;7(5):e37933.
- 345. Soubry A, Schildkraut JM, Murtha A, Wang F, Huang Z, Bernal A, Kurtzberg J, Jirtle RL, Murphy SK, Hoyo C. Paternal obesity is associated with IGF2 hypomethylation in newborns: results from a Newborn Epigenetics Study (NEST) cohort. *BMC medicine*. 2013;11:29.
- 346. McKay JA, Groom A, Potter C, Coneyworth LJ, Ford D, Mathers JC, Relton CL. Genetic and non-genetic influences during pregnancy on infant global and site specific DNA methylation: role for folate gene variants and vitamin B12. *PloS one*. 2012;7(3):e33290.
- 347. Banister CE, Koestler DC, Maccani MA, Padbury JF, Houseman EA, Marsit CJ. Infant growth restriction is associated with distinct patterns of DNA methylation in human placentas. *Epigenetics*. 2011;6(7):920-927.
- 348. Crudo A, Petropoulos S, Moisiadis VG, Iqbal M, Kostaki A, Machnes Z, Szyf M, Matthews SG. Prenatal synthetic glucocorticoid treatment changes DNA methylation states in male organ systems: multigenerational effects. *Endocrinology*. 2012;153(7):3269-3283.
- 349. Kaati G, Bygren LO, Edvinsson S. Cardiovascular and diabetes mortality determined by nutrition during parents' and grandparents' slow growth period. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG*. 2002;10(11):682-688.
- 350. Pembrey ME, Bygren LO, Kaati G, Edvinsson S, Northstone K, Sjostrom M, Golding J, Team AS. Sex-specific, male-line transgenerational responses in humans. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG*. 2006;14(2):159-166.
- 351. Hanson M, Godfrey KM, Lillycrop KA, Burdge GC, Gluckman PD. Developmental plasticity and developmental origins of noncommunicable disease: theoretical considerations and epigenetic mechanisms. *Progress in biophysics and molecular biology*. 2011;106(1):272-280.
- 352. Wang HS, Chard T. The role of insulin-like growth factor-I and insulinlike growth factor-binding protein-1 in the control of human fetal growth. *The Journal of endocrinology*. 1992;132(1):11-19.
- 353. Erusalimsky JD, Kurz DJ. Cellular senescence in vivo: its relevance in ageing and cardiovascular disease. *Exp Gerontol*. 2005;40(8-9):634-642.

- 354. Demidenko ZN, Blagosklonny MV. Growth stimulation leads to cellular senescence when the cell cycle is blocked. *Cell Cycle*. 2008;7(21):3355-3361.
- 355. Hayflick L. The Limited in Vitro Lifetime of Human Diploid Cell Strains. *Exp Cell Res.* 1965;37:614-636.
- 356. Blackburn EH. The molecular structure of centromeres and telomeres. *Annual review of biochemistry*. 1984;53:163-194.
- 357. Zakian VA. Telomeres: beginning to understand the end. *Science*. 1995;270(5242):1601-1607.
- 358. Hackett JA, Feldser DM, Greider CW. Telomere dysfunction increases mutation rate and genomic instability. *Cell*. 2001;106(3):275-286.
- 359. de Lange T. Shelterin: the protein complex that shapes and safeguards human telomeres. *Genes & development*. 2005;19(18):2100-2110.
- 360. Moyzis RK, Buckingham JM, Cram LS, Dani M, Deaven LL, Jones MD, Meyne J, Ratliff RL, Wu JR. A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence, (TTAGGG)n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1988;85(18):6622-6626.
- 361. Blackburn EH. Structure and function of telomeres. *Nature*. 1991;350(6319):569-573.
- 362. Watson JD. Origin of concatemeric T7 DNA. *Nat New Biol.* 1972;239(94):197-201.
- 363. Wynford-Thomas D, Kipling D. The end-replication problem. *Nature*. 1997;389(6651):551-551.
- 364. Cimino-Reale G, Pascale E, Alvino E, Starace G, D'Ambrosio E. Long telomeric C-rich 5'-tails in human replicating cells. *J Biol Chem*. 2003;278(4):2136-2140.
- 365. Griffith JD, Comeau L, Rosenfield S, Stansel RM, Bianchi A, Moss H, de Lange T. Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop. *Cell*. 1999;97(4):503-514.
- 366. Luke-Glaser S, Poschke H, Luke B. Getting in (and out of) the loop: regulating higher order telomere structures. *Front Oncol.* 2012;2:180.
- 367. Victorelli S, Lagnado A, Halim J, Moore W, Talbot D, Barrett K, Chapman J, Birch J, Ogrodnik M, Meves A, Pawlikowski JS, Jurk D, Adams PD, van Heemst D, Beekman M, Slagboom PE, Gunn DA, Passos JF. Senescent human melanocytes drive skin ageing via paracrine telomere dysfunction. *EMBO J.* 2019;38(23):e101982.
- 368. Thompson LH, Schild D. Homologous recombinational repair of DNA ensures mammalian chromosome stability. *Mutat Res.* 2001;477(1-2):131-153.
- Lieber MR, Ma Y, Pannicke U, Schwarz K. Mechanism and regulation of human non-homologous DNA end-joining. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2003;4(9):712-720.
- 370. Blue C, Marcand S, Gilson E. Proteins that bind to double-stranded regions of telomeric DNA. *Trends Cell Biol*. 1997;7(8):317-324.
- Doksani Y, Wu JY, de Lange T, Zhuang X. Super-resolution fluorescence imaging of telomeres reveals TRF2-dependent T-loop formation. *Cell*. 2013;155(2):345-356.

- 372. Timashev LA, De Lange T. Characterization of t-loop formation by TRF2. *Nucleus*. 2020;11(1):164-177.
- 373. Chen LY, Liu D, Songyang Z. Telomere maintenance through spatial control of telomeric proteins. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2007;27(16):5898-5909.
- 374. Chen Y, Yang Y, van Overbeek M, Donigian JR, Baciu P, de Lange T, Lei M. A shared docking motif in TRF1 and TRF2 used for differential recruitment of telomeric proteins. *Science*. 2008;319(5866):1092-1096.
- 375. O'Sullivan RJ, Karlseder J. Telomeres: protecting chromosomes against genome instability. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2010;11(3):171-181.
- 376. Hoal-van Helden EG, van Helden PD. Age-related methylation changes in DNA may reflect the proliferative potential of organs. *Mutat Res.* 1989;219(5-6):263-266.
- 377. Rampersaud GC, Kauwell GP, Hutson AD, Cerda JJ, Bailey LB. Genomic DNA methylation decreases in response to moderate folate depletion in elderly women. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2000;72(4):998-1003.
- 378. Harley CB, Futcher AB, Greider CW. Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. *Nature*. 1990;345(6274):458-460.
- Hastie ND, Dempster M, Dunlop MG, Thompson AM, Green DK, Allshire RC. Telomere reduction in human colorectal carcinoma and with ageing. *Nature*. 1990;346(6287):866-868.
- 380. Blackburn EH. Switching and signaling at the telomere. *Cell*. 2001;106(6):661-673.
- 381. d'Adda di Fagagna F, Reaper PM, Clay-Farrace L, Fiegler H, Carr P, Von Zglinicki T, Saretzki G, Carter NP, Jackson SP. A DNA damage checkpoint response in telomere-initiated senescence. *Nature*. 2003;426(6963):194-198.
- 382. Takai H, Smogorzewska A, de Lange T. DNA damage foci at dysfunctional telomeres. *Curr Biol.* 2003;13(17):1549-1556.
- 383. Munoz-Espin D, Canamero M, Maraver A, Gomez-Lopez G, Contreras J, Murillo-Cuesta S, Rodriguez-Baeza A, Varela-Nieto I, Ruberte J, Collado M, Serrano M. Programmed cell senescence during mammalian embryonic development. *Cell*. 2013;155(5):1104-1118.
- 384. Childs BG, Baker DJ, Kirkland JL, Campisi J, van Deursen JM. Senescence and apoptosis: dueling or complementary cell fates? *EMBO Rep.* 2014;15(11):1139-1153.
- 385. Hewitt G, Jurk D, Marques FD, Correia-Melo C, Hardy T, Gackowska A, Anderson R, Taschuk M, Mann J, Passos JF. Telomeres are favoured targets of a persistent DNA damage response in ageing and stress-induced senescence. *Nat Commun.* 2012;3:708.
- 386. Kaul Z, Cesare AJ, Huschtscha LI, Neumann AA, Reddel RR. Five dysfunctional telomeres predict onset of senescence in human cells. *EMBO Rep.* 2011;13(1):52-59.
- 387. Farzaneh-Far R, Lin J, Epel E, Lapham K, Blackburn E, Whooley MA. Telomere length trajectory and its determinants in persons with coronary artery disease: longitudinal findings from the heart and soul study. *PloS one*. 2010;5(1):e8612.
- 388. Hemann MT, Greider CW. Wild-derived inbred mouse strains have short telomeres. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2000;28(22):4474-4478.

- 389. Coviello-McLaughlin GM, Prowse KR. Telomere length regulation during postnatal development and ageing in Mus spretus. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1997;25(15):3051-3058.
- 390. Friedrich U, Griese E, Schwab M, Fritz P, Thon K, Klotz U. Telomere length in different tissues of elderly patients. *Mech Ageing Dev*. 2000;119(3):89-99.
- 391. de Lange T, Shiue L, Myers RM, Cox DR, Naylor SL, Killery AM, Varmus HE. Structure and variability of human chromosome ends. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 1990;10(2):518-527.
- 392. Kipling D, Cooke HJ. Hypervariable ultra-long telomeres in mice. *Nature*. 1990;347(6291):400-402.
- 393. Starling JA, Maule J, Hastie ND, Allshire RC. Extensive telomere repeat arrays in mouse are hypervariable. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1990;18(23):6881-6888.
- 394. Aikata H, Takaishi H, Kawakami Y, Takahashi S, Kitamoto M, Nakanishi T, Nakamura Y, Shimamoto F, Kajiyama G, Ide T. Telomere reduction in human liver tissues with age and chronic inflammation. *Exp Cell Res.* 2000;256(2):578-582.
- 395. Benetos A, Okuda K, Lajemi M, Kimura M, Thomas F, Skurnick J, Labat C, Bean K, Aviv A. Telomere Length as an Indicator of Biological Aging: The Gender Effect and Relation With Pulse Pressure and Pulse Wave Velocity. *Hypertension*. 2001;37(2):381-385.
- 396. Vera E, Bernardes de Jesus B, Foronda M, Flores JM, Blasco MA. The rate of increase of short telomeres predicts longevity in mammals. *Cell Rep.* 2012;2(4):732-737.
- 397. Garforth SJ, Wu YY, Prasad VR. Structural features of mouse telomerase RNA are responsible for the lower activity of mouse telomerase versus human telomerase. *Biochem J.* 2006;397(3):399-406.
- 398. Campisi J, d'Adda di Fagagna F. Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2007;8(9):729-740.
- 399. Wynford-Thomas D. Cellular senescence and cancer. *The Journal of pathology*. 1999;187(1):100-111.
- 400. Cooper GM. The cell : a molecular approach. 2nd ed. Washington, D.C.

Sunderland, Mass.: ASM Press;

Sinauer Associates.

- 401. Pines J. Cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases: take your partners. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 1993;18(6):195-197.
- 402. Sherr CJ. G1 phase progression: cycling on cue. Cell. 1994;79(4):551-555.
- 403. Sherr CJ. The INK4a/ARF network in tumour suppression. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2001;2(10):731-737.
- 404. Sherr CJ, Roberts JM. Inhibitors of mammalian G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Genes & development*. 1995;9(10):1149-1163.
- 405. Greider CW, Blackburn EH. Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in Tetrahymena extracts. *Cell*. 1985;43(2 Pt 1):405-413.

- 406. Morin GB. The human telomere terminal transferase enzyme is a ribonucleoprotein that synthesizes TTAGGG repeats. *Cell*. 1989;59(3):521-529.
- 407. Chen JL, Blasco MA, Greider CW. Secondary structure of vertebrate telomerase RNA. *Cell*. 2000;100(5):503-514.
- 408. Nagpal N, Agarwal S. Telomerase RNA processing: Implications for human health and disease. *Stem Cells*. 2020.
- 409. Harrington L, McPhail T, Mar V, Zhou W, Oulton R, Bass MB, Arruda I, Robinson MO. A mammalian telomerase-associated protein. *Science*. 1997;275(5302):973-977.
- 410. Liu Y, Snow BE, Hande MP, Baerlocher G, Kickhoefer VA, Yeung D, Wakeham A, Itie A, Siderovski DP, Lansdorp PM, Robinson MO, Harrington L. Telomerase-associated protein TEP1 is not essential for telomerase activity or telomere length maintenance in vivo. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2000;20(21):8178-8184.
- 411. Autexier C, Pruzan R, Funk WD, Greider CW. Reconstitution of human telomerase activity and identification of a minimal functional region of the human telomerase RNA. *Embo J.* 1996;15(21):5928-5935.
- 412. Weinrich SL, Pruzan R, Ma L, Ouellette M, Tesmer VM, Holt SE, Bodnar AG, Lichtsteiner S, Kim NW, Trager JB, Taylor RD, Carlos R, Andrews WH, Wright WE, Shay JW, Harley CB, Morin GB. Reconstitution of human telomerase with the template RNA component hTR and the catalytic protein subunit hTRT. *Nat Genet*. 1997;17(4):498-502.
- 413. Blasco MA, Funk W, Villeponteau B, Greider CW. Functional characterization and developmental regulation of mouse telomerase RNA. *Science*. 1995;269(5228):1267-1270.
- 414. Greenberg RA, Allsopp RC, Chin L, Morin GB, DePinho RA. Expression of mouse telomerase reverse transcriptase during development, differentiation and proliferation. *Oncogene*. 1998;16(13):1723-1730.
- 415. Armstrong L, Lako M, Lincoln J, Cairns PM, Hole N. mTert expression correlates with telomerase activity during the differentiation of murine embryonic stem cells. *Mech Dev.* 2000;97(1-2):109-116.
- 416. Kirkpatrick KL, Clark G, Ghilchick M, Newbold RF, Mokbel K. hTERT mRNA expression correlates with telomerase activity in human breast cancer. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 2003;29(4):321-326.
- 417. Hathcock KS, Chiang YJ, Hodes RJ. Telomere biology and immune system. *Discovery medicine*. 2005;5(27):288-292.
- 418. Feng J, Funk WD, Wang SS, Weinrich SL, Avilion AA, Chiu CP, Adams RR, Chang E, Allsopp RC, Yu J, et al. The RNA component of human telomerase. *Science*. 1995;269(5228):1236-1241.
- 419. Chang JT, Chen YL, Yang HT, Chen CY, Cheng AJ. Differential regulation of telomerase activity by six telomerase subunits. *Eur J Biochem*. 2002;269(14):3442-3450.
- 420. Dratwa M, Wysoczanska B, Lacina P, Kubik T, Bogunia-Kubik K. TERT-Regulation and Roles in Cancer Formation. *Front Immunol*. 2020;11:589929.

- 421. Wright WE, Piatyszek MA, Rainey WE, Byrd W, Shay JW. Telomerase activity in human germline and embryonic tissues and cells. *Dev Genet*. 1996;18(2):173-179.
- 422. Ishaq A, Hanson PS, Morris CM, Saretzki G. Telomerase Activity is Downregulated Early During Human Brain Development. *Genes (Basel)*. 2016;7(6).
- 423. Hemann MT, Strong MA, Hao LY, Greider CW. The shortest telomere, not average telomere length, is critical for cell viability and chromosome stability. *Cell*. 2001;107(1):67-77.
- 424. Britt-Compton B, Capper R, Rowson J, Baird DM. Short telomeres are preferentially elongated by telomerase in human cells. *FEBS letters*. 2009;583(18):3076-3080.
- 425. Hao LY, Armanios M, Strong MA, Karim B, Feldser DM, Huso D, Greider CW. Short telomeres, even in the presence of telomerase, limit tissue renewal capacity. *Cell*. 2005;123(6):1121-1131.
- 426. Zhu Y, Tomlinson RL, Lukowiak AA, Terns RM, Terns MP. Telomerase RNA accumulates in Cajal bodies in human cancer cells. *Mol Biol Cell*. 2004;15(1):81-90.
- 427. Tomlinson RL, Li J, Culp BR, Terns RM, Terns MP. A Cajal bodyindependent pathway for telomerase trafficking in mice. *Exp Cell Res.* 2010;316(17):2797-2809.
- 428. Jones M, Bisht K, Savage SA, Nandakumar J, Keegan CE, Maillard I. The shelterin complex and hematopoiesis. *J Clin Invest*. 2016;126(5):1621-1629.
- 429. Kim SH, Kaminker P, Campisi J. TIN2, a new regulator of telomere length in human cells. *Nat Genet*. 1999;23(4):405-412.
- 430. Kim NW, Piatyszek MA, Prowse KR, Harley CB, West MD, Ho PL, Coviello GM, Wright WE, Weinrich SL, Shay JW. Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer. *Science*. 1994;266(5193):2011-2015.
- 431. Buchkovich KJ, Greider CW. Telomerase regulation during entry into the cell cycle in normal human T cells. *Mol Biol Cell*. 1996;7(9):1443-1454.
- 432. Haik S, Gauthier LR, Granotier C, Peyrin JM, Lages CS, Dormont D, Boussin FD. Fibroblast growth factor 2 up regulates telomerase activity in neural precursor cells. *Oncogene*. 2000;19(26):2957-2966.
- 433. Martin-Rivera L, Herrera E, Albar JP, Blasco MA. Expression of mouse telomerase catalytic subunit in embryos and adult tissues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1998;95(18):10471-10476.
- 434. Meyerson M, Counter CM, Eaton EN, Ellisen LW, Steiner P, Caddle SD, Ziaugra L, Beijersbergen RL, Davidoff MJ, Liu Q, Bacchetti S, Haber DA, Weinberg RA. hEST2, the putative human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, is up-regulated in tumor cells and during immortalization. *Cell*. 1997;90(4):785-795.
- 435. Lie DC, Song H, Colamarino SA, Ming GL, Gage FH. Neurogenesis in the adult brain: new strategies for central nervous system diseases. *Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology*. 2004;44:399-421.

- 436. Rubio MA, Davalos AR, Campisi J. Telomere length mediates the effects of telomerase on the cellular response to genotoxic stress. *Exp Cell Res.* 2004;298(1):17-27.
- 437. Bermudez Y, Erasso D, Johnson NC, Alfonso MY, Lowell NE, Kruk PA. Telomerase confers resistance to caspase-mediated apoptosis. *Clinical interventions in aging*. 2006;1(2):155-167.
- 438. Rahman R, Latonen L, Wiman KG. hTERT antagonizes p53-induced apoptosis independently of telomerase activity. *Oncogene*. 2005;24(8):1320-1327.
- 439. Jacome Burbano MS, Cherfils-Vicini J, Gilson E. Neutrophils: mediating TelOxidation and senescence. *EMBO J.* 2021;40(9):e108164.
- 440. Barnes RP, de Rosa M, Thosar SA, Detwiler AC, Roginskaya V, Van Houten B, Bruchez MP, Stewart-Ornstein J, Opresko PL. Telomeric 8-oxoguanine drives rapid premature senescence in the absence of telomere shortening. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* 2022.
- 441. Bryan TM, Englezou A, Dalla-Pozza L, Dunham MA, Reddel RR. Evidence for an alternative mechanism for maintaining telomere length in human tumors and tumor-derived cell lines. *Nature medicine*. 1997;3(11):1271-1274.
- 442. Keefe DL. Telomeres, Reproductive Aging, and Genomic Instability During Early Development. *Reprod Sci.* 2016;23(12):1612-1615.
- 443. Bryan TM, Englezou A, Gupta J, Bacchetti S, Reddel RR. Telomere elongation in immortal human cells without detectable telomerase activity. *Embo J*. 1995;14(17):4240-4248.
- 444. Henson JD, Neumann AA, Yeager TR, Reddel RR. Alternative lengthening of telomeres in mammalian cells. *Oncogene*. 2002;21(4):598-610.
- 445. Londono-Vallejo JA, Der-Sarkissian H, Cazes L, Bacchetti S, Reddel RR. Alternative lengthening of telomeres is characterized by high rates of telomeric exchange. *Cancer research*. 2004;64(7):2324-2327.
- 446. Yeager TR, Neumann AA, Englezou A, Huschtscha LI, Noble JR, Reddel RR. Telomerase-negative immortalized human cells contain a novel type of promyelocytic leukemia (PML) body. *Cancer research*. 1999;59(17):4175-4179.
- 447. Bhattacharyya MK, Lustig AJ. Telomere dynamics in genome stability. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2006;31(2):114-122.
- 448. Seckl JR. Prenatal glucocorticoids and long-term programming. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies*. 2004;151 Suppl 3:U49-62.
- 449. Luo ZC, Fraser WD, Julien P, Deal CL, Audibert F, Smith GN, Xiong X, Walker M. Tracing the origins of "fetal origins" of adult diseases: programming by oxidative stress? *Med Hypotheses*. 2006;66(1):38-44.
- 450. Halliwell B. Antioxidant characterization. Methodology and mechanism. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 1995;49(10):1341-1348.
- 451. Ray PD, Huang BW, Tsuji Y. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) homeostasis and redox regulation in cellular signaling. *Cell Signal*. 2012;24(5):981-990.
- 452. Taniyama Y, Griendling KK. Reactive oxygen species in the vasculature: molecular and cellular mechanisms. *Hypertension*. 2003;42(6):1075-1081.

- 453. Cochrane CG. Mechanisms of oxidant injury of cells. *Mol Aspects Med*. 1991;12(2):137-147.
- 454. Halliwell B, Aeschbach R, Loliger J, Aruoma OI. The characterization of antioxidants. *Food Chem Toxicol*. 1995;33(7):601-617.
- 455. Weydert CJ, Cullen JJ. Measurement of superoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase in cultured cells and tissue. *Nat Protoc*. 2010;5(1):51-66.
- 456. Finkel T. Reactive oxygen species and signal transduction. *IUBMB Life*. 2001;52(1-2):3-6.
- 457. Xu J, Knutson MD, Carter CS, Leeuwenburgh C. Iron accumulation with age, oxidative stress and functional decline. *PloS one*. 2008;3(8):e2865.
- 458. Krapfenbauer K, Birnbacher R, Vierhapper H, Herkner K, Kampel D, Lubec G. Glycoxidation, and protein and DNA oxidation in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Clinical science*. 1998;95(3):331-337.
- 459. Furukawa S, Fujita T, Shimabukuro M, Iwaki M, Yamada Y, Nakajima Y, Nakayama O, Makishima M, Matsuda M, Shimomura I. Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2004;114(12):1752-1761.
- 460. Jenner P. Oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol.* 2003;53 Suppl 3:S26-36; discussion S36-28.
- 461. Harman D. Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. *J Gerontol*. 1956;11(3):298-300.
- 462. Harman D. The biologic clock: the mitochondria? *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 1972;20(4):145-147.
- 463. Zorov DB, Juhaszova M, Sollott SJ. Mitochondrial ROS-induced ROS release: an update and review. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2006;1757(5-6):509-517.
- 464. Demerath EW, Cameron N, Gillman MW, Towne B, Siervogel RM. Telomeres and telomerase in the fetal origins of cardiovascular disease: a review. *Hum Biol*. 2004;76(1):127-146.
- 465. Hallows SE, Regnault TR, Betts DH. The long and short of it: the role of telomeres in fetal origins of adult disease. *J Pregnancy*. 2012;2012:638476.
- 466. Cui H, Kong Y, Zhang H. Oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and aging. *J Signal Transduct*. 2012;2012:646354.
- 467. Frenck RW, Jr., Blackburn EH, Shannon KM. The rate of telomere sequence loss in human leukocytes varies with age. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1998;95(10):5607-5610.
- 468. Hezel AF, Bardeesy N, Maser RS. Telomere induced senescence: end game signaling. *Curr Mol Med*. 2005;5(2):145-152.
- 469. Linnane AW, Marzuki S, Ozawa T, Tanaka M. Mitochondrial DNA mutations as an important contributor to ageing and degenerative diseases. *Lancet*. 1989;1(8639):642-645.
- 470. Miquel J, Fleming JE. A two-step hypothesis on the mechanisms of in vitro cell aging: cell differentiation followed by intrinsic mitochondrial mutagenesis. *Exp Gerontol.* 1984;19(1):31-36.

- 471. Gomez LA, Hagen TM. Age-related decline in mitochondrial bioenergetics: does supercomplex destabilization determine lower oxidative capacity and higher superoxide production? *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* 2012;23(7):758-767.
- 472. Shadel GS. Expression and maintenance of mitochondrial DNA: new insights into human disease pathology. *Am J Pathol*. 2008;172(6):1445-1456.
- 473. Wiesner RJ, Zsurka G, Kunz WS. Mitochondrial DNA damage and the aging process: facts and imaginations. *Free Radic Res.* 2006;40(12):1284-1294.
- 474. Kang CM, Kristal BS, Yu BP. Age-related mitochondrial DNA deletions: effect of dietary restriction. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 1998;24(1):148-154.
- 475. Castro Mdel R, Suarez E, Kraiselburd E, Isidro A, Paz J, Ferder L, Ayala-Torres S. Aging increases mitochondrial DNA damage and oxidative stress in liver of rhesus monkeys. *Exp Gerontol*. 2012;47(1):29-37.
- 476. Hagen TM, Yowe DL, Bartholomew JC, Wehr CM, Do KL, Park JY, Ames BN. Mitochondrial decay in hepatocytes from old rats: membrane potential declines, heterogeneity and oxidants increase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1997;94(7):3064-3069.
- 477. Cooper JM, Mann VM, Schapira AH. Analyses of mitochondrial respiratory chain function and mitochondrial DNA deletion in human skeletal muscle: effect of ageing. *J Neurol Sci.* 1992;113(1):91-98.
- 478. Hayakawa M, Sugiyama S, Hattori K, Takasawa M, Ozawa T. Ageassociated damage in mitochondrial DNA in human hearts. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 1993;119(1-2):95-103.
- 479. Lee HC, Wei YH. Mutation and oxidative damage of mitochondrial DNA and defective turnover of mitochondria in human aging. *J Formos Med Assoc.* 1997;96(10):770-778.
- 480. Kelley DE, He J, Menshikova EV, Ritov VB. Dysfunction of mitochondria in human skeletal muscle in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2002;51(10):2944-2950.
- 481. Piantadosi CA. Mitochondrial biogenesis: CO and NO too. Vol 27:S4-S4.
- 482. Ventura-Clapier R, Garnier A, Veksler V. Transcriptional control of mitochondrial biogenesis: the central role of PGC-1alpha. *Cardiovascular research*. 2008;79(2):208-217.
- 483. Fisher RP, Clayton DA. Purification and characterization of human mitochondrial transcription factor 1. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 1988;8(8):3496-3509.
- 484. Canugovi C, Maynard S, Bayne AC, Sykora P, Tian J, de Souza-Pinto NC, Croteau DL, Bohr VA. The mitochondrial transcription factor A functions in mitochondrial base excision repair. *DNA Repair (Amst)*. 2010;9(10):1080-1089.
- 485. Hoppins S, Lackner L, Nunnari J. The machines that divide and fuse mitochondria. *Annual review of biochemistry*. 2007;76:751-780.
- 486. Youle RJ, van der Bliek AM. Mitochondrial fission, fusion, and stress. *Science*. 2012;337(6098):1062-1065.

- 487. Sheng B, Wang X, Su B, Lee HG, Casadesus G, Perry G, Zhu X. Impaired mitochondrial biogenesis contributes to mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem*. 2012;120(3):419-429.
- 488. Pesce V, Cormio A, Fracasso F, Lezza AM, Cantatore P, Gadaleta MN. Age-related changes of mitochondrial DNA content and mitochondrial genotypic and phenotypic alterations in rat hind-limb skeletal muscles. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2005;60(6):715-723.
- 489. Picca A, Fracasso F, Pesce V, Cantatore P, Joseph AM, Leeuwenburgh C, Gadaleta MN, Lezza AM. Age- and calorie restriction-related changes in rat brain mitochondrial DNA and TFAM binding. *Age (Dordr)*. 2012.
- 490. Gomez-Perez Y, Capllonch-Amer G, Gianotti M, Llado I, Proenza AM. Long-term high-fat-diet feeding induces skeletal muscle mitochondrial biogenesis in rats in a sex-dependent and muscle-type specific manner. *Nutr Metab (Lond)*. 2012;9:15.
- 491. Hernandez-Aguilera A, Rull A, Rodriguez-Gallego E, Riera-Borrull M, Luciano-Mateo F, Camps J, Menendez JA, Joven J. Mitochondrial dysfunction: a basic mechanism in inflammation-related non-communicable diseases and therapeutic opportunities. *Mediators Inflamm*. 2013;2013:135698.
- 492. Hancock CR, Han DH, Chen M, Terada S, Yasuda T, Wright DC, Holloszy JO. High-fat diets cause insulin resistance despite an increase in muscle mitochondria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2008;105(22):7815-7820.
- 493. van den Broek NM, Ciapaite J, De Feyter HM, Houten SM, Wanders RJ, Jeneson JA, Nicolay K, Prompers JJ. Increased mitochondrial content rescues in vivo muscle oxidative capacity in long-term high-fat-diet-fed rats. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2010;24(5):1354-1364.
- 494. Kim JH, Kwak HB, Leeuwenburgh C, Lawler JM. Lifelong exercise and mild (8%) caloric restriction attenuate age-induced alterations in plantaris muscle morphology, oxidative stress and IGF-1 in the Fischer-344 rat. *Exp Gerontol.* 2008;43(4):317-329.
- 495. Ding Q, Ash C, Mracek T, Merry B, Bing C. Caloric restriction increases adiponectin expression by adipose tissue and prevents the inhibitory effect of insulin on circulating adiponectin in rats. *J Nutr Biochem.* 2012;23(8):867-874.
- 496. Kang CM, Kristal BS, Yu BP. Age-related mitochondrial DNA deletions: effect of dietary restriction. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1998;24(1):148-154.
- 497. Anderson RM, Weindruch R. Metabolic reprogramming, caloric restriction and aging. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM*. 2010;21(3):134-141.
- 498. Lee HK, Park KS, Cho YM, Lee YY, Pak YK. Mitochondria-based model for fetal origin of adult disease and insulin resistance. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 2005;1042:1-18.
- 499. Entringer S, Epel ES, Lin J, Buss C, Shahbaba B, Blackburn EH, Simhan HN, Wadhwa PD. Maternal psychosocial stress during pregnancy is

associated with newborn leukocyte telomere length. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 2013;208(2):134 e131-137.

- 500. Samani NJ, Boultby R, Butler R, Thompson JR, Goodall AH. Telomere shortening in atherosclerosis. *Lancet*. 2001;358(9280):472-473.
- 501. Demissie S, Levy D, Benjamin EJ, Cupples LA, Gardner JP, Herbert A, Kimura M, Larson MG, Meigs JB, Keaney JF, Aviv A. Insulin resistance, oxidative stress, hypertension, and leukocyte telomere length in men from the Framingham Heart Study. *Aging Cell*. 2006;5(4):325-330.
- 502. Salpea KD, Talmud PJ, Cooper JA, Maubaret CG, Stephens JW, Abelak K, Humphries SE. Association of telomere length with type 2 diabetes, oxidative stress and UCP2 gene variation. *Atherosclerosis*. 2010;209(1):42-50.
- 503. Honig LS, Kang MS, Schupf N, Lee JH, Mayeux R. Association of shorter leukocyte telomere repeat length with dementia and mortality. *Archives of neurology*. 2012;69(10):1332-1339.
- 504. Buxton JL, Walters RG, Visvikis-Siest S, Meyre D, Froguel P, Blakemore AI. Childhood obesity is associated with shorter leukocyte telomere length. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2011;96(5):1500-1505.
- 505. Zhu H, Wang X, Gutin B, Davis CL, Keeton D, Thomas J, Stallmann-Jorgensen I, Mooken G, Bundy V, Snieder H, van der Harst P, Dong Y. Leukocyte telomere length in healthy Caucasian and African-American adolescents: relationships with race, sex, adiposity, adipokines, and physical activity. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2011;158(2):215-220.
- 506. Guo N, Parry EM, Li LS, Kembou F, Lauder N, Hussain MA, Berggren PO, Armanios M. Short telomeres compromise beta-cell signaling and survival. *PLoS One*. 2011;6(3):e17858.
- 507. Epel ES, Blackburn EH, Lin J, Dhabhar FS, Adler NE, Morrow JD, Cawthon RM. Accelerated telomere shortening in response to life stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2004;101(49):17312-17315.
- 508. Epel ES, Lin J, Dhabhar FS, Wolkowitz OM, Puterman E, Karan L, Blackburn EH. Dynamics of telomerase activity in response to acute psychological stress. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*. 2010;24(4):531-539.
- 509. Haussmann MF, Longenecker AS, Marchetto NM, Juliano SA, Bowden RM. Embryonic exposure to corticosterone modifies the juvenile stress response, oxidative stress and telomere length. *Proc Biol Sci.* 2012;279(1732):1447-1456.
- 510. Choi J, Fauce SR, Effros RB. Reduced telomerase activity in human T lymphocytes exposed to cortisol. *Brain, behavior, and immunity.* 2008;22(4):600-605.
- 511. Zhou QG, Hu Y, Wu DL, Zhu LJ, Chen C, Jin X, Luo CX, Wu HY, Zhang J, Zhu DY. Hippocampal telomerase is involved in the modulation of depressive behaviors. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 2011;31(34):12258-12269.

- 512. Mukherjee M, Brouilette S, Stevens S, Shetty KR, Samani NJ. Association of shorter telomeres with coronary artery disease in Indian subjects. *Heart*. 2009;95(8):669-673.
- 513. Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Epel ES, Belury MA, Andridge R, Lin J, Glaser R, Malarkey WB, Hwang BS, Blackburn E. Omega-3 fatty acids, oxidative stress, and leukocyte telomere length: A randomized controlled trial. *Brain, behavior, and immunity.* 2013;28:16-24.
- 514. Chan R, Woo J, Suen E, Leung J, Tang N. Chinese tea consumption is associated with longer telomere length in elderly Chinese men. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2009;103(1):107-113.
- 515. Yokoo S, Furumoto K, Hiyama E, Miwa N. Slow-down of age-dependent telomere shortening is executed in human skin keratinocytes by hormesis-like-effects of trace hydrogen peroxide or by anti-oxidative effects of provitamin C in common concurrently with reduction of intracellular oxidative stress. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*. 2004;93(3):588-597.
- 516. Vera E, Bernardes de Jesus B, Foronda M, Flores JM, Blasco MA. Telomerase reverse transcriptase synergizes with calorie restriction to increase health span and extend mouse longevity. *PloS one*. 2013;8(1):e53760.
- 517. Farzaneh-Far R, Lin J, Epel ES, Harris WS, Blackburn EH, Whooley MA. Association of marine omega-3 fatty acid levels with telomeric aging in patients with coronary heart disease. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association*. 2010;303(3):250-257.
- 518. Perez LM, Amaral MA, Mundstock E, Barbe-Tuana FM, Guma F, Jones MH, Machado DC, Sarria EE, Marques EMM, Preto LT, Epifanio M, Meinem Garbin JG, Mattiello R. Effects of Diet on Telomere Length: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Public health genomics*. 2017;20(5):286-292.
- 519. Tarry-Adkins JL, Chen JH, Smith NS, Jones RH, Cherif H, Ozanne SE. Poor maternal nutrition followed by accelerated postnatal growth leads to telomere shortening and increased markers of cell senescence in rat islets. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2009;23(5):1521-1528.
- 520. Tarry-Adkins JL, Martin-Gronert MS, Chen JH, Cripps RL, Ozanne SE. Maternal diet influences DNA damage, aortic telomere length, oxidative stress, and antioxidant defense capacity in rats. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2008;22(6):2037-2044.
- 521. Jennings BJ, Ozanne SE, Dorling MW, Hales CN. Early growth determines longevity in male rats and may be related to telomere shortening in the kidney. *FEBS Lett.* 1999;448(1):4-8.
- 522. Martin-Gronert MS, Tarry-Adkins JL, Cripps RL, Chen JH, Ozanne SE. Maternal protein restriction leads to early life alterations in the expression of key molecules involved in the aging process in rat offspring. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology.* 2008;294(2):R494-500.

- 523. Sahin E, Colla S, Liesa M, Moslehi J, Muller FL, Guo M, Cooper M, Kotton D, Fabian AJ, Walkey C, Maser RS, Tonon G, Foerster F, Xiong R, Wang YA, Shukla SA, Jaskelioff M, Martin ES, Heffernan TP, Protopopov A, Ivanova E, Mahoney JE, Kost-Alimova M, Perry SR, Bronson R, Liao R, Mulligan R, Shirihai OS, Chin L, DePinho RA. Telomere dysfunction induces metabolic and mitochondrial compromise. *Nature*. 2011;470(7334):359-365.
- 524. Zheng Q, Huang J, Wang G. Mitochondria, Telomeres and Telomerase Subunits. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*. 2019;7(274).
- 525. Monickaraj F, Gokulakrishnan K, Prabu P, Sathishkumar C, Anjana RM, Rajkumar JS, Mohan V, Balasubramanyam M. Convergence of adipocyte hypertrophy, telomere shortening and hypoadiponectinemia in obese subjects and in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Clinical biochemistry*. 2012;45(16-17):1432-1438.
- 526. Cheng SB, Davis S, Sharma S. Maternal-fetal cross talk through cell-free fetal DNA, telomere shortening, microchimerism, and inflammation. *American journal of reproductive immunology*. 2018;79(5):e12851.
- 527. De Felice FG, Ferreira ST. Inflammation, Defective Insulin Signaling, and Mitochondrial Dysfunction as Common Molecular Denominators Connecting Type 2 Diabetes to Alzheimer Disease. *Diabetes*. 2014;63(7):2262-2272.
- 528. Chen LY, Zhang Y, Zhang Q, Li H, Luo Z, Fang H, Kim SH, Qin L, Yotnda P, Xu J, Tu BP, Bai Y, Songyang Z. Mitochondrial localization of telomeric protein TIN2 links telomere regulation to metabolic control. *Molecular cell*. 2012;47(6):839-850.
- 529. Brown GC. Control of respiration and ATP synthesis in mammalian mitochondria and cells. *Biochemical Journal*. 1992;284(1):1-13.
- 530. Theys N, Ahn MT, Bouckenooghe T, Reusens B, Remacle C. Maternal malnutrition programs pancreatic islet mitochondrial dysfunction in the adult offspring. *J Nutr Biochem*. 2011;22(10):985-994.
- 531. Park HK, Jin CJ, Cho YM, Park DJ, Shin CS, Park KS, Kim SY, Cho BY, Lee HK. Changes of mitochondrial DNA content in the male offspring of protein-malnourished rats. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 2004;1011:205-216.
- 532. Simmons RA, Suponitsky-Kroyter I, Selak MA. Progressive accumulation of mitochondrial DNA mutations and decline in mitochondrial function lead to beta-cell failure. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280(31):28785-28791.
- 533. Gemma C, Sookoian S, Alvarinas J, Garcia SI, Quintana L, Kanevsky D, Gonzalez CD, Pirola CJ. Mitochondrial DNA depletion in small- and large-for-gestational-age newborns. *Obesity*. 2006;14(12):2193-2199.
- 534. Ahlbom E, Gogvadze V, Chen M, Celsi G, Ceccatelli S. Prenatal exposure to high levels of glucocorticoids increases the susceptibility of cerebellar granule cells to oxidative stress-induced cell death. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2000;97(26):14726-14730.

- 535. Guo LJ, Oshida Y, Fuku N, Takeyasu T, Fujita Y, Kurata M, Sato Y, Ito M, Tanaka M. Mitochondrial genome polymorphisms associated with type-2 diabetes or obesity. *Mitochondrion*. 2005;5(1):15-33.
- 536. Pirola CJ, Gianotti TF, Burgueno AL, Rey-Funes M, Loidl CF, Mallardi P, Martino JS, Castano GO, Sookoian S. Epigenetic modification of liver mitochondrial DNA is associated with histological severity of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gut*. 2013;62(9):1356-1363.
- 537. Khalangot M, Krasnienkov D, Vaiserman A. Telomere length in different metabolic categories: Clinical associations and modification potential. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 2020;245(13):1115-1121.
- 538. Surwit RS, Feinglos MN, Rodin J, Sutherland A, Petro AE, Opara EC, Kuhn CM, Rebuffe-Scrive M. Differential effects of fat and sucrose on the development of obesity and diabetes in C57BL/6J and A/J mice. *Metabolism: clinical and experimental*. 1995;44(5):645-651.
- 539. Newnham JP, Doherty DA, Kendall GE, Zubrick SR, Landau LL, Stanley FJ. Effects of repeated prenatal ultrasound examinations on childhood outcome up to 8 years of age: follow-up of a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2004;364(9450):2038-2044.
- 540. Newnham JP, Evans SF, Michael CA, Stanley FJ, Landau LI. Effects of frequent ultrasound during pregnancy: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. 1993;342(8876):887-891.
- 541. Bischoff C, Graakjaer J, Petersen HC, Hjelmborg JB, Vaupel JW, Bohr V, Koelvraa S, Christensen K. The heritability of telomere length among the elderly and oldest-old. *Twin Res Hum Genet*. 2005;8(5):433-439.
- 542. Broer L, Codd V, Nyholt DR, Deelen J, Mangino M, Willemsen G, Albrecht E, Amin N, Beekman M, de Geus EJ, Henders A, Nelson CP, Steves CJ, Wright MJ, de Craen AJ, Isaacs A, Matthews M, Moayyeri A, Montgomery GW, Oostra BA, Vink JM, Spector TD, Slagboom PE, Martin NG, Samani NJ, van Duijn CM, Boomsma DI. Meta-analysis of telomere length in 19,713 subjects reveals high heritability, stronger maternal inheritance and a paternal age effect. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG*. 2013;21(10):1163-1168.
- 543. Hjelmborg JB, Dalgard C, Moller S, Steenstrup T, Kimura M, Christensen K, Kyvik KO, Aviv A. The heritability of leucocyte telomere length dynamics. *Journal of medical genetics*. 2015;52(5):297-302.
- 544. Aviv A, Shay JW. Reflections on telomere dynamics and ageing-related diseases in humans. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2018;373(1741).
- 545. Jiang X, Dong M, Cheng J, Huang S, He Y, Ma K, Tang B, Guo Y. Decreased leukocyte telomere length (LTL) is associated with stroke but unlikely to be causative. *PloS one*. 2013;8(7):e68254.
- 546. Bernal AB, Vickers MH, Hampton MB, Poynton RA, Sloboda DM. Maternal undernutrition significantly impacts ovarian follicle number and increases ovarian oxidative stress in adult rat offspring. *PloS one*. 2010;5(12):e15558.
- 547. Hansel B, Giral P, Nobecourt E, Chantepie S, Bruckert E, Chapman MJ, Kontush A. Metabolic syndrome is associated with elevated oxidative stress and dysfunctional dense high-density lipoprotein particles

displaying impaired antioxidative activity. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 2004;89(10):4963-4971.

- 548. Thompson LP, Al-Hasan Y. Impact of oxidative stress in fetal programming. *J Pregnancy*. 2012;2012:582748.
- 549. Song L, Zheng J, Li H, Jia N, Suo Z, Cai Q, Bai Z, Cheng D, Zhu Z. Prenatal stress causes oxidative damage to mitochondrial DNA in hippocampus of offspring rats. *Neurochemical research*. 2009;34(4):739-745.
- 550. Byers SL, Wiles MV, Dunn SL, Taft RA. Mouse estrous cycle identification tool and images. *PloS one*. 2012;7(4):e35538.
- 551. Ishikawa H, Seki R, Yokonishi S, Yamauchi T, Yokoyama K. Relationship between fetal weight, placental growth and litter size in mice from mid-to late-gestation. *Reproductive toxicology*. 2006;21(3):267-270.
- 552. Louton T, Domarus H, Hartmann P. The position effect in mice on day 19. *Teratology*. 1988;38(1):67-74.
- 553. Clapcote SJ, Roder JC. Simplex PCR assay for sex determination in mice. *BioTechniques*. 2005;38(5):702, 704, 706.
- 554. Sambrook J, Russell DW, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory. Molecular cloning : a laboratory manual. 3rd. ed. Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory.
- 555. Pfaffl MW. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in realtime RT-PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2001;29(9):e45.
- 556. Pfaffl MW, Horgan GW, Dempfle L. Relative expression software tool (REST) for group-wise comparison and statistical analysis of relative expression results in real-time PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2002;30(9):e36.
- 557. Guo W, Jiang L, Bhasin S, Khan SM, Swerdlow RH. DNA extraction procedures meaningfully influence qPCR-based mtDNA copy number determination. *Mitochondrion*. 2009;9(4):261-265.
- 558. Hayashi M, Imanaka-Yoshida K, Yoshida T, Wood M, Fearns C, Tatake RJ, Lee JD. A crucial role of mitochondrial Hsp40 in preventing dilated cardiomyopathy. *Nature medicine*. 2006;12(1):128-132.
- 559. Ylikallio E, Page JL, Xu X, Lampinen M, Bepler G, Ide T, Tyynismaa H, Weiss RS, Suomalainen A. Ribonucleotide reductase is not limiting for mitochondrial DNA copy number in mice. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2010;38(22):8208-8218.
- 560. O'Callaghan NJ, Fenech M. A quantitative PCR method for measuring absolute telomere length. *Biol Proced Online*. 2011;13:3.
- 561. Cawthon RM. Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2002;30(10):e47.
- 562. Cawthon RM. Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res*. 2002;30(10):e47.
- 563. Nin N, Sanchez-Rodriguez C, Ver LS, Cardinal P, Ferruelo A, Soto L, Deicas A, Campos N, Rocha O, Ceraso DH, El-Assar M, Ortin J, Fernandez-Segoviano P, Esteban A, Lorente JA. Lung histopathological findings in fatal pandemic influenza A (H1N1). *Med Intensiva*. 2012;36(1):24-31.

- 564. Peshavariya HM, Dusting GJ, Selemidis S. Analysis of dihydroethidium fluorescence for the detection of intracellular and extracellular superoxide produced by NADPH oxidase. *Free Radic Res.* 2007;41(6):699-712.
- 565. Wen JJ, Gupta S, Guan Z, Dhiman M, Condon D, Lui C, Garg NJ. Phenylalpha-tert-butyl-nitrone and benzonidazole treatment controlled the mitochondrial oxidative stress and evolution of cardiomyopathy in chronic chagasic Rats. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2010;55(22):2499-2508.
- 566. Girotti AW. Mechanisms of lipid peroxidation. *Journal of free radicals in biology & medicine*. 1985;1(2):87-95.
- 567. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. The definition and measurement of antioxidants in biological systems. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 1995;18(1):125-126.
- 568. Dzierzak E, Speck NA. Of lineage and legacy: the development of mammalian hematopoietic stem cells. *Nature immunology*. 2008;9(2):129-136.
- 569. Rube CE, Fricke A, Widmann TA, Furst T, Madry H, Pfreundschuh M, Rube C. Accumulation of DNA damage in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells during human aging. *PLoS One*. 2011;6(3):e17487.
- 570. Bauserman MS, Bann CM, Hambidge KM, Garces AL, Figueroa L, Westcott JL, Patterson JK, McClure EM, Thorsten VR, Aziz SA, Saleem S, Goldenberg RL, Derman RJ, Herekar V, Somannavar M, Koso-Thomas MW, Lokangaka AL, Tshefu AK, Krebs NF, Bose CL, Women First Preconception Trial Study G. Gestational weight gain in 4 low- and middle-income countries and associations with birth outcomes: a secondary analysis of the Women First Trial. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2021;114(2):804-812.
- 571. Lumbanraja S, Lutan D, Usman I. Maternal weight gain and correlation with birth weight infants. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*. 2013;103:647-656.
- 572. Ota E, Haruna M, Suzuki M, Anh DD, Tho le H, Tam NT, Thiem VD, Anh NT, Isozaki M, Shibuya K, Ariyoshi K, Murashima S, Moriuchi H, Yanai H. Maternal body mass index and gestational weight gain and their association with perinatal outcomes in Viet Nam. *Bull World Health Organ*. 2011;89(2):127-136.
- 573. Armstrong L, Lako M, Lincoln J, Cairns PM, Hole N. mTert expression correlates with telomerase activity during the differentiation of murine embryonic stem cells. *Mech Dev.* 2000;97(1-2):109-116.
- 574. Beckman KB, Ames BN. The free radical theory of aging matures. *Physiol Rev.* 1998;78(2):547-581.
- 575. Ahmed S, Passos JF, Birket MJ, Beckmann T, Brings S, Peters H, Birch-Machin MA, von Zglinicki T, Saretzki G. Telomerase does not counteract telomere shortening but protects mitochondrial function under oxidative stress. *J Cell Sci*. 2008;121(Pt 7):1046-1053.
- 576. Haendeler J, Drose S, Buchner N, Jakob S, Altschmied J, Goy C, Spyridopoulos I, Zeiher AM, Brandt U, Dimmeler S. Mitochondrial telomerase reverse transcriptase binds to and protects mitochondrial

DNA and function from damage. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29(6):929-935.

- 577. Freitas-Simoes TM, Ros E, Sala-Vila A. Nutrients, foods, dietary patterns and telomere length: Update of epidemiological studies and randomized trials. *Metabolism*. 2016;65(4):406-415.
- 578. Lan X, Cretney EC, Kropp J, Khateeb K, Berg MA, Penagaricano F, Magness R, Radunz AE, Khatib H. Maternal Diet during Pregnancy Induces Gene Expression and DNA Methylation Changes in Fetal Tissues in Sheep. *Front Genet*. 2013;4:49.
- 579. Dwyer CM, Stickland NC. Supplementation of a restricted maternal diet with protein or carbohydrate alone prevents a reduction in fetal muscle fibre number in the guinea-pig. *Br J Nutr*. 1994;72(2):173-180.
- 580. Wing EJ, Magee DM, Barczynski LK. Acute starvation in mice reduces the number of T cells and suppresses the development of T-cell-mediated immunity. *Immunology*. 1988;63(4):677-682.
- 581. Compte N, Bailly B, De Breucker S, Goriely S, Pepersack T. Study of the association of total and differential white blood cell counts with geriatric conditions, cardio-vascular diseases, seric IL-6 levels and telomere length. *Exp Gerontol.* 2015;61:105-112.
- 582. Lin J, Cheon J, Brown R, Coccia M, Puterman E, Aschbacher K, Sinclair E, Epel E, Blackburn EH. Systematic and Cell Type-Specific Telomere Length Changes in Subsets of Lymphocytes. *J Immunol Res.* 2016;2016:5371050.
- 583. Gutmajster E, Witecka J, Wyskida M, Koscinska-Marczewska J, Szwed M, Owczarz M, Mossakowska M, Milewicz A, Puzianowska-Kuznicka M, Zejda J, Wiecek A, Chudek J, Sieron AL. Telomere length in elderly Caucasians weakly correlates with blood cell counts. *ScientificWorldJournal*. 2013;2013:153608.
- 584. Mazidi M, Penson P, Banach M. Association between telomere length and complete blood count in US adults. *Arch Med Sci.* 2017;13(3):601-605.
- 585. O'Connell KE, Mikkola AM, Stepanek AM, Vernet A, Hall CD, Sun CC, Yildirim E, Staropoli JF, Lee JT, Brown DE. Practical murine hematopathology: a comparative review and implications for research. *Comp Med*. 2015;65(2):96-113.
- 586. Everds N. The Mouse in Biomedical Research. 2. Vol. 3. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 2007.
- 587. Marzetti E, Lorenzi M, Antocicco M, Bonassi S, Celi M, Mastropaolo S, Settanni S, Valdiglesias V, Landi F, Bernabei R, Onder G. Shorter telomeres in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from older persons with sarcopenia: results from an exploratory study. *Front Aging Neurosci*. 2014;6:233.
- 588. Palis J, Robertson S, Kennedy M, Wall C, Keller G. Development of erythroid and myeloid progenitors in the yolk sac and embryo proper of the mouse. *Development*. 1999;126(22):5073-5084.
- 589. Uittenbogaard M, Chiaramello A. Mitochondrial biogenesis: a therapeutic target for neurodevelopmental disorders and neurodegenerative diseases. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2014;20(35):5574-5593.

- 590. Allsopp R, Shimoda J, Easa D, Ward K. Long telomeres in the mature human placenta. *Placenta*. 2007;28(4):324-327.
- 591. Toutain J, Prochazkova-Carlotti M, Cappellen D, Jarne A, Chevret E, Ferrer J, Idrissi Y, Pelluard F, Carles D, Maugey-Laulon B, Lacombe D, Horovitz J, Merlio JP, Saura R. Reduced placental telomere length during pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction. *PloS one*. 2013;8(1):e54013.
- 592. Biron-Shental T, Sukenik-Halevy R, Sharon Y, Goldberg-Bittman L, Kidron D, Fejgin MD, Amiel A. Short telomeres may play a role in placental dysfunction in preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 2010;202(4):381 e381-387.
- 593. Prowse KR, Greider CW. Developmental and tissue-specific regulation of mouse telomerase and telomere length. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1995;92(11):4818-4822.
- 594. Melk A, Schmidt BM, Takeuchi O, Sawitzki B, Rayner DC, Halloran PF. Expression of p16INK4a and other cell cycle regulator and senescence associated genes in aging human kidney. *Kidney international*. 2004;65(2):510-520.
- 595. Dodic M, Moritz K, Koukoulas I, Wintour EM. Programmed hypertension: kidney, brain or both? *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM*. 2002;13(9):403-408.
- 596. Chakravarti D, Hu B, Mao X, Rashid A, Li J, Li J, Liao WT, Whitley EM, Dey P, Hou P, LaBella KA, Chang A, Wang G, Spring DJ, Deng P, Zhao D, Liang X, Lan Z, Lin Y, Sarkar S, Terranova C, Deribe YL, Blutt SE, Okhuysen P, Zhang J, Vilar E, Nielsen OH, Dupont A, Younes M, Patel KR, Shroyer NF, Rai K, Estes MK, Wang YA, Bertuch AA, DePinho RA. Telomere dysfunction activates YAP1 to drive tissue inflammation. *Nat Commun.* 2020;11(1):4766.
- 597. Giller A, Andrawus M, Gutman D, Atzmon G. Pregnancy as a model for aging. *Ageing Res Rev.* 2020;62:101093.
- 598. Barker DJ, Martyn CN, Osmond C, Hales CN, Fall CH. Growth in utero and serum cholesterol concentrations in adult life. *BMJ*. 1993;307(6918):1524-1527.
- 599. Hrdlickova R, Nehyba J, Bose HR, Jr. Alternatively spliced telomerase reverse transcriptase variants lacking telomerase activity stimulate cell proliferation. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2012;32(21):4283-4296.
- 600. Sykorova E, Fajkus J. Structure-function relationships in telomerase genes. *Biol Cell*. 2009;101(7):375-392, 371 p following 392.
- 601. Sayed ME, Yuan L, Robin JD, Tedone E, Batten K, Dahlson N, Wright WE, Shay JW, Ludlow AT. NOVA1 directs PTBP1 to hTERT pre-mRNA and promotes telomerase activity in cancer cells. *Oncogene*. 2019;38(16):2937-2952.
- 602. Rousseau P, Khondaker S, Zhu S, Lauzon C, Mai S, Autexier C. An intact putative mouse telomerase essential N-terminal domain is necessary for proper telomere maintenance. *Biol Cell*. 2016;108(4):96-112.
- 603. Liu Z, Li Q, Li K, Chen L, Li W, Hou M, Liu T, Yang J, Lindvall C, Bjorkholm M, Jia J, Xu D. Telomerase reverse transcriptase promotes

epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stem cell-like traits in cancer cells. *Oncogene*. 2013;32(36):4203-4213.

- 604. Wu KJ, Grandori C, Amacker M, Simon-Vermot N, Polack A, Lingner J, Dalla-Favera R. Direct activation of TERT transcription by c-MYC. *Nat Genet*. 1999;21(2):220-224.
- 605. von Zglinicki T. Role of oxidative stress in telomere length regulation and replicative senescence. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 2000;908:99-110.
- 606. Wellinger RJ, Ethier K, Labrecque P, Zakian VA. Evidence for a new step in telomere maintenance. *Cell*. 1996;85(3):423-433.
- 607. Fermoselle C, Rabinovich R, Ausin P, Puig-Vilanova E, Coronell C, Sanchez F, Roca J, Gea J, Barreiro E. Does oxidative stress modulate limb muscle atrophy in severe COPD patients? *Eur Respir J*. 2012;40(4):851-862.
- 608. Kim YH, Kang MK, Lee EJ, Kim DY, Oh H, Kim SI, Oh SY, Kim KH, Park SJ, Choi YJ, Kang YH. Dried Yeast Extracts Curtails Pulmonary Oxidative Stress, Inflammation and Tissue Destruction in a Model of Experimental Emphysema. *Antioxidants (Basel)*. 2019;8(9).
- 609. Kurhe Y, Caputo M, Cansby E, Xia Y, Kumari S, Anand SK, Howell BW, Marschall HU, Mahlapuu M. Antagonizing STK25 Signaling Suppresses the Development of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Through Targeting Metabolic, Inflammatory, and Pro-Oncogenic Pathways. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2022;13(2):405-423.
- 610. Oh SY, Kim YH, Kang MK, Lee EJ, Kim DY, Oh H, Kim SI, Na W, Kang IJ, Kang YH. Aesculetin Inhibits Airway Thickening and Mucus Overproduction Induced by Urban Particulate Matter through Blocking Inflammation and Oxidative Stress Involving TLR4 and EGFR. *Antioxidants (Basel)*. 2021;10(3).
- 611. Zhang K, Chai B, Ji H, Chen L, Ma Y, Zhu L, Xu J, Wu Y, Lan Y, Li H, Feng Z, Xiao J, Zhang H, Xu K. Bioglass promotes wound healing by inhibiting endothelial cell pyroptosis through regulation of the connexin 43/reactive oxygen species (ROS) signaling pathway. *Lab Invest*. 2022;102(1):90-101.
- 612. Zielonka J, Kalyanaraman B. Hydroethidine- and MitoSOX-derived red fluorescence is not a reliable indicator of intracellular superoxide formation: another inconvenient truth. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2010;48(8):983-1001.
- 613. Zhao H, Joseph J, Fales HM, Sokoloski EA, Levine RL, Vasquez-Vivar J, Kalyanaraman B. Detection and characterization of the product of hydroethidine and intracellular superoxide by HPLC and limitations of fluorescence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2005;102(16):5727-5732.
- 614. Sorescu D, Weiss D, Lassegue B, Clempus RE, Szocs K, Sorescu GP, Valppu L, Quinn MT, Lambeth JD, Vega JD, Taylor WR, Griendling KK. Superoxide production and expression of nox family proteins in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 2002;105(12):1429-1435.
- 615. Symons JD, Rutledge JC, Simonsen U, Pattathu RA. Vascular dysfunction produced by hyperhomocysteinemia is more severe in the presence of low folate. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2006;290(1):H181-191.

- 616. Zielonka J, Srinivasan S, Hardy M, Ouari O, Lopez M, Vasquez-Vivar J, Avadhani NG, Kalyanaraman B. Cytochrome c-mediated oxidation of hydroethidine and mito-hydroethidine in mitochondria: identification of homo- and heterodimers. *Free Radic Biol Med*. 2008;44(5):835-846.
- 617. Pitkanen S, Robinson BH. Mitochondrial complex I deficiency leads to increased production of superoxide radicals and induction of superoxide dismutase. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1996;98(2):345-351.
- 618. Finlay JB, Liu X, Ermel RW, Adamson TW. Maternal Weight Gain as a Predictor of Litter Size in Swiss Webster, C57BL/6J, and BALB/cJ mice. *J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci.* 2015;54(6):694-699.
- 619. Mader SL, Libal NL, Pritchett-Corning K, Yang R, Murphy SJ. Refining timed pregnancies in two strains of genetically engineered mice. *Lab Anim* (*NY*). 2009;38(9):305-310.
- 620. Maugeri A, Magnano San Lio R, La Rosa MC, Giunta G, Panella M, Cianci A, Caruso MAT, Agodi A, Barchitta M. The Relationship between Telomere Length and Gestational Weight Gain: Findings from the Mamma & Bambino Cohort. *Biomedicines*. 2021;10(1).
- 621. Lee HC, Wei YH. Mitochondrial role in life and death of the cell. *Journal of biomedical science*. 2000;7(1):2-15.
- 622. Lu J, Sharma LK, Bai Y. Implications of mitochondrial DNA mutations and mitochondrial dysfunction in tumorigenesis. *Cell research*. 2009;19(7):802-815.
- 623. Robin ED, Wong R. Mitochondrial DNA molecules and virtual number of mitochondria per cell in mammalian cells. *J Cell Physiol*. 1988;136(3):507-513.
- 624. Larsson NG, Wang J, Wilhelmsson H, Oldfors A, Rustin P, Lewandoski M, Barsh GS, Clayton DA. Mitochondrial transcription factor A is necessary for mtDNA maintenance and embryogenesis in mice. *Nat Genet*. 1998;18(3):231-236.
- 625. Wang N, Chen Y, Ning Z, Li Q, Han B, Zhu C, Chen Y, Xia F, Jiang B, Wang B, Wang X, Jensen MD, Lu Y. Exposure to Famine in Early Life and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Adulthood. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2016;101(5):2218-2225.
- 626. Parrinello S, Samper E, Krtolica A, Goldstein J, Melov S, Campisi J. Oxygen sensitivity severely limits the replicative lifespan of murine fibroblasts. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2003;5(8):741-747.
- 627. Tiainen AM, Mannisto S, Blomstedt PA, Moltchanova E, Perala MM, Kaartinen NE, Kajantie E, Kananen L, Hovatta I, Eriksson JG. Leukocyte telomere length and its relation to food and nutrient intake in an elderly population. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2012;66(12):1290-1294.
- 628. Hehar H, Mychasiuk R. The use of telomere length as a predictive biomarker for injury prognosis in juvenile rats following a concussion/mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurobiology of Disease*. 2016;87:11-18.
- 629. Tajbakhsh S, Aliakbari K, Hussey DJ, Lower KM, Donato AJ, Sokoya EM. Differential Telomere Shortening in Blood versus Arteries in an Animal Model of Type 2 Diabetes. *Journal of diabetes research*. 2015;2015:153829.

- 630. Minamino T, Orimo M, Shimizu I, Kunieda T, Yokoyama M, Ito T, Nojima A, Nabetani A, Oike Y, Matsubara H, Ishikawa F, Komuro I. A crucial role for adipose tissue p53 in the regulation of insulin resistance. *Nature medicine*. 2009;15(9):1082-1087.
- 631. !!! INVALID CITATION !!! (25,26).
- 632. Falcon A, Doege H, Fluitt A, Tsang B, Watson N, Kay MA, Stahl A. FATP2 is a hepatic fatty acid transporter and peroxisomal very long-chain acyl-CoA synthetase. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*. 2010;299(3):E384-E393.
- 633. Dulic V, Beney GE, Frebourg G, Drullinger LF, Stein GH. Uncoupling between phenotypic senescence and cell cycle arrest in aging p21-deficient fibroblasts. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2000;20(18):6741-6754.
- 634. Shats I, Milyavsky M, Tang X, Stambolsky P, Erez N, Brosh R, Kogan I, Braunstein I, Tzukerman M, Ginsberg D, Rotter V. p53-dependent downregulation of telomerase is mediated by p21waf1. *J Biol Chem*. 2004;279(49):50976-50985.
- 635. Jung YS, Qian Y, Chen X. Examination of the expanding pathways for the regulation of p21 expression and activity. *Cell Signal*. 2010;22(7):1003-1012.
- 636. Orellana-Gavalda JM, Herrero L, Malandrino MI, Paneda A, Sol Rodriguez-Pena M, Petry H, Asins G, Van Deventer S, Hegardt FG, Serra D. Molecular therapy for obesity and diabetes based on a long-term increase in hepatic fatty-acid oxidation. *Hepatology*. 2011;53(3):821-832.
- 637. Houghtaling BR, Cuttonaro L, Chang W, Smith S. A dynamic molecular link between the telomere length regulator TRF1 and the chromosome end protector TRF2. *Curr Biol*. 2004;14(18):1621-1631.
- 638. Kim SH, Beausejour C, Davalos AR, Kaminker P, Heo SJ, Campisi J. TIN2 mediates functions of TRF2 at human telomeres. *J Biol Chem*. 2004;279(42):43799-43804.
- 639. Takai KK, Kibe T, Donigian JR, Frescas D, de Lange T. Telomere Protection by TPP1/POT1 Requires Tethering to TIN2. *Mol Cell*. 2017;67(1):162.
- 640. Thorn SR, Baquero KC, Newsom SA, El Kasmi KC, Bergman BC, Shulman GI, Grove KL, Friedman JE. Early life exposure to maternal insulin resistance has persistent effects on hepatic NAFLD in juvenile nonhuman primates. *Diabetes*. 2014;63(8):2702-2713.
- 641. Aagaard-Tillery KM, Grove K, Bishop J, Ke X, Fu Q, McKnight R, Lane RH. Developmental origins of disease and determinants of chromatin structure: maternal diet modifies the primate fetal epigenome. *J Mol Endocrinol*. 2008;41(2):91-102.
- 642. Suter MA, Chen A, Burdine MS, Choudhury M, Harris RA, Lane RH, Friedman JE, Grove KL, Tackett AJ, Aagaard KM. A maternal high-fat diet modulates fetal SIRT1 histone and protein deacetylase activity in nonhuman primates. *FASEB J.* 2012;26(12):5106-5114.
- 643. Perlow JH, Morgan MA, Montgomery D, Towers CV, Porto M. Perinatal outcome in pregnancy complicated by massive obesity. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 1992;167(4 Pt 1):958-962.

- 644. Akyol A, Langley-Evans SC, McMullen S. Obesity induced by cafeteria feeding and pregnancy outcome in the rat. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2009;102(11):1601-1610.
- 645. Siemelink M, Verhoef A, Dormans JA, Span PN, Piersma AH. Dietary fatty acid composition during pregnancy and lactation in the rat programs growth and glucose metabolism in the offspring. *Diabetologia*. 2002;45(10):1397-1403.
- 646. Howie GJ, Sloboda DM, Kamal T, Vickers MH. Maternal nutritional history predicts obesity in adult offspring independent of postnatal diet. *The Journal of physiology*. 2009;587(Pt 4):905-915.
- 647. Mark PJ, Sisala C, Connor K, Patel R, Lewis JL, Vickers MH, Waddell BJ, Sloboda DM. A maternal high-fat diet in rat pregnancy reduces growth of the fetus and the placental junctional zone, but not placental labyrinth zone growth. *Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease*. 2011;2(01):63-70.
- 648. Jones HN, Woollett LA, Barbour N, Prasad PD, Powell TL, Jansson T. High-fat diet before and during pregnancy causes marked up-regulation of placental nutrient transport and fetal overgrowth in C57/BL6 mice. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2009;23(1):271-278.
- 649. Gaccioli F, White V, Capobianco E, Powell TL, Jawerbaum A, Jansson T. Maternal overweight induced by a diet with high content of saturated fat activates placental mTOR and eIF2alpha signaling and increases fetal growth in rats. *Biology of reproduction*. 2013;89(4):96.
- 650. So M, Gaidhu MP, Maghdoori B, Ceddia RB. Analysis of time-dependent adaptations in whole-body energy balance in obesity induced by high-fat diet in rats. *Lipids Health Dis.* 2011;10:99.
- 651. Yang X, Downes M, Yu RT, Bookout AL, He W, Straume M, Mangelsdorf DJ, Evans RM. Nuclear receptor expression links the circadian clock to metabolism. *Cell*. 2006;126(4):801-810.
- 652. Andrich DE, Melbouci L, Ou Y, Leduc-Gaudet JP, Chabot F, Lalonde F, Lira FS, Gaylinn BD, Gouspillou G, Danialou G, Comtois AS, St-Pierre DH. Altered Feeding Behaviors and Adiposity Precede Observable Weight Gain in Young Rats Submitted to a Short-Term High-Fat Diet. *J Nutr Metab.* 2018;2018:1498150.
- 653. Cerf ME, Williams K, van Rooyen J, Esterhuyse AJ, Muller CJ, Louw J. Gestational 30% and 40% fat diets increase brain GLUT2 and neuropeptide Y immunoreactivity in neonatal Wistar rats. *Int J Dev Neurosci.* 2010;28(7):625-630.
- 654. Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Vaughan OR, Haro M, Cooper WN, Musial B, Charalambous M, Pestana D, Ayyar S, Ferguson-Smith AC, Burton GJ, Constancia M, Fowden AL. An obesogenic diet during mouse pregnancy modifies maternal nutrient partitioning and the fetal growth trajectory. *FASEB J.* 2013;27(10):3928-3937.
- 655. Stephens DN. Does the Lee obesity index measure general obesity? *Physiol Behav.* 1980;25(2):313-315.

- 656. van de Wall E, Leshan R, Xu AW, Balthasar N, Coppari R, Liu SM, Jo YH, MacKenzie RG, Allison DB, Dun NJ, Elmquist J, Lowell BB, Barsh GS, de Luca C, Myers MG, Jr., Schwartz GJ, Chua SC, Jr. Collective and individual functions of leptin receptor modulated neurons controlling metabolism and ingestion. *Endocrinology*. 2008;149(4):1773-1785.
- 657. Rogers P, Webb GP. Estimation of body fat in normal and obese mice. *Br J Nutr*. 1980;43(1):83-86.
- 658. Chusyd DE, Wang D, Huffman DM, Nagy TR. Relationships between Rodent White Adipose Fat Pads and Human White Adipose Fat Depots. *Front Nutr.* 2016;3:10.
- 659. Westin ER, Aykin-Burns N, Buckingham EM, Spitz DR, Goldman FD, Klingelhutz AJ. The p53/p21(WAF/CIP) pathway mediates oxidative stress and senescence in dyskeratosis congenita cells with telomerase insufficiency. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*. 2011;14(6):985-997.
- 660. Flores I, Cayuela ML, Blasco MA. Effects of telomerase and telomere length on epidermal stem cell behavior. *Science*. 2005;309(5738):1253-1256.
- 661. Sarin KY, Cheung P, Gilison D, Lee E, Tennen RI, Wang E, Artandi MK, Oro AE, Artandi SE. Conditional telomerase induction causes proliferation of hair follicle stem cells. *Nature*. 2005;436(7053):1048-1052.
- 662. Haendeler J, Hoffmann J, Diehl JF, Vasa M, Spyridopoulos I, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S. Antioxidants inhibit nuclear export of telomerase reverse transcriptase and delay replicative senescence of endothelial cells. *Circ Res*. 2004;94(6):768-775.
- 663. Green PD, Sharma NK, Santos JH. Telomerase Impinges on the Cellular Response to Oxidative Stress Through Mitochondrial ROS-Mediated Regulation of Autophagy. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2019;20(6).
- 664. Sharma NK, Reyes A, Green P, Caron MJ, Bonini MG, Gordon DM, Holt IJ, Santos JH. Human telomerase acts as a hTR-independent reverse transcriptase in mitochondria. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2012;40(2):712-725.
- 665. Buitrago-Molina LE, Marhenke S, Longerich T, Sharma AD, Boukouris AE, Geffers R, Guigas B, Manns MP, Vogel A. The degree of liver injury determines the role of p21 in liver regeneration and hepatocarcinogenesis in mice. *Hepatology*. 2013;58(3):1143-1152.
- 666. Innis SM, Dai C, Wu X, Buchan AM, Jacobson K. Perinatal lipid nutrition alters early intestinal development and programs the response to experimental colitis in young adult rats. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 2010;299(6):G1376-1385.
- 667. Sangild PT. Gut responses to enteral nutrition in preterm infants and animals. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 2006;231(11):1695-1711.
- 668. Xie Y, Ding F, Di W, Lv Y, Xia F, Sheng Y, Yu J, Ding G. Impact of a high-fat diet on intestinal stem cells and epithelial barrier function in middle-aged female mice. *Mol Med Rep.* 2020;21(3):1133-1144.
- 669. Liu P, Che L, Yang Z, Feng B, Che L, Xu S, Lin Y, Fang Z, Li J, Wu D. A Maternal High-Energy Diet Promotes Intestinal Development and Intrauterine Growth of Offspring. *Nutrients*. 2016;8(5).
- 670. Maysami S, Haley MJ, Gorenkova N, Krishnan S, McColl BW, Lawrence CB. Prolonged diet-induced obesity in mice modifies the inflammatory

response and leads to worse outcome after stroke. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12:140.

- 671. Purdom-Dickinson SE, Sheveleva EV, Sun H, Chen QM. Translational control of nrf2 protein in activation of antioxidant response by oxidants. *Mol Pharmacol*. 2007;72(4):1074-1081.
- 672. Lee HC, Yin PH, Chi CW, Wei YH. Increase in mitochondrial mass in human fibroblasts under oxidative stress and during replicative cell senescence. *Journal of biomedical science*. 2002;9(6 Pt 1):517-526.
- 673. Lee HC, Yin PH, Lu CY, Chi CW, Wei YH. Increase of mitochondria and mitochondrial DNA in response to oxidative stress in human cells. *Biochem J*. 2000;348 Pt 2:425-432.
- 674. Barrientos A, Casademont J, Cardellach F, Ardite E, Estivill X, Urbano-Marquez A, Fernandez-Checa JC, Nunes V. Qualitative and quantitative changes in skeletal muscle mtDNA and expression of mitochondrialencoded genes in the human aging process. *Biochemical and molecular medicine*. 1997;62(2):165-171.
- 675. Jiang X, Wang J. Down-regulation of TFAM increases the sensitivity of tumour cells to radiation via p53/TIGAR signalling pathway. *J Cell Mol Med*. 2019;23(7):4545-4558.
- 676. Channakkar AS, Singh T, Pattnaik B, Gupta K, Seth P, Adlakha YK. MiRNA-137-mediated modulation of mitochondrial dynamics regulates human neural stem cell fate. *Stem Cells*. 2020;38(5):683-697.
- 677. Jiang J, Yang J, Wang Z, Wu G, Liu F. TFAM is directly regulated by miR-23b in glioma. *Oncol Rep.* 2013;30(5):2105-2110.
- 678. Cardoso AR, Kakimoto PA, Kowaltowski AJ. Diet-sensitive sources of reactive oxygen species in liver mitochondria: role of very long chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenases. *PloS one*. 2013;8(10):e77088.
- 679. Barrientos A, Casademont J, Cardellach F, Estivill X, Urbano-Marquez A, Nunes V. Reduced steady-state levels of mitochondrial RNA and increased mitochondrial DNA amount in human brain with aging. *Brain research Molecular brain research*. 1997;52(2):284-289.
- 680. Bruce KD, Cagampang FR, Argenton M, Zhang J, Ethirajan PL, Burdge GC, Bateman AC, Clough GF, Poston L, Hanson MA, McConnell JM, Byrne CD. Maternal high-fat feeding primes steatohepatitis in adult mice offspring, involving mitochondrial dysfunction and altered lipogenesis gene expression. *Hepatology*. 2009;50(6):1796-1808.
- 681. Valerio A, Cardile A, Cozzi V, Bracale R, Tedesco L, Pisconti A, Palomba L, Cantoni O, Clementi E, Moncada S, Carruba MO, Nisoli E. TNF-alpha downregulates eNOS expression and mitochondrial biogenesis in fat and muscle of obese rodents. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2006;116(10):2791-2798.
- 682. Cheng Z, White MF. Foxo1 in hepatic lipid metabolism. *Cell Cycle*. 2010;9(2):219-220.
- 683. Gianotti TF, Sookoian S, Dieuzeide G, Garcia SI, Gemma C, Gonzalez CD, Pirola CJ. A decreased mitochondrial DNA content is related to insulin resistance in adolescents. *Obesity*. 2008;16(7):1591-1595.

- 684. Koves TR, Ussher JR, Noland RC, Slentz D, Mosedale M, Ilkayeva O, Bain J, Stevens R, Dyck JR, Newgard CB, Lopaschuk GD, Muoio DM. Mitochondrial overload and incomplete fatty acid oxidation contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. *Cell metabolism*. 2008;7(1):45-56.
- 685. Mascaro C, Acosta E, Ortiz JA, Marrero PF, Hegardt FG, Haro D. Control of human muscle-type carnitine palmitoyltransferase I gene transcription by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor. *J Biol Chem.* 1998;273(15):8560-8563.
- 686. Ronis MJ, Hennings L, Stewart B, Basnakian AG, Apostolov EO, Albano E, Badger TM, Petersen DR. Effects of long-term ethanol administration in a rat total enteral nutrition model of alcoholic liver disease. *American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology*. 2011;300(1):G109-119.
- 687. Softic S, Kirby M, Berger NG, Shroyer NF, Woods SC, Kohli R. Insulin concentration modulates hepatic lipid accumulation in mice in part via transcriptional regulation of fatty acid transport proteins. *PloS one*. 2012;7(6):e38952.
- 688. Bechmann LP, Gieseler RK, Sowa JP, Kahraman A, Erhard J, Wedemeyer I, Emons B, Jochum C, Feldkamp T, Gerken G, Canbay A. Apoptosis is associated with CD36/fatty acid translocase upregulation in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Liver international : official journal of the International Association for the Study of the Liver*. 2010;30(6):850-859.
- 689. Ornoy A. Prenatal origin of obesity and their complications: Gestational diabetes, maternal overweight and the paradoxical effects of fetal growth restriction and macrosomia. *Reproductive toxicology*. 2011;32(2):205-212.
- 690. Singhal A, Cole TJ, Fewtrell M, Lucas A. Breastmilk feeding and lipoprotein profile in adolescents born preterm: follow-up of a prospective randomised study. *Lancet*. 2004;363(9421):1571-1578.
- 691. WHO. World Health Organization: obesity and overweight fact sheet N°311. *Geneva: World Health Organization*. 2013.
- 692. Must A, Jacques PF, Dallal GE, Bajema CJ, Dietz WH. Long-term morbidity and mortality of overweight adolescents. A follow-up of the Harvard Growth Study of 1922 to 1935. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1992;327(19):1350-1355.
- 693. Guo SS, Wu W, Chumlea WC, Roche AF. Predicting overweight and obesity in adulthood from body mass index values in childhood and adolescence. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2002;76(3):653-658.
- 694. Stark O, Atkins E, Wolff OH, Douglas JW. Longitudinal study of obesity in the National Survey of Health and Development. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*. 1981;283(6283):13-17.
- 695. Freedman DS, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. The relation of overweight to cardiovascular risk factors among children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*. 1999;103(6 Pt 1):1175-1182.
- 696. Reinehr T, Andler W, Denzer C, Siegried W, Mayer H, Wabitsch M. Cardiovascular risk factors in overweight German children and adolescents: relation to gender, age and degree of overweight. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2005;15(3):181-187.

- 697. Pinhas-Hamiel O, Dolan LM, Daniels SR, Standiford D, Khoury PR, Zeitler P. Increased incidence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus among adolescents. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 1996;128(5 Pt 1):608-615.
- 698. Tershakovec AM, Jawad AF, Stouffer NO, Elkasabany A, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. Persistent hypercholesterolemia is associated with the development of obesity among girls: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2002;76(4):730-735.
- 699. Guillaume M, Lapidus L, Beckers F, Lambert A, Bjorntorp P. Cardiovascular risk factors in children from the Belgian province of Luxembourg. The Belgian Luxembourg Child Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1996;144(9):867-880.
- 700. Blackburn EH. Telomere states and cell fates. *Nature*. 2000;408(6808):53-56.
- 701. Allsopp RC, Vaziri H, Patterson C, Goldstein S, Younglai EV, Futcher AB, Greider CW, Harley CB. Telomere length predicts replicative capacity of human fibroblasts. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1992;89(21):10114-10118.
- 702. Bekaert S, De Meyer T, Rietzschel ER, De Buyzere ML, De Bacquer D, Langlois M, Segers P, Cooman L, Van Damme P, Cassiman P, Van Criekinge W, Verdonck P, De Backer GG, Gillebert TC, Van Oostveldt P. Telomere length and cardiovascular risk factors in a middle-aged population free of overt cardiovascular disease. *Aging Cell*. 2007;6(5):639-647.
- 703. Kobayasi R, Akamine EH, Davel AP, Rodrigues MA, Carvalho CR, Rossoni LV. Oxidative stress and inflammatory mediators contribute to endothelial dysfunction in high-fat diet-induced obesity in mice. *Journal of hypertension*. 2010;28(10):2111-2119.
- 704. Skalicky J, Muzakova V, Kandar R, Meloun M, Rousar T, Palicka V. Evaluation of oxidative stress and inflammation in obese adults with metabolic syndrome. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* 2008;46(4):499-505.
- 705. Parks CG, Miller DB, McCanlies EC, Cawthon RM, Andrew ME, DeRoo LA, Sandler DP. Telomere length, current perceived stress, and urinary stress hormones in women. *Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology*. 2009;18(2):551-560.
- 706. Needham BL, Adler N, Gregorich S, Rehkopf D, Lin J, Blackburn EH, Epel ES. Socioeconomic status, health behavior, and leukocyte telomere length in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2002. *Social science & medicine*. 2013;85:1-8.
- 707. Tyrka AR, Price LH, Kao HT, Porton B, Marsella SA, Carpenter LL. Childhood maltreatment and telomere shortening: preliminary support for an effect of early stress on cellular aging. *Biological psychiatry*. 2010;67(6):531-534.
- 708. Chen LY, Zhang Y, Zhang Q, Li H, Luo Z, Fang H, Kim SH, Qin L, Yotnda P, Xu J, Tu BP, Bai Y, Songyang Z. Mitochondrial localization of telomeric protein TIN2 links telomere regulation to metabolic control. *Mol Cell*. 2012;47(6):839-850.

- 709. Evans S, Newnham J, MacDonald W, Hall C. Characterisation of the possible effect on birthweight following frequent prenatal ultrasound examinations. *Early human development*. 1996;45(3):203-214.
- 710. Dontje ML, Eastwood P, Straker L. Western Australian pregnancy cohort (Raine) Study: Generation 1. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(5):e026276.
- 711. McVeigh JA, Winkler EA, Howie EK, Tremblay MS, Smith A, Abbott RA, Eastwood PR, Healy GN, Straker LM. Objectively measured patterns of sedentary time and physical activity in young adults of the Raine study cohort. *The international journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity*. 2016;13:41.
- 712. Pink B. Socio-economic indexes for areas (SEIFA). *Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics*. 2011.
- 713. Lovibond SH, Lovibond PF, Australia PFo. Manual for the depression anxiety stress scales. Second edition ed: Psychology Foundation of Australia.
- 714. Oddy WH, Robinson M, Kendall GE, Li J, Zubrick SR, Stanley FJ. Breastfeeding and early child development: a prospective cohort study. *Acta paediatrica*. 2011;100(7):992-999.
- 715. Oddy WH, Holt PG, Sly PD, Read AW, Landau LI, Stanley FJ, Kendall GE, Burton PR. Association between breast feeding and asthma in 6 year old children: findings of a prospective birth cohort study. *Bmj*. 1999;319(7213):815-819.
- 716. Statistics ABo. Australian Health Survey: Users' Guide, 2011–13. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2013.
- 717. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, Bautista L, Franzosi MG, Commerford P, Lang CC, Rumboldt Z, Onen CL, Lisheng L, Tanomsup S, Wangai P, Jr., Razak F, Sharma AM, Anand SS, Investigators IS. Obesity and the risk of myocardial infarction in 27,000 participants from 52 countries: a casecontrol study. *Lancet*. 2005;366(9497):1640-1649.
- 718. Czernichow S, Kengne AP, Stamatakis E, Hamer M, Batty GD. Body mass index, waist circumference and waist-hip ratio: which is the better discriminator of cardiovascular disease mortality risk?: evidence from an individual-participant meta-analysis of 82 864 participants from nine cohort studies. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2011;12(9):680-687.
- 719. Association AH. Heart and stroke facts. American Heart Association.
- 720. Taylor RW, Jones IE, Williams SM, Goulding A. Evaluation of waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, and the conicity index as screening tools for high trunk fat mass, as measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, in children aged 3-19 y. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2000;72(2):490-495.
- 721. Bacopoulou F, Efthymiou V, Landis G, Rentoumis A, Chrousos GP. Waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and waist-to-height ratio reference percentiles for abdominal obesity among Greek adolescents. *BMC Pediatrics*. 2015;15(1):50.

- 722. Zhang Y-x, Wang S-r, Zhou J-y, Zhao J-s, Chu Z-h. Percentiles of waisthip ratio and the relationship with blood pressure among children and adolescents in Shandong, China. *Annals of Human Biology*.0(0):1-6.
- 723. Sung RY, So HK, Choi KC, Nelson EA, Li AM, Yin JA. Waist circumference and waist-to-height ratio of Hong Kong Chinese children. *BMC Public Health*. 2008;8.
- 724. Virani N. Reference curves and cut-off values for anthropometric indices of adiposity of affluent Asian Indian children aged 3–18 years. *Ann Hum Biol.* 2011;38.
- 725. Kromeyer-Hauschild K, Dortschy R, Stolzenberg H, Neuhauser H, Rosario AS. Nationally representative waist circumference percentiles in German adolescents aged 11.0-18.0 years. *Int J Pediatr Obes*. 2011;6.
- 726. Dharmashankar K, Widlansky ME. Vascular endothelial function and hypertension: insights and directions. *Current hypertension reports*. 2010;12(6):448-455.
- 727. Kajantie E, Eriksson JG, Osmond C, Thornburg K, Barker DJ. Preeclampsia is associated with increased risk of stroke in the adult offspring: the Helsinki birth cohort study. *Stroke*. 2009;40(4):1176-1180.
- 728. Lawlor DA, Macdonald-Wallis C, Fraser A, Nelson SM, Hingorani A, Davey Smith G, Sattar N, Deanfield J. Cardiovascular biomarkers and vascular function during childhood in the offspring of mothers with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: findings from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. *Eur Heart J.* 2012;33(3):335-345.
- 729. Himmelmann A, Svensson A, Hansson L. Five-year follow-up of blood pressure and left ventricular mass in children with different maternal histories of hypertension: the Hypertension in Pregnancy Offspring Study. *J Hypertens*. 1994;12(1):89-95.
- 730. Xu J, Ye J, Wu Y, Zhang H, Luo Q, Han C, Ye X, Wang H, He J, Huang H, Liu Y, Dong M. Reduced fetal telomere length in gestational diabetes. *PloS one*. 2014;9(1):e86161.
- 731. Okuda K, Bardeguez A, Gardner JP, Rodriguez P, Ganesh V, Kimura M, Skurnick J, Awad G, Aviv A. Telomere length in the newborn. *Pediatric research*. 2002;52(3):377-381.
- 732. Muller DP. Free radical problems of the newborn. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*. 1987;46(1):69-75.
- 733. Friel JK, Friesen RW, Harding SV, Roberts LJ. Evidence of oxidative stress in full-term healthy infants. *Pediatric research*. 2004;56(6):878-882.
- 734. Raijmakers MT, Dechend R, Poston L. Oxidative stress and preeclampsia: rationale for antioxidant clinical trials. *Hypertension*. 2004;44(4):374-380.
- 735. Mohanty S, Sahu PK, Mandal MK, Mohapatra PC, Panda A. Evaluation of oxidative stress in pregnancy induced hypertension. *Indian journal of clinical biochemistry : IJCB*. 2006;21(1):101-105.
- 736. Howlader MZ, Parveen S, Tamanna S, Khan TA, Begum F. Oxidative stress and antioxidant status in neonates born to pre-eclamptic mother. *Journal of tropical pediatrics*. 2009;55(6):363-367.

- 737. Ćebović TN, Marić D, Nikolić A, Novakov-Mikić A. Antioxidant Status in Normal Pregnancy and Preeclampsia upon Multivitamin-Mineral Supplementation in the Region of Vojvodina.
- 738. von Zglinicki T, Saretzki G, Docke W, Lotze C. Mild hyperoxia shortens telomeres and inhibits proliferation of fibroblasts: a model for senescence? *Exp Cell Res.* 1995;220(1):186-193.
- 739. Oh S, Lee E, Lee J, Lim Y, Kim J, Woo S. Comparison of the effects of 40% oxygen and two atmospheric absolute air pressure conditions on stressinduced premature senescence of normal human diploid fibroblasts. *Cell stress & chaperones.* 2008;13(4):447-458.
- 740. Hilali N, Kocyigit A, Demir M, Camuzcuoglu A, Incebiyik A, Camuzcuoglu H, Vural M, Taskin A. DNA damage and oxidative stress in patients with mild preeclampsia and offspring. *European journal of obstetrics, gynecology, and reproductive biology*. 2013;170(2):377-380.
- 741. Ho SC, Chen YM, Woo JL, Leung SS, Lam TH, Janus ED. Association between simple anthropometric indices and cardiovascular risk factors. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2001;25(11):1689-1697.
- 742. Keaney JF, Jr., Larson MG, Vasan RS, Wilson PW, Lipinska I, Corey D, Massaro JM, Sutherland P, Vita JA, Benjamin EJ, Framingham S. Obesity and systemic oxidative stress: clinical correlates of oxidative stress in the Framingham Study. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 2003;23(3):434-439.
- 743. Siddiqui AH, Gulati R, Tauheed N, Pervez A. Correlation of Waist-to-hip Ratio (WHR) and Oxidative Stress in Patients of Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI). *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research : JCDR*. 2014;8(1):4-7.
- 744. Hang D, Nan H, Kvaerner AS, De Vivo I, Chan AT, Hu Z, Shen H, Giovannucci E, Song M. Longitudinal associations of lifetime adiposity with leukocyte telomere length and mitochondrial DNA copy number. *European journal of epidemiology*. 2018;33(5):485-495.
- 745. Wojcicki JM, Heyman MB, Elwan D, Lin J, Blackburn E, Epel E. Early exclusive breastfeeding is associated with longer telomeres in Latino preschool children. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2016;104(2):397-405.
- 746. Oddy WH, Robinson M, Kendall GE, Li J, Zubrick SR, Stanley FJ. Breastfeeding and early child development: a prospective cohort study. *Acta Paediatr*. 2011;100(7):992-999.
- 747. Chivers P, Hands B, Parker H, Bulsara M, Beilin LJ, Kendall GE, Oddy WH. Body mass index, adiposity rebound and early feeding in a longitudinal cohort (Raine Study). *International journal of obesity*. 2010;34(7):1169-1176.
- 748. Dietz WH. Breastfeeding may help prevent childhood overweight. *JAMA* : *the journal of the American Medical Association*. 2001;285(19):2506-2507.
- 749. Buescher ES, McIlheran SM. Antioxidant properties of human colostrum. *Pediatric research*. 1988;24(1):14-19.
- 750. Friel JK, Martin SM, Langdon M, Herzberg GR, Buettner GR. Milk from mothers of both premature and full-term infants provides better

antioxidant protection than does infant formula. *Pediatric research*. 2002;51(5):612-618.

- 751. Zarban A, Taheri F, Chahkandi T, Sharifzadeh G, Khorashadizadeh M. Antioxidant and radical scavenging activity of human colostrum, transitional and mature milk. *Journal of clinical biochemistry and nutrition*. 2009;45(2):150-154.
- 752. Goldman AS, Thorpe LW, Goldblum RM, Hanson LA. Anti-inflammatory properties of human milk. *Acta paediatrica Scandinavica*. 1986;75(5):689-695.
- 753. Ezaki S, Ito T, Suzuki K, Tamura M. Association between Total Antioxidant Capacity in Breast Milk and Postnatal Age in Days in Premature Infants. *Journal of clinical biochemistry and nutrition*. 2008;42(2):133-137.
- 754. Boersma ER, Offringa PJ, Muskiet FA, Chase WM, Simmons IJ. Vitamin E, lipid fractions, and fatty acid composition of colostrum, transitional milk, and mature milk: an international comparative study. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1991;53(5):1197-1204.
- 755. Shoji H, Oguchi S, Shimizu T, Yamashiro Y. Effect of human breast milk on urinary 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine excretion in infants. *Pediatric research*. 2003;53(5):850-852.
- 756. Shoji H, Shimizu T, Shinohara K, Oguchi S, Shiga S, Yamashiro Y. Suppressive effects of breast milk on oxidative DNA damage in very low birthweight infants. *Archives of disease in childhood Fetal and neonatal edition*. 2004;89(2):F136-138.
- 757. Rusterholz C, Messerli M, Hoesli I, Hahn S. Placental microparticles, DNA, and RNA in preeclampsia. *Hypertens Pregnancy*. 2011;30(3):364-375.
- 758. Casabiell X, Pineiro V, Tome M, Peino R, Dieguez C, Casanueva F. Presence of leptin in colostrum and/or breast milk from lactating mothers: a potential role in the regulation of neonatal food intake. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 1997;82(12):4270-4273.
- 759. Houseknecht KL, McGuire MK, Portocarrero CP, McGuire MA, Beerman K. Leptin is present in human milk and is related to maternal plasma leptin concentration and adiposity. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1997;240(3):742-747.
- 760. Bouret SG, Simerly RB. Developmental programming of hypothalamic feeding circuits. *Clinical genetics*. 2006;70(4):295-301.
- 761. Schuster S, Hechler C, Gebauer C, Kiess W, Kratzsch J. Leptin in maternal serum and breast milk: association with infants' body weight gain in a longitudinal study over 6 months of lactation. *Pediatric research*. 2011;70(6):633-637.
- 762. Bielicki J, Huch R, von Mandach U. Time-course of leptin levels in term and preterm human milk. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies*. 2004;151(2):271-276.
- 763. Ren H, Zhao T, Wang X, Gao C, Wang J, Yu M, Hao J. Leptin upregulates telomerase activity and transcription of human telomerase reverse transcriptase in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2010;394(1):59-63.

- 764. Stefanou N, Papanikolaou V, Furukawa Y, Nakamura Y, Tsezou A. Leptin as a critical regulator of hepatocellular carcinoma development through modulation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase. *BMC Cancer*. 2010;10:442.
- 765. Cui Y, Gao YT, Cai Q, Qu S, Cai H, Li HL, Wu J, Ji BT, Yang G, Chow WH, Shu XO, Zheng W. Associations of leukocyte telomere length with body anthropometric indices and weight change in chinese women. *Obesity*. 2013;21(12):2582-2588.
- 766. Lee M, Martin H, Firpo MA, Demerath EW. Inverse association between adiposity and telomere length: The Fels Longitudinal Study. *American journal of human biology : the official journal of the Human Biology Council.* 2011;23(1):100-106.
- 767. Moreno-Navarrete JM, Ortega F, Sabater M, Ricart W, Fernandez-Real JM. Telomere length of subcutaneous adipose tissue cells is shorter in obese and formerly obese subjects. *International journal of obesity*. 2010;34(8):1345-1348.
- 768. Baird J, Fisher D, Lucas P, Kleijnen J, Roberts H, Law C. Being big or growing fast: systematic review of size and growth in infancy and later obesity. *Bmj*. 2005;331(7522):929.
- 769. Verhoeven JE, Revesz D, Epel ES, Lin J, Wolkowitz OM, Penninx BW. Major depressive disorder and accelerated cellular aging: results from a large psychiatric cohort study. *Molecular psychiatry*. 2013.
- 770. Qu S, Wen W, Shu XO, Chow WH, Xiang YB, Wu J, Ji BT, Rothman N, Yang G, Cai Q, Gao YT, Zheng W. Association of leukocyte telomere length with breast cancer risk: nested case-control findings from the Shanghai Women's Health Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2013;177(7):617-624.
- 771. Luder E, Alton I. The underweight adolescent. *Guidelines for Adolescent Nutritional Services*. 2005:93-100.
- 772. Kostanski M, Gullone E. Adolescent body image dissatisfaction: relationships with self-esteem, anxiety, and depression controlling for body mass. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines*. 1998;39(2):255-262.
- 773. Buddeberg-Fischer B, Klaghofer R, Reed V. Associations between body weight, psychiatric disorders and body image in female adolescents. *Psychotherapy and psychosomatics*. 1999;68(6):325-332.
- 774. Ogland B, Vatten LJ, Romundstad PR, Nilsen ST, Forman MR. Pubertal anthropometry in sons and daughters of women with preeclamptic or normotensive pregnancies. *Arch Dis Child*. 2009;94(11):855-859.
- 775. Beyerlein A, Nehring I, Rosario AS, von Kries R. Gestational diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors in the offspring: results from a cross-sectional study. *Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association*. 2012;29(3):378-384.
- 776. Boerschmann H, Pfluger M, Henneberger L, Ziegler AG, Hummel S. Prevalence and predictors of overweight and insulin resistance in offspring of mothers with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes care*. 2010;33(8):1845-1849.
- 777. Gaillard R, Steegers EA, Duijts L, Felix JF, Hofman A, Franco OH, Jaddoe VW. Childhood cardiometabolic outcomes of maternal obesity during pregnancy: the generation R study. *Hypertension*. 2014;63(4):683-691.
- 778. Lynch CM, Sexton DJ, Hession M, Morrison JJ. Obesity and mode of delivery in primigravid and multigravid women. *American journal of perinatology*. 2008;25(3):163-167.
- 779. Whitaker RC, Pepe MS, Seidel KD, Wright JA, Knopp RH. Gestational diabetes and the risk of offspring obesity. *Pediatrics*. 1998;101(2):E9.
- 780. Langer O, Yogev Y, Xenakis EM, Rosenn B. Insulin and glyburide therapy: dosage, severity level of gestational diabetes, and pregnancy outcome. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 2005;192(1):134-139.
- 781. Shils ME, Shike M. Modern nutrition in health and disease. 10th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 782. Mackness MI, Durrington PN, Mackness B. How high-density lipoprotein protects against the effects of lipid peroxidation. *Current opinion in lipidology*. 2000;11(4):383-388.
- 783. Cockerill GW, Rye KA, Gamble JR, Vadas MA, Barter PJ. High-density lipoproteins inhibit cytokine-induced expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 1995;15(11):1987-1994.
- 784. Parikh NI, Hwang SJ, Ingelsson E, Benjamin EJ, Fox CS, Vasan RS, Murabito JM. Breastfeeding in infancy and adult cardiovascular disease risk factors. *The American journal of medicine*. 2009;122(7):656-663 e651.
- 785. Ong KK, Emmett PM, Noble S, Ness A, Dunger DB, Team AS. Dietary energy intake at the age of 4 months predicts postnatal weight gain and childhood body mass index. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(3):e503-508.
- 786. Holmes AV, Auinger P, Howard CR. Combination feeding of breast milk and formula: evidence for shorter breast-feeding duration from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2011;159(2):186-191.
- 787. Bogen DL, Hanusa BH, Whitaker RC. The effect of breast-feeding with and without formula use on the risk of obesity at 4 years of age. *Obesity research*. 2004;12(9):1527-1535.
- 788. Infant and young child nutrition. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 789. Moreira MA, Cabral PC, Ferreira HS, Lira PI. Overweight and associated factors in children from northeastern Brazil. *Jornal de pediatria*. 2012;88(4):347-352.
- 790. Cohen S, Doyle WJ, Baum A. Socioeconomic status is associated with stress hormones. *Psychosomatic medicine*. 2006;68(3):414-420.
- 791. Andrew R, Gale CR, Walker BR, Seckl JR, Martyn CN. Glucocorticoid metabolism and the Metabolic Syndrome: associations in an elderly cohort. *Experimental and clinical endocrinology & diabetes : official journal, German Society of Endocrinology [and] German Diabetes Association*. 2002;110(6):284-290.
- 792. de Koning L, Merchant AT, Pogue J, Anand SS. Waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio as predictors of cardiovascular events: meta-regression analysis of prospective studies. *Eur Heart J*. 2007;28(7):850-856.

- 793. Pietrobelli A, Faith MS, Allison DB, Gallagher D, Chiumello G, Heymsfield SB. Body mass index as a measure of adiposity among children and adolescents: a validation study. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 1998;132(2):204-210.
- 794. Van Waes V, Enache M, Dutriez I, Lesage J, Morley-Fletcher S, Vinner E, Lhermitte M, Vieau D, Maccari S, Darnaudery M. Hypo-response of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis after an ethanol challenge in prenatally stressed adolescent male rats. *The European journal of neuroscience*. 2006;24(4):1193-1200.
- 795. Hatzinger M, Brand S, Herzig N, Holsboer-Trachsler E. In healthy young and elderly adults, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis reactivity (HPA AR) varies with increasing pharmacological challenge and with age, but not with gender. *Journal of psychiatric research*. 2011;45(10):1373-1380.
- 796. Chen XK, Wen SW, Fleming N, Demissie K, Rhoads GG, Walker M. Teenage pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes: a large population based retrospective cohort study. *International journal of epidemiology*. 2007;36(2):368-373.
- 797. Parks CG, D'Aloisio AA, DeRoo LA, Huiber K, Rider LG, Miller FW, Sandler DP. Childhood socioeconomic factors and perinatal characteristics influence development of rheumatoid arthritis in adulthood. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*. 2013;72(3):350-356.
- 798. Cherif H, Tarry JL, Ozanne SE, Hales CN. Ageing and telomeres: a study into organ- and gender-specific telomere shortening. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2003;31(5):1576-1583.
- 799. Masi S, Nightingale CM, Day IN, Guthrie P, Rumley A, Lowe GD, von Zglinicki T, D'Aiuto F, Taddei S, Klein N, Salpea K, Cook DG, Humphries SE, Whincup PH, Deanfield JE. Inflammation and not cardiovascular risk factors is associated with short leukocyte telomere length in 13- to 16-yearold adolescents. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 2012;32(8):2029-2034.
- 800. Bosquet Enlow M, Bollati V, Sideridis G, Flom JD, Hoxha M, Hacker MR, Wright RJ. Sex differences in effects of maternal risk and protective factors in childhood and pregnancy on newborn telomere length. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2018;95:74-85.
- Kyo S, Takakura M, Kanaya T, Zhuo W, Fujimoto K, Nishio Y, Orimo A, Inoue M. Estrogen activates telomerase. *Cancer research*. 1999;59(23):5917-5921.
- 802. Tang M, Subbiah MT. Estrogens protect against hydrogen peroxide and arachidonic acid induced DNA damage. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1996;1299(2):155-159.
- 803. Ye JZ, Donigian JR, van Overbeek M, Loayza D, Luo Y, Krutchinsky AN, Chait BT, de Lange T. TIN2 binds TRF1 and TRF2 simultaneously and stabilizes the TRF2 complex on telomeres. *J Biol Chem*. 2004;279(45):47264-47271.
- 804. Chiang YJ, Kim SH, Tessarollo L, Campisi J, Hodes RJ. Telomereassociated protein TIN2 is essential for early embryonic development

through a telomerase-independent pathway. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2004;24(15):6631-6634.

- 805. Frank AK, Tran DC, Qu RW, Stohr BA, Segal DJ, Xu L. The Shelterin TIN2 Subunit Mediates Recruitment of Telomerase to Telomeres. *PLoS Genet*. 2015;11(7):e1005410.
- 806. Zhu LH, Zhao KL, Chen XL, Xu JX. Impact of weaning and an antioxidant blend on intestinal barrier function and antioxidant status in pigs. *J Anim Sci*. 2012;90(8):2581-2589.
- 807. Sahin E, Depinho RA. Linking functional decline of telomeres, mitochondria and stem cells during ageing. *Nature*. 2010;464(7288):520-528.
- 808. Fang EF, Scheibye-Knudsen M, Chua KF, Mattson MP, Croteau DL, Bohr VA. Nuclear DNA damage signalling to mitochondria in ageing. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2016;17(5):308-321.
- 809. Passos JF, Nelson G, Wang C, Richter T, Simillion C, Proctor CJ, Miwa S, Olijslagers S, Hallinan J, Wipat A, Saretzki G, Rudolph KL, Kirkwood TB, von Zglinicki T. Feedback between p21 and reactive oxygen production is necessary for cell senescence. *Mol Syst Biol.* 2010;6:347.
- 810. Chappel S. The role of mitochondria from mature oocyte to viable blastocyst. *Obstet Gynecol Int*. 2013;2013:183024.
- 811. Moren C, Hernandez S, Guitart-Mampel M, Garrabou G. Mitochondrial toxicity in human pregnancy: an update on clinical and experimental approaches in the last 10 years. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2014;11(9):9897-9918.
- 812. Cushen SC, Sprouse ML, Blessing A, Sun J, Jarvis SS, Okada Y, Fu Q, Romero SA, Phillips NR, Goulopoulou S. Cell-free mitochondrial DNA increases in maternal circulation during healthy pregnancy: a prospective, longitudinal study. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*. 2020;318(2):R445-R452.
- 813. Medeiros TC, Graef M. Autophagy determines mtDNA copy number dynamics during starvation. *Autophagy*. 2019;15(1):178-179.
- 814. West AP, Shadel GS. Mitochondrial DNA in innate immune responses and inflammatory pathology. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2017;17(6):363-375.
- 815. Colleoni F, Lattuada D, Garretto A, Massari M, Mando C, Somigliana E, Cetin I. Maternal blood mitochondrial DNA content during normal and intrauterine growth restricted (IUGR) pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2010;203(4):365 e361-366.
- 816. Williams MA, Sanchez SE, Ananth CV, Hevner K, Qiu C, Enquobahrie DA. Maternal blood mitochondrial DNA copy number and placental abruption risk: results from a preliminary study. *Int J Mol Epidemiol Genet*. 2013;4(2):120-127.
- 817. Marschalek J, Wohlrab P, Ott J, Wojta J, Speidl W, Klein KU, Kiss H, Pateisky P, Zeisler H, Kuessel L. Maternal serum mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) levels are elevated in preeclampsia - A matched case-control study. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 2018;14:195-199.

- 818. Williamson RD, McCarthy FP, Khashan AS, Totorika A, Kenny LC, McCarthy C. Exploring the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in the pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 2018;13:248-253.
- 819. Ylikallio E, Tyynismaa H, Tsutsui H, Ide T, Suomalainen A. High mitochondrial DNA copy number has detrimental effects in mice. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2010;19(13):2695-2705.
- 820. Miwa S, Czapiewski R, Wan T, Bell A, Hill KN, von Zglinicki T, Saretzki G. Decreased mTOR signalling reduces mitochondrial ROS in brain via accumulation of the telomerase protein TERT within mitochondria. *Aging* (*Albany NY*). 2016;8(10):2551-2567.
- 821. Storlien LH, Kraegen EW, Chisholm DJ, Ford GL, Bruce DG, Pascoe WS. Fish oil prevents insulin resistance induced by high-fat feeding in rats. *Science*. 1987;237(4817):885-888.
- 822. Sener A, Zhang Y, Bulur N, Louchami K, Malaisse WJ, Carpentier YA. The metabolic syndrome of omega3-depleted rats. II. Body weight, adipose tissue mass and glycemic homeostasis. *International journal of molecular medicine*. 2009;24(1):125-129.